Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 957

Nancy J. Lightner Jay Kalra *Editors*

Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices

Proceedings of the AHFE 2019 International Conference on Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices, July 24–28, 2019, Washington D.C., USA



Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing

Volume 957

Series Editor

Janusz Kacprzyk, Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland

Advisory Editors

Nikhil R. Pal, Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, India Rafael Bello Perez, Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Computing, Universidad Central de Las Villas, Santa Clara, Cuba Emilio S. Corchado, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain Hani Hagras, School of Computer Science & Electronic Engineering, University of Essex, Colchester, UK László T. Kóczy, Department of Automation, Széchenyi István University, Gyor, Hungary Vladik Kreinovich, Department of Computer Science, University of Texas at El Paso, El Paso, TX, USA Chin-Teng Lin, Department of Electrical Engineering, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan Jie Lu, Faculty of Engineering and Information Technology, University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia Patricia Melin, Graduate Program of Computer Science, Tijuana Institute of Technology, Tijuana, Mexico Nadia Nedjah, Department of Electronics Engineering, University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Ngoc Thanh Nguyen, Faculty of Computer Science and Management, Wrocław University of Technology, Wrocław, Poland Jun Wang, Department of Mechanical and Automation Engineering, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong

The series "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" contains publications on theory, applications, and design methods of Intelligent Systems and Intelligent Computing. Virtually all disciplines such as engineering, natural sciences, computer and information science, ICT, economics, business, e-commerce, environment, healthcare, life science are covered. The list of topics spans all the areas of modern intelligent systems and computing such as: computational intelligence, soft computing including neural networks, fuzzy systems, evolutionary computing and the fusion of these paradigms, social intelligence, ambient intelligence, computational neuroscience, artificial life, virtual worlds and society, cognitive science and systems, Perception and Vision, DNA and immune based systems, self-organizing and adaptive systems, e-Learning and teaching, human-centered and human-centric computing, recommender systems, intelligent control, robotics and mechatronics including human-machine teaming, knowledge-based paradigms, learning paradigms, machine ethics, intelligent data analysis, knowledge management, intelligent agents, intelligent decision making and support, intelligent network security, trust management, interactive entertainment, Web intelligence and multimedia.

The publications within "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" are primarily proceedings of important conferences, symposia and congresses. They cover significant recent developments in the field, both of a foundational and applicable character. An important characteristic feature of the series is the short publication time and world-wide distribution. This permits a rapid and broad dissemination of research results.

** Indexing: The books of this series are submitted to ISI Proceedings, EI-Compendex, DBLP, SCOPUS, Google Scholar and Springerlink **

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11156

Nancy J. Lightner · Jay Kalra Editors

Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices

Proceedings of the AHFE 2019 International Conference on Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices, July 24–28, 2019, Washington D.C., USA



Editors Nancy J. Lightner Veterans Affairs - Center for Applied Systems Engineering Indianapolis, IN, USA

Jay Kalra Department of Pathology, College of Medicine, Royal University Hospital University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, SK, Canada

 ISSN 2194-5357
 ISSN 2194-5365
 (electronic)

 Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing
 ISBN 978-3-030-20450-1
 ISBN 978-3-030-20451-8
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8
 ISBN 978-3-030-20451-8
 ISBN 978-3-030-20451-8
 ISBN 978-3-030-20451-8

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, corrected publication 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics 2019

AHFE 2019 Series Editors

Tareq Ahram, Florida, USA Waldemar Karwowski, Florida, USA



10th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics and the Affiliated Conferences

Proceedings of the AHFE 2019 International Conference on Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices, held on July 24–28, 2019, in Washington D.C., USA

Advances in Affective and Pleasurable Design	Shuichi Fukuda
Advances in Neuroergonomics	Hasan Ayaz
and Cognitive Engineering	
Advances in Design for Inclusion	Giuseppe Di Bucchianico
Advances in Ergonomics in Design	Francisco Rebelo and Marcelo M. Soares
Advances in Human Error, Reliability, Resilience, and Performance	Ronald L. Boring
Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices	Nancy J. Lightner and Jay Kalra
Advances in Human Factors and Simulation	Daniel N. Cassenti
Advances in Human Factors and Systems Interaction	Isabel L. Nunes
Advances in Human Factors in Cybersecurity	Tareq Ahram and Waldemar Karwowski
Advances in Human Factors, Business Management and Leadership	Jussi Ilari Kantola and Salman Nazir
Advances in Human Factors in Robots and Unmanned Systems	Jessie Chen
Advances in Human Factors in Training, Education, and Learning Sciences	Waldemar Karwowski, Tareq Ahram and Salman Nazir
Advances in Human Factors of Transportation	Neville Stanton

(continued)

Advances in Artificial Intelligence, Software and Systems Engineering	Tareq Ahram
Advances in Human Factors in Architecture, Sustainable Urban Planning and Infrastructure	Jerzy Charytonowicz and Christianne Falcão
Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors	Ravindra S. Goonetilleke and Waldemar Karwowski
Advances in Interdisciplinary Practice in Industrial Design	Cliff Sungsoo Shin
Advances in Safety Management and Human Factors	Pedro M. Arezes
Advances in Social and Occupational Ergonomics	Richard H. M. Goossens and Atsuo Murata
Advances in Manufacturing, Production Management and Process Control	Waldemar Karwowski, Stefan Trzcielinski and Beata Mrugalska
Advances in Usability and User Experience	Tareq Ahram and Christianne Falcão
Advances in Human Factors in Wearable Technologies and Game Design	Tareq Ahram
Advances in Human Factors in Communication of Design	Amic G. Ho
Advances in Additive Manufacturing, Modeling Systems and 3D Prototyping	Massimo Di Nicolantonio, Emilio Rossi and Thomas Alexander

(continued)

Preface

This book is concerned with human factors and ergonomics in healthcare and medical devices. The utility of this area of research is to aid the design of systems and devices for effective and safe healthcare delivery. New approaches are demonstrated for improving healthcare devices such as portable ultrasound systems. Research findings for improved work design, effective communications, and systems support are also included. Healthcare informatics for the public and usability for patient users are considered separately but build on results from usability studies for medical personnel.

Quality and safety are emphasized, and medical error is considered for risk factors and information transfer in error reduction. Physical, cognitive, and organizational aspects are considered in a more integrated manner so as to facilitate a systems approach to implementation. New approaches to patient handling ergonomics, emergency and operating rooms, healthcare, medical device design, human factors and ergonomics measurement and model validation are included. Recent research on special populations, collaboration and teams, as well as learning and training allow practitioners to gain a great deal of knowledge overall from this book.

Explicitly, the book is organized into six sections that contain the following subject areas:

- Section 1 Patient Safety
- Section 2 Healthcare Information Systems
- Section 3 Healthcare Worker Risk
- Section 4 Diagnosis Systems
- Section 5 Medical Device Development
- Section 6 Aging and Gerontology

Each of the chapters of the book was either reviewed by the members of Scientific Advisory and Editorial Board or germinated by them. Our sincere thanks and appreciation goes to the Board members listed below for their contribution to the high scientific standard maintained in developing this book. **Oammer Abbasi**, UK Patricia Arnold, Germany Tommaso Bellandi, Italy Balmatee Bidassie, USA Fehti Calisir, Turkey Yoel Donchin, Israel Achim Elfering, Switzerland Mahmut Eksioglu, Turkey Enda Fallon. Ireland Xin Feng, USA Mike Fray, UK Mazin Gadir, UAE Anand Gramopadhye, USA Sue Hignett, UK Erik Hollnagel, France Jay Kalra, Canada Sharon Kleefield, USA Basia Kutryba, Poland Bruce Byung Cheol Lee, USA Nicolas Marmaras, Greece Jennifer L. Martin, UK Rosângela Míriam Mendonca, Brazil Kathy Norris, USA Michiko Ohkura, Japan Calvin Or, Hong Kong Lenore Page, USA Stavros Prineas, Australia Paolo Trucco. Italy Jasbir Arora, USA Gianni Montagna, Portugal Yi Zhang, China

This book would be of special value internationally to those researchers and practitioners involved in various aspects of healthcare delivery.

July 2019

Nancy J. Lightner Jay Kalra

The original version of the book was revised: For detailed information see correction chapter. The correction to the book is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_34

Contents

Patient Safety

Towards a Deeper Understanding of Conceptual Models that Incorporate Patient Safety Timothy Arnold and Helen J. A. Fuller	3
An Interactive Device for Reducing Risk of Infusion Therapy and Blood Transfusions	16
Medical Error Disclosure - A Canadian Perspective in Improving Quality of Health Care	26
Pattern of Postural Sway of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy People Byungjoon B. J. Kim	35
Quality Assessment and Management: An Overviewof Concordance and Discordance Rates Between Clinicaland Autopsy DiagnosesJawahar (Jay) Kalra, Daniel Markewich, and Patrick Seitzinger	45
Comparative Assessment of the Risk of Manual Patient Handling Between Standard Methods and Job Analysis Pier Luigi Pavanelli, Silvio Falco, Giovanni La Valle, Cristiano Roscio, and Giulia Ricciardi	55
Healthcare Information Systems	
Electronic Health Records in Hospitals: Preventing Dosing Errors in the Medication Administration Context Sevgin Hunt and Joyram Chakraborty	65

Satisfying Product Features of a Dementia Care SupportSmartphone App and Potential Users' Willingness to Pay:Web-Based Survey Among Older AdultsRobert Chauvet, Peter Rasche, Zavier Berti, Matthias Wille, Laura Barton,Katharina Schäfer, Christina Bröhl, Sabine Theis, Christopher Brandl,Verena Nitsch, and Alexander Mertens	77
Designing Hospital Wayfinding Systems, Touchscreen Kiosks, Environmental Cues and Mobile Apps: An Evaluation of a Mobile Wayfinding Application Christy Harper, Tyler Duke, Andrea Crosser, Angie Avera, and Spencer Jefferies	89
Determining Patient's Interest in Patient Portal Use in a PrimaryCare Clinic to Improve Portal AdoptionMartina A. Clarke and Kelly C. Karls	97
The Challenge of Designing New Work Systems Towards Effective e-Health Interventions Isabel Duarte de Almeida and Maria João Lima Delgado	107
Research on the Construction Method of the Hospital Information System Hourglass Model Shifeng Zhao, Jie Shen, and Zhenhuan Weng	120
An Empirical Study of Information Visualization for Decision Support in an Emergency Department Information System	134
Healthcare Worker Risk	
Are Teachers More Affected by Burnout than Physicians, Nurses and Other Professionals? A Systematic Review of the Literature Myriam Squillaci Lanners	147
Evaluation of the Impact of the Ergonomics of Technical Systems on the State of Health of a Human Operator with Regard to His Functional Reserve	156
Low Back Pain and Work Ability Among Thai Nurses Chuliporn Sopajareeya	167
Understanding the Challenges to the Safe Delivery of Care in the Mexican Healthcare System	175

Diagnosis Systems

Development of a Sleep Monitoring System by Using a Depth Sensor: A Pilot Study Jangwoon Park, Jungyoon Kim, Jaehyun Park, Alaa Sheta, Christina Murphey, and Dugan Um	191
Quantitative Evaluation of Pulse Diagnosis Using Capillary Blood Flow of Images Yumie Osada, Fuminori Matsuura, Yoshinori Hirano, Xiaodan Lu, Tomoko Ota, Hiroyuki Hamada, and Noriyuki Kida	197
Medical Device Development	
Finding Health Care Usability and Safety Issues in Consumer Product Reviews Helen I A Fuller and Timothy Arnold	209
Preventing Chemotherapy-Induced Onycholysis with the Use of an Active Local Cooling Device	219
Multi-frameworks Development for the Medical Device Design Process as a Critical Factor for Innovation Fabiola Cortes-Chavez, Alberto Rossa-Sierra, Elvia Luz Gonzalez-Muñoz, Carlos Aceves-Gonzalez, Paulina Manzano-Hernandez, and Maria Giovanna-Trotta	227
Research on Sleeping Posture Recognition Method Based on Pressure Sensor Huabing Wang and Changyuan Wan	235
A Guide to Drive Medical Devices Development Through Human Factors Inclusion: Building a Value Proposition for Local Projects Ilse I. Reyes, Gloria A. Mendoza Franco, and Ángel L. Rodríguez Morales	245
Invasive Medical Device for Cardiovascular Surgery	254
Aging and Gerontology	
Alterations in Thyroid Function Testing with Aging Jawahar (Jay) Kalra, Zoher Rafid-Hamed, and Patrick Seitzinger	261
The Design Adaptation of the Virtual Assistant Anne for Moderate Dementia Patients and Their Formal Caregivers in Protected Environment Tests Vera Stara, Michiel de Jong, Elisa Felici, Daniel Bolliger, Edith Birrer, Viviane von Döllen, Lorena Rossi, and Marcel Heerink	270

Design and Implementation of Bed-Exit Alarm Systemfor Preventing Elderly FallingChing-Ta Wu and Chien-Hsu Chen	280
A Grip Force Training and Testing Device for Old People Ze Bian, Shijian Luo, Yufei Zhang, Ping Shan, and Hebo Gong	291
Optimized Design of Accompanying Smart Car for the Elderly Based on Humanization Design Methods	302
Design and Strategy of Senior Tourism Under the Backgroundof Population AgingHongjun Qiu and Linong Dai	314
Design of Waist Wear Products for Warm-Up Training for the Elderly	324
Measuring Ways Research on Public Facilities of the Elderly's Physical Flexibility Xing-Rong Wen and Ding-Bang Luh	335
Correction to: Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices	C 1
Author Index	345

Patient Safety



Towards a Deeper Understanding of Conceptual Models that Incorporate Patient Safety

Timothy Arnold^{$1,2(\boxtimes)$} and Helen J. A. Fuller¹

¹ National Center for Patient Safety, Ann Arbor, MI, USA {Timothy.Arnold4, Helen.Fuller}@VA.gov
² University of Michigan, College of Pharmacy, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Abstract. Over the past decades, researchers, clinicians, and engineers have introduced many different conceptual models that incorporate patient safety. These models share similarities in some dimensions but may differ in others. A hermeneutic and natural language processing approach was utilized to interpret relevant literature on this subject. This descriptive account provides philosophical considerations that help to frame understanding of these models. The aim is to facilitate greater understanding of safety in health care.

Keywords: Patient safety · Conceptual models · Human factors · Language · Natural language processing · Hermeneutics · Philosophy of patient safety

1 Background

There are numerous models and frameworks developed to describe features and relationships within the domains of health care and patient safety. These models often integrate concepts, features, and relationships from multiple domains, including systems engineering and patient safety [1], information science and health information technology [2], communication science and patient safety [3], and cognitive sciences and diagnostic decision making and error [4]. The present work focuses on models and frameworks with the goal of facilitating further interpretation and understanding of the landscape of patient safety modeling.

Nilsen describes models as descriptive in nature and a simplification of a phenomenon and a framework as a structure or outline that describes concepts and relationships of empirical phenomena [5]. We recognize that there are differences and overlap in the contextual use of the words "model" and "framework" within the scientific literature. Our objective is not to attempt to clarify or dissect these contextual uses, but instead use them as a starting point in searching the literature towards collectively conceptualizing current thoughts in patient safety.

Tapping into our existing library and knowledge of models and frameworks that relate to patient safety, we meditate on our current understanding of the landscape. Then we identify and collect models and frameworks from the literature, extract features, and explore concepts, relationships and reflect on potential themes. By applying hermeneutic and text analytic approaches, similar to those described, respectively, by

This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2020 N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 3–15, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_1

The original version of this chapter was revised: a few typographical errors were corrected. The correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_34

Boell and Cecez-Kecmanovic [6] and previously by the authors [7] in exploring the literature, we hope to facilitate a deeper understanding of this landscape.

We turn to Nersessian [8] to locate a path towards conceptualization by designing and exploring visual representations and analogies in the spirit of thought experimentation. We expand upon this pathway by exploring language models and visualizations.

With this approach, we aim to add to the conversation and facilitate understanding of the value, the constraints, and the trade-offs that are described by these models and frameworks related to safety. This process may provide insight into ergonomics features and relationships and greater understanding into thoughts surrounding human factors principles applied to the health care domain. In addition, Rokach's [9] work with ensemble methods in pattern classification may provide a parallel in the exploration of ensemble and nested analogical models that may share characteristics with the study of patient safety.

The focus of this work is to unite these models into a common discussion of abstraction and patient safety rather than attempt to draw particular conclusions regarding the models. Our hope is that sharing these reflections and this journey will provide an environment of discovery for exploring and discussing models, frameworks, and opportunities related to the discipline of patient safety.

2 Approach

2.1 Walk Through the Literature

A hermeneutic approach was utilized to walk through the literature. Hermeneutics has been described as the philosophy of the interpretation of text. Sherratt [10, p. 91] interpreted Gadamer's view, discussing how access to the hermeneutic circle is necessary for understanding to occur through "admittance to tracking back and forth between the parts and the whole, constantly projecting and revising our understanding." Boell & Cecez-Kecmanovic [6] described a hermeneutic framework as a substitute or supplement for the systematic review of literature. The authors discussed how all relevant texts need not be identified, but reading relevant texts "will facilitate the quest for further relevant literature" [6, p. 133].

A natural language processing (NLP) approach with exploration of subsequent interactive visualizations was paired with a hermeneutic approach for guiding reflection. The purpose of incorporating an NLP approach was to facilitate the identification and interpretation of relevant texts through the examination and exploration of interactive language models.

Our primary objectives are to attempt to capture steps as we proceed, although this account fails to describe all conceptualizations, conversations, and backtrackings. Throughout, we attempt to interpret and reinterpret conversations regarding conceptual models and frameworks that incorporate safety and formulate broader questions.

First, a quick sample of publications as a starting point was extracted from PubMed. We searched and extracted titles and abstracts that included "patient safety" and ("model" or "framework"). Other forms of the same lexeme, such as "models" or "frameworks" or other forms of the word "model" when used as a verb, such as "modeled", "modeling", and so on were excluded from this initial search. Titles with "patient safety" and ("model" or "framework") were extracted as a subset.

Probabilistic latent semantic analysis (pLSA) was performed on this subset to assemble sets of words into text clusters to assist in visualizing themes. The resultant text cluster word co-occurrence network is shown (Fig. 1). This visualization facilitated, or seeded, the beginning of this thought experiment. System, model, level, study, research, culture, climate, social, personal, report, review, incident, concept, classification, ontology, and insurance are a few words that we picked up on that appeared to be central in this representation. This was in line with our initial preconceptions of this topic. In our analysis, this representation is interactive (word context can be explored and reflected upon); the static form provided here is a limitation of publishing.



Fig. 1. Example text cluster word co-occurrence network for exploring titles from PubMed that included "patient safety" and ("model" or "framework"). This network visualization was created using PolyAnalystTM (Version 6.5.2030; Megaputer Intelligence) [11].

An expanded extraction of the literature was performed in PubMed and Google Scholar, with the search terms in themselves constraining the text returned. The study of safety science has historically been an interprofessional endeavor; therefore, there are relevant publications in the fields of ergonomics, engineering, computer science, and cognitive science that are not indexed in PubMed. Extracting abstracts and titles from PubMed is a simpler task. We recognize limitations to both techniques [12]. Also, we recognize that the presence of the search terms provided did not guarantee that the publication discussed conceptual models or frameworks that incorporate safety. Conversely, papers may not use these search words in the title or abstract, but they may appear later in the full text or the authors may present these concepts using a synonym or similar notions. Through manual interpretation and multiple interactive visualizations that focus on context, we hoped to filter out publications outside the scope of this review.

The PubMed extraction was expanded to include the following combinations of terms within the title or abstract: "patient safety" and ("model" or "models" or "framework" or "frameworks"). A total of 3,918 articles were extracted utilizing this search strategy. Total publications were aggregated by year of publication. Annual aggregations were represented as a percentage of total annual publication (Fig. 2) using annual Medline trends (http://dan.corlan.net/medline-trend.html).



Fig. 2. Titles/abstracts in PubMed that contained patient safety and (model/s or framework/s) as a percentage of the total number of annual publications as a function of year.

Acronyms and initialisms were extracted as a strategy to begin to identify individual models and frameworks named in the title/abstract collection. This task was performed in parallel with text clustering to bring forth themes and provide context. Text clustering was performed utilizing pLSA.

In correlation with these tasks, full publications were retrieved subjectively for review. Retrieval of full publications was not restricted to the 3,918 extracted from PubMed.

Full publications were retrieved and reviewed based on subjective assessment. Reviewed publications could include publications within the PubMed extract, citations included within those previously reviewed, subsequently published articles that cite those retrieved, and any other relevant publications the authors identified.

Multiple approaches utilizing text analytics were explored. Sentiment analysis, semi-supervised classification, and text clustering techniques were used to explore the text of the PubMed extract. As titles/abstracts and full publications were reviewed, we subjectively and iteratively conceptualized ideas and captured thoughts while curating a list of words and phrases associated with the publications. Thoughts, models, and concepts were collected in a journal over a two-month period (e.g., Fig. 3).

System, model, level, study, research, culture, climate, social, personal, report, review, incident, concept, classification, ontology, learning, curriculum, education, location, clinical sub-domain, clinical role, descriptive, prescriptive, veteran, layer of abstraction, framework

Fig. 3. Words and phrases collected from the reviews of the models.

Numerous approaches to NLP and interactive visualization of language models were applied; examples of processing tasks and resultant artifacts are shown in Tables 1 and 2. Initialisms and/or acronyms were extracted using sequential regular expressions and were subsequently reviewed in context. Initialisms are provided in an example list of models and frameworks proposed in health care and patient safety (Table 1). From the titles/abstracts, descriptors and relationships surrounding the word "model" in the form of verbs and adjectives were extracted along with different word-forms of the lexeme "model." Text clusters were then extracted from this subset and clusters were subsequently reviewed in context. Text clusters are provided in Table 2.

2.2 Interpretation

Through further exploration and interpretation of the literature, we observed the following features that were repeated in multiple articles.

- 1. The questions of "What can go wrong?" (also described as an epidemiological accident model or Patient Safety I) vs. "What can go right?" (also described as a resiliency-based model or Patient Safety II)
- 2. Nomothetic (universalism) vs. idiographic (relativism)
- 3. Natural sciences vs. humanities as a means for inquiry
- 4. Descriptive vs. prescriptive. Models in the context of the PubMed extract tend to be descriptive, whereas frameworks tend to be prescriptive
- 5. Interprofessional nature of the study and application of patient safety operations.

This walk through the literature brings us to Rasmussen's article "Risk Management in a Dynamic Society: A Modelling Problem," [13] which was identified external to PubMed. Rasmussen's visualization of the merging of science models and relation to

Table 1.	Examples of acronyms	and/or initialisms	that refer to	models or	r frameworks	extracted
from the l	large PubMed text corp	us of titles/abstrac	ts.			

Model or Framework Name	Initialism
Model repository framework	(MRF)
Circle of Care Modeling	(CCM)
Model linking workplace bullying	(WPB)
Outcomes and Performance Assessment Model	(COPA)
Business Process Model and Notation	(BPMN)
European Excellence Model	(EFQM)
Prevention, appraisal and failure model	(PAF)
Model predictive controller	(MPC)
Common-Sense Model of Self-Regulation	(CSM)
Ottawa Model of Research Use	(OMRU)
Model of Communicative Proficiency	(MCP)
Effort Reward Imbalance model	(ERI)
Logical framework approach	(LFA)
Theoretical Domains Framework	(TDF)
Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research	(CFIR)
Human Factors Classification Framework	(HFCF)
National Patient Safety Education Framework	(NPSF)
Emergency nursing assessment framework	(ENAF)
Team Strategies and Tools to Enhance Performance and Patient Safety	(TeamSTEPPS)
Yorkshire Contributory Factors Framework	(YCFF)
Quality and Outcomes Framework	(QOF)
Unified Ontological Framework	(UOF)
Framework of design thinking	(DT)
Framework of a computer-aided diagnosis	(CAD)
Theoretical Domains Framework Implementation	(TDFI)
Common Training Framework	(CTF)
Systems Engineering Initiative for Patient Safety	(SEIPS)

safety features provided fundamental concepts in facilitating the trajectory of this discussion. It is of no surprise that multiple features share similarity with observations already described. There are multiple possible explanations for similarities between our observations and features described by Rasmussen. Two additional lines of questioning are drawn from Rasmussen's article. (1) What is missing from the study and application

Table 2.	Tex	t clust	ters e	extracted	from	the	large	PubN	Aed to	ext	corpu	s of	titles/a	bstr	acts	that
contained	the	word	stem	1 "model.	" Tex	t cl	usters	were	create	ed	using	Poly.	Analyst	TM	(Ver	sion
6.5.2030;	Meg	aputer	r Inte	lligence)	[11].											

Cluster #	Cluster name
#1	new, base, provide, describe, include, patient, establish
#2	use, modeling
#3	logistic, develop, adjust
#4	conceptual, explore
#5	linear, examine
#6	identify, predictive, transformational
#7	hierarchical, evaluate, multilevel, modelling
#8	mixed, generalize, linear
#9	good, demonstrate, exist
#10	model, simulate, enable
#11	mental, share, consider
#12	theoretical, present
#13	show, allow, acceptable
#14	clinical, serve, promote
#15	predict, high, several, provide
#16	propose, dynamic
#17	multivariable, fit, use
#18	random, perform, work
#19	educational, utilize, combine

of patient safety or in other words where do future opportunities lie? Are there disciplines underrepresented in this work and could they provide insight in the form of concepts and analogies? (2) Which references might facilitate a deeper understanding of these questions? We address the latter question now by retrieving and reviewing two publications, one referenced by and one that references Rasmussen [13]: "The Hermeneutics of Accidents and Safety" [14] and "Reflecting on Jens Rasmussen's Legacy. A strong program for a hard problem" [15].

Taylor [14] provides a philosophical discussion and explanation of hermeneutical inquiry into the study of safety, particularly road safety. He describes the limitations of

the doctrine of mechanism as applied to the study of accidents and safety pointing to the humanities as an alternative or supplement in our path towards understanding. Taylor suggests accidents are meaningless events and thus, "It is difficult to link the antecedents of accidents with their consequences, because exactly similar events can lead to widely different consequences (the property of 'divergence' noted in catastrophe theory)" [14, p. 491]. His discussion suggests that the study of accidents from an epidemiological perspective will always be necessary but should not overshadow or supplant other approaches of inquiry into safe operations.

Dekker [16] discusses the constraints to an epidemiological accident model and describes the solution space as framed in such a way that it incrementally increases system complexity and fragility. He describes Reason's Swiss Cheese Model as a barrier accident model, with discussion of its value and limitations [17]. The model's high visual impact aids understanding, but it may be embraced too liberally and suggest overly simplistic solutions. Looking at safe operations through an epidemiological lens promotes the layering of barriers, likely at the risk of increasing system complexity and introducing new vulnerabilities. Morel and colleagues [18] offer a compelling argument that introducing constraints, such as barriers, to facilitate safe operations comes with considerable cost to self-managed safety or system resiliency.

From the perspective of value, does the barrier model foster a collective understanding and facilitate a step in the collective evolution of safety thinking in a move past our initial response in blaming a person? This brings us to Rogers [19] and his thoughts on the diffusion of innovation, including the collective complexity-simplicity continuum and trialability. Does the evolution of accident models represent a step in the evolution of patient safety, in which we migrate incrementally and collectively from blaming the human to blaming the system? Is it possible that a next step in this evolution will be a move collectively from an epidemiological accident model, in which we blame some aspect of the system, to some hybrid and in flux with what Hollnagel [20] and Dekker [17] describe as the resiliency-based patient safety II model?

Is the act of assigning blame rooted in the emotion of doubt in some system component? How do doubt and hope in the system frame our understanding of system design and dynamics? Can we hold doubt in one hand and hope in the other? Both emotions can be strong motivators, both can be experienced semi-simultaneously. For example, we may have doubt about some micro-component of the system, but hope in the macro-level entity prevails. How might temporary emotional states and views through a longitudinal lens frame system understanding and subsequent solutions or redesign, individually and collectively?

We go back to this idea of the cultural evolution of safety and system thinking. Collins and colleagues [21] discuss the benefits and limitations of blame and self-blame in medical culture. Suggested benefits of blame in medical culture are incentivization to learn, the facilitation of empathy and sympathetic behavior between colleagues, and the fashioning of beliefs that human intervention has some influence over natural processes. If blame and self-blame are beneficial and interwoven into the fabric of medical culture, perhaps this is an antecedent to a preponderant view of patient safety through the lens of an epidemiological accident model.

3 Discussion

We have grouped this discussion section into sections of broader questions, with the understanding that associations exist between sections. This approach was for purposes of working through this back-and-forth feature of hermeneutic inquiry and making some sense of all of this.

3.1 Learning

A subjective account of characteristics associated with the study of patient safety has been provided throughout this conversation. Many of the models and frameworks extracted from PubMed share concepts discussed by Rasmussen, Reason, Hollnagel, Wood, Dekker, Cook, and many others.

How do we monitor for unintended consequences of change and the introduction of vulnerabilities even with the good intention of promoting safety? Do we assume safety? Before a drug is introduced to the market, the US Food and Drug Administration requires rigorous studies into safety and efficacy; after introduction, manufacturers must conduct post market surveillance.

Are there other approaches and analogous models that may expand the collective understanding of patient safety? What might new ensembles or nesting of approaches in science and the humanities look like? What can the study of patient safety learn from history and the study of safety? What opportunities still lie in wait, and what can we still learn from the humanities and natural sciences, including biology, philosophy, ethics, linguistics, history, religion, law, anthropology, and the arts?

3.2 Biological Models

Throughout the historical study of safety, few biological models have been tapped into for purposes of analogical reasoning. Rasmussen uses the model of Brownian motion (applicable to cellular biology) to describe how, "Under the presence of strong gradients behaviour will very likely migrate toward the boundary of acceptable performance" [13, p. 190]. Gibson's work on the "Ecological Approach to Visual Perception" [22] has been instrumental in fashioning the world of safety science.

Which biological models are being used to facilitate analogical thinking in the domain of patient safety? Biological models may provide important considerations that are helpful in modeling life and systems with the primary purpose of sustaining life. Micro to macro models of biological systems from the cellular to the ecosystem level may provide new lenses through which to view the problem space of patient safety. Can and how can the discipline of patient safety learn from the eusocial behavior of hymenopterans, biosemiotics, or other biological models?

Two examples of models that may transfer across domains were identified. Lyons and colleagues [23] provide a framework for a virtual environment for collaborative learning of scientific phenomena of complex adaptive systems. This shares similarities with collaborative clinical simulation training environments but with a primary focus of emphasizing learning of multilayered phenomena and the influence of slight changes to and adaptation of the system. Simulated environments of this sort could be designed with the intention of facilitating understanding of complex adaptive interactions and interdisciplinary problems at the management and organizational level. Interaction with environments of this type could promote health systems learning about collaborative behaviors and insight into distributed cognition.

Chandrasekaharan and Nersessian [24, 25] describe a video game called "Foldit" that is designed to harness collective human ingenuity in the exploration and discovery of novel protein-folds. This strategy taps into the distributive cognition of experts and novices. In this example, a young novice's designs were described as superior to experts in the field. Similarly, collectively harnessing the power of novel and expert minds for exploring a problem space could be beneficial to the discipline of patient safety. Quinn & Bederson [24, 25] go on to describe a similar approach as "distributed human computation"; this harnesses a network of human computational power in collaboration with computers. Virtual environments designed to model organizational features, processes, and relationships and adaptation of these systems may provide learning environments for individuals and organizations in capturing the collective power of imagination.

3.3 Linguistics and Computational Linguistics

How have linguistic models, frameworks, and NLP been incorporated in the conversation on safety or explored in analogical fashion? NLP has been frequently described in facilitating the classification of patient safety reports [26, 27]. There are numerous publications that describe ontological or taxonomic frameworks regarding information science that incorporate patient safety. Many ontologies described in the large PubMed extract attempt to represent features of an epidemiological approach to patient safety; others describe the design of clinical ontologies with safety in mind. De Bie [28] described the development of meta-models for dynamic clinical checklists as well as an approach for automating technological adaptation.

In our preliminary reflections and interpretations, NLP approaches tended to be descriptive in nature but may inform the design of ontologies and taxonomies. Ontological and taxonomic frameworks tended to be normative or prescriptive.

The authors previously [29] described an approach for facilitating learning and local language awareness amongst design teams during co-production efforts within the level of Rasmussen's [13] socio-technical model. The authors also described an approach for recycling local language use for use in local design [29]. Has linguistic inquiry been utilized to describe the distributive language features of the literature of safety and patient safety as a discipline and compared to other disciplines such as philosophy? Have we described the collective language of patient safety and changes in this language over time? Have we compared these features with the languages of other disciplines and cultures? Can they be mapped? Can different sublanguages and languages provide a new angle in which to inquire into and visualize the study and application of patient safety?

3.4 Philosophy

Through our review and interpretation of the PubMed extract, there was limited discussion of the intersection of philosophy and patient safety. Of those articles reflected upon internal and external to the PubMed extract, when philosophy was discussed it was often viewed through the lens of the philosophy of science. Taylor [14], Ilgen [30], and Bryan [31] all look at patient safety through an expanded view of philosophy. Taylor [14] highlights the limitations of a "mechanistic model of man" and provides a philosophical discussion on the relevance of hermeneutical inquiry into the meaning of background features associated with accidents. Gadamer [32, p. 39] discusses ideas of "mechane" and technology, writing, "Among all the sciences concerned with nature the science of medicine is the one which can never be understood entirely as a technology, precisely because it invariably experiences its own abilities and skills simply as restoration of what belongs to nature." In "Truth and Method", Gadamer [33, p. 49] discusses the doctrine of aesthetic ideas and interprets Kant on the harmony between imagination and understanding: "Genius is ultimately a manifestation of this vivifying spirit for, as opposed to the pedant's rigid adherence to rules, genius exhibits a free sweep of invention and thus the originality that creates new models." Finally, it seems notable that missing from the PubMed extract of 3,918 titles/abstracts and subsequent query of full texts is the word "imagination."

Acknowledgments. We would like to thank everybody at the National Center for Patient Safety for their commitment to patient safety. Also, we thank S. D. McKnight for fostering a climate that values philosophy and the manifestation of imagination. There were no relevant financial relationships or any source of support in the forms of grants, equipment, or drugs. The authors declare no conflict of interest. The opinions expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the Veterans Administration.

References

- Carayon, P., Hundt, A.S., Karsh, B.T., Gurses, A.P., Alvarado, C.J., Smith, M., Brennan, P.F.: Work system design for patient safety: the SEIPS model. BMJ Qual. Saf. 15(suppl 1), i50–i58 (2006)
- Sittig, D.F., Singh, H.: A new sociotechnical model for studying health information technology in complex adaptive healthcare systems. BMJ Qual. Saf. 19(Suppl 3), i68–i74 (2010)
- Manojlovich, M., Hofer, T.P., Krein, S.L.: Advancing patient safety through the clinical application of a framework focused on communication. J. Patient saf. 00(00), 1–6 (2018)
- Nystrom, D.T., Williams, L., Paull, D.E., Graber, M.L., Hemphill, R.R.: A theory-integrated model of medical diagnosis. J. Cogn. Eng. Decis. Making 10(1), 14–35 (2016)
- 5. Nilsen, P.: Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. Implement. Sci. **10**(1), 53 (2015)
- Boell, S.K., Cecez-Kecmanovic, D.: Literature reviews and the hermeneutic circle. Aust. Acad. Res. Libr. 41(2), 129–144 (2010)

- Arnold, T., Fuller, H.J.: A linguistic approach for facilitating interpretation of human factors and ergonomics symposium proceedings: an efficient method for real-time literature review. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Human Factors and Ergonomics in Health Care, June 2018
- 8. Nersessian, N.J.: Creating Scientific Concepts. MIT Press, Cambridge (2010)
- 9. Rokach, L.: Pattern Classification Using Ensemble Methods, vol. 75. World Scientific, Singapore (2010)
- Sherratt, Y.: Continental Philosophy of Social Science: Hermeneutics, Genealogy, and Critical Theory from Greece to the Twenty-first Century. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2006)
- 11. Megaputer Intelligence.: PolyAnalyst[™] Professional: Version 6.5.2030 [Data & Text Analysis software]. Bloomington, Indiana (2019)
- Westergaard, D., Stærfeldt, H.H., Tønsberg, C., Jensen, L.J., Brunak, S.: A comprehensive and quantitative comparison of text-mining in 15 million full-text articles versus their corresponding abstracts. PLoS Comput. Biol. 14(2), e1005962 (2018)
- Rasmussen, J.: Risk management in a dynamic society: a modelling problem. Saf. Sci. 27(2–3), 183–213 (1997)
- 14. Taylor, D.H.: The hermeneutics of accidents and safety. Ergonomics 24(6), 487-495 (1981)
- Le Coze, J.C.: Reflecting on Jens Rasmussen's legacy. A strong program for a hard problem. Saf. Sci. 71, 123–141 (2015)
- 16. Dekker, S.: The Field Guide to Understanding 'Human Error'. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2006)
- 17. Dekker, S.: The Field Guide to Understanding 'Human Error', 3rd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2014)
- Morel, G., Amalberti, R., Chauvin, C.: Articulating the differences between safety and resilience: the decision-making process of professional sea-fishing skippers. Hum. Factors 50(1), 1–16 (2008)
- 19. Rogers, E.M.: Diffusion of Innovations. Simon and Schuster, New York (2010)
- 20. Hollnagel, E.: Is safety a subject for science? Saf. Sci. 67, 21-24 (2014)
- Collins, M.E., Block, S.D., Arnold, R.M., Christakis, N.A.: On the prospects for a blamefree medical culture. Soc. Sci. Med. 69(9), 1287–1290 (2009)
- 22. Gibson, J.J.: The Ecological Approach to Visual Perception, Classic edn. Psychology Press, New York (2014)
- Lyons, L., Lee, J., Quintana, C., Soloway, E.: MUSHI: a multi-device framework for collaborative inquiry learning. In: Proceedings of the 7th international conference on Learning sciences, pp. 453–459. International Society of the Learning Sciences, June 2006
- 24. Chandrasekharan, S., Nersessian, N.J.: Building cognition: the construction of computational representations for scientific discovery. Cogn. Sci. **39**(8), 1727–1763 (2015)
- 25. Quinn, A.J., Bederson, B.B.: A taxonomy of distributed human computation. Human-Computer Interaction Lab Tech Report, University of Maryland (2009)
- McKnight, S.D.: Semi-supervised classification of patient safety event reports. J. Patient Saf. 8(2), 60–64 (2012)
- 27. Fong, A., Ratwani, R.: An evaluation of patient safety event report categories using unsupervised topic modeling. Methods Inf. Med. **54**(04), 338–345 (2015)
- De Bie, A.J.R., Nan, S., Vermeulen, L.R.E., Van Gorp, P.M.E., Bouwman, R.A., Bindels, A. J.G.H., Korsten, H.H.M.: Intelligent dynamic clinical checklists improved checklist compliance in the intensive care unit. BJA: Br. J. Anaesth. 119(2), 231–238 (2017)

- Arnold, T., Fuller, H.J.: Local lexicon extraction and language processing in facilitating language awareness and informing user-centered design in the health care environment. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Human Factors and Ergonomics in Health Care, vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 97–103. Sage India, New Delhi (2017, June)
- Ilgen, J.S., Eva, K.W., de Bruin, A., Cook, D.A., Regehr, G.: Comfort with uncertainty: reframing our conceptions of how clinicians navigate complex clinical situations. Adv. Health Sci. Educ. 1–13 (2018)
- Bryan, C.S., Call, T.J., Elliott, K.C.: The ethics of infection control: philosophical frameworks. Infect. Control Hosp. Epidemiol. 28(9), 1077–1084 (2007)
- 32. Gadamer, H.G.: The Enigma of Health: The Art of Healing in a Scientific Age. Stanford University Press, Stanford (1996)
- 33. Gadamer, H.G.: Truth and Method, 2013th edn. Bloomsbury, London (2013)



An Interactive Device for Reducing Risk of Infusion Therapy and Blood Transfusions

Nicholas Caporusso^{1,2(\Box)}

 ¹ Fort Hays State University, 600 Park Street, Hays 67601, USA n_caporusso@fhsu.edu
 ² INTACT, Via Dieta Di Bari 36, 70121 Bari, Italy

Abstract. Administration of high-risk medications and transfusion of blood components are routinary medical procedures that can be potentially harmful to patients due to a set of multifaceted factors, such as, conservation of the medical product, poor asset tracking, and human errors. Although they represent a very small percentage of adverse events, errors and complications associated with transfusion and infusion therapy can cause major morbidity and death.

In the recent years, several reporting initiatives and intervention measures led to the adoption of dedicated processes and tools designed for preventing errors, reducing the associated potential damage, and increasing patient safety. Nevertheless, statistics and reports of incidents demonstrate that infusion and transfusion therapies still demand more effective solutions. In this paper, we introduce an innovative interactive system that aims at reducing risk by taking into consideration human factors that are involved at bedside, such as, fatigue, stress, attention, and cognitive load. Specifically, the proposed solution consists in an attachment that locks a medical container in the prescription phase and prevents access to its content and administration unless all the safety conditions as met. In addition to enforcing safety with a physical barrier, it operates as a visual management tool throughout the process and, specifically, at bedside, where most incidents occur.

Keywords: Risk prevention · Hemovigilance · Pharmacovigilance · Patient safety

1 Introduction

Blood transfusion and infusion therapy are common medical procedures that contribute to saving millions of lives every year; also, they increase life expectancy and improve the quality of life of patients suffering from medical conditions or undergoing surgical interventions. Specifically, over 2 billion blood transfusions and high-risk drug infusions are realized in Europe and United States yearly [1]. Although they involve several risk factors, most of them result in little to no harmful consequences on patients. Nevertheless, despite adverse events happen in a very limited number of cases, blood transfusion and infusion therapy result in 7 million adverse events every year. Primarily, incidents are caused by the conditions of preservation of the medical product and its handling (e.g., labeling, integrity of the container, expiration date, and conservation

temperature). Moreover, risk factors are determined by processes realized over a long supply chain involving multiple stakeholders, steps, and procedures [2], which complicates incident reporting and root cause analysis. Furthermore, equipment accounts for a variety of risk factors [3]. However, for the most part, common incidents are the result of administering the medical component to a different patient, at a wrong time, and with an incorrect dosage [4]. Typically, these types of adverse events are caused by human errors related to distraction, excessive cognitive load, and stress, and mainly occur at the so-called last mile, that is, in the Intensive Care Unit or at bedside [5, 6].

Although consequences vary depending on the cause and type of the event, incidents result in prolonged hospitalization and temporary or permanent conditions, which include several types of disability. Many studies have reported incidences between 0.02 to 0.05 percent, though risk is substantial even if the proportion of patients who experience adverse events is negligible. Moreover, errors, such as, overdosage or transfusion of incompatible blood type, directly or indirectly account for 7000 deaths every year, in the US alone [1].

In addition to consequences affecting patients, adverse events related to blood transfer and administration of drugs cost 600000 US dollars in compensation on average, and they collectively lead to a yearly expenditure of more than 40 billion US dollars [7]. Furthermore, incidents have an impact on the perceived quality of service of the specific hospital involved in a case as well as the entire Health System. Consequently, the World Health Organization and major organizations focusing on Patient Safety started encouraging private and public hospitals to adopt and comply with adverse events policies to reduce the number of incidents, their damage, and their consequent financial and reputation burden [8]. Also, the US Food and Drug Administration, as well as other agencies worldwide, started hemovigilance programs aimed at standardizing definitions, collecting data, and developing prevention measures to ultimately reduce deaths and adverse events [9]. Nevertheless, several studies in the context of blood transfusion [10, 11] unveiled major under-reporting concerns especially in case of reactive incident monitoring. Therefore, many stakeholders advocate for systems that address risk proactively through the whole supply chain and especially in the phases where adverse events are most likely to occur.

Specifically, as root cause analyses established the crucial role of bedside care, research focused on developing prevention measures for last-mile transfusion and infusion practices, as they heavily rely on human attention [12]. To this end, several technical solutions have been developed over the last decade to detect and mitigate errors. Pre-administration controls using standard checklists or electronic tools have been tested in transfusion therapy [13] and they are transferable to infusion therapy as well. However, they do not prevent errors caused by forgetfulness: accidentally skipping the required control does not stop the clinical staff from accessing and administering the medical component. Other solutions, based on safety containers equipped with locks that aim at restricting access to medications or blood components [14] introduce additional tasks that might increase risk, or complicate operations.

In this paper, we describe an innovative hardware/software system that takes into consideration human factors occurring at bedside. By doing so, the proposed system aims at helping hospitals reduce adverse events and their associated costs, increasing the overall quality of treatment, and improve compliance by enforcing safety and error reporting. We discuss the hardware architecture of the system, that consists in an Internet of Things device that can be attached to a medical container to prevent access to its content. Moreover, we detail its workflow and user interface, which are especially designed for simplifying integration with clinical procedures and, simultaneously, for reducing distraction and other risk factors related to cognitive load. Finally, we discuss the benefits of the proposed system in terms of risk reduction and improvement of staff work.

2 Related Work

In the last decade, several research groups studied transfusion and infusion errors and obtained a taxonomy of adverse events and their causes [15]. This, in turn, enabled root cause analyses that led to the development of guidelines and prevention programs (e.g., the Serious Hazards of Transfusion initiative [16]) aimed at enforcing patient safety throughout the entire process. The adoption of end-to-end electronic transfusion management systems is among the most fundamental practices implemented by hospitals [10], and it supports establishing controls and restrictions that enforce safety of blood and high-risk medication [17]. Also, closing the loop between reactive incident reporting and proactive safety measures [18] has a critical importance in infusion and transfusion therapy [19], as it helps make sense of the data that are being collected.

In addition to studying how to increase quality in the management banks of medical components, the authors of [20] investigated the use of formal methods for automatically analyzing Standard Operating Procedures and predicting the potential occurrence of mode confusion (i.e., misinterpretation of information in the system, execution of inappropriate actions while realizing an activity, and omission of crucial steps of a task), which, in turn, are known to increase the risk of adverse events. Although ensuring the formal correctness of clinical processes improves clinical outcomes and reduces ambiguity, does not prevent risks that are especially related to human factors.

Indeed, the last mile, that is, the bedside or the Intensive Care Unit, is the phase in which errors are most likely to occur and, simultaneously, the last line of defense. Thus, the implementation of several intervention measures especially focused on requiring additional controls at the very endpoint of the process. Several measures aim at ensuring that the administration of the medical component occurs only after verification and confirmation of conditions, such as, the correctness of the component, dose, patient, time, and place [21], as a minimum set of required controls. Paper-based and electronic systems for realizing pre-transfusion and pre-infusion checks have been tested in numerous hospitals and result in significant improvement. The authors of [13, 22] developed an electronic identification system based on Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) that enables verifying the correspondence between the identity of the patient and the blood component before administering a transfusion, and they devised recommendations and guidelines for electronic controls at the bedside.

Unfortunately, patient identification systems alone are not sufficient for reducing risk related to the condition and integrity of the medical product and for preventing other causes of adverse events (e.g., overdosage). Moreover, as they do not prevent physical

access to the blood or medical component, they might fail in enforcing safety controls before the therapy is administered to the patient. Conversely, pervasive solutions consisting of attachable devices that can track assets or individuals along clinical processes [18, 23] seem to be more effective. Specifically, the authors of [24] presents a system for equipping blood bags with sensors locking and tracking the medical component, whereas [25] introduces a smart system that uses patient wristbands to verify that the prescription matches the recipient of an infusion or transfusion therapy before unlocking the container of the medical component.

3 System Design and Architecture

In this Section, we describe the hardware and software architecture of the proposed solution, and we detail the design of its main components. The system consists of a device that can be attached to different types of containers for blood and medications to lock their content and prevent access to the medical component, so that it cannot be administered until the necessary safety conditions have been verified. Completing the required controls unlocks the device, which enables removing the attachment from the container and accessing the medical content. As a result, the system acts as a smart barrier that has the purpose of enforcing safety checklists currently utilized in the Intensive Care Unit or at bedside.

The hardware component of the system consists of an electromechanical device that can be applied to different types of containers (e.g., blood bags, medication packages, drug dispensers, and blister packaging) to follow them throughout the different steps of the process, from the prescription phase to administration. Its design was structured according to a modular architecture similar to the device described in [26]. To this end, it is structured in two parts, as shown in Fig. 1: a central unit and an accessory. The former controls the operation of the system and, specifically, activates and deactivates a lock depending on whether all the safety checks are positive. The accessory has the purpose of preventing the staff from the medical component by creating a physical barrier that blocks the opening of the container.

The central unit contains all the intelligent components of the system. Specifically, it includes a microcontroller for operating the device, an internal memory storage, a rechargeable battery, a set of LED lights that have the purpose of providing visual information about the type and status of the required security controls, a set of switches for confirming safety checks, an actuator that opens or closes the locking mechanism. The latter can consist in a small motor or in an electromagnetic clamp that secures both endpoints of the accessory and prevents their removal from the central unit.

The electromechanical components are designed to be enclosed in a water-resistant plastic container so that the central unit be reused after appropriate cleaning procedures. Each LED indicates a necessary safety check (e.g., patient identification) that must be realized before the container can be unlocked, and a corresponding switch enables marking the condition as verified. When all the switches and LEDs indicate that the checklist is complete, the central unit releases the lock, so that the accessory can be removed from the central unit and it can be opened and removed.



Fig. 1. Overview of the proposed system in different configurations: a standard attachment enables connecting the central unit (on the left) to the accessory (on the right) and preventing access to the medical content. Accessories can be customized to be utilized with diverse medical containers in in different shapes and materials.

Additionally, the central unit can incorporate communication systems for interconnecting the system with external devices and exchanging information with them. As a result, the system can be integrated with end-to-end blood and medication management systems, as well as with asset-tracking software. Furthermore, the system supports adding sensors for monitoring variables (e.g., temperature) that can impact the quality and integrity of the medical component in the different phases of the process.

The attachment has the sole purpose of preventing physical access to the component. By doing this, the system enforces patient safety checks and prevents human factors, such as, fatigue and stress, from causing events that could lead to errors (e.g., checking the wrong bag or skipping some checks). The device was initially designed for securing blood bags. As shown in Fig. 1, the attachment consists in two rigid arms that create light compression on the bag and stops the blood from accessing the intravenous lines. However, the shape and material of the accessory can vary depending on the type of container (as described in Fig. 2), so that they can be utilized with different medical components, such as, injection syringes, various types of pill and medication dispensers, and even larger containers (e.g., organ transport coolers). Also, different types of custom locking accessories can be realized to match the size and shape of specific containers. For instance, an elastic rubber band can be utilized for capsule containers and other types of dispensers. Regardless of the type of accessory, the standard attachment located at the endpoints provides a universal adapter, so that the central unit can be utilized with multiple containers. Accessories can consist of reusable or disposable medical grade material. The system supports manual overriding if standard procedures for unlocking the device fails or in case of malfunction. Overriding events can be tracked by the central unit, to report any failure or attempt of tampering with the system.



Fig. 2. The proposed system applied to different types of containers, such as, injection syringes and blood bags (on the top), and various types of pill and medication dispensers (on the bottom).

The system intervenes at the beginning of transfusion and infusion procedures: when a new request for medical component is received, the specialist responsible for dispensing it (e.g., hematologist) applies the appropriate accessory that matches the medical container and activates the locking mechanism by inserting it in the slot of the central unit. As a result, the LEDs indicating the safety checks show a red light to signal that the container will be locked until all the items are cleared. When the container arrives at the ward, some items can be pre-checked and ticked off (e.g., integrity of the medical product, or correct dose) by activating the corresponding switches. Finally, the personnel administering the infusion or transfusion can realize the last controls (e.g., correct patient), which releases the accessory.

4 System and Human Factors Evaluation

In order to evaluate the applicability of the system, we involved members of the clinical staff to join the design since the initial phase. Specifically, we analyzed current Standard Operating Procedures for infusion and transfusion therapy and we mapped the entire process from request to administration. Our analysis focused on understanding the human factors occurring in each step of the infusion and transfusion supply chain with the objective of identifying the items that contribute the most to increasing the occurrence of human errors.

The first step is the prescription phase, in which a medical component for a specific patient is requested to the dispensing unit (e.g., the internal blood bank of a hospital). Nowadays, management systems enable to automatically verify the correspondence between patient information (e.g., blood type) and the type of blood or medication that is being requested, and they help prevent most of the errors that are caused by distraction, interpretation of handwriting. As a result, the proposed system would not apply to this step. Nevertheless, the device can be effective in addressing other factors, such as, preservation of the medical component, that involve hazard for the patient: by attaching the system to the container when the medical product is packaged, the propose device can collect information that would otherwise be difficult to track (e.g., temperature).

Subsequently, the request is received by the internal blood or medication storage ward and the medical component is retrieved, checked, labeled, and dispensed. In this step, the staff experiences some degree of cognitive load that is directly proportional to the type and complexity of the procedure, which may vary depending on the organization. Moreover, in general, cognitive load is directly proportional to the number and rate of requests in a given time frame. Errors in this step are caused by simultaneously processing multiple medical products: when two prescriptions are served in parallel, the operator can swap containers and dispense the wrong one. In this context, the proposed system alleviates the issue: applying the device to a container and locking it helps the staff identify the medical components that have already been processed. By doing this, the proposed solution acts as a visual management tool that labels requests that are ready to be dispensed and helps the staff separate them from medical components that are in the queue.

The same type of issue impacts the next phase of the process, when the medical component reaches the destination ward and the clinical staff realizes preliminary controls: as multiple blood bags for different patients can simultaneously be transported on the same cart, some containers could be accidentally checked twice, whereas others could be skipped. By activating the switches on the central unit of the device, the staff can change the status of a container; the presence of LEDs and the implementation of a traffic-light system helps easily identify the items that have been processed. In addition to helping distinguish the components that have been verified, the central unit acts as a visual tag that enables the staff in the next phase to detect if a step was missed.

Finally, when the container reaches the last mile, preventing physical access to the medical component before all the necessary safety checks are successfully realized has a three-fold purpose: (1) enforcing the checklist and its importance, (2) creating a sequential check-unlock-administer pipeline that prevents process parallelization (main cause of incidents occurring due to accidentally swapping container), and (3) recognizing the status of the container in the pipeline, so that the medical component that has been checked can be identified as ready to be administered.

As a result, the system simultaneously acts as a physical barrier and as a visual management tool. In this regard, the device is designed to address two key principles that underpin every stage of the administration process, that is, positive patient and component identification and support to communication. Moreover, instead of changing the process and requiring the adoption of a specific technology for verifying patient safety requirements as detailed in [13], the proposed solution is agnostic about

the specific procedure and checklist utilized for infusion and transfusion therapy. Consequently, it can seamlessly integrate with current clinical processes and achieve higher level of acceptance from the clinical staff. Although the system focuses on reducing risk of erroneous administration of blood and high-risk medications by specifically taking into consideration several adverse events caused by human factors involved in the last mile, it addresses patient safety from the initial steps. Furthermore, by visually tagging a medical container and changing its status along the process, the device can help recognize errors and prevent them from propagating further.

5 Conclusion

In this paper, we discussed a solution that is especially designed to reduce errors due to human factors during the last mile of the administration of an infusion or transfusion therapy, that is, at bedside or in the Intensive Care Unit, where most of adverse events that can be prevented occur.

To this end, the proposed system consists of an interactive hardware device can be attached to any blood bag or pharmaceutical container to lock it and prevent access to its medical content unless verification of necessary safety conditions succeeds (e.g., correspondence of patient, time, and dosage). Before administering the medical component, the system requires the staff to execute a multi-factor safety check that can unlock the container and enable access to its content.

Specifically, the purpose of system is to target the most critical phase and prevent adverse events in the last mile, with specific regard to human errors. Nevertheless, as blood and high-risk medication have a long supply-chain, the system is designed to integrate with end-to-end infusion and transfusion management processes and systems used by hospitals and blood centers [10]; moreover, it can incorporate additional sensors and data transmission devices that can enable connecting and communicating with external devices and software systems, track the entire process, and provide the clinical staff with asset management features that simultaneously enable doctors and nurses to assess and report about the quality and integrity of the medical component.

The system has several advantages from a human factors standpoint: it was designed to be extremely simple to operate and to seamlessly integrate with current procedures; it does not introduce any complexity other than attaching and removing the accessory from the medical container. Moreover, the modular attachment architecture supports using a single interface with many different types of medical products and containers, whereas other systems are specifically targeted for a single purpose and their adoption requires the staff to learn and use multiple different products.

Indeed, the proposed solution is potentially subject to the same limitations of other technology, that is, the introduction of an additional step, which might result in unexpected risk elements that ultimately affect patient safety. Therefore, in our follow-up work, we will study applications of the proposed system in different scenarios, in hospital settings and at home, to evaluate its effectiveness in actually preventing adverse events.

References

- Burton, M.M., Hope, C., Murray, M.D., Hui, S., Overhage, J.M.: The cost of adverse drug events in ambulatory care. In: AMIA... Annual Symposium proceedings. AMIA Symposium, pp. 90–93 (October 2007)
- Maskens, C., Downie, H., Wendt, A., Lima, A., Merkley, L., Lin, Y., Callum, J.: Hospitalbased transfusion error tracking from 2005 to 2010: identifying the key errors threatening patient transfusion safety. Transfusion 54(1), 66–73 (2014)
- 3. Giuliano, K.K., Niemi, C.: The urgent need for innovation in IV infusion devices. Nursing **46**(4), 66 (2016)
- Phillips, J., Beam, S., Brinker, A., Holquist, C., Honig, P., Lee, L.Y., Pamer, C.: Retrospective analysis of mortalities associated with medication errors. Am. J. Health-Syst. Pharm. 58(19), 1835–1841 (2001)
- 5. Pandey, S., Vyas, G.N.: Adverse effects of plasma transfusion. Transfusion **52**, 65S–79S (2012)
- Gilliss, B.M., Looney, M.R., Gropper, M.A.: Reducing noninfectious risks of blood transfusion. J. Am. Soc. Anesth. 115(3), 635–649 (2011)
- Lahue, B.J., Pyenson, B., Iwasaki, K., Blumen, H.E., Forray, S., Rothschild, J.M.: National burden of preventable adverse drug events associated with inpatient injectable medications: healthcare and medical professional liability costs. Am. Health & Drug Benefits 5(7), 1 (2012)
- Dhingra, N., Hafner, V.: Safety of blood transfusion at the international level. The role of WHO. Transfusion clinique et biologique: journal de la Societe francaise de transfusion sanguine 13(3), 200–202 (2006)
- US Food and Drug Administration, Fatalities Reported to FDA Following Blood Collection and Transfusion: Annual Summary for Fiscal Year (2016). https://www.fda.gov/ BiologicsBloodVaccines/SafetyAvailability/ReportaProblem/TransfusionDonationFatalities/ default.htm
- Murphy, M.F., Fraser, E., Miles, D., Noel, S., Staves, J., Cripps, B., Kay, J.: How do we monitor hospital transfusion practice using an end-to-end electronic transfusion management system? Transfusion 52(12), 2502–2512 (2012)
- Hussain, S., Moiz, B., Ausat, F.A., Khurshid, M.: Monitoring and reporting transfusion reactions as a quality indicator-a clinical audit. Transfus. Apheres. Sci. 52(1), 122–127 (2015)
- Khetan, D., Katharia, R., Pandey, H.C., Chaudhary, R., Harsvardhan, R., Pandey, H., Sonkar, A.: Assessment of bedside transfusion practices at a tertiary care center: a step closer to controlling the chaos. Asian J. Transfus. Sci. 12(1), 27 (2018)
- Ohsaka A.: Electronic pre-transfusion check at the bedside: experience in a university hospital. Hematol. Transfus. Int. J. 4(3), 90–96 (2017). https://doi.org/10.15406/htij.2017.04. 00087
- 14. Coustasse, A., Cunningham, B., Deslich, S., Wilson, E., Meadows, P.: Management of RFID Systems in Hospital Transfusion Services (2015)
- Kaplan, H., Battles, J.B., Van der Schaaf, T.W., Shea, C.E., Mercer, S.Q.: Identification and classification of the causes of events in transfusion medicine. Transfusion 38(11–12), 1071– 1081 (1998)
- 16. Bolton-Maggs, P.H., Cohen, H.: Serious Hazards of Transfusion (SHOT) haemovigilance and progress is improving transfusion safety. Br. J. Haematol. **163**(3), 303–314 (2013)
- Cheema, A.S., Srivastava, S., Srivastava, P.K., Murthy, B.K.: A standard compliant blood bank management system with enforcing mechanism. In: Computing, Communication and Security (ICCCS), 2015 International Conference, pp. 1–7. IEEE (December 2015)
- Caporusso, N., Lasorsa, I., Rinaldi, O., la Pietra, L.: A pervasive solution for risk awareness in the context of fall prevention. In: 3rd International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth), pp. 1–8. IEEE (April 2009). https://doi.org/ 10.4108/ICST.PERVASIVEHEALTH2009.5980
- 19. Williamson, L.M.: Transfusion hazard reporting: powerful data, but do we know how best to use it? Transfusion **42**(10), 1249–1252 (2002)
- 20. Caporusso, N., Lasorsa, I.: Modellazione cognitiva di Mode Confusion in task di Standard Operating Procedure collaborative life-critical
- Oldham, J., Sinclair, L., Hendry, C.: Right patient, right blood, right care: safe transfusion practice. Br. J. Nurs. 18(5), 312–320 (2009)
- Ohsaka, A., Kato, H., Kino, S., Kawabata, K., Kitazawa, J., Sugimoto, T., Takeshita, A., Baba, K., Hamaguchi, M., Fujii, Y., Horiuchi, K.: Recommendations for the elec-tronic pretransfusion check at the bedside. Blood Transfus. 14(5), 419 (2016)
- Caporusso, N.: A device for measuring potentially hazardous forces on medical equipment for patient transport. In: 2010 4th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth), pp. 1–4. IEEE (March 2010). https://doi.org/ 10.4108/ICST.PERVASIVEHEALTH2010.8810
- 24. Chaturvedi, R., Soon-Shiong, P., Brewer, E.A., Lee, J.H., Nant Holdings IP LLC: Sensor equipped medicinal container. U.S. Patent 9,918,906 (2018)
- 25. Long, G.R., EI du Pont de Nemours and Co.: Cross identification system and lock. U.S. Patent 4,415,802 (1983)
- Caporusso, N., Biasi, L., Cinquepalmi, G., Trotta, G.F., Brunetti, A., Bevilacqua, V.: A wearable device supporting multiple touch-and gesture-based languages for the deaf-blind. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics, pp. 32–41. Springer, Cham (July 2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-60639-2_4



Medical Error Disclosure - A Canadian Perspective in Improving Quality of Health Care

Jawahar (Jay) Kalra^{1,2(⊠)}, Maria Gabriela Campos-Baniak², Avani Saxena¹, and Zoher Rafid-Hamed¹

 ¹ Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, Canada jay.kalra@usask.ca, {avs273, zor325}@mail.usask.ca
 ² Royal University Hospital, Saskatoon Health Region, 103 Hospital Drive, Saskatoon, SK S7N 0W8, Canada dr.gcb@usask.ca

Abstract. Disclosure of an adverse event is an important element in managing the consequences of a medical error. The objectives of this study was to review and compare the disclosure policies implemented by individual health care authorities and hospitals in western Canada. The evaluation of the policies of individual health authorities was carried out based on the inclusion of various guidelines including avoidance of blame; support to the staff; an apology or expression of regret; avoidance of speculation; some form of patient support; and education/training to health care workers. The complexities of medical error disclosure to patients present ideal opportunities for medical educators to probe how learners are balancing the ethical complexities involved in error disclosure with other related fields. We suggest that the disclosure policies can provide framework and guidelines for appropriate disclosure that can lead to practices that are more transparent.

Keywords: Medical error · Adverse event · Disclosure · Quality · Patient safety

1 Introduction

1.1 Medical Error

The quality of health care is an emerging concern worldwide [1]. Problems surrounding the delivery of quality health care persist and require careful attention and resolution. Several studies, including "Defining Patient Safety and Quality Care" [2] and "Why quality in healthcare" [3] suggest that medical error is bound to occur if quality is mismanaged. Medical error has received substantial attention in recent years [4–6]. Disclosure of an adverse event is an important element in managing the consequences of a medical error. Bates *et al.* define an adverse event as "injuries that result from medical management rather than the underlying disease" [7]. In any health care process, exposure to an adverse event is inevitable [8, 9]. When a situation requiring

disclosure arises, physicians realize that disclosure should take place. However, they face overwhelming hurdles and/or are unsure about if and how to disclose errors. It is estimated that between 98,000 and 440,000 deaths in the United States of America are caused by medical error each year, making it the third leading cause of death [10]. Baker *et al.* estimated that hospitalized Canadians have a 7.4% chance of experiencing an adverse event and that 38% of adverse events are preventable [11]. Disclosure policy is therefore a crucial component in creating a health care culture that revolves around safety.

1.2 Barriers for Disclosure

Reluctance to admit medical errors and to disclose errors to patients and their families is prevalent in the current health care system. Past research has shown that approximately three out of four physicians who have failed to disclose error to a patient [12]. This lack of disclosure may be due to various barriers faced by physicians when attempting to disclose an incident of medical error. Barriers include fear of litigation, broken patient-physician relationships, and degraded professional reputation [13]. It is common practice for hospital lawyers to advise physicians against timely admissions of errors to avoid legal ramifications. Broken patient-physician relationships create additional challenges to the process of disclosing medical errors. Perceived consequences of disclosing errors include loss of respect and trust from patients and reduced patient compliance in future encounters [14]. Modern health care culture has allowed the threat of malpractice litigation to become common practice. While these barriers may be well founded, they add difficulty and complexity to the task of disclosing adverse events in medical practice.

1.3 Benefits of Disclosure

Despite various challenges and implications, disclosing medical errors to patients and their families an essential component of quality health care on both ethical and pragmatic grounds [15, 16]. Failure to appropriately disclose medical errors is of ethical concern as it compromises the autonomy of the patient [17]. Failure to provide information to patients hinders their ability to provide informed consent and to make informed medical decisions. The fact that part of the physician-patient process involves medical consent implies that being denied information will severely impede the patient's ability to act within his/her best interests. Policies directing appropriate disclosure of a medical error limit breaches of trust and safeguard the therapeutic relationship [18].

Although concern of litigation following the disclosure of medical error is a major concern, lack of disclosure may further increase risk. Studies have reported that failing to properly explain and communicate medical errors increases the risk of malpractice litigation [19]. O'Connor et *al.* demonstrated that honesty and openness with the patient can help improve the relationship between the two parties [20] reducing the legal strain to follow. From a practical standpoint, it has been suggested that patients expect full disclosure of harmful errors, but are concerned that health care workers will not provide this information [21]. Consequently, studies have shown that disclosing the

medical error in a prompt and open manner enhanced patient trust in the physician by fulfilling a need that the patient did not expect to be fulfilled [22].

1.4 International Disclosure Policies

Various countries around the globe have developed policies surrounding disclosure of medical error [23–25]. Canada is lagging behind in comparison to other nations when it comes to setting national disclosure policies and procedures. The United States (US) Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO) has mandated open disclosure of any critical event during care to either the patient or their family [26]. This has become a critical component for accreditation at medical institutions. The Australian policy integrates the disclosure process with a risk management analysis toward investigating critical events [27]. In 2003, the National Health Services (NHS) in the United Kingdom directed physicians to inform a patient of an act of negligence or error that causes harm following their "duty of a candour" declaration [28]. In New Zealand, the patients suffering a medical error are rehabilitated and reimbursed through a no-fault, state-funded compensation scheme. Patients' rights and the providers' duties are set out in a code of consumers' rights, which applies to all providers of health [29].

1.5 Canadian Disclosure Policies

In Canada, through the Colleges of Physician and Surgeons, various provinces have adopted some form of a disclosure policy while others are in the process of developing such policies. Many provinces have failed to enact legislation that enforces the disclosure of adverse events, and even fewer offer protection against malpractice lawsuits after a medical error. The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons has endorsed the disclosure of adverse events, including medical errors, to all partners including patients [30], but no uniform Canadian guidelines are yet in place. Provinces of western Canada have adopted various forms of a disclosure policy and though these initiatives are similar in content, they remain isolated because of their non-mandatory nature and absence of federal or provincial laws on disclosure. The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Saskatchewan requires the physician to disclose any medical error to the patient or his or her family as soon as possible during care [31]. Manitoba's provincial government has complemented the province's medical policy by legislating that physicians have a duty to notify patients or their families of critical incidents resulting from medical errors [32]. British Columbia is the only province that has adopted laws that prevent apologies for medical errors from being referenced in courts for proving liability, although doctors are not obligated to disclose adverse events [33]. The purpose of this study was to examine and compare the medical error disclosure policies implemented by the individual health authorities and hospitals in the western Canadian provinces; Saskatchewan, Manitoba, Alberta, British Columbia, and to identify trends and possible areas of quality improvement.

2 Methodology

Disclosure policies for adverse events in the health authorities and hospitals in western Canada were collected and compared. Contact information was obtained from the health authority websites. A standard email was sent to every health authority in western Canada requesting a copy of their disclosure policy or a reply stating there was no policy in place. Various authorities responding indicated that there would be changes to their policies in accordance with the Canadian Patient Safety Institute (CPSI) upcoming release of revised guidelines. Of the authorities that replied, only one did not have any policy in place.

The aspects we chose to compare within medical error disclosure policies were: who should disclose, when disclosure should take place, whether an apology was included in the policy, mention of provider support, mention of provider training, mention of avoidance of blame, avoidance of speculation, support for the patient, as well as any unique characteristics of individual policies. Six components were identified that are critical for any medical error disclosure policy. Although these are all important features, we have taken the liberty to rank them in order of importance as summarized in Table 1. This is done in the hopes of providing the best guidelines for the development current and future medical error disclosure policies.

Feature	Order of importance
Expression of regret or apology	1
Patient support	2
Avoidance of blame	3
Support for health care provider	4
Training	5
Avoidance of speculation	6

Table 1. Critical components of disclosure policies in order of importance

3 Results

In reviewing and comparing the medical error disclosure policies across the western Canadian provinces, most policies did not differ regarding who should disclose and when the disclosure should be done.

In the province of Saskatchewan there are 13 health authorities. We received policies from 92% (12/13) of the health authorities. Of the policies we received, 82% mention the absence of blaming statements, 45% state that health care providers and staff involved in the disclosure process should have support available to them, 73% include an apology or expression of regret in the disclosure process, 100% mention some form of training or education for the staff, and 77% of the policies included patient support. Only 18% of policies made mention of training or education for the members involved in the disclosure discussion. During the study period in 2012–2016, there were 13 health authorities in the province of Saskatchewan. Currently, the 13 authorities have amalgamated into a single unified Saskatchewan Health Authority.

In Alberta, there is only one health authority that governs all hospitals in the province. We found this policy described regret as a critical component of the disclosure discussion. Overall, the policy was found to be quite complete, including mention of support for providers and training, the avoidance of blame, training or education for the staff, avoidance of speculation, and patient support (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Percentage of each component found in the disclosure policies of each of the western Canadian provinces.

For the province of Manitoba, there are 11 health authorities. We received 81.8% (9/11) of the health authorities' policies. Of these policies, 87.5% included support for providers, 100% included an apology or expression of regret, 75% included avoidance of blame, 73% included the avoidance of speculation, and 82% included patient support in the policy. Only 37.5% of the received policies include training for those involved in disclosure. In one of the policies in Manitoba, it listed to address the clinical and emotional needs of the client and staff involved as priority on the procedure process, making it the only policy in all of western Canada to do so.

British Columbia has six health authorities. We received 83% (5/6) of the policies from these health authorities. All (100%) of the health authorities responded to our email and have a policy in place. However, one policy was under revision and was not sent to us. All of the policies included the need to apologize or express regret, 60% included provider support, 40% included avoidance of blame, 50% included the need to avoid speculation, and 100% included some form of patient support. None of the policies in British Columbia included providing some form of training or education for the staff.

4 Discussion

We have previously reported various Canadian provincial initiatives in medical error disclosure and have suggested that adequate policies be an integral part of the institutional accreditation process [31, 34–36]. The results of the present study have allowed us to identify six components that are critical for any medical error disclosure policy. Although we believe that they are all important features, we have taken the liberty to rank them in order of importance to establish the best guidelines for current and future medical error disclosure.

The expression of regret or an apology to the patient and their family is the most important component of medical error disclosure policies. The CPSI guidelines indicate that when a patient receives a statement of apology, it often leads to a restoration of the patient-physician trust [37]. It is important to begin the disclosure of a medical error with an apology or expression of regret as it allows for a better relation to be established serving as a gateway to open and honest discussion.

The second most important component of a medical error disclosure policy is support for the patient. This is particularly important following the occurrence of a medical error as patients are in their most vulnerable state. Provision of support for a patient offers a chance to strengthen the patient-physician relation.

The avoidance of blame and support for the provider go hand in hand and have been grouped together as the next most important components of a medical disclosure policy. Health care providers receive little support after an adverse event [38]. The CPSI advises support to anyone involved in an adverse event and/or disclosure discussion [37]. Lack of support for health care providers can potentially have similar negative consequences as the lack of support for patients [39]. The avoidance of blame is another way in which to provide support for those involved. By providing support for those involved, we can foster a culture that is non-punitive and adheres to a no-fault model of care.

The inclusion of training for those involved is critical to medical error disclosure policy. We encourage facilities to develop disclosure discussion and training workshops for new and current staff to attend. Many policies in western Canada do not currently include the provision of training for their staff. Provision of training is necessary to avoid the re-occurrence of a medical error. Currently, the inclusion of training for those involved in disclosure is the feature most often omitted in disclosure policies of the health authorities in western Canada.

Lastly, the avoidance of speculation is crucial to disclosure policy. Physicians and patients should both avoid speculation as it might create unwanted and avoidable strain. Only sufficient and correct knowledge should be used to speculate the cause and factors leading to a medical error. In this way, no individuals will be wrongfully blamed for an error which adheres to a non-punitive and no-fault model.

The inclusion of these critical components in medical error disclosure policies will allow for more uniform policy creation and the avoidance of medical error ramifications. These consequences include the possibility of malpractice litigation, broken patient physician relationships, and ethical implications on the health care team [40, 41].

5 Conclusion

Malpractice continues to be a growing issue for those practicing in health care [42]. Legal action being taken against these individuals is usually ill intended and relies solely on the gains of monetary compensation creating an inappropriate use of the tort system. Although justice for an error is required, the method through which it is carried out must promote honesty and full disclosure. This makes the disclosure to patients an ideal opportunity for medical educators to probe how learners are balancing the ethical complexities involved in error disclosure. The designing of an error disclosure policy requires integration of various aspects including bioethics, physician-patient communication, quality of care, and team-based care delivery. It is important to provide support to health care workers and emphasize an expression of regret within disclosure policies. Moreover, the training for proper disclosure is crucial and staff members must be made aware of the resources and training available to them. We suggest a greater inclusion of the Canadian provincial initiatives in the hopes of implementing a uniform policy that is directed towards disclosure of error through an honest and non-punitive approach. Making disclosure of error a pillar in the health care industry, will raise the quality of care being given which will in turn protect the health and autonomy of patients. The other challenge lies in achieving a balance between a non-punitive approach to error and the need for a process that includes accountability and suitable compensation for patients. We suggest that this balance can be achieved by a systembased error disclosure programme which would better allow us to serve as the protectors of the health and autonomy of patients. We believe that the disclosure policies can provide framework and guidelines for appropriate disclosure that can lead to practices that are more transparent. We suggest the improvement of disclosure practice by creating a uniform policy, centered on addressing errors in a non-punitive manner and respecting the patients' right to an honest disclosure and as part of the standard of care.

References

- Mensah Abrampah, N., Syed, S.B., Hirschhorn, L.R., Nambiar, B., Iqbal, U., Garcia-Elorrio, E., Chattu, V.K., Devnani, M., Kelley, E.: Quality improvement and emerging global health priorities. Int. J. Qual. Health Care **30**, 5–9 (2018)
- 2. Mitchell, P.H.: Defining Patient Safety and Quality Care. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US), Rockville (2008)
- 3. Kapoor, P.: Why quality in healthcare. Med. J. Armed Forces India 67, 206–208 (2011)
- Gorgich, E.A.C., Barfroshan, S., Ghoreishi, G., Yaghoobi, M.: Investigating the causes of medication errors and strategies to prevention of them from nurses and nursing student viewpoint. Glob. J. Health Sci. 8, 220–227 (2016)
- da Silva, B.A., Krishnamurthy, M.: The alarming reality of medication error: a patient case and review of Pennsylvania and National data. J. Community Hosp. Intern. Med. Perspect. 6, 31758 (2016)
- 6. Bari, A., Khan, R.A., Rathore, A.W.: Medical errors; causes, consequences, emotional response and resulting behavioral change. Pak. J. Med. Sci. **32**, 523–528 (2016)

- Bates, D.W., Spell, N., Cullen, D.J., Burdick, E., Laird, N., Petersen, L.A., Small, S.D., Sweitzer, B.J., Leape, L.L.: The costs of adverse drug events in hospitalized patients. Adverse Drug Events Prevention Study Group. JAMA 277, 307–311 (1997)
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Quality of Health Care in America: Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. National Academies Press (US), Washington, DC (2001)
- 9. Hughes, R.G.: Nurses at the "Sharp End" of Patient Care. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US), Rockville (2008)
- 10. Carver, N., Hipskind, J.E.: Medical Error. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (2018)
- Baker, G.R., Norton, P.G., Flintoft, V., Blais, R., Brown, A., Cox, J., Etchells, E., Ghali, W.A., Hébert, P., Majumdar, S.R., O'Beirne, M., Palacios-Derflingher, L., Reid, R.J., Sheps, S., Tamblyn, R.: The Canadian adverse events study: the incidence of adverse events among hospital patients in Canada. CMAJ **170**, 1678–1686 (2004)
- 12. Robbennolt, J.K.: Apologies and medical error. Clin. Orthop. Relat. Res. 467, 376–382 (2009)
- Ock, M., Lim, S.Y., Jo, M.-W., Lee, S.: Frequency, expected effects, obstacles, and facilitators of disclosure of patient safety incidents: a systematic review. J. Prev. Med. Public Health 50, 68–82 (2017)
- 14. Martin, L.R., Williams, S.L., Haskard, K.B., DiMatteo, M.R.: The challenge of patient adherence. Ther. Clin. Risk Manag. 1, 189–199 (2005)
- Coffey, M., Espin, S., Hahmann, T., Clairman, H., Lo, L., Friedman, J.N., Matlow, A.: Parent preferences for medical error disclosure: a qualitative study. Hospital Pediatrics 7, 24–30 (2017)
- Guillod, O.: Medical error disclosure and patient safety: legal aspects. J. Public Health Res. 2 (3), e31 (2013). https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2013.e31
- 17. Hébert, P.C., Levin, A.V., Robertson, G.: Bioethics for clinicians: 23. Disclosure of medical error. CMAJ 164, 509–513 (2001)
- Edwin, A.: Non-disclosure of medical errors an egregious violation of ethical principles. Ghana Med. J. 43, 34–39 (2009)
- Banja, J.D.: Does medical error disclosure violate the medical malpractice insurance cooperation clause? In: Henriksen, K., Battles, J.B., Marks, E.S., et al. (eds.) Advances in Patient Safety: From Research to Implementation (Volume 3: Implementation Issues). Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US), February 2005
- O'Connor, E., Coates, H.M., Yardley, I.E., Wu, A.W.: Disclosure of patient safety incidents: a comprehensive review. Int. J. Qual. Health Care 22, 371–379 (2010)
- Gallagher, T.H., Waterman, A.D., Ebers, A.G., Fraser, V.J., Levinson, W.: Patients' and physicians' attitudes regarding the disclosure of medical errors. JAMA 289, 1001–1007 (2003)
- 22. Heilig, S.: Honest mistakes: from the physician father of a young patient. Camb. Q. Healthc. Ethics **3**, 636–638 (1994)
- Turillazzi, E., Neri, M.: Medical error disclosure: from the therapeutic alliance to risk management: the vision of the new Italian code of medical ethics. BMC Med. Ethics 15, 57 (2014)
- 24. Kiguba, R., Waako, P., Ndagije, H.B., Karamagi, C.: Medication error disclosure and attitudes to reporting by healthcare professionals in a sub-Saharan African setting: a survey in Uganda. Drugs Real World Outcomes **2**, 273–287 (2015)
- 25. Shanks, L., Bil, K., Fernhout, J.: Learning without borders: a review of the implementation of medical error reporting in Médecins Sans Frontières. PLoS One **10**, e0137158 (2015)
- 26. Paradise, A.: Why the Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations should add new regulations regarding libraries. J. Med. Libr. Assoc. 92, 166–168 (2004)

- Australian Council for Safety and Quality in Health Care, Australian Health Ministers' Conference: Safety and quality and the health reform agenda. Standards Australia, XX 1234-220, Draft v5.2 (2003)
- 28. Dyer, C.: NHS staff should inform patients of negligent acts. BMJ 327, 7 (2003)
- Bismark, M., Dauer, E., Paterson, R., Studdert, D.: Accountability sought by patients following adverse events from medical care: the New Zealand experience. CMAJ 175, 889– 894 (2006)
- Davies, J.M., Hebert, P.C., Hoffman, C.: Canadian Patient Safety Institute, Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada: The Canadian patient safety dictionary. Canadian Patient Safety Institute, Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada, Edmonton, Ottawa (2003)
- Kalra, J., Massey, K.L., Mulla, A.: Disclosure of medical error: policies and practice. J. R. Soc. Med. 98, 307–309 (2005)
- 32. Justice, M.: Manitoba Laws. http://web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/statutes/2005/c02405e.php
- 33. Apology Act. http://www.bclaws.ca/Recon/document/ID/freeside/00_06019_01
- Kalra, J., Kalra, N., Baniak, N.: Medical error, disclosure and patient safety: a global view of quality care. Clin. Biochem. 46, 1161–1169 (2013)
- Kalra, J., Saxena, A., Mulla, A., Neufeld, H., Massey, K.L.: Medical error: a clinical approach in enhancing quality care. Clin. Biochem. 37, 732–733 (2004)
- Kalra, J., Mulla, A., Qureshi, M., Massey, K.L.: The 'no fault' model: a clinical laboratory initiative in enhancing quality care and medical error reduction. Clin. Chem. 51(A127), A41 (2005)
- 37. Disclosure Working Group: Canadian Disclosure Guidelines: Being Open and Honest with Patients and Families. Canadian Patient Safety Institute, Edmonton, AB (2011)
- White, A.A., Brock, D., McCotter, P.I., Hofeldt, R., Edrees, H.H., Wu, A.W., Shannon, S., Gallagher, T.H.: Risk managers' descriptions of programs to support second victims after adverse events. J. Healthc. Risk Manag. 34, 30–40 (2015)
- Koinis, A., Giannou, V., Drantaki, V., Angelaina, S., Stratou, E., Saridi, M.: The impact of healthcare workers job environment on their mental-emotional health. Coping strategies: the case of a local general hospital. Health. Psychol. Res. 3(1), 1984 (2015). https://doi.org/10. 4081/hpr.2015.1984
- 40. Wu, A.W., Huang, I.-C., Stokes, S., Pronovost, P.J.: Disclosing medical errors to patients: it's not what you say, it's what they hear. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 24, 1012–1017 (2009)
- Kadivar, M., Manookian, A., Asghari, F., Niknafs, N., Okazi, A., Zarvani, A.: Ethical and legal aspects of patient's safety: a clinical case report. J. Med. Ethics Hist. Med. 10, 15 (2017)
- 42. Genovese, U., Del Sordo, S., Pravettoni, G., Akulin, I.M., Zoja, R., Casali, M.: A new paradigm on health care accountability to improve the quality of the system: four parameters to achieve individual and collective accountability. J. Glob. Health. 7, 010301 (2017)



Pattern of Postural Sway of Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy People

Byungjoon B. J. Kim^(⊠)

Engineering Department, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC, USA kimb@ecu.edu

Abstract. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy can cause a loss of sensation in the feet, leading to impaired stability of body balance, and resulting in a risk of falls or slips. In the literature, a considerable number of studies have reported that people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy tend to have trouble keeping posture stable when the equilibrium of body balance is disturbed, even when standing quietly. In general, many studies found differences of postural stability between people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy and without neuropathy. However, little research has been done to find a difference of sway patterns between them. The objective of this study was to characterize the pattern of body sway for finding an effect of peripheral neuropathy on postural control when the stability of posture was disturbed. Pattern of body sway was investigated in terms of placement of center of pressure over the four quadrants during several time intervals such as quiet standing before a perturbation, during the perturbation, and after the perturbation. No significant difference of patterns of body sway was found between diabetic people with and without peripheral neuropathy during quiet standing and for most of considered perturbation directions at low velocity of perturbation. However, when the velocity of perturbation increased, a significant difference of placement of center of pressure was found from the third and fourth quadrants.

Keywords: Diabetic neuropathy · Postural sway · Perturbation

1 Introduction

It is fundamental to keep the center of gravity of the body within the base of posture during gait to avoid a stumble caused by losing balance of posture. When posture stability is disrupted by an unexpected external perturbation, it is necessary to detect its instability by coordinating visual, vestibular, and somatosensory functions and then to regain posture stability. Sensory function of the feet is one of primary components for controlling posture. Diabetic peripheral neuropathy has been known as one of causes of degenerative foot sensation [1]. Damages on large and small fibers of the lower extremity can degrade its ability of proprioception and result in declined postural control [2]. Thus, people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy tend to be at higher risk of falls or slips [3].

Relationship between capability of postural control and diabetic peripheral neuropathy has been investigated in the literature. Postural control is evaluated in terms of body sway under a speculation that the better postural control, the less body sway. Body sway is assessed by observing floor reaction force under the feet on a platform, called center of pressure (COP). One of the following metrics has been used to analyze center of pressure: range of COP, area of COP, velocity of COP, and virtual time to contact boundary of stability. Two posture standing conditions are considered: quiet standing and disturbed standing. A disturbed standing is simulated by moving a platform. In general, diabetic people with peripheral neuropathy tend to have a larger range of COP, area of COP, and velocity of COP in quiet standing condition [4–8] and disturbed standing condition [7–11], and lower time-to-contact stability boundary [12–16]. When applying a range of COP to find a difference between diabetic groups with/without peripheral neuropathy, no significant result compared to previous studies has also been reported [17]. However, when the range of COP is considered separately by a perturbation period and a recovery period, it is possible to find a similar result like previous studies [18].

In the literature, difference of postural control between diabetic people with and without peripheral neuropathy has been investigated from the perspective of longitudinal and/or accelerated center of pressure during body sway, but not from placement of center of pressure over quadrants of base of support for posture. In this study, pattern of placement of center of pressure was explored to find a difference of body sway characteristics between diabetic people with/without peripheral neuropathy during quiet standing and disturbed standing.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants

Upon an approval of IRB informed consent two participant groups were recruited, that is, diabetic with peripheral neuropathy (DPN) and diabetic without peripheral neuropathy (DNN). A set of questionnaires was used to determine whether the recruited volunteers were eligible for this study before further participations. Questionnaires included history of cardiovascular or neurological disease, orthopedic surgeries or constraints, any degenerative eye condition such as glaucoma, cataracts, blood pressure greater than 160/90 mmHg, and BMI greater than 37.5 kg/m².

2.2 Peripheral Neuropathy Testing

Each participant went through two sensory threshold tests to measure the grade of diabetic peripheral neuropathy. The sensation of five separate points on the plantar surface of each foot, that is, the first distal phalanx, the first, third, and fifth metatarsal heads, and the calcaneus was evaluated using the Semmes-Weinstein monofilaments (North Coast Medical, Inc. Morgan Hill, CA) and Biothesiometer (Bio-Medical Instrument Co., Newbury, OH). The Semmes-Weinstein monofilaments tested the sensation threshold by increasing the size of the monofilament until participants felt the monofilament applied to the testing point. When participants felt the monofilament at below 5.07 g of pressure, participants were considered non-neuropathy [19].

The Biothesiometer testing applied a tip of electrode to the testing site and increased the voltage slowly until participants felt the vibration. The sensory threshold for Biothesiometer testing was 25 V for participants to be considered non-neuropathy [20]. When at least one of the five testing sites on the plantar surface of each foot did not meet the sensation threshold from the two administered tests, participant was classified into peripheral neuropathy group.

2.3 Instruments and Protocol

The placement of center of pressure (COP) during body sway was collected using a force platform that was controlled by NeuroCom Research Module (Natus Medical Inc., Clackamas, OR). Stability of posture was disturbed by applying an external perturbation for participants to sway more than in quiet standing. Four directions and two velocities were considered to make a perturbation. Four directions were anterior, posterior, right lateral, and left lateral, and two velocities were 10 cm/s and 20 cm/s. For preventing participants from any incident of falling during perturbations, upper body of participant was harnessed to an overhead bar of the platform. Two trials were administered for each direction and velocity of perturbation using random orders. The time window for collecting data from each trial was five seconds and divided into three phases, such as (1) quiet standing on the force platform for a half second, (2) a half second long perturbation, and (3) four seconds of recovery. After filtering raw data using a low-pass filer at 20 Hz, placement of COP over the four quadrants was found according to x and y coordinates of COP using MATLAB (MathWorks, Natick, Massachusetts).

2.4 Data Analysis

Two hundred points of COP placements were collected for one second and proportion of placement of COP in each quadrant was calculated for the considered time phases above. Results of two trials for each perturbation were combined to estimate COP placement's proportion for each quadrant. Figure 1 showed the four quadrants over the base of posture support. The duration of experiment time (5 s) was divided into six periods as follows: (1) period 1: quiet standing (0.5 s), (2) period 2: perturbation (0.5 s), (3) period 3: recovery period from 1 s to 2 s, (4) period 4: recovery period from 2 s to 3 s, (5) period 5: recovery from 3 s to 4 s, and (6) period 6: recovery from 4 s to 5 s. Difference of proportions between the two groups for each period was compared



Fig. 1. Four quadrants over the base of posture support

with two-sample *t* test (two-tailed) at the significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$ from the perspective of perturbation direction and velocity of platform for the perturbation.

3 Results

3.1 Physical Characteristics and Peripheral Neuropathy

Fourteen participants (7 DPN and 7 DNN) were recruited and analyzed for this study. Basic physical characteristics were summarized and compared between the two groups. No significant differences of physical conditions were found with *p*-values as summarized in Table 1. But, when comparing sensory thresholds from the two administered tests, the diabetic group with peripheral neuropathy showed significantly higher threshold values for the both foot than did the group without peripheral neuropathy for both tests as shown in Table 2.

Measures	DPN	DNN	p-value*
Age (years)	$51.86{\pm}12.8$	49.57±7.2	0.69
Height (cm)	176.00 ± 13.8	164.23 ± 5.9	0.06
Weight (Kg)	98.67±14.8	82.81±10.3	0.03
BMI (kg/m ²)	32.00±4.9	30.69±3.3	0.57
*: $\alpha = 0.05$	-	-	

Table 1. Physical characteristics of participants.

Sensory test	Foot	DPN	DNN	<i>p</i> -value
Semmes-Weinstein	Right	5.23±0.7	4.17±0.2	0.002
Monofilaments (g)	Left	5.23±0.8	4.09±0.1	0.004
Biothesiometer (V)	Right	2649+124	530+21	0 001

Left

18.28±13.0 5.95±2.2

0.03

Table 2. Results of peripheral neuropathy tests.

*: $\alpha = 0.05$

3.2 Placement of Center of Pressure

Placement of COP over the four quadrants was investigated for three phases such as (1) quiet standing on the force platform for a half second, (2) a half second long perturbation, and (3) five seconds of recovery.

Period 1: Quiet Standing. Two groups did not show any significant difference of proportion of COP placement over the four quadrants. The proportions during quiet standing before a perturbation was applied in different directions and velocities were summarized in Table 3. In general, the natural sway of body during quiet standing tended to lean to backward (posterior) more than forward (anterior).

Direction	Velocity	10 cm/sec				20 cm/sec			
	Quadrant	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th
Anterior	DPN	0	5.5	61.6	32.9	6.1	3.1	33.1	57.7
	DNN	0	1.5	48.5	50	0	0.4	66.3	33.3
	p-value	n/a	0.49	0.48	0.36	0.36	0.41	0.13	0.27
Posterior	DPN	0	0	58.2	41.8	0	0	31.4	68.6
	DNN	0	0	63.1	36.9	0	11.4	52.2	36.4
	p-value	n/a	n/a	0.78	0.78	n/a	0.16	0.24	0.07
Right-lateral	DPN	1.4	5.7	44.4	48.5	0	0	52.8	47.2
	DNN	0	7.1	43.5	49.4	0	0.8	63.5	35.7
	p-value	0.33	0.88	0.96	0.97	n/a	0.33	0.55	0.53
Left-lateral	DPN	6.1	0	51.3	42.6	0	0	46.1	53.9
	DNN	0	4.1	45.9	50	0	7.1	28.6	64.3
	p-value	0.33	0.33	0.77	0.69	n/a	0.33	0.32	0.56

 Table 3. Difference of COP placement rates (%) between two groups for period 1.

*: $\alpha = 0.05$

Period 2: Perturbation. No significant difference of COP placement rates between diabetics with neuropathy and without neuropathy groups was found in all directions at the low perturbation (10 cm/s). It was interesting to note that COP placement rates were almost equal among the four quadrants for both groups only when the perturbation was applied in backward. In other directions, more placement rates were observed in the quadrants that were reactive directions to perturbation directions, e.g., more placement rate on the third quadrant that other quadrants for rightward perturbation. DPN showed higher placement rates on the third quadrant than DNN when the perturbation was given in the rightward at high velocity (20 cm/s) only (Table 4).

Direction	Velocity	10 cr	10 cm/sec				20 cm/sec			
	Quadrant	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	
Anterior	DPN	0	1.1	55.9	43.0	1.9	0	47.3	50.8	
	DNN	0	0.3	49.4	50.3	0	1.0	64.1	34.9	
	p-value	n/a	0.49	0.66	0.64	0.36	0.31	0.34	0.37	
Posterior	DPN	28.3	25.5	24.3	21.9	36.0	29.2	14.7	20.1	
	DNN	13.2	23.6	40.7	22.5	16.1	32.8	34.2	16.9	
	p-value	0.09	0.86	0.15	0.97	0.07	0.75	0.08	0.69	
Right-lateral	DPN	0	7.1	86.2	6.7	0	0	96.4	3.6	
	DNN	0.3	11.6	81.3	6.8	0	4.9	88.5	6.6	
	p-value	0.33	0.68	0.66	0.97	n/a	0.16	0.05	0.32	
Left-lateral	DPN	0.5	0	9.1	90.4	0	0	5.0	95.0	
	DNN	3.0	1.1	11.1	84.8	6.3	0.7	1.9	91.1	
	p-value	0.42	0.33	0.67	0.42	0.11	0.33	0.16	0.47	

Table 4. Difference of COP placement rates (%) between two groups for period 2.

*: $\alpha = 0.05$

Period 3: Recovery from 1 s to 2 s. During the recovery period right after a perturbation, DNN swayed toward the fourth and third quadrant more than did DPN when the perturbation was applied in anterior and posterior direction, respectively, at high velocity. No significant difference of placement between two groups was found in other conditions (Table 5).

Direction	Velocity	10 cr	n/sec			20 cm/sec			
	Quadrant	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th
Anterior	DPN	7.2	27.0	39.7	26.1	9.2	14.4	44.8	31.6
	DNN	6.3	10.6	38.8	44.3	3.7	0.8	27.1	68.4
	p-value	0.86	0.12	0.94	0.17	0.47	0.15	0.29	0.03
Posterior	DPN	3.1	11.1	51.7	34.1	23.4	23.1	27.1	26.4
	DNN	2.5	5.4	63.2	28.9	8.0	15.1	54.0	22.9
	p-value	0.79	0.23	0.40	0.72	0.06	0.34	0.04	0.76
Right-lateral	DPN	1.7	5.3	25.8	67.2	11.2	8.6	43.2	37.0
	DNN	15.0	4.8	25.1	55.1	6.2	4.4	31.5	57.9
	p-value	0.11	0.91	0.94	0.34	0.45	0.46	0.22	0.03
Left-lateral	DPN	12.4	3.3	63.1	21.2	2.9	2.6	54.4	40.1
	DNN	0	3.9	70.6	25.5	2.6	9.1	60.5	27.8
	p-value	0.11	0.87	0.42	0.52	0.93	0.24	0.55	0.21

 Table 5. Difference of COP placement rates (%) between two groups for period 3.

*: α = 0.05

Period 4: Recovery from 2 s to 3 s. In the middle of recovery period after a perturbation, no significant difference of placement of COP in all four quadrants between two groups was found under the considered conditions (Table 6).

Direction	Velocity	10 cr	n/sec			20 cm/sec			
	Quadrant	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th
Anterior	DPN	4.6	8.3	55.5	31.6	1.7	1.1	49.4	47.8
	DNN	0	0.9	41.0	58.1	0	0	53.1	46.9
	p-value	0.33	0.31	0.42	0.13	0.36	0.36	0.86	0.96
Posterior	DPN	1.9	2.8	43.8	51.5	5.8	10.4	33.2	50.6
	DNN	0	5.0	67.6	27.4	1.4	1.8	63.8	33.0
	p-value	0.33	0.55	0.13	0.13	0.21	0.23	0.07	0.29
Right-lateral	DPN	0	7.1	26.2	66.7	0	0.6	55.4	44.0
	DNN	0	10.1	56.0	33.9	0	14.3	39.3	46.4
	p-value	n/a	0.78	0.07	0.06	n/a	0.17	0.37	0.89
Left-lateral	DPN	4.7	3.2	39.3	52.8	5.8	2.4	36.9	54.9
	DNN	0	2.9	49.8	47.3	0	0	44.8	55.2
	p-value	0.08	0.93	0.53	0.74	0.29	0.32	0.63	0.98

Table 6. Difference of COP placement rates (%) between two groups for period 4.

Period 5: Recovery from 3 s to 4 s. As the recovery period approached to a status of stabilized posture, two groups showed a significant difference of COP placement. Particularly, when the perturbation was applied in anterior direction at low velocity, diabetic group with peripheral neuropathy swayed less toward the fourth quadrant than did diabetic group without peripheral neuropathy. It was interesting to note that two groups showed opposite likelihood of COP placements between the third and fourth quadrant when the perturbation was applied in right and left lateral directions at high velocity, that is, more placement in the third quadrant for DPN in right-lateral perturbation direction, but more placement in the fourth quadrant for DNN in left-lateral perturbation direction (Table 7).

Direction	Velocity	10 cr	n/sec			20 cm/sec			
	Quadrant	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th
Anterior	DPN	4.4	8.1	61.2	26.3	4.2	3.1	41.6	51.1
	DNN	0	0	35.6	64.4	0	0.3	68.6	31.1
	p-value	0.26	0.17	0.15	0.02	0.36	0.31	0.18	0.31
Posterior	DPN	2.7	0.7	43.8	52.8	0	0.5	44.6	54.9
	DNN	0	5.6	51.0	43.4	1.5	4.4	61.6	32.5
	p-value	0.33	0.39	0.69	0.61	0.31	0.37	0.32	0.19
Right-lateral	DPN	0	7.1	42.8	50.1	0	0.7	69.2	30.1
	DNN	0	7.8	40.9	51.3	0	14.3	32.2	53.5
	p-value	n/a	0.94	0.91	0.95	n/a	0.17	0.04	0.21
Left-lateral	DPN	0	0.3	63.1	36.6	0.5	0	56.4	43.1
	DNN	0	4.7	49.1	46.2	0	0	27.0	73.0
	p-value	n/a	0.35	0.45	0.61	0.33	n/a	0.06	0.05

 Table 7. Difference of COP placement rates (%) between two groups for period 5.

*: $\alpha = 0.05$

Table 8. Difference of COP placement rates (%) between two groups for period 6.

Direction	Velocity	10 cr	10 cm/sec				20 cm/sec		
	Quadrant	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th	1 st	2 nd	3 rd	4 th
Anterior	DPN	6.1	0.3	62.1	31.5	0	0	44.2	55.8
	DNN	0	0	38.9	61.1	0	2.7	68.7	28.6
	p-value	0.18	0.33	0.19	0.10	n/a	0.31	0.22	0.16
Posterior	DPN	0	0	45.2	54.8	0	0.3	46.5	53.2
	DNN	0	5.4	59.0	35.6	0	7.7	61.0	31.3
	p-value	n/a	0.33	0.45	0.29	n/a	0.33	0.42	0.21
Right-lateral	DPN	1.6	1.6	46.4	50.4	0	0	68.4	31.6
	DNN	0	13.2	49.0	37.8	0	11.8	38.2	50.0
	p-value	0.33	0.16	0.88	0.47	n/a	0.16	0.10	0.33
Left-lateral	DPN	0.4	0.3	49.9	49.4	7.1	0	62.9	30
	DNN	0	7.1	40.2	52.7	0	0	24.6	75.4
	p-value	0.33	0.34	0.58	0.85	0.33	n/a	0.03	0.01

*: $\alpha = 0.05$

Period 6: Recovery from 4 s to 5 s. At the end of recovery period, both groups had most of COP be placed in the third and fourth quadrant under the considered conditions, except under the perturbation of left-lateral at high velocity. When the posture was stabilized after a perturbation in the left-lateral direction at high velocity, DPN showed more placement of COP in the third quadrant, but DNN in the fourth quadrant (Table 8).

4 Conclusions

In this study, difference of pattern of body sway between diabetic people with and without peripheral neuropathy was investigated. Displacement rates of center of pressure over the four quadrants for the base of posture support were evaluated to compare body sway patterns. During a quiet standing period, two groups did not show a significant difference of body sway patterns. The posture swayed mainly in lateral and posterior direction. Right after a perturbation was applied, two groups showed quite similar patterns of body sway for each perturbation direction. For instance, when the perturbation was given in anterior direction, the posture leaned to posterior direction as a reaction so that the center of pressure placed in either the third quadrant or the fourth quadrant. For the right or left lateral perturbation, its postural reaction was observed accordingly, i.e., placement of COP in the third quadrant for the right lateral perturbation and the fourth quadrant for the left lateral perturbation. However, when the perturbation was applied in posterior direction, the center of pressure dispersed over the four quadrants. At the low velocity of perturbation, two groups did not show any significant difference of sway patterns during the recovery period for all different directions of perturbation except anterior direction. For the anterior direction of perturbation, diabetic people with peripheral neuropathy tended to lean more toward the third quadrant than the fourth quadrant compared to people without neuropathy during the recovery period. Similar reactions were observed for the right and left lateral directions at the high velocity of perturbation.

One of the peripheral neuropathy tests indicated that diabetic people with peripheral neuropathy showed less severity of neuropathy on the left foot than the right foot with Biothesiometer testing. The difference of severity of neuropathy between the feet may be related to the difference of sway tendency. However, it is not verified yet at this point because people without neuropathy tended to sway more to the fourth quadrant that the third quadrant even though they had both foot almost same level of sensitivity. It may be necessary to consider an effect of dominant foot on postural control. It should be noted that this study has some limitations such as small sample sizes and small number of trials.

References

- 1. Lanfond, D., Corriveau, H., Prince, F.: Postural control mechanisms during quiet standing in patents with diabetic sensory neuropathy. Diabetes Care 27, 173–178 (2004)
- Toosizadeh, N., Mohler, J., Armstrong, D.G., Talal, T.K., Najafi, B.: The influence of diabetic peripheral neuropathy on local Postural muscle and central sensory feedback balance control. PLoS One 10(8), e0135255 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0135255
- Wallace, C., Reiber, G.E., LeMaster, J., Smith, D.G., Sullivan, K., Hayes, S., Vath, C.: Incidence of falls, risk factors for falls, and fall-related fractures in individuals with diabetes and a prior foot ulcer. Diabetes Care 25, 1983–1986 (2002)
- 4. Boucher, P.: Postural stability in diabetic polyneuropathy. Diabetes Care 18, 638–645 (1995)
- Yamamoto, R., Kinoshita, T., Momoki, T., Arai, T., Okamura, A., Hirao, K., Sekihara, H.: Postural sway and Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathy. Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract. 52, 213–221 (2001)
- 6. Lafond, D., Corriveau, H., Prince, F.: Postural control mechanisms during quiet standing in patients with diabetic sensory neuropathy. Diabetes Care **27**, 173–178 (2004)
- Nardone, A., Grasso, M., Schieppati, M.: Balance control in peripheral neuropathy: are patients equally unstable under static and dynamic conditions? Gait Posture 23, 364–373 (2006)
- Ahmmed, A.U., Mackenzie, I.J.: Posture changes in diabetes mellitus. J. Laryngol. Otol. 117, 35–364 (2003)
- Fulk, G., Robinson, C., Mondal, S., Storey, C., Hollister, A.: The effects of diabetes and/or peripheral neuropathy in detecting short postural perturbations in mature adults. J. NeuroEngineering Rehabilitation 7, 44 (2010)
- Giacomini, P.G., Bruno, E., Monticone, G., Girolamo, S.D., Magrini, A., Parisi, L., Menzinger, G.: Postural rearrangement in IDDM patients with peripheral neuropathy. Diabetes Care 19, 37–374 (1996)
- Turcot, K., Allet, L., Golay, A., Hoffmeyer, P., Armand, S.: Investigation of standing balance in diabetic patients with and without peripheral neuropathy using accelerometers. Clin. Biomech. 24, 71–721 (2009)
- Slobounov, S.M., Slobounova, E.S., Newell, K.M.: Virtual time-to-collision and human postural control. J. Mot. Behav. 29, 26–281 (1997)
- Slobounov, S., Cao, C., Sebastianelli, W., Slobounov, E., Newell, K.: Residual deficits from concussion as revealed by virtual time-to-contact measures of postural stability. Clin. Neurophysiol. 119, 281–289 (2008)
- Gruber, A.H., Busa, M.A., Gorton III, G.E., Van Emmerik, R.E.A., Masso, P.D., Hamill, J.: Time-to-contact and multiscale entropy identify differences in postural control in adolescent idiopathic scoliosis. Gait Posture 34, 13–18 (2011)
- Haddad, J.M., Gagnon, J.L., Hasson, C.J., Van Emmerik, R.E.A., Hamill, J.: Evaluation of time-to-contact measures for assessing postural stability. J. Appl. Biomechanics 22, 155–161 (2006)
- 16. Wheat, J.S., Haddad, J.M., Scaife, R.: Between-day reliability of time-to-contact measures used to assess postural stability. Gait Posture. **25**, 345–347 (2012)
- Horak, F.B., Dickstein, R., Peterka, R.J.: Diabetic neuropathy and surface sway-referencing disrupt somatosensory information for postural stability in stance. Somatosens. Mot. Res. 19, 316–326 (2002)

- Kim, B.: Postural control for unexpected perturbation in diabetic neuropathy people. In: Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics 2018 Conference. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing (2018)
- Birke, J.A., Sims, D.A.: Plantar sensor threshold in the ulcerative foot. Lepr. Rev. 57, 261– 267 (1986)
- Pham, H., Armstrong, D.G., Harvey, C., Harkless, L.B., Giurini, J.M., Veves, A.: Screening techniques used to identify people at risk for diabetic foot ulceration. Diabetes Care 25, 606– 611 (2000)



Quality Assessment and Management: An Overview of Concordance and Discordance Rates Between Clinical and Autopsy Diagnoses

Jawahar (Jay) Kalra^{1,2(⊠)}, Daniel Markewich², and Patrick Seitzinger³

 ¹ Royal University Hospital, Saskatoon Health Region, 103 Hospital Drive, Saskatoon, SK S7N 0W8, Canada
 ² Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada {jay.kalra,djm097}@usask.ca
 ³ Northern Medical Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z4, Canada patrickseitzinger@alumni.ubc.ca

Abstract. Autopsy diagnoses have traditionally been used as the "Gold Standard" for determining the cause of death. The purpose of this study was to use autopsy to determine the rate of concordance and discordance between clinical diagnoses and post-mortem findings in patients admitted to the hospitals of the Saskatoon Health Region. A retrospective record review of the medical and autopsy charts was carried out by three independent observers for all the deceased adult in-patients admitted during 2006 to 2008. In accordance with selection criteria, 102 (59 males; 43 females) cases were assessed. The concordance rate between clinical and autopsy diagnosis was found to be 86.3%. The discordance rate was 12.7% and in 1.0% was inconclusive. We encourage residents and physicians to continue using autopsy as an important tool to extend our understanding of disease processes.

Keywords: Concordance · Discordance · Medical error · Autopsy · Clinical diagnosis · Post-mortem diagnosis

1 Introduction

The detailed measurement of the rate of diagnostic error has been described as both an essential first step [1, 2] and an unavoidable obstacle [3] in the progress of the medicine. This 'next frontier in patient safety' [4] has received relatively little attention [5] and requires focused research to inform future intervention strategies [6]. The diagnostic process is a vital component of medical care as it determines the appropriate course of treatment and prognosis [7]. Therefore, diagnostic inaccuracies have considerable consequences including patient injury, suffering, and death [8, 9]. Recently, the World Health Organization has included diagnostic errors as a high-priority issue [10]. The autopsy has been used as a diagnostic tool for more than 3000 years [11] and today remains the gold standard in identifying pathologies and cause of death [12]. Furthermore, it allows physicians to calibrate diagnostic skills and processes through feedback [13]. However, the rate of autopsies being performed has declined considerably [14]. Peaking at about 50%–60% around the 1960's, rates of autopsies have since steadily declined and begun to stabilize at 10% or less in recent years [15, 16]. Reasons for this decline include fear of legal ramifications for incorrect diagnoses, limited resources, lack of minimum autopsy rate requirement for hospital accreditation, limited exposure to autopsies for medical trainees, and advances in imaging modalities [16–18].

The precise prevalence of overall diagnostic error remains unknown as different studies have reported widely different rates of error. Illustrative examples of rates discordance that have been reported around the world include 9.3% in India [19], 17.2% in USA [17], 19% in Greece [20], 19.8% in USA [18], 21% in Belgium [21], 31.7% in France [22], and 48.4% in Jamaica [23]. Among the highest quality of evidence available, systematic reviews and meta-analyses have reported various ranges for rates of diagnostic error including 4.1–49.8% [24], 5–15% [25], 10–15% [26], and 10–20% [1]. Although discrepancies between studies may be partly due to different characteristics of the study population and the context in which each study took place, a general trend of greater sample sizes yielding higher rates of discordance between clinical diagnoses and post-mortem findings among university and community hospitals in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada, and to assess the role of imaging modalities and the effects of potential determinants on the discrepancy rate including age, organ system involved, and length of stay in hospital on the rate of discordance.

2 Methods

To determine rates of concordance and discordance among clinical diagnoses and postmortem findings, a retrospective chart review was carried out, by three independent observers on 102 patients that passed away between January 1, 2006 and December 31, 2008 while admitted at one of three hospitals in Saskatoon Health Region (SHR) including Royal University Hospital (RUH), St. Paul's Hospital (SPH) and Saskatoon City Hospital (SCH). Inclusion criteria included being over the age of 16 at time of death and having a clinician- or family -requested autopsy performed. Exclusion criteria included medico-legal autopsies, pediatric autopsies and coroner's autopsies as well as incomplete charts and autopsy data. Data including admission records, discharge summaries, autopsy reports and imaging reports were manually extracted from patient's charts and included in analyses. Diagnostic discordance was operationally defined as non-agreement between the clinical diagnosis given premortem and the autopsy findings discovered post-mortem. Diagnostic concordance was operationally defined as agreement between pre- and post-mortem diagnoses of cause of death in which a major diagnosis that lead to or contributed to death was not missed.

To gain a more in depth understanding of diagnostic inaccuracies, it is important to measure and classify the types of errors that are being observed. This endeavor was most notably initiated by Goldman [27]. Class 1 are discrepancies of the major diagnosis in which knowledge of the diagnosis premortem would have changed treatment to prolong survival or cure the disease [27]. Class 2 are discrepancies of the major diagnosis in which knowledge premortem would not have changed survival even with the correct treatment [27]. Class 3 are discrepancies of the minor diagnosis that did not directly relate to cause of death but were related to the terminal disease [27]. Class 4 are discrepancies of the minor diagnosis that may have had the potential to influence prognosis or eventually contribute to the cause death and may have epidemiological importance [27]. Since the original Goldman classification system was developed, a 5th classification has been added [11, 28]. Class 5 is defined as non-discrepant diagnoses in which there was complete agreement between the clinical diagnosis and autopsy findings [11, 28].

The distribution of organ systems involved in the cause of death was assessed in all cases included in the analysis and compared to discordant cases. The influence of various determinants on the discordance rate was examined including length of stay in hospital, age of patient, organ system involved, as well as the impact of diagnostic modalities, such as X-ray, Computerized Tomographic Scanning (CT), and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). Imaging tests that were incomplete or had failed were excluded from analyses. In regard to classifying the impact of imaging modalities, instances in which the imaging modality confirmed a previously suspected diagnosis or confirmed the absence of competing diagnoses were classified as confirmatory. Instances in which the imaging modality provided a previously unsuspected diagnosis were classified as diagnostic. If imaging studies provided vague diagnoses, misleading diagnoses or were unable to detect pathologies that was later revealed on autopsy, then the instance was classified as inconclusive.

3 Results

Assessing patient records from the three hospitals in the SHR, 102 cases were found to be eligible for analysis (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Number of hospital admissions, deaths, total autopsies and eligible cases in Saskatoon Health Region between 2006 and 2008.

Of the 3770 patient-deaths that occurred in the SHR between 2006 and 2008, 1706 (45.3%) occurred at SPH, 1227 (32.5%) took place at the RUH and 837 (22.2%) occurred at the SCH. A total of 233 autopsies were performed on the 3770 patients-deaths – resulting in an autopsy rate of 6.2%. The autopsy rate was remained consistent over time, ranging from 6.0% in 2007 to 6.4% in 2006.

Of the 102 autopsy cases included in the analysis, 49 occurred at the RUH, 38 occurred at SPH, and 15 occurred at the SCH. Approximately 58.2% (59/102) of cases were male and the average age of patients was 65 years old \pm 14 years. The average length of stay in hospital was 12.7 days. The place of death in hospital for 44.1% (45/102) patients was the Intensive Care Unit or the Critical Care Unit. Similarly, 44.1% (45/102) died on the wards.

The overall concordance rate between 2006 and 2008 was 86.3% (88/102) while the discordance rate was 12.7% (13/102). In one case, concordance or discordance could not be determined due a limited autopsy – this one case, 1.0% (1/102), was classified as inconclusive. The rate of concordance in the SHR was similar across the three years of the study – 82.5% in 2006, 90.3% in 2007, and 87.1% in 2008 (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Concordance and discordance rates between clinical and autopsy diagnoses for all hospitals in the Saskatoon Health Region from 2006 to 2008.

Rates of concordance ranged from 84.2% in SPH to 93.3% in SCH. Rates of discordance ranged from 6.7% in SCH to 15.8% in SPH. The 1 inconclusive case (2.0%) occurred at RUH (Fig. 3).

Class 1 discrepancies ranged from 4.1% in RUH to 13.2% in SPH. Class 2 discrepancies ranged from 0.0% in SCH to 8.2% in RUH. Class 3 ranged from 6.7% at SCH to 15.8% at SPH. Class 4 ranged from 13.3% at SCH to 28.9% at SPH. Lastly, rates of class 5 ranged from 39.5% at SPH to 73.3% at SCH. Overall, the rate of discrepancies involving minor diagnoses (class 3 and class 4) were more than twice as common as discrepancies involving the major diagnoses (class 1 and class 2), 12.7% and 35.3% respectively. The proportion of cases that have been classified as each type of concordance or discordance is shown in Table 1.

Class 1 rates ranged from 3.2% in 2007 to 12.5% in 2006. Class 2 rates ranged from 2.5% in 2006 to 6.5% in 2007 and 2008. Class 3 rates ranged from 9.7% in 2008 to 12.9% in 2007. Class 4 rates ranged from 19.4% in 2007 to 32.3% in 2008. In each year, class 5 represented the most cases (ranging from 45.2% in 2008 to 58.1% in 2007) (Fig. 4).



Fig. 3. Overall concordance and discordance rates between clinical and autopsy diagnoses for the Saskatoon Health Region hospitals for the years 2006 to 2008.

Table 1. Classification of the types of discrepancies between clinical and autopsy diagnoses of hospitals in the Saskatoon Health Region.

Classification	SPH $(n = 38)$	SCH $(n = 15)$	RUH $(n = 49)$	Overall $(n = 102)$
C1	13.2%	6.7%	4.1%	7.8%
C2	2.6%	0.0%	8.2%	4.9%
C3	15.8%	6.7%	8.2%	10.8%
C4	28.9%	13.3%	24.5%	24.5%
C5	39.5%	73.3%	55.1%	52.0%



Fig. 4. Classification of the types of discrepancies between clinical and autopsy diagnoses of hospitals in the Saskatoon Health Region between 2006 and 2008.

Cardiovascular and respiratory systems are most commonly involved in the cause of death when including all 102 cases. The gastrointestinal system and the genitourinary system were the most common systems involved in the cause of death in discordant cases. The distribution of organ systems involved in the cause of death in all patient deaths included in the analysis is shown next to the distribution of organ systems involved in the cause of death in discordant cases in Table 2.

	All cas	ses	Disco	ordant	Relative discordance
Organ system	n	%	n	%	%
Cardiovascular	35	34.3	3	23.1	8.6
Respiratory	22	21.6	2	15.4	9.1
Gastrointestinal	9	8.8	3	23.1	33.3
Genitourinary	5	4.9	2	15.4	40.0
Neurologic	6	5.9	1	7.7	16.7
Other	25	24.5	2	15.4	19.1

Table 2. Distribution of organ system involved in cause of death among 102 cases in the

 Saskatoon Health Region between 2006 and 2008.

The confirmatory rate of X-rays was consistent between the three hospitals ranging from 52.7% in SPH to 57.8% in the SCH. Similarly, the diagnostic rate of X-rays between the three hospitals fell within a narrow range from 42.2% in the SCH to 46.9% in SPH. Of the 744 X-rays that were performed, 686 were chest X-rays (54.1% confirmatory and 45.9% diagnostic) and 62 were abdominal X-rays (58.1% confirmatory and 38.7% diagnostic). Of the 744 X-rays that were performed, 473 occurred at RUH, 207 at SPH and 64 at SCH. Of the two inconclusive X-rays, both were abdominal X-rays – one occurred at SPH and one occurred at the RUH (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Comparison of confirmatory, diagnostic and inconclusive rates among imaging modalities (X-rays, CT, MRI) in Saskatoon Health Region from 2006 to 2008.

Of the 124 CT that were performed, 59 were of the head (55.9% confirmatory and 44.1% diagnostic), 30 of the chest (23.3% confirmatory and 70.0% diagnostic), and 35 of the abdomen/pelvis (37.1% confirmatory and 60.0% diagnostic). Of the 124 CTs that were performed, 90 took place at RUH, 27 at SPH and only 7 at SCH. Due to the limited number of CTs performed at some hospitals, hospital-specific confirmatory and diagnostic rates of CTs are not shown. There was a total of three inconclusive CTs – one abdominal/pelvis CT at RUH, and two chest CTs also at RUH.

Of the 19 MRIs that were performed, 15 took place at RUH, 4 took place at SPH, and 0 took place at SCH – therefore hospital-specific confirmatory and diagnostic rates are not shown. There were no inconclusive MRIs.

4 Discussion

The concordance rate between clinical and autopsy diagnoses in the SHR between 2006 and 2008 was 86.3% (88/102), while the discordance rate was 12.7% (13/102). Our findings fall into the ranges of discordance reported by meta-analyses and reviews on the topic including for rates of diagnostic error including 4.1–49.8% [24], 5–15% [25], 10–15% [26], and 10–20% [1]. These findings suggest that overall rates of concordance and discordance between clinical diagnoses and autopsy reports in the Saskatoon Health Region are generally consistent with previously reported in North America and around the world.

The classification of discrepancies between clinical and autopsy diagnoses allows a better understanding of the implications of diagnostic inaccuracies. Class 1 discrepancies comprised 7.8% of cases in this study. These cases have important implications as if they had been prevented would have changed treatment to prolong survival or cure the disease [27]. This finding is aligned with previous reports of rates of Class 1 errors including 5% [24], 8% [29], 9.1% [30], 9.9% [12]. Class 2 discrepancies represented 4.9% of cases. These cases also involve major diagnosis, however, even with the correct treatment would not have changed survival. Previous studies have found Class 2 rates of 6.1% [31], 10.8% [32], and 15% [29]. Class 3 discrepancies represent 10.8% of cases in this study and although not related to the cause of death, caused symptoms that would have eventually contributed to the prognosis or could have been treated [27]. In previous studies rates of Class 3 discrepancies that have been reported include 3.6% [12], 7.5% [11], 10.3% [32], and 15% [29]. Class 4 discrepancies represented 24.5% of cases. Although these discrepancies involve only minor occult diseases they are of epidemiological importance and have been found to be 16.1% [11], 21% [29], 28.5% [32] and 32.9% [12]. Class 5 instances represent complete concordance between clinical and autopsy diagnoses - in this study Class 5 represented 52.0% of cases. This is in line with previous studies that have included same definition of Class 5, including 29% [20], 30.6% [31], 39.2% [32], 44% [12], and 57% [33]. Overall, the results of classification of concordant and discordant cases of this study are strongly aligned with previous research.

When assessing both concordant and discordant cases together, cardiovascular and respiratory systems are most commonly involved in the cause of death, representing 34.3% and 21.6% of cases respectively. These systems were found to have relatively

low relative discordance rates. Of the 35 cases that died of cardiovascular causes, 3 (8.6%) were found to be discordant. Of the 22 cases that died of respiratory causes, 2 (15.4%) were found to be discordant. The gastrointestinal system and the genitourinary system were the most common systems involved in the cause of death in discordant cases, each representing 23.1% of discordant cases. These two systems represented the highest rates of relative discordance - 33.5% (3/9) for the gastrointestinal system and 40.0% (2/5) for the genitourinary system. Note that data on these systems is limited by small sample sizes.

Regarding diagnostic rates, our data show MRI to be the superior modality (57.9% diagnostic), followed my CT scan (54.8% diagnostic) and lastly X-ray (54.4% diagnostic). These findings are consistent with the level of detail of the imaging produced by each modality. The results of this study suggest that despite the technical advances in diagnostic modalities, diagnostic discrepancies remain prevalent in the present-day health care system.

Barriers exist to determining the accuracy of clinical diagnoses. In the context of this study, limited sample sizes are the primary restriction to the depth and breadth of analysis and interpretation that can be made. Low rates of autopsy limit the availability of data that can be investigated [14]. Despite having begun with 184, 069 hospital admissions and 3770 in-patient deaths, only 233 autopsy reports were available and only 102 were eligible for analysis based on the inclusion criteria resulting in an autopsy rate of 6.2%. Lower autopsy rates are associated with higher rates of diagnostic errors [24]. More specifically, it has been found that for every 10% increase in autopsy rates there is a 12.4% decrease in major medical errors [24]. This illustrates the important educational value of autopsy examinations in established quality assurance tool in progressing medical diagnostics [34].

It may be argued that selection bias may influence these findings as cases of diagnostic uncertainty have been shown to be more likely to involve autopsy investigation [24] and autopsy investigations tend to be ordered for clinically challenging cases [34]. However, clinician certainty in the diagnosis has been shown to have little influence on the rate of discrepancies [35]. The discrepancy rate among cases where the clinician felt certain of the diagnosis was 12%, compared to the rate of 15% for all levels of certainty [35]. Similarly, among cases where the clinician would normally have ordered an autopsy the discrepancy rate was 15% whereas among cases where the clinician would normally not have ordered an autopsy the discrepancy rate was 14% [35].

5 Conclusion

Autopsy is an established quality assurance tool that will bring to light discrepancies and will play an important role in contributing to clinical knowledge, medical education and quality assurance programs. This area of work contributes to the field of diagnostic medicine by enhancing accuracy and knowledge of disease [15, 34] and providing more accurate epidemiological mortality data. [36]. Furthermore, it allows physicians to calibrate diagnostic skills and processes through feedback [13].

References

- 1. Graber, M.L.: The incidence of diagnostic error in medicine. BMJ Qual. Saf. 22, 21–27 (2013)
- McGlynn, E.A., McDonald, K.M., Cassel, C.K.: Measurement is essential for improving diagnosis and reducing diagnostic error. JAMA 314, 2501 (2015)
- Singh, H.: Diagnostic errors: moving beyond "no respect" and getting ready for prime time. BMJ Qual. Saf. 22, 789–792 (2013)
- 4. Newman-Toker, D.E., Pronovost, P.J.: Diagnostic errors—the next frontier for patient safety. JAMA **301**, 1060 (2009)
- Cresswell, K.M., Panesar, S.S., Salvilla, S.A., Carson-Stevens, A., Larizgoitia, I., Donaldson, L.J., Bates, D., Sheikh, A.: Group, on behalf of the W.H.O. (WHO) S.P.C.E.
 W.: Global research priorities to better understand the burden of iatrogenic harm in primary care: an international Delphi exercise. PLoS Med. 10, e1001554 (2013)
- Graber, M., Gordon, R., Franklin, N.: Reducing diagnostic errors in medicine. Acad. Med. 77, 981–992 (2002)
- Olson, A.P.J., Graber, M.L., Singh, H.: Tracking progress in improving diagnosis: a framework for defining undesirable diagnostic events. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 33, 1187–1191 (2018)
- Berner, E.S., Graber, M.L.: Overconfidence as a cause of diagnostic error in medicine. Am. J. Med. 121, S2–S23 (2008)
- Bunting, R.F., Groszkruger, D.P.: From *To Err Is Human* to *Improving Diagnosis in Health Care*: the risk management perspective. J. Healthc. Risk Manag. 35, 10–23 (2016)
- Singh, H., Schiff, G.D., Graber, M.L., Onakpoya, I., Thompson, M.J.: The global burden of diagnostic errors in primary care. BMJ Qual. Saf. 26, 484–494 (2017)
- Aalten, C.M., Samson, M.M., Jansen, P.A.F.: Diagnostic errors; the need to have autopsies. Neth. J. Med. 64, 186–190 (2006)
- 12. Marshall, H.S., Milikowski, C.: Comparison of clinical diagnoses and autopsy findings: sixyear retrospective study. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. **141**, 1262–1266 (2017)
- Graber, M.: Diagnostic errors in medicine: a case of neglect forum. Jt. Comm. J. Qual. Patient Saf. 31, 106–113 (2005)
- 14. Kalra, J., Entwistle, L., Suryavanshi, S., Chadha, R.: Quality assessment using concordance and discordance rates in medical findings. Clin. Gov. An Int. J. 15, 128–133 (2010)
- Roulson, J., Benbow, E.W., Hasleton, P.S.: Discrepancies between clinical and autopsy diagnosis and the value of post mortem histology; a meta-analysis and review. Histopathology 47, 551–559 (2005)
- 16. Scordi-Bello, I.A., Kalb, T.H., Lento, P.A.: Clinical setting and extent of premortem evaluation do not predict autopsy discrepancy rates. Mod. Pathol. 23, 1225 (2010)
- Tavora, F., Crowder, C.D., Sun, C.-C., Burke, A.P.: Discrepancies between clinical and autopsy diagnoses. Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 129, 102–109 (2008)
- Tai, D.Y.H., El-Bilbeisi, H., Tewari, S., Mascha, E.J., Wiedemann, H.P., Arroliga, A.C.: A study of consecutive autopsies in a medical ICU: a comparison of clinical cause of death and autopsy diagnosis. Chest **119**, 530–536 (2001)
- 19. Moorchung, N., Singh, V., Mishra, A., Patrikar, S., Kakkar, S., Dutta, V.: Is necropsy obsolete an audit of the clinical autopsy over six decades: a study from Indian sub continent. Indian J. Pathol. Microbiol. **56**, 372 (2013)
- Spiliopoulou, C., Papadodima, S., Kotakidis, N., Koutselinis, A.: Clinical diagnoses and autopsy findings: a retrospective analysis of 252 cases in Greece. Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med. 129, 210–214 (2005)

- Maris, C., Martin, B., Creteur, J., Remmelink, M., Piagnerelli, M., Salmon, I., Vincent, J.-L., Demetter, P.: Comparison of clinical and post-mortem findings in intensive care unit patients. Virchows Arch. 450, 329–333 (2007)
- Combes, A., Mokhtari, M., Couvelard, A., Trouillet, J.-L., Baudot, J., Hénin, D., Gibert, C., Chastre, J.: Clinical and autopsy diagnoses in the intensive care unit. Arch. Intern. Med. 164, 389 (2004)
- Gibson, T.N., Shirley, S.E., Escoffery, C.T., Reid, M.: Discrepancies between clinical and postmortem diagnoses in Jamaica: a study from the University Hospital of the West Indies. J. Clin. Pathol. 57, 980–985 (2004)
- Shojania, K.G., Burton, E.C., McDonald, K.M., Goldman, L.: Changes in rates of autopsydetected diagnostic errors over time. JAMA 289, 2849 (2003)
- Tudela, P., Carreres, A., Ballester, M.: Diagnostic errors in emergency departments. Med. Clínica (English Ed.) 149, 170–175 (2017)
- Schiff, G.D., Hasan, O., Kim, S., Abrams, R., Cosby, K., Lambert, B.L., Elstein, A.S., Hasler, S., Kabongo, M.L., Krosnjar, N., Odwazny, R., Wisniewski, M.F., McNutt, R.A.: Diagnostic error in medicine. Arch. Intern. Med. 169, 1881 (2009)
- 27. Goldman, L., Sayson, R., Robbins, S., Cohn, L.H., Bettmann, M., Weisberg, M.: The value of the autopsy in three medical eras. N. Engl. J. Med. **308**, 1000–1005 (1983)
- Veress, B.: A retrospective analysis of clinical diagnoses and autopsy findings in 3,042 cases during two different time periods. Hum. Pathol. 25, 140–145 (1988)
- Winters, B., Custer, J., Galvagno, S.M., Colantuoni, E., Kapoor, S.G., Lee, H., Goode, V., Robinson, K., Nakhasi, A., Pronovost, P., Newman-Toker, D.: Diagnostic errors in the intensive care unit: a systematic review of autopsy studies. BMJ Qual. Saf. 21, 894–902 (2012)
- Thurnheer, R., Hoess, C., Doenecke, C., Moll, C., Muntwyler, J., Krause, M.: Diagnostic performance in a primary referral hospital assessed by autopsy: evolution over a ten-year period. Eur. J. Intern. Med. 20, 784–787 (2009)
- Fares, A.F., Fares, J., Fares, G.F., Cordeiro, J.A., Nakazone, M.A., Cury, P.M.: Clinical and pathological discrepancies and cardiovascular findings in 409 consecutive autopsies. Arq. Bras. Cardiol. 97, 449–455 (2011)
- Kuijpers, C.C., Fronczek, J., Van De Goot, F.R.W., Niessen, H.W.M., Van Diest, P.J., Jiwa, M.: The value of autopsies in the era of high-tech medicine: discrepant findings persist. J. Clin. Pathol. 67, 512–519 (2014)
- Pastores, S.M., Dulu, A., Voigt, L., Raoof, N., Alicea, M., Halpern, N.A.: Premortem clinical diagnoses and postmortem autopsy findings: discrepancies in critically ill cancer patients. Crit. Care 11, R48 (2007)
- 34. De Vlieger, G., Mahieu, E., Meersseman, W.: Clinical review: what is the role for autopsy in the ICU? Crit. Care 14, 221 (2010)
- Cameron, H.M., McGoogan, E., Watson, H.: Necropsy: a yardstick for clinical diagnoses. Br. Med. J. 281, 985–988 (1980)
- Sington, J.D., Cottrell, B.J.: Analysis of the sensitivity of death certificates in 440 hospital deaths: a comparison with necropsy findings. J. Clin. Pathol. 55, 499–502 (2002)



Comparative Assessment of the Risk of Manual Patient Handling Between Standard Methods and Job Analysis

Pier Luigi Pavanelli^{1(⊠)}, Silvio Falco¹, Giovanni La Valle¹, Cristiano Roscio¹, and Giulia Ricciardi²

¹ Città della salute e della Scienza di Torino, Corso Bramante 88, 10126 Turin, Italy {ppavanelli, sfalco, glavalle, croscio}@cittadellasalute.to.it ² University of Turin, Turin, Italy giulia.ricciardi@edu.unito.it

Abstract. Some tasks performed by healthcare workers, such as the manual patient handling, may lead to musculoskeletal disorders. Exposure to biomechanical overload includes patient handling operations, the pulling and pushing of beds/stretchers (considering the extra weight of the patient. These actions could be evaluate thanks to the Snook Ciriello method (ISO 11228). The Center for Ergonomics of the University of Michigan has developed a software able to evaluate the biomechanical overload, which takes into consideration postures or the manual lifting of loads for each task, i.e. the 3DSSPP (Static Strength Prediction Program). The occupational specialist can apply the Job Analysis to determine which tasks should be performed by the worker without being overloaded. Therefore guaranteeing the correct positioning of staff even those affected by musculoskeletal disorders.

Keywords: Healthcare worker · Musculoskeletal disorders · Manual patient handling · Job analysis · 3DSSPP software

1 Introduction

The aging of health care providers and patients is an inevitable phenomena that is to be faced by the SSN (Servizio Sanitario Nazionale) [1]. However, this involves overcoming multiple challenges, some of which currently available strategies are not always able to do. Indeed, the advancing age of the health care providers is destined to have important consequences on the functioning of Health Care Structure (HCS) and requires that the current policies and personnel management systems be re-orientated to meet needs [2]. Managing senior personnel involves a series of problems, including the fact that they have a lower physical tolerance to tasks that necessitate significant physical effort and are more subject to the negative consequences of stress associated with frequent changes in the sleep-wake rhythm typical of shift work. All of which is to be carried out in such a way that the HCS is able to guarantee them an environment (physical and organizational) that can benefit from of their long-term acquired

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 55–62, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_6 professional skills. This boils down to management and professionally guided dedicated age management strategies being a must so as to contrast the negative effects of the current general framework, whilst enhancing the abilities acquired by skilled personnel during the course of their professional activities, i.e. placing them I the category of valuable resources within the system.

One of the most common musculoskeletal disorders is what Anglo-Saxon authors call "Low Back Pain" (LBP) [3]. This is a painful symptomatology located in the lumbosacral spine with consequent functional limitation and difficulty or even impossibility to perform some tasks. The most common causes are incorrect patient handling techniques, a bad choice of furnishings and/or equipment dedicated to patient handling/movement, torsion, flexion, etc...., heavy loads (weight) and high physical effort due to poorly distributed weight of patients with poor or no collaboration.

From a biomechanical point of view, tasks such as the lifting and manual transfer of patients are overloading operations, especially for the lumbar spine, as patients should be considered a significant weight load, that not only have an unevenly distributed mass but may make sudden changes in movement. Indeed, handling strategies should be tailored to a series of elements, including how collaborative the patient is able/willing to be and the level of training and experience of the health care provider. Even in the presence of handling aids, the work organization and the characteristics of the environments these operations are carried out in may have a significant influence on the handling methods and the consequent risks.

Therefore, the question of how to combine efficiency to a good cost/benefit ratio in an increasingly aging working population no longer able to carry out their duties arises.

2 Materials and Methods

The first step in the preparation of optimal strategies, in terms of prevention and protection of the safety and well-being of the HCS staff, is the identification of the departments most subject to the risks involved in manual patient handling. This is followed by the assessment of the biomechanical overload risk through the application of standard evaluation tools, such as the Italian MAPO method¹.

Our attention was focused on the nursing staff as they are the exposed category to handling risks and have the highest prevalence of not fit to work declarations and/or limitations (prevalence of 24.1%).

Table 1 reports the type of unsuitability and limitation expressed in percentages. As can be observed, over 50% of these declarations were due to the manual handling of loads and patients. Moreover, the type of unsuitability plays a pivotal role in the choice of preventive strategies, including structural reorganization, which are to prevail over equipment and/or training.

As the study continued, the MAPO method [4] was used for the assessment of the risk of moving patients from some departments to others in hospitals that make up The City of Health and Science of Turin. The coordinators of each department were

¹ MAPO: Handling and assistance for hospital patients.

Type of unsuitability	Percentage of unfitness and limitations
Manual handling	49.50%
Incongruous postures	12.60%
Stress/burn out	4.10%
Night-work shifts	12.00%
Chemical risk and allergies	5.40%
Other	16.40%

Table 1. Types unsuitability associated to the percentage in the SSN in 2015

interviewed with the aim of obtaining organizational and structural information. The objective of the organizational analysis was to evaluate the assistance load, in terms of manual patient handling and to estimate how often an operator performed handling operations [5]. The method is based on the principle of the evaluation of the risk factors that characterize the work exposure:

- the care load determined by the ratio between non self-sufficient patients present on average in the ward and the number of operators involved in their handling during the three shifts. The non-self-sufficient patients were divided into two categories: partially collaborating patients or those who have residual capacities and partially collaborate in the movement and non-collaborating patients or those who do not perform any movement, either with their upper or lower limbs.
- the equipment, where the analysis of this factor leads to the identification of the ergonomic requirements of wheelchairs, lifts, minor aids, hospital beds and stretchers (quantity, type of electrical or manual regulation, maintenance status).
- the structure, where the purpose of the evaluation is to determine the adequacy of the rooms in the wards and the toilet facilities. This was followed by an analysis of the routes and accesses (corridors, lifts), which, although do not influence the risk index, they do describe the critical aspects of pulling and pushing operations.
- the training, where the type and duration were recorded during the interview. The interview was documented with a specific as proof that it had been done.

The MAPO method uses an index expressed by a simple correlation with the sum and the multiplication of the analyzed risk factors. This allows for a classification of the work situation by exposure entity and the identification of three levels of action, according to the typical green yellow and red colorimetric model.

Healthcare providers' exposure to biomechanical overload, in this case nurses, included not only patient handling operations on the wards, but also the pulling and pushing of beds/stretchers. In this case the loads were aggravated by the patient's additional weight and had to be analyzed applying a different evaluation method, i.e. the Snook Ciriello method, as referred to in the ISO 11228-2 [6]. The study start by breaking down the overall movement into elementary actions, such as pushing and maintenance. The pulling or pushing index or that which applies to flat transport also summarizes a risk indicator and is evaluated by comparing the recommended limit effort with the one actually moved by measuring it with the electronic dynamometer (connected to a metal handle equipped with special hooks so as to be able to pull or

push the instrumentation - in this case the PCE dynamometer, model FG2 k was used), which is able to verify the applied force and the peak: as the ratio increases, so does the risk factor.

Lastly, the NIOSH method was used to evaluate the load lifting actions usually performed: handling, lifting, moving, such as with packs of sheets, hospital garments, dirty and clean linen, etc. The method is able to determine the so-called recommended limit weight for each lifting action through an equation that, starting from a maximum lifting weight under ideal conditions (constant weight of 25 kg for men and 15 kg for women), considers the existence of unfavorable elements and applies the appropriate reduction factors to them.

3 Results

The application of standardized methods has led to the recognition of particularly critical issues. A MAPO assessment of a ward provides an approximate estimation of its risk index, as some field values are not included in the final calculation of the risk index. It also does not take into account the gender of the worker, the weight of the mobilized patients, or the other anthropometric variables, e.g. there is a very important difference between a newborn and an adult, even more so for an obese patient. Without taking into consideration an obese patient [7].

It is not always an easy task to identify even the average daily number of noncollaborating and partially collaborating patients. Another risk determinant is operator training, where the concept of training adequacy is defined according to the type and duration of the training (theoretical/practical course of at least 6 h). Other relevant aspects are the minimum number of operators involved, or at least 75% of the operators involved in the manual patient handling. That is to say, not all the personnel involved in the handling must necessarily undergo continuous training courses. The sufficiency or numerical insufficiency of the auxiliary equipment, does not mean that they are used and if they are, that they are used correctly. Moreover, this method does not provide a personalized assessment for every worker nor does it take into account either gender or its anthropometric variability. It does not even evaluate the worker's posture during a task [8].

The Snook & Ciriello method, as does the NIOSH method, was born for industrial realities and, therefore, is characterized by the repetitiveness of movements. Indeed, the first method involves restrictive frequencies: one passes from an action every 8 h to an action every 30 min. According to NIOSH, the ideal lifting weight for male workers is 25 kg and 15 kg for female workers, which is well below the weight of an adult patient. Furthermore, it is difficult to define the frequency of movements, as they vary widely.

4 Discussion

Starting from the critical points in the Snook Ciriello method, the Center for Ergonomics of the University of Michigan developed a software called 3DSSPP (Static Strength Prediction Program), based on Job Analysis, for the assessment of biomechanical overload, supported, above all, at a rachis level in the lumbar spine, when taking certain postures or manually lifting a load for each task performed by the worker [9].

The analysis, based on the inclusion of complex anthropometric items, including that of the hand, is supported by an automatic posture generation function and by three dimensional graphic illustrations that can make an approximate simulation of the task performed by a male or female.

The calculated forces are shown as percentiles for the male and female working population expected to have sufficient strength to withstand the type of load handling. NIOSH recommends the strength limits that can be tolerated by 99% of the male population and 75% of the female population; for safety reasons it also recommends a maximum spinal compression force of 3,400 N² (about 350 kg).

As aforementioned, the 3DSSPP software is based on Job Analysis, i.e. the breaking down of the job into activities and then the activities into tasks. This analysis allows for the identification of how much force is necessary for the required effort and the related biomechanical overload for each body district, differ greatly for the head, trunk, lower and upper limbs. A simple, but less precise way is to click on the corners of the districts of the stylized subject to modify the subject's posture: in this way the postural changes are mirrored in biomechanical overload changes, enabling the identification of any non-ergonomic workstations. Moreover, variations can be observed from three different angles: top, front, side (Fig. 1).

Red arrows are positioned to indicate the various forces applied to determine the overload, especially at the level of the lumbar spine.



Fig. 1. 3DSSPP software: the worker's posture, seen from three different angles: top, front, side.

² This limit has been assessed on the basis of epidemiological and biomechanical evidence and is one of the criteria used for the development of the NIOSH lifting equation (NIOSH 1981; Waters et al. 1993).

60 P. L. Pavanelli et al.

These images depict (Figs. 2 and 3.) a simulation of a female repositioning a patient into a wheelchair. The software output provides green, red, yellow results, depending



Fig. 2. 3DSSPP Software: three-dimensional image of the simulation of a task performed by a female worker.



Fig. 3. 3DSSPP Software: software output expressed in terms of biomechanical overload at the level of the different districts, especially at the level of the lumbar spine.
on the gravity of the biomechanical overload for each detected district. In the case analyzed, the value is related to the overload on the lumbar spine and can be seen to fall within the yellow range, meaning that this operation (and/or the condition it is performed under) is a criticality.

5 Conclusions

As this type of assessment allows for the identification of most of the overloading operations, it might well be a predicative tool of the development future musculoskeletal related diseases later on. Although the application to different realities does necessitate longer timings, the results are immediately visible, cutting technical assessment times. This innovative type of analysis allows the physician encharged with the evaluation to determine what a worker with limitations or that has been declared unfit can or cannot actually do (e.g. due to musculoskeletal disorders strongly connected to the type of job, that are destined to worsen with progressive aging), thus formulating a judgment of unfitness related to the tasks rather than the job [10]. A judgment of unfitness is not intended to discriminate a worker in difficulty from a healthier one, but rather to allow this person to be assigned to a context where the tasks to be performed do not compromise their state of health, whilst, at the same time, ensuring the professionalism of the worker is protected. The effective management of human resources involved in the movement of patients, with a declaration of unfitness or with prescriptions mainly due to musculoskeletal disorders, such as LBP, is a key element in the healthcare sector. Indeed, chronic diseases, especially ones related to the musculoskeletal system, are a typical condition in an ageing population and are, therefore, unavoidable. However, prevention strategies against the worsening of these conditions or to slow down the process of these pathologies, may be enacted to promote health. These include: postural gymnastics (included in the work shift) to strengthen the musculoskeletal system, where team work or working in pairs is preferred, especially when it comes to moving patients. This enhances professional skills, which fall partly into the so-called life skills (skills for life); which include the skills and competences acquired over time through quality training aimed at enhancing the healthcare providers' awareness of their potential, skills, abilities, as well as the critical issues related to their daily activities, promoting correct handling techniques and the correct use of equipment and aids provided by the company. All of which is carried out under the guidance of an ergo-coach in each shift, i.e. a professional figure that provides positive or negative feedback on the activity/ies to be performed. The sum of which leads to an increase in well-being or work and well-being within the hospital, which also has a positive effect on the patient-health relationship, which on the one hand is perceived by the patient in terms of greater reliability and on the other, gratifies the activity performed by the staff. Age management can be handled by further strategies, such as job rotation, providing suitable training courses, favouring horizontal career paths on the one hand and, on the other, reducing the risk of potential alienation by workers. Therefore, an archive containing the Job Analysis can be set-up thanks to the expertise of Occupational Medicine, Health Departments, Nursing Areas, the Prevention and Protection Service and through an accurate analysis of the tasks constituting the activities of each job of the health personnel.

This will mark the starting point for the formulation of the assessment of suitability/inability to tasks for each worker by the physician entrusted with the task of evaluation, making the occupational specialist a pivotal figure in the aforementioned cooperation system. This will make it possible not only to identify the measures and interventions required to allow for an effective management of the phenomenon of unsuitability or limitations, but also to ensure the reintegration of any persons affected by musculoskeletal disorders and their assignment to the most suitable tasks for their abilities and capabilities.

References

- 1. De Pietro, C., Pacileo, G., Pirazzoli, A., Sartirana, M.: The unfitness and work limitations of SSN personnel. Dimensions of the phenomenon and proposals, Egea (2015)
- Kane, L., Shamliyan, T., Mueller, C., Duval, S., Wilt, T.W.: Nurse staffing and quality of patient care. Evidence Report Number 151, Minneapolis (2007)
- 3. Menoni, O., Tasso, M.: Evaluation of musculoskeletal risks and disorders in Healthcare structures. Italy (2018)
- Menoni, O.: The Mapo method for the analysis and prevention of patient handling risk. Manual for the collection and management of information and for risk management (2015)
- Bellandi, T., cerri, A., Mastrominico, E., Mengozzi, C., Papani, M., Picione, S., Renzetti, F., Tartaglia, R.: Workloads and safety of health workers - Well-being of doctors and nurses, performance and consequences on patient safety. Inail, Italy (2017)
- 6. Wiggermann, N.: Biomechanical Evaluation of a Bed Feature to Assist in Turning and Laterally Repositioning Patients. Hill-Rom, Batesville (2016)
- 7. Gutiérrez, M., Jorge, M.: Prevalence of low back disorders among female workers and biomechanical limits on the handling of load and patients. Cile (2012)
- Wiggermann, N.: The Effect of a Hospital Bed Turn Assist Feature on Biomechanical Responses When Turning Patients. Batesville, IN, United States (2015)
- 9. Center for ergonomics-University of Michigan, https://c4e.engin.umich.edu/
- 10. Costa, G.: The management of shift work in an aging world. Italy (2018)

Healthcare Information Systems



Electronic Health Records in Hospitals: Preventing Dosing Errors in the Medication Administration Context

Sevgin Hunt^(⊠) and Joyram Chakraborty

Towson University, 8000 York Road, Towson, MD 21252, USA shunt5@students.towson.edu, jchakraborty@towson.edu

Abstract. Medication errors are among the highest contributors to complications during a hospital stay. Dosing errors have an impact on the detrimental effects of a medication error. While clinical decision support systems have targeted prescribing errors, the system design challenges associated with dosing error prevention in the medication administration context is not well understood. This paper presents an overview of the effectiveness of current systems used in the medication delivery process. The system enhancement strategies to improve dosing error detection and prevention in the medication administration context should consider the medication safety loopholes in the electronic health record (EHR).

Keywords: Electronic health record · Patient safety · Dosing errors · Medication administration errors · Decision support

1 Introduction

According to the National Coordinating Council for Medical Error Reporting and Prevention, "A medication error is any preventable event that may cause or lead to inappropriate medication use or patient harm while the medication is in the control of the healthcare professional, patient, or consumer" [1]. Even though medication errors may occur in any healthcare setting, admitted patients are three times more likely to experience an adverse drug event [2]. In 2001, Phillips and colleagues analyzed a five year long data set on fatal medication errors from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) Adverse Event Reporting System, and found improper dosing constituted 40.9% of the reported fatalities, followed by wrong drug and wrong route (16% and 4.9%, respectively) [3]. The occurrence of medication errors in the inpatient setting is among the highest contributors to hospital-related complications [4], and contribute to a significant increase in healthcare costs even though the error may not have led to harm [5]. Even though the healthcare team members have a shared responsibility in preventing medication errors, the nurses bear the primary responsibility in preventing them from reaching the patient. With technology rapidly advancing in healthcare, many clinicians depend on computers to complete the medication delivery process. This paper provides an overview of the safety loopholes associated with dosing errors in the hospital setting.

2 Medication Delivery Process

A medication administration error is when the pharmacological intervention does not match the patient's medical condition (e.g., diagnosis, allergy) or the medication order in the patient's record [6, 7]. When investigating a medication error, the prescribing, transcribing, dispensing, and administration events must be analyzed to determine error-prone activities in the medication delivery process. While medication errors may occur at any stage of the medication delivery process [8–11], they are more likely to occur in the prescribing and the administration phases [12–19].

Frequent dose changes have been linked to medication errors [20, 21], dosage calculation errors are not easy to detect in clinical practice [8, 22]. Donaldson et al. [23] completed an analysis of the Collaborative Alliance for Nursing Outcomes' (CALNOC) registry dataset with 33,425 medication administration events from 157 adult hospitals. While the overall medication administration error rates were low (less than 1%), missing dose and dosing errors were among the most frequently reported medication errors [23]. The nurses are required to verify the five medication administration rights, which are right patient, drug, dose, route, and time, with every medication administration event [24]. Dosing errors may occur even with accurate medication calculations prior to administration because the prescribed dose may not be appropriate for a given patient. This may lead to unintended adverse events for patients and may have legal ramifications.

3 Impact of Dosing Errors

While the scientific work in improving the strategies of verifying pharmacological interventions is improving, medication errors pose a risk in patient safety [25, 26]. According to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) (2018), adverse events can be categorized as preventable or non-preventable, and they typically result from an erroneous action (commission) or failure to prevent the error from occurring (omission) [27]. When the wrong action is prevented from occurring that is called a near miss event [28, 29]. An adverse drug event (ADE) occurs when a patient experiences an undesirable response to medication therapy [30]. ADEs may not be reported if the health care team does not identify them. Also, other reasons for underreporting are underestimating the seriousness of the error, preventing a negative reaction from administrators, or a lack of time to report the event [31–35]. To better understand the contributing factors that lead to unsafe acts and adverse drug events, the science of early detection of ADEs with computer-mediated tools is on the rise [36, 37].

ADEs constitute approximately one-third of adverse events in the hospital setting [38]. In 2011, an analysis of ADEs from 32 states showed 129 out of 1,000 patients experienced an ADE that originated during the hospital stay [2]. A comparison of ADEs between hospital-based versus present on admission showed that ADEs with CNS depressants and anesthetics have the highest likelihood to originate in the hospital setting, and antibiotic and anti-infectives have a comparable risk of occurring in either setting [2]. Iatrogenic overdosing [39–41] or underdosing [41–43] may occur due to the oversight of relevant patient and drug-specific criteria. Medications that are prescribed outside the recommended dose range limits have a higher risk of causing harm to the patient [6, 39, 44–47].

4 Electronic Health Record

More than 80% of the non-federal government hospitals reported using an electronic health record (EHR) in 2015 [48]. There is a growing interest in understanding the usability of information systems in the healthcare setting and their impact on patient care [49, 50]. Most EHRs have integrated role-specific workflows to complete their respective medication management tasks [51]. The medication delivery process in the EHR starts with a licensed independent practitioner (LIP) (e.g., physician, nurse practitioner, physician assistant) initiating the medication order in the order entry module in the EHR. After the LIP saves the medication order, it is automatically sent to the pharmacy module in the EHR for verification. Once the pharmacist reviews the medication order, the medication order is then converted to a verified status to notify the nurse that it is safe to administer. The pharmacist will add the medication to the patient's profile to allow the nurse to obtain it from an automated medication dispensing cabinet. Some clinical settings may not require pharmacy verification for certain medication orders (e.g., immediate doses or STAT medications), as the medication order may display on the electronic medication administration record (eMAR) as soon as the medication order is electronically signed by the LIP. The pharmacy may dispense the medication to the patient's location if it is not stocked in the automated medication dispensing cabinet. Finally, the nurse acknowledges the new medication order and administers it as per instructions on the electronic medication administration record (eMAR). The nurse is required to sign off on the doses that were given to the patient on the eMAR. If the pharmacist or the nurse suspects that a prescribing error occurred, then they contact the ordering LIP or discuss findings with the healthcare team to ensure that the necessary corrections are made in the patient's record. A detailed description of the decision support tools in preventing dosing errors is provided below.

4.1 Prescribing Errors

Computerized provider order entry (CPOE) and clinical decision support systems (CDSS) together have shown to reduce medication errors, but they have not decreased the ADE rates [52]. A recent study on the cost of preventable ADEs from prescribing alert overrides at one academic hospital was estimated between \$871 million and \$1.8 billion based on an analysis of a year-long dataset from a random sample of nearly 41,000 adult patients [53]. The dosing alerts in CPOE with scheduled frequencies may be more accurate than one-time doses [54]. Providers may ignore dose alerts on high-risk medications if the clinicians prefer to use other internal workflows to establish patient-specific dosing parameters [55]. Some hospitals have embedded Infobuttons, which are context-specific links to relevant online resources into some contexts of the EHR to offer a less intrusive approach to access online resources [56, 57]. Their effectiveness in preventing medication errors is unknown. Prescribing medications is more complicated when the patient's status exceeds the standard dosing guidelines, such as obese children [58]. Koppel et al. [79] analyzed 114 medication orders that were rapidly discontinued by residents and found two-thirds of the medications

contained dosing errors. When decision support features in CPOE push out alerts with outdated or confusing information, the providers may become desensitized and ignore them. A high number of safety notifications on prescribing actions that have a low or no risk of causing harm to the patient may lead to alert fatigue. Dosing alerts that are slightly over the high and low parameters are more likely to be ignored than massive overdose alerts [52, 55, 59]. Even though EHR components are integrated to maximize information flow [60], its effectiveness in preventing medication errors vary by design [61, 62]. User interface challenges in CPOE typically stem from design flaws [63, 64]. For instance, system design may be inadequate for a clinical setting with highly specialized treatment plans and patient care workflows [65, 66]. Also, some providers may fear medical-legal disputes from non-adherence to the preset CDSS recommendations [63].

CPOE may reduce pharmacy order processing times by 90% [67], but a backlog of medication orders in the pharmacist's queue may also lead to pharmacy verification errors [68]. The eMAR is a computerized version of a paper medication administration record, and it is generally integrated with CPOE and the pharmacy components in the EHR. It also contains a list of scheduled or as needed medications as well as time columns that display when medications are due [69]. Some EHRs have medication calculation tools for nurses to use in contexts outside of the eMAR (e.g., documentation contexts) [70]. When nurses work across different EHR contexts to complete the medication administration task, this increases the nurses' workload and creates additional opportunities to make verification errors. The advanced dose checking features designed to detect prescribing errors are not available in the eMAR [71], therefore dosing errors may be missed in the medication administration context.

4.2 Medication Administration Errors

Technology-aided medication verification has become the norm by integrating the eMAR with external with barcode scanning features [72, 73]. Barcode technology has emerged to assist the pharmacy technicians, ancillary staff, and nurses with required medication verification steps. In the pharmacy, barcode scanners are used by technicians to check dispensing errors [74]. At the point of care, barcode scanners may be used by ancillary staff (e.g., radiology technicians) to verify the patient and the procedural medication for a given test [75]. Also, barcode scanners may be used by nurses at the bedside to check the patient and the medication on hand against the medication order [76, 77]. The workflow requires the nurse to scan the medication label and the patient's armband using a handheld barcode scanner [72]. The Bar-coded Medication Administration System (BCMA) system alerts the nurse if the scanned information does not match the information on the electronic medication order [72, 78-80]. While it is not technically possible to verify the medication route via scanning (e.g., unable to scan the patient's mouth, intravenous (IV) site, etc.), BCMA does not entirely prevent the nurse from making wrong route errors (e.g., administer by mouth instead of IV or give via a feeding tube instead of orally and vice versa) [81, 82]. In the BCMA workflow, the drug form (e.g., tablet, injectable) is used to determine whether the medication should be given orally or parenterally. This has limitations because some medications may be administered both orally and intravenously [83]. Dosing errors may still reach the patient due to a calculation error that originated during CPOE.

Other complementary clinical information systems are designed to deliver medications. The infusion pumps with an embedded drug library software are called "smart pumps" [84]. The drug library software in the pump contains hard (enforced) and soft (recommended) limits that are designed to prevent dose and infusion errors. Also, the drug library database can be configured to display institutionally accepted drugs that are appropriate for specific clinical settings (e.g., critical care, emergency department, labor & delivery, etc.). Incomplete drug libraries and medication errors that fall between the preset low and high dosing or infusion parameters are some of the safety loopholes pertaining to smart pump use [85–88]. Also, programming options that allow using a weight-band to compute the dose and infusion rates using estimated rather than actual measurements undermine their effectiveness in detecting drug calculation errors [89]. Push-button errors [86], or circumventing the drug library programming steps in smart pumps [85, 87] are other sources of error. Establishing standard dosing concentrations to prevent 10-fold dosing errors during pump setting [90] and increasing the number of drug libraries to boost usage rates [91] are strategies to decrease intravenous medication administration errors. EHR and smart pump integration is a high-tech strategy to reduce programming errors by establishing the information flow between the two systems. Some hospitals are beta testing computer-based workflows to transmit infusion rates from the infusion pumps to the relevant contexts in the EHR [92-94]. Establishing and maintaining bi-directional connectivity between smart pumps and the EHR is dependent on the hospital's ability to sustain continuous support from functional champions and technical staff to work on break fixes, optimization requests, and train end users. The EHR-smart pump interoperability resulted in an 86% decrease in keystrokes, reduced programming errors, and improved IV therapy charge capture [95]. While the researchers were not able to quantify the financial benefits of reducing the burden of IV therapy documentation, a 3% reduction in lost charges in the ambulatory setting resulted in a \$370,000 increase in hospital revenue [95].

In addition to the EHR-based systems and medication delivery devices, approximately 300 hospitals in the United States have implemented Technology Assisted Double CheckTM (TADC) tools to allow nurses to quickly verify the ordered dose against an external drug knowledge base [96]. The TADC workflow requires the nurse to enter the information on the medication label either by hand or through a camera phone enabled drug barcode reader to retrieve a web-based drug resource to check for dosing errors and review preparation and administration instructions. To facilitate the secure transmission of patient data from the EHR to external smart applications like TADC, the Substitutable Medical Applications and Reusable Technologies (SMART) project was formed to establish the standards for data exchange [97, 98]. Leading EHR vendors (e.g., Epic Systems Corporation, Cerner Corporation) have formed partnerships with smart app vendors to expand the decision support capabilities of the EHR through the implementation of SMART standards [99, 100]. While there is a growing number of smart app developers who are looking for system design alternatives to prevent medication errors from reaching the patient, the eMAR cannot detect medication calculation errors that originate in CPOE or through pharmacy verification.

5 Future Considerations

With the widespread use of technology in the medication delivery process, hospital administrators should continuously monitor noncompliant behavior that leads to deviations from safe practices [101]. For instance, the BCMA system contains scanning and alert management activity reports that show the occurrence of workarounds [72]. The misuse of technology [73, 79, 102] and system workarounds [79] could be a symptom of system design flaws. Hospital-based process improvement initiatives rely on incident reporting systems to identify usability issues that lead to dosing errors [81]. Usability-error ontology is needed to track and monitor the unintended events, and ultimately, gain a better understanding of the technology-induced error landscape in the healthcare setting [103].

In the overview provided above, the researchers identified that medication safety considerations must be embedded in every stage of the medication delivery process. Dosing errors are one of the leading determinants of ADEs. Information technology plays an important role in preventing dosing errors. The dosing error detection features in the EHR are not evenly distributed in the medication delivery workflow. Most of the sophisticated medication safety warnings and dosage calculation tools that are designed to prevent such errors are front-loaded in the order entry phase of the medication delivery process. Overall, the user interface considerations such as accessibility, structure, functions, cognitive burden, and information quality also impact whether the technology will be successful in addressing the targeted medication safety issue in the medication delivery process. A high number of safety notifications may lead to alert fatigue. System developers should pursue practical approaches to embed dosage calculation tools into the medication verification steps in the eMAR. The embedded decision support feature must be robust enough to compare the prescribed dose against a drug knowledge database. There is an opportunity to learn from the system design challenges in other EHR contexts when developing nurse-friendly tools that target dosing errors in the last stage of the medication delivery process.

References

- 1. National Coordinating Council for Medication Error Reporting and Prevention: About medication errors. http://nccmerp.org/about-medication-errors
- 2. Weiss, A.J., Elixhauser, A., Bae, J., Encinosa, W.: Origin of adverse drug events in U.S. hospitals, 2011. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (2013)
- 3. Phillips, J., Beam, S., Brinker, A., Holquist, C., Honig, P., Lee, L.Y., Pamer, C.: Retrospective analysis of mortalities associated with medication errors. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. **58**, 1835–1841 (2001)
- 4. Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Quality of Health Care in America, Kohn, L.T., Corrigan, J.M., Donaldson, M.S.: Errors in health care: a leading cause of death and injury. National Academies Press (US), Washington, DC (2000)
- Choi, I., Lee, S.-M.S.S.M., Flynn, L., Kim, C.-M.M., Lee, S.-M.S.S.M., Kim, N.-K.K., Suh, D.-C.C.: Incidence and treatment costs attributable to medication errors in hospitalized patients. Res. Soc. Adm. Pharm. 12, 428–437 (2016)

- Ford, D.G., Seybert, A.L., Smithburger, P.L., Kobulinsky, L.R., Samosky, J.T., Kane-Gill, S.L., Ford, D.G., Seybert, A.L., Smithburger, P.L., Kobulinsky, L.R., Samosky, J.T., Kane-Gill, S.L.: Impact of simulation-based learning on medication error rates in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med. 36, 1526–1531 (2010)
- Franklin, B.D., Jacklin, A., Barber, N.: The impact of an electronic prescribing and administration system on the safety and quality of medication administration. Int. J. Pharm. Pract. 16, 375–379 (2008)
- Allard, J., Carthey, J., Cope, J., Pitt, M., Woodward, S.: Medication errors: causes, prevention and reduction. Br. J. Haematol. 116, 255–265 (2002)
- Lewis, P.J., Dornan, T., Taylor, D., Tully, M.P., Wass, V., Ashcroft, D.M.: Prevalence, incidence and nature of prescribing errors in hospital inpatients: a systematic review. Drug Saf. 32, 379–389 (2009)
- Mekonnen, A.B., Alhawassi, T.M., McLachlan, A.J., Brien, J.-A.E.: Adverse drug events and medication errors in African hospitals: a systematic review. Drugs - Real World Outcomes 5, 1–24 (2018)
- 11. Saghafi, F., Zargarzadeh, A.H.: Medication error detection in two major teaching hospitals: what are the types of errors? J. Res. Med. Sci. **19**, 617–623 (2014)
- Amato, M.G., Salazar, A., Hickman, T.-T.T., Quist, A.J., Volk, L.A., Wright, A., McEvoy, D., Galanter, W.L., Koppel, R., Loudin, B., Adelman, J., McGreevey, J.D., Smith, D.H., Bates, D.W., Schiff, G.D.: Computerized prescriber order entry-related patient safety reports: analysis of 2522 medication errors. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 24, 316–322 (2017)
- Ashcroft, D.M., Lewis, P.J., Tully, M.P., Farragher, T.M., Taylor, D., Wass, V., Williams, S.D., Dornan, T.: Prevalence, nature, severity and risk factors for prescribing errors in hospital inpatients: prospective study in 20 UK hospitals. Drug Saf. 38, 833–843 (2015)
- Bates, D.W., Cullen, D.J., Laird, N., David, W., David, J., Laura, A., Stephen, D., Bobbie, J., Brian, F., Vliet, V., Lucian, L.: Incidence of adverse drug events and potential adverse drug events: implications for prevention. JAMA 274, 29–34 (1995)
- Barstow, L., Herman, E., Phillips, H.: Assessment of emergency department antibiotic discharge prescription dosing errors for pediatric patients in a community hospital health system. Pediatr. Emerg. Care 00, 1–4 (2018)
- Ghaleb, M.A., Barber, N., Franklin, B.D., Wong, I.C.K.: The incidence and nature of prescribing and medication administration errors in paediatric inpatients. Arch. Dis. Child 95, 113–118 (2010)
- Keers, R.N., Williams, S.D., Cooke, J., Ashcroft, D.M., Kane-Gill, S., Keers, R.N., Williams, S.D., Cooke, J., Ashcroft, D.M., Kane-Gill, S., Keers, R.N., Williams, S.D., Cooke, J., Ashcroft, D.M.: Prevalence and nature of medication administration errors in health care settings: a systematic review of direct observational evidence. Ann. Pharmacother. 47, 237–256 (2013)
- 18. Krzyzaniak, N., Bajorek, B.: Medication safety in neonatal care: a review of medication errors among neonates. Ther Adv Drug Saf. 7, 102–119 (2016)
- Leape, L.L., Bates, D.W., Cullen, D.J., Cooper, J., Demonaco, H.J., Gallivan, T., Hallisey, R.K., Ives, J.: Systems analysis of adverse drug events. JAMA 274, 35–43 (1995)
- Lyons, I., Furniss, D., Blandford, A., Chumbley, G., Iacovides, I., Wei, L., Cox, A., Mayer, A., Vos, J., Galal-edeen, G., Schnock, K.O.: Errors and discrepancies in the administration of intravenous infusions: a mixed methods multihospital observational study. BMJ Qual. Saf. 27(11), 892–901 (2018)
- Moss, J., Berner, E., Bothe, O., Rymarchuk, I., Bothe BSN, O., Rymarchuk, I.: Intravenous medication administration in intensive care: opportunities for technological solutions. AMIA Annu. Symp. Proc. 495–499 (2008)

- 22. Wright, K.: Do calculation errors by nurses cause medication errors in clinical practice? a literature review. Nurse Educ. Today **30**, 85–97 (2010)
- Donaldson, N., Aydin, C., Fridman, M., Foley, M.: Improving medication administration safety: using naive observation to assess practice and guide improvements in process and outcomes. J Healthc Qual 36, 58–68 (2014)
- Kim, J., Bates, D.W.: Medication administration errors by nurses: adherence to guidelines. J. Clin. Nurs. 22, 590–598 (2013)
- Elliott, M., Liu, Y.: The nine rights of medication administration: an overview. Br. J. Nurs. 19, 300–305 (2010)
- Yantis, M.A., Velander, R.: 7 legal tips for safe nursing practice. Nursing 38(3), 35–39 (2008)
- 27. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality: Adverse events, near misses, and errors. https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primers/primer/34/adverse-events-near-misses-and-errors
- Sheikhtaheri, A.: Near misses and their importance for improving patient safety. Iran. J. Pub Health 43, 853–854 (2014)
- 29. Speroni, K.G., Fisher, J., Dennis, M., Daniel, M.: What causes near-misses and how are they mitigated? Plast. Surg. Nurs. **34**, 114–119 (2014)
- Kohn, L.T., Corrigan, J.M., Donaldson, M.S., Others: To err is human: building a safer health system. A report of the committee on Quality of Health Care in America, Institute of Medicine. National Academy Press, Washington, DC (2000)
- Bowers, A.M., Goda, K., Bene, V., Sibila, K., Piccin, R., Golla, S., Dani, F., Zell, K.: Impact of bar-code medication administration on medication administration best practices. Comput. Inform. Nurs. 33, 502–508 (2015)
- Cheragi, M.A., Manoocheri, H., Mohammadnejad, E., Ehsani, S.R.: Types and causes of medication errors from nurse's viewpoint. Iran. J. Nurs. Midwifery Res. 18, 228–231 (2013)
- George, D., Hss, A.-S., Hassali, A.: Medication error reporting: underreporting and acceptability of smartphone application for reporting among health care professionals in perak, Malaysia. Cureus 10, e2746 (2018)
- 34. Hammoudi, B.M., Ismaile, S., Abu Yahya, O.: Factors associated with medication administration errors and why nurses fail to report them. Scand. J, Caring Sci (2017)
- Sheu, S.J., Wei, I.L., Chen, C.H., Yu, S., Tang, F.I.: Using snowball sampling method with nurses to understand medication administration errors. J. Clin. Nurs. 18, 559–569 (2009)
- Musy, S.N., Ausserhofer, D., Schwendimann, R., Rothen, H.U., Jeitziner, M.-M., Rutjes, A.W., Simon, M.: Trigger tool-based automated adverse event detection in electronic health records: systematic review. J. Med. Internet Res. 20, e198 (2018)
- Ni, Y., Lingren, T., Hall, E.S., Leonard, M., Melton, K., Kirkendall, E.S.: Designing and evaluating an automated system for real-time medication administration error detection in a neonatal intensive care unit. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 25(5), 555–563 (2018)
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. National Action Plan for Adverse Drug Event Prevention. Washington, DC (2014)
- Beaudoin, F.L., Merchant, R.C., Janicki, A., McKaig, D.M., Babu, K.M.: Preventing iatrogenic overdose: a review of in emergency department opioid-related adverse drug events and medication errors. Ann. Emerg. Med. 65, 423–431 (2015)
- Kirkendall, E.S., Kouril, M., Minich, T., Spooner, S.A.: Analysis of electronic medication orders with large overdoses: opportunities for mitigating dosing errors. Appl. Clin. Inform. 5, 25–45 (2014)
- Miller, J.L., Johnson, P.N., Harrison, D.L., Hagemann, T.M.: Evaluation of inpatient admissions and potential antimicrobial and analgesic dosing errors in overweight children. Ann. Pharmacother. 44, 35–42 (2010)

- Echeta, G., Moffett, B.S., Checchia, P., Benton, M.K., Klouda, L., Rodriguez, F.H., Franklin, W.: Prescribing errors in adult congenital heart disease patients admitted to a pediatric cardiovascular intensive care unit. Congenit. Heart Dis. 9, 126–130 (2014)
- Roe, J.L., Fuentes, J.M., Mullins, M.E.: Underdosing of common antibiotics for obese patients in the ED. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 30, 1212–1214 (2012)
- Dean, B.: Prescribing errors in hospital inpatients: their incidence and clinical significance. Qual. Saf. Health Care. 11, 340–344 (2002)
- Decourcey, D.D., Silverman, M., Chang, E., Ozonoff, A., Stickney, C., Pichoff, D., Oldershaw, A., Finkelstein, J.A.: Medication reconciliation failures in children and young adults with chronic disease during intensive and intermediate care. Pediatr. Crit. Care Med. 18, 370–377 (2017)
- Kale, A., Keohane, C.A., Maviglia, S., Gandhi, T.K., Poon, E.G.: Adverse drug events caused by serious medication administration errors. BMJ Qual. Saf. 21, 933–938 (2012)
- Nelson, C.E., Selbst, S.M.: Electronic prescription writing errors. Pediatr. Emerg. Care 31, 368–372 (2015)
- 48. Henry, J., Pylypchuk, Y., Talisha, S., Patel, V.: Adoption of electronic health record systems among u.s. non-federal acute care hospitals: 2008–2015. (2016)
- Ratwani, R.M., Savage, E., Will, A., Arnold, R., Khairat, S., Miller, K., Fairbanks, R.J., Hodgkins, M., Hettinger, A.Z.: A usability and safety analysis of electronic health records: a multi-center study. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 25, 1197–1201 (2018)
- Ratwani, R.M., Fairbanks, R.J., Hettinger, A.Z., Benda, N.C.: Electronic health record usability: analysis of the user-centered design processes of eleven electronic health record vendors. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 22, 1179–1182 (2015)
- Carayon, P., Cartmill, R., Blosky, M.A., Brown, R., Hackenberg, M., Hoonakker, P., Hundt, A.S., Norfolk, E., Wetterneck, T.B., Walker, J.M., Carayon, P., Cartmill, R., Blosky, M.A., Brown, R., Hackenberg, M., Hoonakker, P., Hundt, A.S., Norfolk, E., Wetterneck, T.B., Walker, J.M.: ICU nurses' acceptance of electronic health records. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 18, 812–819 (2011)
- Ranji, S.R., Rennke, S., Wachter, R.M.: Computerised provider order entry combined with clinical decision support systems to improve medication safety: a narrative review. BMJ Qual. Saf. 23, 773–780 (2014)
- Slight, S.P., Seger, D.L., Franz, C., Wong, A., Bates, D.W.: The national cost of adverse drug events resulting from inappropriate medication-related alert overrides in the United States. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 25, 1183–1188 (2018)
- Kirkendall, E.S., Spooner, S.A., Logan, J.R.: Evaluating the accuracy of electronic pediatric drug dosing rules. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 21, e43–e49 (2014)
- Korb-Savoldelli, V., Boussadi, A., Durieux, P., Sabatier, B.: Prevalence of computerized physician order entry systems-related medication prescription errors: A systematic review. Int. J. Med. Inform. 111, 112–122 (2018)
- Cook, D.A., Teixeira, M.T., Heale, B.S., Cimino, J.J., Del Fiol, G.: Context-sensitive decision support (infobuttons) in electronic health records: a systematic review. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 24, 460–468 (2017)
- Hunt, S., Cimino, J.J., Koziol, D.E.: A comparison of clinicians' access to online knowledge resources using two types of information retrieval applications in an academic hospital setting. J. Med. Libr. Assoc. 101, 26–31 (2013)
- Ross, E.L., Heizer, J., Mixon, M.A., Jorgensen, J., Valdez, C.A., Czaja, A.S., Reiter, P.D.: Development of recommendations for dosing of commonly prescribed medications in critically ill obese children. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 72, 542–556 (2015)
- 59. van der Sijs, H., Aarts, J., Vulto, A., Berg, M.: Overriding of drug safety alerts in computerized physician order entry. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 13, 138–147 (2006)

- Wang, S.J., Middleton, B., Prosser, L.A., Bardon, C.G., Spurr, C.D., Carchidi, P.J., Kittler, A.F., Goldszer, R.C., Fairchild, D.G., Sussman, A.J., Kuperman, G.J., Bates, D.W.: A costbenefit analysis of electronic medical records in primary care. Am. J. Med. **114**, 397–403 (2003)
- Electronically Generated Medication Administration and Electronic Medication Administration Records for the Prevention of Medication Transcription Errors: Review of Clinical Effectiveness and Safety. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health, Ottawa, ON (2016)
- Poon, E.G., Keohane, C.A., Yoon, C.S., Ditmore, M., Bane, A., Levtzion-Korach, O., Moniz, T.A., Rothschild, J.M., Kachalia, A.B., Hayes, J., Churchill, W.W., Ph, R., Lipsitz, S., Whittemore, A.D., Bates, D.W., Gandhi, T.K., School, H.M.: Effect of bar-code technology on the safety of medication administration. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 1698–1707 (2010)
- 63. Liberati, E.G., Ruggiero, F., Galuppo, L., Gorli, M., González-Lorenzo, M., Maraldi, M., Ruggieri, P., Polo Friz, H., Scaratti, G., Kwag, K.H., Vespignani, R., Moja, L.: What hinders the uptake of computerized decision support systems in hospitals? A qualitative study and framework for implementation. Implement. Sci. 12, 113 (2017)
- Omar, A., Ellenius, J., Lindemalm, S.: Evaluation of electronic prescribing decision support system at a tertiary care pediatric hospital: the user acceptance perspective...ITCH 2017. Stud. Health Technol. Inform. 234, 256–261 (2017)
- Her, Q.L., Seger, D.L., Amato, M.G., Beeler, P.E., Dalleur, O., Slight, S.P., Dykes, P.C., Bates, D.W.: Development of an algorithm to assess appropriateness of overriding alerts for nonformulary medications in a computerized prescriber-order-entry system. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 73, e34–e45 (2016)
- Santucci, W., Day, R.O., Baysari, M.T.: Evaluation of hospital-wide computerised decision support in an intensive care unit: an observational study. Anaesth. Intensive Care 44, 507– 512 (2016)
- 67. Wietholter, J., Sitterson, S., Allison, S.: Effects of computerized prescriber order entry on pharmacy order-processing time. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. **66**, 1394–1398 (2009)
- Gorbach, C., Blanton, L., Lukawski, B.A., Varkey, A.C., Pitman, E.P., Garey, K.W.: Frequency of and risk factors for medication errors by pharmacists during order verification in a tertiary care medical center. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 72, 1471–1474 (2015)
- Guo, J., Iribarren, S., Kapsandoy, S., Perri, S., Staggers, N.: Usability evaluation of an electronic medication administration record (eMAR) application. Appl. Clin. Inform. 2, 202–224 (2011)
- Harrison, R.L., Stalker, L., Henderson, R., Lyeria, F.: Use of a clinical decision support system to improve hypoglycemia management. Medsurg Nurs. 22, 250–263 (2013)
- Weir, C., Hoffman, J., Nebeker, J.R., Hurdle, J.F.: Nurse's role in tracking adverse drug events. Nurs. Adm. Q. 29, 39–44 (2005)
- 72. Agrawal, A., Glasser, A.R.: Barcode medication. Administration implementation in an acute care hospital and lessons learned. J. Healthc. Inf. Manag. 23, 24–29 (2009)
- FitzHenry, F., Doran, J., Lobo, B., Sullivan, T.M., Potts, A., Feldott, C.C., Matheny, M.E., McCulloch, G., Deppen, S., Doulis, J.: Medication-error alerts for warfarin orders detected by a bar-code-assisted medication administration system. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 68, 434–441 (2011)
- Wang, B.N.-T., Brummond, P., Stevenson, J.G.: Comparison of barcode scanning by pharmacy technicians and pharmacists' visual checks for final product verification. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 73, 69–75 (2016)

- Hakala, J.L., Hung, J.C., Mosman, E.A.: Minimizing human error in radiopharmaceutical preparation and administration via a bar code-enhanced nuclear pharmacy management system. J. Nucl. Med. Technol. 40, 183–186 (2012)
- Staggers, N., Iribarren, S., Guo, J.-W., Weir, C.: Evaluation of a BCMA's electronic medication administration record. West. J. Nurs. Res. 37, 899–921 (2015)
- Bonkowski, J., Weber, R.J., Melucci, J., Pesavento, T., Henry, M., Moffatt-Bruce, S.: Improving medication administration safety in solid organ transplant patients through barcode-assisted medication administration. Am. J. Med. Qual. 29, 236–241 (2014)
- Dwibedi, N., Sansgiry, S.S., Frost, C.P., Dasgupta, A., Jacob, S.M., Tipton, J.A., Shippy, A.A.: Effect of bar-code-assisted medication administration on nurses' activities in an intensive care unit: A time-motion study. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 68, 1026–1031 (2011)
- Koppel, R., Wetterneck, T., Telles, J.L., Karsh, B.-T.T., Koppel, R., Wetterneck, T., Telles, J.L., Karsh, B.-T.T.: Workarounds to barcode medication administration systems: their occurrences, causes, and threats to patient safety. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 15, 408–423 (2008)
- Miller, D.F., Fortier, C.R., Garrison, K.L.: Bar code medication administration technology: characterization of high-alert medication triggers and clinician workarounds. Ann. Pharmacother. 45, 162–168 (2011)
- Hardmeier, A., Tsourounis, C., Moore, M., Abbott, W.E., Guglielmo, B.J.: Pediatric medication administration errors and workflow following implementation of a bar code medication administration system. J. Healthc. Qual. 36, 54–61; quiz 61–3 (2014)
- Seibert, H.H., Maddox, R.R., Flynn, E.A., Williams, C.K.: Effect of barcode technology with electronic medication administration record on medication accuracy rates. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. **71**, 209–218 (2014)
- Meyer, J.S., Riese, J., Biondi, E.: Is dexamethasone an effective alternative to oral prednisone in the treatment of pediatric asthma exacerbations? Hosp Pediatr. 4, 172–180 (2014)
- Snodgrass, R.D.: Smart pump technology safety features. Biomed. Instrum. Technol. 39, 444–446 (2005)
- Giuliano, K.K., Su, W.-T.T., Degnan, D.D., Fitzgerald, K., Zink, R.J., DeLaurentis, P.: Intravenous smart pump drug library compliance: a descriptive study of 44 hospitals. J. Patient Saf. 14(4), 1–7 (2017)
- Murdoch, L.J., Cameron, V.L.: Smart infusion technology: a minimum safety standard for intensive care? Br. J. Nurs. 17, 630–636 (2008)
- 87. Ohashi, K., Dalleur, O., Dykes, P.C., Bates, D.W.: Benefits and risks of using smart pumps to reduce medication error rates: a systematic review. Drug Saf. **37**, 1011–1020 (2014)
- Trbovich, P.L., Pinkney, S., Cafazzo, J.A., Easty, A.C.: The impact of traditional and smart pump infusion technology on nurse medication administration performance in a simulated inpatient unit. Qual. Saf. Health Care. 19, 430–434 (2010)
- Munro, C.: Using dose error reduction software in paediatrics to prevent medication error. J. Pharm. Pract. Res. 47, 438–441 (2017)
- Larsen, G.Y., Parker, H.B., Cash, J., O'Connell, M., Grant, M.C.: Standard drug concentrations and smart-pump technology reduce continuous-medication-infusion errors in pediatric patients. Pediatrics 116, e21–e25 (2005)
- Goulding, C., Bedard, M.: Safety implications of the dose change alert function in smart infusion pumps on the administration of high-alert medications. Can. J. Crit. Care Nurs. 26, 23–27 (2015)
- 92. EHR-Smart Pump Interoperability Resulted in Electronic Documentation of Different Flow Rates | Institute for Safe Medication Practices. https://www.ismp.org/resources/ehr-smartpum-interoperability-resulted-electronic-documentation-different-flow-rates

- Perna, G.: The Ultimate Safety Net: EMR and Infusion Pump Interoperability. https://www. healthcare-informatics.com/article/ultimate-safety-net-emr-and-infusionpumpinteroperability
- Pettus, D.C., Vanderveen, T.: Worth the effort?: closed-loop infusion pump integration with the EMR. Biomed. Instrum. Technol. 47, 467–477 (2013)
- Biltoft, J., Finneman, L.: Clinical and financial effects of smart pump-electronic medical record interoperability at a hospital in a regional health system. Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm. 75, 1064–1068 (2018)
- 96. SafeDose from eBroselow Key Component of Queens Medical Center's New Pediatric Trauma Unit. http://www.ebroselow.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/eBroselow_ casestudy_Queens.pdf
- Mandel, J.C., Kreda, D.A., Mandl, K.D., Kohane, I.S., Ramoni, R.B.: SMART on FHIR: a standards-based, interoperable apps platform for electronic health records. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 23, 899–908 (2016)
- 98. SMART Health IT. https://smarthealthit.org/
- 99. Leverage the power of the HL7® FHIR® standard in your SMART app. https://fhir.cerner. com/
- 100. Explore Apps App Orchard. https://apporchard.epic.com/Gallery
- Ching, J.M., Williams, B.L., Idemoto, L.M., Blackmore, C.C.: Using lean "automation with a human touch" to improve medication safety: a step closer to the "perfect dose". Jt. Comm. J. Qual. Patient Saf. 40, 341–350 (2014)
- 102. Holden, R.J., Rivera-Rodriguez, A.J., Faye, H., Scanlon, M.C., Karsh, B.T.: Automation and adaptation: nurses' problem-solving behavior following the implementation of barcoded medication administration technology. Cogn. Technol. Work 15, 283–296 (2013)
- Elkin, P.L., Beuscart-Zephir, M.C., Pelayo, S., Patel, V., Nøhr, C.: The usability-error ontology. Stud. Health Technol. Inform. 194, 91–96 (2013)



Satisfying Product Features of a Dementia Care Support Smartphone App and Potential Users' Willingness to Pay: Web-Based Survey Among Older Adults

Robert Chauvet¹, Peter Rasche^{2(⊠)}, Zavier Berti¹, Matthias Wille², Laura Barton², Katharina Schäfer², Christina Bröhl², Sabine Theis², Christopher Brandl², Verena Nitsch², and Alexander Mertens²

¹ University of Alberta, 116 St & 85 Ave, Edmonton, AB T6G 2R3 Canada {rchauvet, berti}@ualberta.ca
² Institute of Industrial Engineering and Ergonomics, RWTH Aachen University, Bergdriesch 27, 52056 Aachen, Germany {p.rasche,m.wille,k.schaefer,c.broehl,s.theis, c.brandl,v.nitsch,a.mertens}@iaw.rwth-aachen.de

Abstract. Dementia is a large economic, social and health concern with the aging population. One of the best ways to care for people living with dementia is to keep them at home in a familiar environment. Smartphone applications may provide assistance to patients and caregivers. An open web-based survey was answered by 104 individuals older than 50 years. Participants rated eight features of a potential dementia care support app according to the Kano technique. Out of the eight product features investigated, six were positively associated with an application (wandering detection, weather and other threat detection, notifications and voice prompts, location sharing, emergency services contact, and medical records). The median for the amount people were willing to pay per month was 25\$ (CanD) with a third quartile of 50\$ (CanD). The results show which features should be included in an application to have maximum acceptance and usability and how much potential users are willing to pay on a monthly basis a dementia care support smartphone app.

Keywords: Health \cdot Dementia \cdot Kano technique \cdot Willingness to pay \cdot Older adults

1 Introduction

Dementia is a rapidly growing problem with senior citizens. It has been found that 1 in 3 individuals over the age of 65 will die having some symptoms of chronic mental decline that interfere with their daily lives (i.e. Dementia). Once dementia is present, one major concern is wandering. This is when patients will aimlessly walk or move around which leads to them getting lost or confused. Strategies for managing this vary from providing reminders and directions to head home, to contacting a caregiver or emergency services [1].

Improvements in smartphone technology and a growing accessibility to smartphone devices has led to a possible aid for individuals with diagnosed or developing dementia. A smartphone application that supports caregivers as well as prolong the time seniors with dementia could live comfortably in their homes makes sense both financially and socially. As of now there are two main branches of apps available, ones that are preventative, aimed at people who are at risk of developing chronic mental decline, and others that track and maintain the safety of people already experiencing dementia [2–5].

This research investigates which features a dementia care support smartphone application aiming at wandering patients should have. On top of that, it was also assessed what the cost is that individuals would be willing to pay for this product.

2 Method

2.1 Design

An open, self-selected, Web-based survey was created to provide a potential answer to the research goal. The survey was designed in English and provided for Englishspeaking older adults within the area of Alberta, Canada. The medium of a Web-based survey was used, as it is a convenient and valid method to obtain individuals with particular characteristics without any limitations on physical space [6].

The goal of the survey was to gather information and data that pertains to the expectations surrounding a dementia support application. This was measured using the Kano technique [7].

2.2 Investigated Product Features of a Dementia Support App

To decide on the features, literature and market research were reviewed to determine the products that are currently on the market and which technologies would be beneficial to dementia patients and their caregivers. Instead of broadening the survey to include memory exercises and dementia prevention, the focus is being spent on reducing caregiver time and easing the experience of dementia patients wandering by offering features addressing this phenomenon (see Table 1).

Table 1. Features investigated in to determine product scope

F1	24/7 Tracking of users location	
F2	Navigation services for users	
F3	Wandering detection	
F4	Weather information and alert	
F5	Voice based notifications instead of text based ones	
F6	Location sharing with family and/or caregiver	
F7	Automated emergency service	
F8	Storing medical records within the app	

24/7 tracking of the location and daily activities of a person with dementia would be collected to be able to provide other services related to wandering. Project Lifesaver is one of several companies producing wearable tracking devices aimed at people with dementia [8].

Map and navigation services are tools available for a person with dementia to use. The app would provide clear and concise directions to ensure their safe arrival at work, home or other locations. This service is recommended by studies as an important tool to aid in dementia care [1, 9].

Automatic wandering detection would have access to GPS tracking data of the person with dementia. The app would gather information regarding their routine and regular schedule and monitor their displacements for irregularities. If found, these irregularities would be analyzed to determine whether or not they are wandering. Other features of the app could then act accordingly to minimize the associated risks such as getting lost or stranded. This is as feature outlined in the paper by Sporaso and an app named iWander [2].

The weather feature is designed to keep a person with dementia out of immediate danger. The app would access local weather information and remind them to take the necessary articles of clothing when leaving their home. There would be warnings about violent weather and recommendations to stay at home. In extreme weather conditions, the app could respond more quickly to an incident where a person with dementia is lost [2].

In the event that a person with dementia is wandering, simple voice prompts or reminders are proven to minimize the risk of getting lost by notifying the person with dementia of a break from their routine. The app could automatically help them return to a safe and familiar location if they deem it necessary. This feature is the first line of defence against getting lost or stranded [1, 2].

Sharing the location of a person with dementia with their family and/or a caregiver can give everyone peace of mind. If something goes wrong, it is easy to communicate and connect through the app to keep a person with dementia safe [1]. This feature is designed to ensure the safety of a person with dementia if the previous strategies have failed to mitigate the risk of getting lost. If the app continues to detect irregularities in their displacements that indicate they are at risk, emergency services will be contacted automatically. They will then provide the needed support. The products on the market that have 24/7 tracking also have access to emergency services. This includes the line of Project Lifesaver products [8].

Providing access to medical records of a person with dementia, the app can make better decisions regarding how to handle their personal situation. This information would need to be filled out with a certified doctor to be implemented within the app's database. The information provided would be medication being taken as well as ailment history. This information could be passed on to emergency services if needed to accelerate emergency response decisions. Such wearable devices already exist. Medic Alert bracelets are the most popular device that has information regarding medical history [8].

2.3 Kano Technique

Described product features were investigated by the Kano technique [7]. With this technique, potential product features are classified according six different categories: attractive, one-dimensional, must-be, indifferent, reverse and questionable. To classify the potential product features according to Kano, pairs of questions are asked. Each feature is asked with one positively worded question (feature is included in the product) and a negatively worded one (feature is not included in the product). Both questions have the same set of answers available to select. To ease confusion and make the choices more clear, the adapted version of answers for the Kano technique, created by Robert Blauthe [10], were chosen. To ensure valid classification two different decision rules were applied. The first decision rule is called total and category strength [11]. In case this decision rule results in unclear classification Fong Test was applied [12].

Along with the categorical placement of each feature, two-sided customer satisfaction (CS+) and customer dissatisfaction (CS-) coefficients were calculated [10]. If these scores are higher than 0.5 in magnitude, corresponding features are determined to be of significant importance to increase or decrease customer satisfaction in case of implementation [10].

2.4 Willingness to Pay

It has been suggested that to gain the most use and generate revenue apps should be free of charge, but then operate with a subscription fee business plan (Freemium Business Model) [13]. Willingness to pay was measured as a monthly fee that potential users of the app would pay. This topic was addressed after participants rated the eight product features. They were then allowed to enter a value that was limited to four characters in Canadian dollars (CanD) (Lin et al. 2013).

2.5 Demographics

The first section on the questionnaire contained questions regarding the population demographics. Including questions on age, gender, ownership of smartphone, length of time having a smartphone, use of health related apps, health literacy and experience with dementia. Determining the sample of percentage of people most likely to be affected by dementia that own a smartphone is a crucial part of realizing the feasibility of using a smartphone as the aid platform. All of the smartphone related questions were used to gage the technical affinity of the sample tested.

2.6 Health Literacy

Getting an idea of the health literacy of the sample will help gauge the validity of the study, as it shows whether the surveyed individuals are aware and understand what dementia is and how it could affect them. This will be done using the HLS-EU16 questionnaire [14]. This questionnaire includes 16 items that pertain to health awareness and prevention and are evaluated on a 4-point Likert scale (1=not correct and 4=fully correct). Subsequently, a final score was calculated according to Röthlin et al. [14].

The final score ranges between 0 points and 16 points, whereas 13 to 16 points represents a good health literacy, 9 to 12 points a concerning health literacy and 0 to 8 points describe a problematic health literacy [14].

2.7 Questionnaire

The survey began with a short description of the study, followed by a section about demographics. Health literacy was then self-assessed by the participant. Participants then read a short description of a product feature and then answered questions according to the Kano technique. This was the way it was structured for all eight features. Next was a question regarding the participant's willingness to pay. Finally, there was a section where participants could give qualitative feedback for the app and project. In total there were 14 pages with 42 questions.

2.8 Data Collection

Data collection started on June 14, 2018 and ended on June 21, 2018. The questionnaire was created using the Web service Unipark (Questback GmbH).

All participants were informed about the duration of the survey, data storage, and the leading investigator. Each participant decided to take part in this survey voluntarily by following the designated link to the survey. A monetary incentive was not offered for participation.

The survey was pretested properly by a total of eleven people. Feedback and concerns were recorded and taken into consideration before sending out a final version of the survey. The Alzheimer's Society of Alberta reviewed the survey to make the wording more appropriate for the target community. For example, "patients" was changed to "people living with dementia". Technical problems, including the amount of numbers that could be inserted in the questionnaire for your year of birth were solved. The final version was sent out after proper revision.

2.9 Recruitment

The survey was sent via email to a personal network of people in Alberta and was then distributed by word of mouth to other participants. Initially the network included two primary groups of people, from Rotary or from the Alberta Teacher's Association (ATA). By using this method, the goal was to reach a large sample of diverse people. A letter was sent out explaining the goal of the research project as well as the target demographic. By using the IP address of the individuals computer or electronic device, the survey software from Unipark (Questback GmbH, Germany) ensured that all responses were from unique individuals.

In total, 218 followed the link to the survey. Of the 218, 75.69% (165 individuals) started the survey. Only 64.68% (141 individuals) completed the survey. Thus participation rate is 75.69% and a completion rate of 64.68% was achieved. The mean completion time was 12 min 28 s with a median of 10 min 8 s.

2.10 Statistical Analysis

Any individual below the age of 50 that had no experience in being a caregiver was excluded from the data. Also, any individual that missed answering a question (excluding individuals who incorrectly inserted the willing to pay data) or was not from Canada was excluded from the data. Remaining data from the Unipark Web-service (Questback GmbH) was exported to SPSS 23 (IBM, USA) for analysis. Microsoft Excel 2010 (Microsoft, USA) was also used to make analysis more efficient. Data was analyzed according to the Kano technique, including total and category strengths calculations, Fong-Test and customer satisfaction coefficients. After general examination of the results more detailed analysis was performed based on grouped comparison by means of dementia experience, age, and HLS-EU scores.

3 Results

3.1 Participants

In total, 104 participants took part in this study. The mean age of the sample was 63.16 years with a standard deviation of 10.84 years. Female participants numbered 63 (60.58%) while males accounted for 40 individuals (38.46%). One person selected "other" as a gender option (0.96%). 94 individuals (90.38%) reported owning a smartphone, while 10 did not (9.62%). Of those who reported owning a smartphone the mean length of time that they have owned one is 7.97 years with a standard deviation of 4.86 years. The number of people that use a health related app on their smartphone is 37 out of 94 smartphone users (39.36%). The sample contains one person (0.96%) who experiences symptoms of dementia while 56 (53.85%) declare that they have experience with someone who has dementia.

3.2 Health Literacy

For the 104 individual sample, the mean health literacy according to the HLS-EU16 was 11.26 with a standard deviation of 3.97. Health literacy is measured on a scale from 0 to 16, and there are 3 classifications based on the numeric answers [14]. From 0 to 8 is considered inadequate, 9 to 12 is considered problematic and 13 to 16 is good. The mean of the 104 person-sample is within the problematic range. The maximum an individual scored was 16 and the minimum was 2.

3.3 Classified Product Features According to Kano Technique

The Kano classifications are shown in Table 2. The features were all categorized using the full Kano model, including strength and Fong tests. In every case, there is a significant classification with the Fong test only having to be used for one feature.

		Classification
F1	24/7 Tracking	Indifferent feature
F2	Navigation services	Indifferent feature
F3	Wandering detection	One-dimensional feature
F4	Weather	Attractive feature
F5	Notifications	One-dimensional feature
F6	Location sharing	One-dimensional feature
F7	Emergency services	One-dimensional feature
F8	Medical records	One-dimensional feature

Table 2. Kano classification of features.

The customer satisfaction coefficients (CS) values are shown in Fig. 1. Four of the eight features are considered to have relevant values for at least one of the two sides of the value (>0.5).



Fig. 1. Customer satisfaction coefficients

3.4 Willingness to Pay

Of the 104 person-sample, 96 individuals inserted a monetary value for the amount they would be willing to pay per month. Values ranged from 0\$ to 500\$ (CanD) with a mean value of 48.79\$ (CanD) and a standard deviation of 8.18\$ (CanD). Since there seems to be outliers, the median represents a better resistance to outliers. The median of the sample is 25\$ (CanD).

3.5 Qualitative Results of Open-Ended Questions

Of all the participants, 41 responded (39.3%) to the qualitative question section. Most comments were split into three categories: privacy, feasibility and familiarity. There were 16 comments about the feasibility, four each of both privacy and familiarity, two on WTP, six concerns regarding to survey format, five general comments providing

support for the project, two about their results of the Kano model, and three that stated that they had no comments. Concerns regarding privacy were that it was imperative to protect both the person living with dementia and their caregiver's data and information. There were numerous people questioning the feasibility of the app. Their main concern was centered around if a person with dementia could use such an app in the designed manner. Anxiety stemmed from interactions with elderly people and technology. Suggestions for having the application programmed individually for each patient were mentioned. Most were ideas for having a loved one be the programmed voice for notifications and voice prompts.

3.6 Kano Feature Groupings

The 104 individual sample was split into different groupings that were investigated for difference. The group having experience with dementia thought that wandering detection was an attractive feature, while the non-dementia group found the feature to be indifferent. Revealed is also that the aged less than 64 years old group and the non-health literate group (less than 13 points on the HLS scale) classified the navigation services as an attractive feature. The health literate group and the less than 64 year old group both categorized medical records as indifferent. The 64+ year old group found wandering detection to be an attractive feature and the less than 64 year old group found weather information and alert as an indifferent feature.

4 Discussion

4.1 Primary Results

In this exploratory study, product features were ranked as to the amount in which they could influence a user's use of a dementia support app. The Kano technique classified eight product features that belonged to two categories: data privacy and remote tracking. Furthermore, the strength and Fong tests revealed that all product features were classified with significance. There were five one-dimensional product features (wandering detection, notifications, location sharing, emergency services and medical records), one attractive feature (weather), and two indifferent features (24/7 tracking and navigation services). Grouping participants by demographic information resulted in little deviation in the Kano classifications.

4.2 Features

For six of the eight features analyzed, the result is that the features are desired in an application regarding dementia. The one-dimensional features that are particularly strong (>0.5) categories if referred to the CS+ values are notifications, location sharing, emergency services and medical records. This shows that these features cause great satisfaction when present. The CS- values are also significant in these categories meaning that the sampled population found these products very important to the application. Wandering detection was still a one-dimensional feature but did not breach

the threshold of 0.5 to be overly significant. The one attractive feature was weather. As this is a feature added to the survey as a sort of add on to wandering detection and 24/7 tracking, this classification seems reasonable. 24/7 tracking and navigation services are classified as indifferent and therefore could be put in with no concern to a negative reaction. On the other hand, they cause no satisfaction either. Tracking devices in the market currently are generally accepted and the benefits of tracking outweigh the privacy and other concerns [15]. The 24/7 tracking is used for many of the other features; therefore even if the feature is by itself indifferent, it must be used for other features. The grouping results show that there is little variance between groups, and the small changes have potential explanations for them. Wandering detection became an attractive feature for the dementia experience group while it became an indifferent feature for the group with no dementia experience. This might show that with experience and more knowledge of wandering, you see automatic detection as a real big help and therefore find the feature to be attractive. On the other hand having no dementia experience could cause you to be indifferent about wandering detection. All in all, the groupings overturned no polarizing result which indicates a certain validity to the classifications found.

4.3 User Groups

After splitting the 104 person sample in to groups of dementia experience, age and health literacy, there were no significant differences in the Kano results. The demographics information received had no significant correlation values. This shows a very homogenous sample in which all demographics are distributed evenly. This indicates that the needs and desires for a dementia support app might be universal and therefore the app might be the same for the entire population. This is further supported by the demographics of the sample. Around one half of the sample is experienced with dementia in some form and half are health literate. It shows a balanced sample. Development of an app with the features discussed would potentially not have to be tailored to specific groups.

The technical affinity and number of people that own a smartphone (94/104) potentially indicate that an application is a feasible option for a support medium, although survey participants stated their concerns about dementia patients using technology. It would seem like the smartphone medium would be valid and convenient for caregivers and the older adults sampled, but what is unclear is whether people living with dementia have the technical prowess to benefit from this app. One case study determined that it is possible for individuals with mild cognitive disorders to use smartphones with some teaching [16]. Furthermore, if current trends are maintained, the amount of older adults with smartphones should increase and therefore the feasibility and acceptance of an application would also increase. In Canada, 69% of people aged 55 to 64 year olds and 19% of people aged 75 and over owned a smartphone. This could indicate that in the future, this group of younger people who are at a risk of getting dementia are going to have phones and an application would then have a higher acceptance as a support medium.

4.4 Willingness to Pay

As a producer or developer of a dementia support app, you should not charge more than \$25 (CanD) a month. As this is the median value, 50% of the sample is willing to pay this while 50% does not. 75% of respondents would be willing to pay up to \$10 (CanD). As this is, to our knowledge, the first research study asking the willingness to pay for a dementia app, there is no real exact comparison to previous works. Compared with other dementia services and studies, the WTP value found is quite low. In France, caregivers are willing to pay 12.1 Euro an hour for informal care [17]. In the USA, they are willing to pay 144 British pounds a month for an hour per day reduction for informal caregivers [18]. As is shown, caregivers are willing to pay a significantly higher amount than what this paper found for informal care, even if they are not quite comparable. For a comparison to an Alzheimer's app that is used to prevent the disease, the WTP value is 155\$ (USD) [19]. This provides us with a comparison to another app in the same field, but that is not for continuing care. Thus, a comparison is quite difficult, but if looked at them all as a whole, the WTP is significantly higher in other studies. This could be due to multiple reasons. One of the explanations is that since an app that provides the services of replacing some caregiving time and providing safety to dementia patients is not known that well, the sample population is unsure of how much it should cost. An alternative explanation might be that the sample population felt that this app would not be quite as valuable as an informal caregiver and, therefore, the price point should not be as high. A third consideration is that since health care is government subsidized in Canada, people are not willing to pay as much [20].

4.5 Limitations

There are some limitations of this study. Firstly, the survey distribution method was word of mouth from personal contacts. This might cause the sample to be too similar and possibly not represent the entire population. Since it was passed on by word of mouth, the demographic target of Rotary and the ATA might have been breached and overstepped. Also, since the survey was distributed online, there might be a misrepresentation of the technical affinity of the sample. The questions of smartphone use, health app use, and number of years a smartphone was used, were used to judge technical affinity, but there was no standardized test to measure this. The technical affinity that the survey did measure was very high, with the amount of people owning smartphones found to be large.

5 Conclusion

Dementia care is an ever growing concern. People living with dementia need care from an informal caregiver, which cause major economic and social stress on both patient and caregiver. As technology in smartphones improves, the more a dementia support app can offer. The target of the app is to ease pressure off of caregivers, while keeping a dementia patient independent and living in their own home for a longer period of time. The goal of the study was to determine the acceptability, features needed and willingness to pay for a dementia support application. A study was conducted with the help of an online survey. Eight product features from reviewed literature were analyzed adhering to the Kano technique. From this technique, six features were found to have a positive correlation with an app while two were found to be indifferent. After completion of the study, the authors believe that an app that includes the eight features would be implemented successfully in the dementia community. Even though the app would probably be accepted, more research into the user-appropriate implementation of each feature needs to be conducted.

Acknowledgements. This study was conducted as part of the Undergraduate Research-Opportunity Program at RWTH Aachen University, Germany, in collaboration with the University of Alberta, Canada. This publication is part of the research project 'TECH4AGE', financed by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF, under Grant No. 16 SV7111) and promoted by VDI/VDE Innovation + Technik GmbH. For more details and information, please see www.tech4age.de.

References

- Moore, D.H., Algase, D.L., Powell-Cope, G., Applegarth, S., Beattie, E.R.A.: A framework for managing wandering and preventing elopement. Am. J. Alzheimers Dis. Other Demen. 24, 208–219 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317509332625
- Sposaro, F., Danielson, J., Tyson, G.: iWander: an Android application for dementia patients. Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. 2010, 3875–3878 (2010). https://doi.org/10. 1109/IEMBS.2010.5627669
- Weir, A.J., Paterson, C.A., Tieges, Z., MacLullich, A.M., Parra-Rodriguez, M., Della Sala, S., et al.: Development of Android apps for cognitive assessment of dementia and delirium. Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. 2014, 2169–2172 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1109/ EMBC.2014.6944047
- Brown, E.L., Ruggiano, N., Li, J., Clarke, P.J., Kay, E.S., Hristidis, V.: Smartphone-based health technologies for Dementia care: opportunities, challenges, and current practices. J. Appl. Gerontol (2017). https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464817723088
- Thorpe, J.R., Rønn-Andersen, K.V.H., Bień, P., Özkil, A.G., Forchhammer, B.H., Maier, A.M.: Pervasive assistive technology for people with dementia: A UCD case. Healthc Technol. Lett. 3, 297–302 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1049/htl.2016.0057
- 6. Best, S., Krueger, B.: Internet Data Collection. SAGE Publications, Inc, 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks, California 91320, United States of America (2004)
- Kano, N., Seraku, N., Takahashi, F., Tsuji, F.: Attractive quality and must-be quality. J. Jpn. Soc. Qual. Control. 14, 147–156 (1984)
- Mahoney, E.L., Mahoney, D.F.: Acceptance of wearable technology by people with Alzheimer's disease: issues and accommodations. Am. J. Alzheimers Dis. Other Demen. 25, 527–531 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317510376944
- Robinson, L., Brittain, K., Lindsay, S., Jackson, D., Olivier, P.: Keeping In Touch Everyday (KITE) project: developing assistive technologies with people with dementia and their carers to promote independence. Int. Psychogeriatr. 21, 494–502 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1041610209008448
- 10. Berger, C., Blauth, R., Boger, D., Bolster, C., Burchill, G., DuMouchel, W., et al.: Kano's methods for understanding customer-defined quality. Cent. Qual. Manage. J. 2, 3–36 (1993)
- 11. Lee, M.C., Newcomb, J.: Applying the kano methodology to meet customer requirements: Nasa's microgravity science program. Qual. Manage. J. 4, 95–106 (1997)

- 12. Fong, D.: Using the self-stated importance questionnaire to interpret Kano questionnaire results. Cent. Qual. Manage. J. **5**, 21–24 (1996)
- Arora, S., ter Hofstede, F., Mahajan, V.: The implications of offering free versions for the performance of paid mobile Apps. J. Mark. 81, 62–78 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.15.0205
- Röthlin, F., Pelikan, J.M., Ganahl, K.: Die Gesundheitskompetenz der 15-jährigen Jugendlichen in Österreich. Abschlussbericht der österreichischen Gesundheitskompetenz Jugendstudie im Auftrag des Hauptverbands der österreichischen Sozialversicherungsträger (HVSV). The health competence of. (2013)
- 15. Topfer, L-A.: GPS Locator Devices for People with Dementia. In: CADTH Issues in Emerging Health Technologies. Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health, Ottawa (ON) (2016)
- Maze, J., Hunt, L.: Teaching a person with memory impairment smartphone use for emergencies during outdoors walking: case report. Geriatrics. 3, 8 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 3390/geriatrics3010008
- Gervès-Pinquié, C., Bellanger, M.M., Ankri, J.: Willingness to pay for informal care in France: the value of funding support interventions for caregivers. Health Econ. Rev. 4, 34 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13561-014-0034-2
- Gustavsson, A., Jönsson, L., McShane, R., Boada, M., Wimo, A., Zbrozek, A.S.: Willingness-to-pay for reductions in care need: estimating the value of informal care in Alzheimer's disease. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 25, 622–632 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1002/ gps.2385
- Basu, R.: Willingness-to-pay to prevent Alzheimer's disease: a contingent valuation approach. Int. J. Health Care Finance Econ. 13, 233–245 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10754-013-9129-2
- Woolhandler, S., Campbell, T., Himmelstein, D.U.: Costs of health care administration in the United States and Canada. N. Engl. J. Med. 349, 768–775 (2003). https://doi.org/10. 1056/NEJMsa022033



Designing Hospital Wayfinding Systems, Touchscreen Kiosks, Environmental Cues and Mobile Apps: An Evaluation of a Mobile Wayfinding Application

Christy Harper^(⊠), Tyler Duke, Andrea Crosser, Angie Avera, and Spencer Jefferies

End to End User Research, Houston, TX 77032, USA Christy@e2eUserResearch.com

Abstract. This paper is part of a larger body of work researching wayfinding systems in large, complex, hospital environments. The focus of this second phase of research was to discover usability issues that impact the effectiveness of a mobile wayfinding application used by a large multi-building hospital complex, as well as provide informed recommendations to enhance users' navigation performance. Four researchers conducted a heuristic analysis composed of twenty dimensions across six categories including language, effectiveness of wayfinding instructions, consistency between the environment and application, interface interaction, accessibility and cognitive workload. Primary recommendations consisted of adding a universal search option, orienting navigation cues to user view, and providing assistance to find a help desk. Results from this paper will provide a guideline for the development of mobile wayfinding applications for large hospitals and similar settings.

Keywords: Wayfinding · Healthcare · Usability · Design · Heuristic evaluation · Human factors · Mobile application

1 Introduction

Wayfinding is the process of understanding where you are in the environment, determining where you need to go, identifying the most optimal route to get there, and recognizing when you have arrived [1]. Wayfinding aids in complex environments, such as medical care facilities, are necessary for individuals to find their destinations in a quick and efficient manner. However, even with the assistance of aids, wayfinding has been shown to cause stress for people who are unfamiliar with these complex environments [2]. Studies have since aimed to determine the most effective types of aids. Wayfinding aids have progressed from the use of signs and environmental cues to the use of technology such as interactive touchscreen displays, kiosks and mobile software applications [3]. The purpose of these interactive mobile applications is to simplify the process of wayfinding, allowing the user to access essential information about their location while navigating freely through the environment. Hospitals are now investing in interactive navigation systems, such as mobile applications, to complement traditional

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 89–96, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_9 wayfinding aids. But, if a wayfinding aid does not provide the support expected, users will likely abandon the technology [4]. Wayfinding mobile applications should be easy to use, effective, accessible, and intuitive. If patients and visitors do not find an application effective for their intended purpose, there may be economic loss for the medical care facilities that invest in an ultimately rejected technology [5].

The first phase of this research examined the usability and effectiveness of interactive, touchscreen, wayfinding kiosks in three large hospitals [6]. Participants were recruited onsite from each of these hospitals and asked to complete various tasks using the wayfinding display in their hospital. There were five tasks developed by the researchers that included basic navigation to destinations within the hospital, comprehension of orientation in the environment, accessing help, locating relevant information utilizing the search function, and navigating through the hospital based on the route and directions provided. SUS scores collected and averaged across participants indicated that each interface was perceived by users to be below average in terms of usability. Consistent issues observed were documented and used to draw implications and develop recommendations for future designs. Results from this research indicated that basic heuristics were often overlooked, such as classifying information according to user expectations, including a universal search, minimizing unnecessary on-screen information, adhering to platform standards, presenting visual aids effectively, and orienting navigation information effectively.

In the second phase of research which is the focus of this paper, we have explored several mobile wayfinding applications designed for large multi-building hospital complexes. Evaluating the current apps can help establish guidelines for future wayfinding application designs. Researchers decided to focus on one of these mobile applications for a heuristic analysis. In this type of evaluation, multiple researchers assess whether or not an interface design adheres to certain heuristics, or guidelines, that should be followed for optimal usability [7, 8]. This method provides a simplified benchmark by which to examine interface design and offers varied perspectives to identify usability issues. After prioritizing the criticality of these errors, researchers develop recommendations to be implemented in the next iteration of the design. Given that the standard set of heuristics were established by Nielsen and Molich in the nineties, it has been suggested that they may be too general to evaluate the usability of designs intended for mobile devices and therefore design-specific heuristics are recommended [9]. For this reason, we began by developing our own set of heuristics, influenced by our prior research, to evaluate this specific wayfinding application. Ideally, user-centered design would be incorporated in the development phases, rather than solely using retrospective judgement [5], however we believe evaluating current systems can help establish guidelines for future designs and fill the gap in the current literature about the usability and design of mobile wayfinding applications.

2 Method

Four researchers were selected and briefed on the purpose of this current phase of research surrounding the mobile wayfinding application. A review of the previous research on touchscreen kiosks from phase one was done in order to highlight issues identified with wayfinding systems. Following the review, a set of heuristics (Table 1) were established to measure the usability and effectiveness of the mobile wayfinding system. Twenty heuristics were created comprising six general categories: language, effectiveness of wayfinding instructions, consistency between the environment and application, interface interaction, accessibility and cognitive workload. In order to fully assess these heuristics, the application was examined on site in the hospital. Each researcher used an iOS device to individually conduct a heuristic analysis, taking note of usability issues, documenting impressions of the layout and features of the interface, and capturing screenshots of the application. Additionally, the researchers used the application to navigate to a destination, to evaluate effectiveness and compare the signage, icons, labeling and color coding of the application to the environment. After the evaluations, a debrief was held to discuss the findings, identify usability issues and suggest recommendations for improvement.

3 Results

The first phase of this research examined the usability of interactive, wayfinding, touchscreen kiosks in large complex hospitals. Phase two focused on the use of a mobile application which solved some of the issues found in the initial research. For instance, being able to bring the instructions with you solved the problem of cognitive workload. In phase one, users were required to remember a set of directions given to them by the system. Individuals often missed pages of instructions by leaving the kiosk before realizing that all of the instructions were not visible. An accessibility issue observed in phase one and solved by the mobile app was the difficulty of attempting to use a kiosk from a wheelchair. It is beneficial that this application can be used remotely, making the instructions accessible for anyone, including people with disabilities. Finally, information inside the application complemented other wayfinding aids, such as the colors, landmarks and signage used in the environment. Having the system match the environment is useful because it helps individuals identify other surrounding cues, making the wayfinding process more efficient. Though the mobile app solved some of the issues from phase one, it did not include a universal search feature, provide instructions on how to access help from a human or provide location-based navigation. Following the heuristic evaluation, and categorization of the usability issues, we provided recommendations to improve mobile applications, as detailed below.

Inclusion of a Universal Search. In our previous research on interactive wayfinding kiosks, we found that a search option was often only available within specific categories on the screen. For example, in one task when participants were asked to find the landmark called

Art Gallery, some incorrectly chose the menu option Food, Shops and Services. They would then use the search function within that category to obtain the information they sought – in this case the Art Gallery. However, because the Art Gallery is a landmark, rather than a destination within Food, Shops and Services, they were unable to find the information using the search feature. This prompted us to develop a search heuristic for the wayfinding application, since a universal search would enable users to search for diverse data [10], such as doctors, buildings, room numbers, etc., regardless of where you are in the interface. This application contains several comprehensive lists of items (Fig. 1) that require users to scroll extensively through the options. Due to the lack of a universal search option, users are often unable to easily find information they seek, which may lead to frustration. There should be a search feature that allows individuals to search for distinct things particular to each person. It should also be easily discoverable and usable, enabling a more efficient system.

Is the terminology for laymen or medical professionals?		
Does the interface respond as expected (touch, navigation, familiar elements)		
Are the systems accessible for people in wheelchairs?		
Is there a universal search?		
Can you easily get directions to locations?		
Can you correctly use the instructions to navigate?		
Are the directions oriented to match their location in the hospital?		
Can users tell when they have the full set of directions? Are there timing issues or hidden next button issues?		
Is it clear where you are in the system, how to get back, how to proceed?		
Is there information overload and confusion of important elements in the directions?		
Is there an overload of verbal instructions?		
Is there too much information to remember?		
Does the color coding match the hospital?		
Do the naming conventions match hospital labeling? (rooms, elevators, signs)		
Do they use landmarks in the instructions?		
Is there good signage in the environment?		
Are there multiple helpful signs in the environment?		
Is there help?		
Is there a culture of helpfulness from the staff?		
If there is an error, is it easy to recover from?		

Table 1. Final heuristics for analysis.

Option to Locate a Help Desk. A recommendation from the first phase of this research was to continue to provide a culture of helpfulness in the hospital environments. If participants were unsuccessful at using the interactive system, they generally indicated that they would seek assistance from a hospital employee. In this application, there wasn't an option to search for or guide the user to a help desk nearby, which violated one of the heuristics during evaluation. Providing an option to locate a "Help Desk" would be ideal for patients and visitors who are lost and would like assistance from a human staff member. Ideally patients would never need to ask for help but having an option to identify where help desks are would increase the application's wayfinding effectiveness.

Providing a Map for Visual Aid with Appropriate Orientation. When *Campus Directions* was selected within the application, users were prompted to select a "From" and "To" location (Fig. 2), similar to the mental model of obtaining directions in other common navigation applications. The output provided is a list of instructions with symbols, buttons and icons that match the environment of the hospital. Providing a map of the directions that users are required to travel in order to get to their destination would enhance the effectiveness of the list of instructions. This map should also be oriented appropriately so that users are not confused on which direction they should go. The layout of the maps at each hospital should match the environment in which it is located, giving participants the expected orientation to avoid confusion [11]. This would require allowing different orientations based on physical location of the device in the environment.



Fig. 1. This is a comprehensive list that individuals are presented whenever they are selecting locations within the hospital. The user must scroll through this list to find their desired location.



Fig. 2. A list of instructions is provided to the user once they have selected a "From" and "To" location. These directions help the user navigate through the hospital to reach their destination.

4 Discussion

In this paper, we reported issues associated with a mobile wayfinding application designed for one large medical-care facility. Our primary goal was to learn from this application and offer recommendations for the iteration of current and development of future wayfinding applications, to enhance their effectiveness in real-world environments. Creating our own set of heuristics allowed us to identify multiple issues with the wayfinding app that could (Fig. 3) cause individuals frustrations and/or confusion. People visiting hospitals who experience the frustration of a poor interface or receive confusing or incomplete directions from a wayfinding system experience increased stress [12]. Users that experience many obstacles may abandon the technology and search for another source of information. With the amount of money invested in wayfinding systems, the importance of usability should be at the forefront of designers' minds throughout entire process of system design [13].

Interfaces, such as the wayfinding application described, should allow first time users to identify the information needed quickly and effectively. In order to achieve this, wayfinding apps should be designed to reduce cognitive overload, as well as the time it takes to navigate to a specific destination, by implementing intuitive interaction techniques and features consistent with additional wayfinding cues [14]. Wayfinding applications that exist or are currently being developed should consider the environment of the hospital during the design phase. Information inside the application should complement the environmental information such as color coding, landmarks, room and

elevator labeling and signage, which this application did well. The key user-centered design principles we recommend to be helpful in wayfinding interfaces are: including a universal search option, including an option to locate help desks in the hospital and providing a map for visual aid with appropriate orientation. These general wayfinding application guidelines should be considered for all types of interface aids including interactive touch displays and static maps.



Fig. 3. Several environmental cues that are consistent with other wayfinding aids help guide users to their intended destinations.

Future work and Limitations. Though we took the approach of developing heuristics specific to the interface design we were evaluating, there is the possibility of missing some heuristics or identifying issues that may only have a minor or negligible impact. Ideally, a heuristic analysis should be part of an iterative design process that includes user testing. We found that the wayfinding application did solve some of the issues found in phase one with the touchscreen kiosk usability testing. As the application is mobile, cognitive overload from a huge set of instructions, overlooking screens of instructions, not being accessible to wheelchair users and the interface elements not responding as expected were solved. However, while the navigation elements of the application responded as expected, it did not provide real time orientation or mapping for navigation. With the advance of GPS technology, expectations have changed [15]. The ideal wayfinding application would provide real time location and direction. Our next step will be identifying an application with this functionality and testing the usability and effectiveness as a wayfinding aid.

References

- 1. Carpman, J.R., Grant, M.A.: Design That Cares: Planning Health Facilities for Patients and Visitors. Jossey-Bass, New York (1993)
- 2. Passini, R.: Wayfinding in Architecture. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York (1992)
- Tuzun, H., Telli, E., Alir, A.: Usability testing of a 3D touch screen kiosk system for wayfinding. Comput. Hum. Behav. 6(8), 73–79 (2016)
- 4. Reimer-Reiss, M.L., Wacker, R.R.: Factors associated with assistive technology discontinuance among individuals with disabilities. J. Rehabil. **66**(3), 44 (2000)
- Johnson, C.M., Johnson, T.R., Zhang, J.: A user-centered framework for redesigning health care interfaces. J. Biomed. Inform. 38, 75–87 (2005)
- Harper, C., Avera, A., Crosser, A., Jefferies, S., Duke, T.: An exploration of interactive wayfinding displays in hospitals: lessons learned for improving design. In: Proceedings of the 61st Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting, pp. 1119–1123. Sage Publications (2017)
- 7. Nielsen, J.: 10 usability heuristics for user interface design. https://www.nngroup.com/ articles/ten-usability-heuristics/
- Nielsen, J., Molich, R.: Heuristic evaluation of user interfaces. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Empowering People - CHI 90 (1990)
- 9. Wong, E.: Heuristic evaluation: how to conduct a heuristic evaluation. https://www. interaction-design.org/literature/article/heuristic-evaluation-how-to-conduct-a-heuristicevaluation
- Kim, J., Hwang, M., Jung, H., Jung, D.: Intelligent semantic universal search in mobile platform. J. Comput. Sci. 8(5), 796–803 (2012)
- Warren, D.H., Scott, T.E.: Map alignment in traveling multisegment routes. Environ. Behav. 25(4), 643 (1993)
- 12. Devlin, A.S.: Wayfinding in healthcare facilities: contributions from environmental psychology. Behav. Sci. 4, 423–436 (2014)
- 13. Gulliksen, J., Göransson, B., Boivie, I., Blomkvist, S., Persson, J., Cajander, Å.: Key principles for user-centred systems design. Behav. Inf. Technol. **22**(6), 397–409 (2003)
- 14. Cho, Y.J.: Understanding the Relationship Between Signage and Mobile Map for Indoor Wayfinding. Iowa State University, Ann Arbor (2016)
- 15. Hackett, A.: Wayfinding: An Analysis of London NHS Hospitals with Respect to Specific Demographic Groups (2017)



Determining Patient's Interest in Patient Portal Use in a Primary Care Clinic to Improve Portal Adoption

Martina A. Clarke^{$1(\boxtimes)$} and Kelly C. Karls²

¹ Department of Internal Medicine, University of Nebraska Medical Center, 982265 Nebraska Medical Center, Omaha, NE 68198-2265, USA martina.clarke@unmc.edu ² Nebraska Medicine, 5050 Ames Ave, Omaha, NE 68104, USA kkarls@nebraskamed.com

Abstract. Patients accessing their personal health information has the potential to improve their healthcare decision-making. Despite the potential benefits of patient portals and government reform, adoption has been poor. The objective of this project is to determine patients' awareness of their patient portal and their interest in portal functionalities to assist with increasing patient portal adoption. Forty-two patients completed a 9-item survey at a primary care clinic. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the data. 83% of patients were interested in having access to their health information. 55% were aware of the patient portal and only 35% were signed up. The main reason for not signing up was unawareness of service (35%). Majority of participants (77%) were most interested in viewing personal health information and 50% were interested in secure messaging. These results provide valuable information on functionalities of interest.

Keywords: Patients \cdot Personal health record \cdot Needs assessment \cdot Data display \cdot Communication \cdot Primary health care \cdot Information need \cdot Patient-centered care

1 Introduction

There is a growing emphasis on patient-centered care and providing patient with convenient access to their personal health information is necessary to support patients' engagement in their health. The goal of Meaningful Use Stage 3 is to encourage patient engagement by providing patients with protected online access to their personal health information [1]. Patients accessing their personal health information have the potential to improve self-management of their health and healthcare decision-making [2–5]. The purpose of the patient portal is to support patients' access to health information, visit summaries, educational materials, and medication reconciliation [6–8]. Despite the potential benefits of patient portals and government reform, adoption has been poor [9–11].
Previous studies have shown that patients are interested in accessing their health information [12–15]. An annual survey conducted by the Xerox Corporation on the usage of electronic health records, showed that patients are willing to electronically access their health information if they are shown how [16]. Similarly, a study of US adults' perception, access, and patient portal use by Peacock et al., found that majority of US adults (92%) considered it important to access their personal health information online [17]. Understanding patient portal use and identifying barriers that hinder portal use is essential for increasing patient portal adoption.

1.1 Objective

The objective of this project is to determine patients' awareness of their patient portal and their interest in portal functionalities to assist with increasing patient portal adoption. This project is attempting to solve the problem of the low adoption of the patient portal. The project aims to address five specific research questions:

- 1. What devices do patients have access to?
- 2. Are patients interested in having access to their health information?
- 3. Are patients aware that a patient portal is available to them?
- 4. What functionalities do patients find useful in a patient portal?
- 5. Why are patients not signed up to access their patient portal?

2 Methods

2.1 Study Design

To determine current patient portal use, patients completed a brief 9-item survey during their clinic visit. The survey sought to determine their awareness of the clinic's patient portal, their interest in using the portal, and reasons for not signing up for portal access. The survey also inquired about patients comfort using a computer and the different devices they owned.

2.2 Organizational Setting

Nebraska Medicine is an academic health system and its research and education partner is the University of Nebraska Medical Center. Nebraska Medicine has 16 outpatient clinics in Omaha and other locations in Nebraska. The Nebraska Medicine Fontenelle Clinic is a non-profit clinic centered on providing care for adults and children in North Omaha.

The non-profit organization, Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS), examines hospitals' progression toward electronic health record (EHR) adoption, has classified Nebraska Medicine with Stage 7 of the Electronic Medical Record (EMR) Adoption Model [18]. Stage 7 is characterized as hospitals and clinics that have fully integrated EHRs, transfer health information via Continuity of Care Documents (CCD), employ data warehousing to evaluate aggregated clinical data,

and demonstrate summary data continuity for all hospital services [19]. Nebraska Medicine offers patients access to their health information through Epic MyChart, a tethered patient portal.

2.3 Participants

Participants in this sample were current patients at the Fontenelle Clinic, 19 years or older, and able to read English.

2.4 Data Collection

Patients were given the survey by the front desk during their clinic visit check-in. The front desk staff explained to patients that the survey was a part of the clinic's quality improvement plan prior to providing the survey. Patients had the entire clinic visit to complete the survey. Patients who completed the survey were able to return the survey to any member of the healthcare team.

2.5 Data Analysis

Survey data was transcribed and analyzed using Microsoft Excel 2016. Descriptive statistics which included counts and percentages were used to summarize the data.

3 Results

3.1 Demographics

Table 1 shows the demographics of the forty-two primary care patients that completed the 9-item survey. Patients' age ranged from 20–84. Seventy-five percent (30/40) of patients were female. Sixty-eight percent (25/37) of patients identified as Black, 27% (10/37) identified as White, 3% (1/37) identified as Hispanic, and 3% (1/37) identified as Black and White.

Thirty-four percent (13/38) of patients' highest level of education was a high school diploma or General Education Development (GED), 26% (10/38) of patients were college graduates, 21% (8/38) of patients completed some college or trade school, 16% (6/38) did not graduate high school, and 3% (1/38) completed a post graduate degree.

3.2 What Devices Do Patients Have Access To?

Smartphones were owned by 82% of patients, 58% of patients owned a desktop/laptop, and 45% of patients owned a tablet or iPad (Fig. 1).

Majority (76%, 29/38) of participants felt either somewhat comfortable or very comfortable using a computer (Fig. 2).

Table 1. Demographics of 42 primary care patients that completed the 9-item survey presented as frequency and percentages. Examined demographics include age, gender, race/ethnicity, and education. Five respondents did not include their date of birth. Two respondents did not include their gender. Six respondents did not include their race/ethnicity. Four patients did not include highest level of education.

Demographics	n	%
Age range	20-84	
Gender		
Female	30	75%
Male	10	25%
Race/Ethnicity		
Black	25	68%
White	10	27%
Hispanic	1	3%
Black/White	1	3%
Education		
Did not graduate high school	6	16%
High school graduate/GED	13	34%
Trade school/some college	8	21%
College graduate	10	26%
Post graduate degree	1	3%



Fig. 1. Patients' device ownership displayed as percentages.



Fig. 2. Shows patients' level of comfort using a computer displayed as percentages.

3.3 Are Patients Interested in Having Access to Their Health Information?

Eighty-three percent of patients (35/42) were interested in having access to their health information (Fig. 3).



Interest in health information

Fig. 3. Shows patients' interest in having access to their health information displayed as percentages.

3.4 Are Patients Aware that a Patient Portal Is Available to Them?

Only 55% (23/42) were aware of the availability of a patient portal and only 21% (9/23) were signed up to access the patient portal. Thirty-six percent (13/36) of patients responded yes when asked if they wanted assistance in signing up (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Percentage of patients signed up to access the patient portal.

3.5 What Functionalities Do Patients Find Useful in a Patient Portal?

When asked what functionalities participants would be most interested in using in the patient portal, 30 participants provided a response. Majority of participants (77%, 23/30) were most interested in viewing personal health information such as: recent doctor visits, after visit summaries, medication list, lab results, etc., and 50% (15/30) were interested in securely messaging their doctor (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Functionalities patients would be most interested in using in their patient portal displayed as percentages.

3.6 Why Are Patients Not Signed Up to Access Their Patient Portal?

Twenty-three participants provided reasons for not signing up for portal access: 35% (8/23) were unaware of service, 30% (7/23) had no interest in accessing the patient portal, 26% (6/23) lacked internet access, 17% (4/23) forgot to sign up, and 9% (2/23) lacked email access (Fig. 6).





4 Discussion

4.1 Majority of Patients Own Smartphones

Our results showed that majority of respondents owned a smartphone. These results are similar to the results of surveys conducted by Pew Research Center [20] that shows that most Americans (95%) own a cellphone. The survey also revealed that 77% of Americans currently own smartphones compared to 35% in 2011. Our results also showed that 58% owned a desktop/laptop and 45% owned a tablet or iPad. Pew's surveys [20] also found similar results where many U.S. adults (75%) own desktop or laptop computers, approximately 50% own tablet computers, and about one-in-five own e-reader devices. With the increase in device ownership, patients now have convenient access to their personal health information and to reliable health information for use in improving the management of their health.

4.2 Patients Are Comfortable Using Computers

Our results show that majority of respondents were comfortable with using a computer. These results are supported by a study by Tarrell et al., [21] that reported computer skills as decision drivers for personal health record use. They found that computer efficacy and attitude were the dominant factors that influenced patients' personal health record use. These results suggest that computer skills need to be a part of any effort implemented to increase patient portal use.

4.3 Patients Are Interested in Having Access to Their Health Information

Most respondents in this study were interested in having access to their health information. Previous studies have also shown that patients are interested in having access to their health information [12, 13]. With government mandates in place, patients have the right to access to their health information to assist them in making informed health care decisions.

4.4 Not All Patients Are Aware that a Patient Portal Is Available to Them

One of the main reasons patients were not signed up to access their patient portal was because they were unaware of the service. Similarly, a literature review by Wildenbos, Peute, and Jaspers reported limited to no prior knowledge on patient portal existence, as a barrier to personal health record use [22]. Powell, in a systematic review, also reported lack of awareness as a barrier to personal health record adoption [23]. Increased promotion of the patient portal is one way to increase portal adoption.

4.5 Patients Want to Schedule Visits Online

Patients found viewing their health information as well as scheduling appointment as useful functionalities of the patient portal. Multiple studies have identified scheduling and managing appointments as one of the most commonly used portal functions [14, 15, 24, 25]. There is also a potential to reduce cost by placing the task of appointment scheduling in the hands of patients [26]. These results suggest that patients prefer the convenience of online scheduling as opposed to traditional scheduling over the phone that is limited to standard business hours.

4.6 Patients Don't Perceive the Benefits of the Patient Portal

In addition to being unaware of the availability of the patient portal, patients also had no interest in accessing the patient portal. Previous studies have also reported patients' lack of motivation to use the patient portal [22] and not recognizing the benefits of using the portal for health management [27]. These results suggest that patient don't fully understand the purpose and benefits of the patient portal. Interest could be increased by discussing with patients the benefits of accessing the portal and demonstrating functionalities of interest. Another implication is that patients may not have a severe illness that requires continuous monitoring, which may be a reason the portal is not of value to them.

4.7 Limitations

The first limitation of this study was that it was restricted to primary care practice; therefore results may not be generalizable to patients seen in specialty practice because of their unique information needs [28, 29]. We also had a small sample size that comprised of patients from a single healthcare system, which also affects generalizability.

5 Conclusion

Providing patients with convenient access to their personal health information is necessary to support their engagement in their health, and to fully understand their treatment plan, which may improve patient outcomes. These results show that patients are overall unaware of the patient portal, which is the main cause for a low sign up rate. This suggests that increasing promotion of the portal will improve sign up rates. These results can be used to develop a strategic plan to increase patient adoption of the portal. These results provide valuable information about patient's interest in accessing the patient portal and provides information on functionalities of interest. Awareness of patients' technology access and interest in portal functionality will assist in developing useful and user-friendly patient portals. Future research should evaluate the impact of the patient portal on patients' compliance to their treatment plans.

References

- 1. CMS: Medicaid EHR Incentive Program Stage 3 Patient Electronic Access to Health Information (2016)
- 2. Delbanco, T., et al.: Inviting patients to read their doctors' notes: a quasi-experimental study and a look ahead. Ann. Intern. Med. **157**(7), 461–470 (2012)
- Honeyman, A., Cox, B., Fisher, B.: Potential impacts of patient access to their electronic care records. Inform. Prim. Care 13(1), 55–60 (2005)
- Klein-Fedyshin, M.S.: Consumer health informatics-integrating patients, providers, and professionals online. Med. Ref. Serv. Q. 21(3), 35–50 (2002)
- Ross, S.E., Lin, C.T.: The effects of promoting patient access to medical records: a review. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 10(2), 129–138 (2003)
- Patient Ability to Electronically View, Download & Transmit (VDT) Health Information. Step 5: Achieve Meaningful Use Stage 2 2014 Monday, February 24, 2014. https://www. healthit.gov/providers-professionals/achieve-meaningful-use/core-measures-2/patient-abilityelectronically-view-download-transmit-vdt-health-information. Accessed 10 Dec 2016
- Fricton, J.R., Davies, D.: Personal Health Records to Improve Health Information Exchange and Patient Safety Advances in Patient Safety: New Directions and Alternative Approaches. Technology and Medication Safety, vol. 4, Henriksen, K., et al. (eds.), Rockville (2008)
- Kruse, C.S., et al.: Patient and provider attitudes toward the use of patient portals for the management of chronic disease: a systematic review. J. Med. Internet Res. 17(2), e40 (2015)
- Blumenthal, D., Dixon, J.: Health-care reforms in the USA and England: areas for useful learning. Lancet 380(9850), 1352–1357 (2012)
- Irizarry, T., DeVito Dabbs, A., Curran, C.R.: Patient portals and patient engagement: a state of the science review. J. Med. Internet Res. 17(6), e148 (2015)
- Steinbrook, R.: Health care and the American recovery and reinvestment act. N. Engl. J. Med. 360(11), 1057–1060 (2009)
- Clarke, M.A., et al.: Patients' views on clinic visit notes sections and their importance in selfcare. In: 9th International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE 2018). Podium Presentation. Orlando, FL (2018)
- Woods, S.S., et al.: Patient experiences with full electronic access to health records and clinical notes through the My HealtheVet Personal Health Record Pilot: qualitative study. J. Med. Internet Res. 15(3), e65 (2013)
- 14. Tom, J.O., et al.: Integrated personal health record use: association with parent-reported care experiences. Pediatrics **130**(1), e183–e190 (2012)
- Wieland, D., et al.: Patient portal readiness among postpartum patients in a safety net setting. Appl. Clin. Inform. 8(3), 698–709 (2017)
- 16. Isselmann, E., Pierce, S.: Annual Xerox EHR Survey: Americans Open to Viewing Test Results, Handling Healthcare Online. Healthcare Services (2014)
- 17. Peacock, S., et al.: Patient portals and personal health information online: perception, access, and use by US adults. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. **24**(e1), e173–e177 (2017)

- Stage 7 Case in Point: Nebraska Medicine (2016). http://www.himssanalytics.org/news/ stage-7-case-point-nebraska-medicine. Accessed 10 Nov 2016. Archived at WebCite®: http://www.webcitation.org/75e8FPltx
- Electronic Medical Record Adoption Model (EMRAM) SM (2014). https://www. himssanalytics.org/emram. Accessed 10 Nov 2016. Archived at WebCite®: http://www. webcitation.org/75e7xNzQX
- 20. Center, P.R.: Mobile fact sheet. Pew Research Center: Internet, Science & Tech (2017)
- 21. Tarrell, A., et al.: Computer skills drive user decision for personal health record. In: Academy Health Annual Research Meeting. Poster Presentation. New Orleans, LA (2017)
- Wildenbos, G.A., Peute, L., Jaspers, M.: Facilitators and barriers of electronic health record patient portal adoption by older adults: a literature study. Stud. Health Technol. Inform. 235, 308–312 (2017)
- Powell, K.R.: Patient-perceived facilitators of and barriers to electronic portal use: a systematic review. Comput. Inform. Nurs. 35(11), 565–573 (2017)
- Haun, J.N., et al.: Large-scale survey findings inform patients' experiences in using secure messaging to engage in patient-provider communication and self-care management: a quantitative assessment. J. Med. Internet Res. 17(12), e282 (2015)
- Steitz, B., et al.: Long-term patterns of patient portal use for pediatric patients at an academic medical center. Appl. Clin. Inform. 8(3), 779–793 (2017)
- 26. Lawrence, D.: Footing the bill: patient portals, part I. Healthc. Inform. 26(5), 20, 22, 36 (2009)
- Tavares, J., Goulao, A., Oliveira, T.: Electronic health record portals adoption: empirical model based on UTAUT2. Inform. Health Soc. Care 43(2), 109–125 (2018)
- Collins, S.A., et al.: Information needs, Infobutton Manager use, and satisfaction by clinician type: a case study. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 16(1), 140–142 (2009)
- Currie, L.M., et al.: Clinical information needs in context: an observational study of clinicians while using a clinical information system. AMIA Annu. Symp. Proc. 190–194 (2003)



The Challenge of Designing New Work Systems Towards Effective e-Health Interventions

Isabel Duarte de Almeida $^{1(\boxtimes)}$ and Maria João Lima Delgado^2

¹ Center for Research in Architecture, Urbanism and Design (CIAUD), Lisbon University, Faculty of Architecture, Rua Sá Nogueira, 1349-063 Lisbon, Portugal isabel.dalmeida@edu.ulusiada.pt ² Lisbon Lusíada University (COMEGI), Rua Da Junqueira, 188-198, 1349-001 Lisbon, Portugal mjoaodelgado@fa.ulisboa.pt

Abstract. The design of novel mobile applications for healthcare improves the access, convenience, education, care-quality/effectiveness. To increase the cost-value of integrated healthcare system, new health-related work design should be developed. As the patients are more informed and take an active control decision about their healthcare options, they force the healthcare systems to redesign and change inevitably. The patient empowerment lies to the access of different clinical outcomes information: diseases reliable information, available treatments and management of therapeutically outcomes. This needs to be aligned with caregivers, providers and financiers. Our overall objective is to understand how Portuguese population will respond to eHealth technology design and development for information exchange within healthcare systems and how the healthcare systems cope with new work systems design. Four core interactive work design features were identified that may mediate the effects of intervention in the healthcare outcomes: Social context and support, Contacts with intervention, Tailoring, and Self-management.

Keywords: Human factors in eHealth \cdot Work systems design \cdot Healthcare platform design

1 Introduction

The driving forces to develop our societies will depend directly on the sustainability of our health and economy systems. To know how to design an integrated care management will be the focus for future sustainability in health (by reducing overall costs, increasing disease prevention and increasing knowledge next to the population). Thus, it is essential to understand the importance of technology both in achieving these goals for a near future and in designing new Work Systems towards effective e-health interventions. Technology enables online access to healthcare information generated by other providers at any point of care delivery, therefore it is expected to improve the quality and efficiency of care and reduce the operating and administrative costs of

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 107–119, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_11 healthcare providers [1]. In times when it is faced with a reduction of resources towards physicians, and downsized budgets it is necessary to reduce costs and make sure that money invested in any initiative is well planned. Designing digital approaches as base operation for future strategies will enhance costumer-level communication and putting the patient perspective at the center of initiatives concerning their own health condition [2, 3] concluded in their systematic review that designing mobile and tablet apps improve health outcomes within symptom management thought disease self-management interventions. This means that patients with chronic conditions can increase their effectiveness in symptom control.

Studies of literature have shown gaps of knowledge on e-health and the power of information exchange between health organizations and patients. Despite several works studying the impact of eHealth on the quality and safety of health care, not all authors indicated that the benefits of developing eHealth are positive and guaranteed to be achieved. So, further evidence towards the perception of population is needed. A major finding from review literature is that empirical evidence for the beneficial impact of most eHealth technologies is often modest. Accordingly, it is highly important that deployments already commissioned are subject to rigorous, multidisciplinary and independent evaluations towards the design of new eHealth applications considered for healthcare delivery for near future [4].

Designing integrated care and integration systems have an essential play to develop sustainable systems to reduce costs. A major change is needed to develop cost-effectiveness systems that are used for exchange information between care services and empower patients. Only by understanding the outcomes of an integrated care system and the importance of information and knowledge exchange we will understand where to move forwards. Considering this, two questions arise: RQ1 – Will the design of health-related mobile apps will benefit their health and reduce healthcare costs? RQ2 – Will patients adhere and engage positively to healthcare information within an integrated healthcare services by using eHealth?

With these questions in mind, and considering the relevance of global healthcare delivery, economic sustainability in healthcare, integrated care systems, patient empowerment, and the link towards eHealth, this study seeks to understand if the design of an eHealth platform can reduce costs by increasing knowledge to the population and in consequence the patient empowerment within any treatment, disease prevention or management of a chronic condition itself. Focusing on the idea that information; reduce readmission to healthcare service aftercare or treatment. In parallel, it also has the objective to put the design of new Health-related Work Systems into perspective to some degree, considering eHealth Interventions.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Global Healthcare Delivery and Its Costs

Global healthcare has expanded drastically over the past decades and offer great promise to improve live quality. The development of new pharmaceuticals and new vaccines, the advance in new treatment strategies, the application of brand-new technology in healthcare, the design of new medical devices and the conception of new and sustainable layouts in hospitals, represent a challenge in designing new Work Systems towards effective healthcare interventions.

The dynamics of globalization and sustainability is reliant on a healthy population. It is easily understood that a healthier population is indeed more productive and therefore higher economically driven regions [5]. Healthcare systems develop local procurement of goods and foster design of new services and infrastructures, such as cell phone towers, clean water supplies, and Internet access, that have a wider economic benefit to any population [6]. As worldwide population is aging exponential and increasing, particularly in developed countries, there is an urgent need to develop and redesign the healthcare system to become sustainable in long-term. Knowing that integrated care management will be the focus for future sustainability in health by reducing overall costs, increasing disease prevention and increasing knowledge next to the population, is essential to understand the importance of technology in achieving these goals for a near future.

The difficulties encountered to achieve the Millennium Development Goals towards health targets constitutes a big concern worldwide. The growing consumer demand is forcing health planners to design and innovate healthcare outcomes of overall public health. Health systems must address diversity, high-quality services either in rural or urban areas; tackling rich and poor population; improving training and support healthcare workers.

To increase the value of healthcare is to understand the core level of value creation in prevention, diagnosis and efficient treatment [6]. In turn, an efficient diagnosis also depends on the design of new medical devices, on the development of new products, and on the appliance of technology that increases the health-related work effectiveness. Only by defining and structure these processes it is possible to reduce costs in global healthcare systems and overcome the challenge of designing new work systems towards an effective healthcare.

Figure 1 develops a value increase chain of different sectors within the health sector. Information and engaging throughout any health-related process would increase the measuring rates and accessing any results.



Fig. 1. Value chain for patient and health outcomes (adapted from [6])

Being informed educationally on prevention and screening diseases will increase patient compliancy, counselling and monitoring throughout the treatment. These will increase patient value from the service provided and its outcomes of accessing at early stages, during intervention. Moreover, monitoring the evolution will increase the health outcomes substantially for each unit cost [6].

2.2 Integration Delivery and Clinical Coordination Design

The literature review stress five main types of integration processes (Table 1), each one describes a wide range of integrative processes that differ within the healthcare provider. Some focus on systems and structure, while other focus on less tangible parameters such as healthcare employer's behavior and teamwork [7], but all processes need to ensure the design and development of structures and processes to enable teams and organizations to work for common goals centralized in-patient care value.

Integrative processes	Description of types of integration
Systemic	Coordinating and aligning policies, rules and regulatory frameworks
Normative	Developing shared values, culture and vision across organisations, professional groups and individuals
Organisational	Coordinating structures, governance systems and relationships across organisations
Administrative	Aligning back-office functions, budges and financial systems across integrating units
Clinical	Coordinating information and services and integrating patient care within a single process

Table 1. Description of integrative processes (adapted from [7]).

Integrated care initiatives work best depending on its population and healthcare system, it is an ongoing process to facilitate healthcare with a centralization on patient experience and to increase its cost-value. Integrated care based on patient experience includes: Provider coordinated services; care professionals to coordinate care; Manager to sustain organizational structures; Policy-maker and Regulator to ensure quality and safety; Evaluator to show evidence of integration; Community to shape local services and the patient/service-user to experience improved access and allow navigation across elements of care, including information-sharing [8].

2.3 Importance of Informational Exchange and Patient Empowerment

Information exchange between parties in the health system is fundamental to design and develop effective services. The service needs to deliver integrated information systems that consist in sharing clinical records and continuous patient monitoring. It should also increase common decision tools such as guidelines and protocols for different treatments. This centralized information is a base for efficient information exchange within care management. Successful integrated care models demand the ongoing involvement of patients and family members in the treatment process, implementation and actively taking part of decisions [9]. By increasing information and enabling patients to educate themselves, independently of the positively or negatively their clinical outcomes are, it empowers the patient to enter a more informal conversation with the healthcare providers [10]. Without integration and information exchange patients become lost, services fail to demand the necessity and satisfactory quality declines. So, the cost-effectiveness is reduced significantly [9]. Thus, Patient empowerment of decision-making will adhere to their own journey with confidence that will increase its treatment impact. Companies have increased the value given to offer redesigned personalized information to help patients manage their diseases and treatments throughout the disease management programs. So, companies are taking rapid responses to implement re-design forms of communication and information exchange within their own patients. This increases the implementation of information programs, with direct care teams such as doctors, nurses, pharmacy and others to increase the complex informatics websites or mobile applications for patient utility.

Self-management has become a primary focus for health care providers, with a great potential to increase its outcomes and decrease the demand for costly treatments. Reducing costs will only be accomplished by patient engagement in disease management by using data-storage on eHealth platforms. Remembering that the given data should be analysed by health and clinical personnel [11].

2.4 e-Health and Digital Design in Healthcare Systems

The Design of new Technologies plays a huge role in helping to personalize information, giving patients more control over their health and the potential of eHealth is to overcome challenges of modern healthcare [12], as seeing in Fig. 2. Also e-Health tools are planned to improve health systems by increase health observation, healthsystem management, health education, increase assertiveness diagnosis, allow quick decision-making and support behavioral changes.



Fig. 2. Healthcare challenges and eHealth input (adapted from [12]).

Designing digital approaches in healthcare delivery enables more information decision-making within patients and family members. Mobile application design and development starts to tackle an unmet clinical challenge. The solution idea is developed, and throughout various step process is launched to the general population. These step processes identified by [11] are presented in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Development process of eHealth service (adapted from [11]).

Even though design and developing process has proven to be successful, there are various considerations regards each step to promote eHealth projects. It is necessary to ensure highest level political support from public stakeholders, non-profit organizations, private healthcare sector and human resources available for any new implementation project. It is indispensable to carry out viable studies to develop a strategic planning and action plans [13]. This implies a new design of relations and work systems among all those stakeholders. But success design, implementation and development depend on the following main factors: political, regulatory, institutional and technological. It is necessary to have a political commitment to monitor and support project implementation towards a future vision. Regulatory factors are essential to promote environmental and ethical laws to protect patients and healthcare providers. Institutional and technological factors are directly linked to the development of eHealth projects in terms of business process engineering and development of technology infrastructures [13].

3 Design/Methodology/Approach

This research purpose is exploratory. Hypotheses about how the design of eHealth interventions may be associated with outcomes and intends to understand how Portuguese population will respond to eHealth technology design and development for information exchange within healthcare systems are developed, looking to the advantages of eHealth in exchange information amid healthcare providers and patients. Primary data was collected through a series of interviews and questionnaires in 2018. Secondary data was mainly used as an insight instrumental method to review literature for a good approach towards future needs. It was mainly used to understand flaws within research carried previously. The secondary data was vital to understand concepts and define the problematical hypothesis. With these concepts a chronological structure has been resembled to approach theory into a practical investigation.

The interview participants were selected to ensure a higher representation within integrated healthcare systems. Doctors and nurses were divided into a sub-group for different opinions and broader spectrum. To avoid bias all participations were selected on the same variables, while the same method of recording was assembled. No information about the subject and matter of the study were discussed with the participants to reduce any biased responses towards our focus.

The questionnaire was designed for the general population in the northern area of Portugal. It was planned to enlighten and collect information about the perception of the general population towards eHealth technology. Questionnaires were implemented in public and private health facilities, in a non-probability quota sampling due to time constrain. Thinking about any biased data collected, a quota sampling technique was a representative of various subgroups within the Portuguese populations. A total of 176 respondents were verified. To analyse data collected from interviews, it was applied the Roulston thematic analysis for further conclusion [14].

4 Results and Analysis

4.1 Interview Analysis

Most respondents referred the education level of patients as an important role towards the empowering of patients. Respondent 2 explained: "I consider information the basis of instruction, and with more instruction, people, in general, can become more aware about diseases, from the symptoms to the prophylactic measures, therapeutic requirements and prognosis. This will bring clear advantage for predisposing people to be more cautious with their health, and, at the same time, they can recur earlier than later to Medicine, with obvious advantages, including economics". It is also a major consensus that patients are higher educated overall throughout the years and becoming more demanding and curious towards their knowledge about any conditions. Respondent 5 clarified "patients are more demanding in terms of knowledge towards any physical or clinical condition. Patients more often ask questions about a prescription, treatment, condition or examinations. This curiosity and the will to understand any physical condition increases the power of each patient to follow a given prescription". Although the agreement is clear there are some correspondents that believe that there is the need to partnership patients and caregivers towards a communication that allows double responsibility. This will allow to increase doctor-patient responsibility towards a common goal and a distribution of tasks, however never reducing the command of the doctor or caregiver towards any given treatment or change with patient permission. This is also related to the influence of knowledge and the overreaction towards too much information or misleading information. With this is mind during the conversation it was also referred that many people are using information incorrectly without any scientific base behind many conclusions towards a given condition. It is also important to understand that these events can indicate or lead people to take wrong decisions towards their health condition. Respondent 6 remembers that "some patient re-visits are due to misleading information towards a treatment prescribed and therefore a wrong approach towards the treatment indications. These re-visits bring complications due to the self-changing prescription by using the guidance of information found on the internet. Many people are reading opinions and ideas of non-medical staff".

Considering the issue of Engagement of patients to eHealth services, the interviewees pointed out that patients that engage with healthcare providers are increasing due to the personal will to understand their own health conditions and its effect on their health. It is clear to all respondents that people more often want to play a role in their decision-making within their healthcare options, people inquire about their condition and about all different choices available for treatment. It is more often known that people are becoming more aware of lifestyle and how it changes their health conditions. Due to this major change in society, correspondents feel that people actively seek out for more information to be able to evaluate and make informed decisions regarding new treatments or different care delivery options. Respondent 1 believes that "by educating patients with skills that allow them to take responsible decisions after studying resources apt to their health conditions it provides drive patient self-management of their treatment and in many cases, it allows long term changes in their lifestyle habits". These skills will also allow patients to be more participant in symbiosis with their different healthcare providers and their healthcare plans.

It is also a perception that it might not always be quick and easy, the problem of adopting and develop empowerment and engagement of patients during the time that is required from healthcare workers to answer all queries from patients and their families and their own personal needs. Normally patients want to find answers to the condition or treatment and therefore have the need to explain in detail lifestyle and health background description. Respondent 7 contemplate that "*Empowered patients will require more time to deal with, they normally ask more questions, they are more curious and want to participate in their care and treatment decision*". Although respondents had a vague idea that eHealth could be used to increase patient empowerment, many didn't try to approach this matter. It was also the perception that older patients are not willing to try any new technology, as most are still not aware of its benefits.

4.2 Descriptive Analysis

Analysing age groups that utilize and adhere to internet and mobile applications is important to understand where this new technology era is moving. As expected, population under 25 years old have the highest percentage of internet usage with a total of more than 96.1%. As the age group increases, the percentage of population using internet decreases significantly. Table 2 shows the percentage of people that use internet in each age group.

		Internet Usage						
			Sometimes	At least once a day	2–3 times a week	4–7 days a week	Not Using	Total
Age Group	18 - 25	Count	74	1	0	2	0	77
		% within Age Group	96.1%	1.3%	0.0%	2.6%	0.0%	100.0%
		% within Internet Usage	49.0%	11.1%	0.0%	100.0%	0.0%	43.8%
		% of Total	42.0%	0.6%	0.0%	1.1%	0.0%	43.8%
	26 - 45	Count	65	4	0	0	0	69
		% within Age Group	94.2%	5.8%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%
		% within Internet Usage	43.0%	44.4%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	39.2%
		% of Total	36.9%	2.3%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	39.2%
	46 - 55	Count	8	0	0	0	0	8
		% within Age Group	100.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	100.0%
		% within Internet Usage	5.3%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	4.5%
		% of Total	4.5%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	0.0%	4.5%
	56 - 65	Count	4	1	0	0	5	10
		% within Age Group	40.0%	10.0%	0.0%	0.0%	50.0%	100.0%
		% within Internet Usage	2.6%	11.1%	0.0%	0.0%	38.5%	5.7%
		% of Total	2.3%	0.6%	0.0%	0.0%	2.8%	5.7%
	more than 65	Count	0	3	1	0	8	12
		% within Age Group	0.0%	25.0%	8.3%	0.0%	66.7%	100.0%
		% within Internet Usage	0.0%	33.3%	100.0%	0.0%	61.5%	6.8%
		% of Total	0.0%	1.7%	0.6%	0.0%	4.5%	6.8%
Total		Count	151	9	1	2	13	176
		% within Age Group	85.8%	5.1%	0.6%	1.1%	7.4%	100.0%
		% within Internet Usage	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% of Total	85.8%	5.1%	0.6%	1.1%	7.4%	100.0%

Table 2. Participants cross tabulation of age groups considering the internet usage.

The results show that the higher percentage of population that is now using internet and mobile applications more often, are younger population. Thus, people that use internet were further questioned to give a more detailed information about how they use the internet towards health and healthcare (Fig. 4a).



Fig. 4. (a) Opinions about health online and in mobile applications use; (b) Pearson Correlation test between age groups/internet usage/internet usage for health purpose.

Most of the respondents, 58%, utilize the internet sometimes to look for information about health, 18% nearly always confirm the usage of internet for health information, 14% use always the sources and only 10% never use the internet for health educational purpose. For further insight into the data and to be able to understand if there is any correlation between internet usage and internet usage for health issues, there was the need to carry statistical test by using *phi* de Pearson Coefficient shown in Fig. 4b. This measurement allows to understand if there is an analytical existence of relationship and how intense that same correlation is. Persons correlation coefficient ranges between -1 and +1, where it indicates perfect agreement or disagreement of the correlation; zero indicated no relationship between the two variables. Figure 4b draw a significant correlation between age groups and internet usage with a significant difference with p < 0.00, so it shows a significant value of p < 0.05. The correlation of the test shows a moderate high correlation between age groups and internet usage of Coefficient correlation = 0.681, positive relationship of moderate high intensity. The age group correlation with internet usage for health purpose is still significant p = 0.000 however the Coefficient correlation = 0.305 shows a low moderate correlation.

To look for overall experience of patients when engaging towards eHealth services and to understand their purpose and how they utilize the internet to find information about health, detailed information about participants that adhere to internet usage for health purposes – in order to find health information and how they categorise their own experience – was addressed.

Figure 5 shows the percentage of answers in each category where correspondents only had four answers: nearly always, sometimes, rarely and no knowledge when looking at different situations. Only 16,48% of correspondents always acknowledge about existing websites, 35,80% sometimes know and more than 39,21% show difficulty in knowing health existing websites. Along with this parameter, the percentages of correspondents that have knowledge of official websites decrease to 29.55% knowing about it nearly always, 31.25% sometimes and 40% having rare or have no knowledge.



Fig. 5. Ratio of answers addressing the experience using different health websites.

On the other indicator, people tend to compare information from various websites, 54.55% of correspondents do it nearly always, 28.41% sometimes; 4.55% do it rarely and only 12.50% don't use it at all. When correspondents utilize internet to find information only 38,07% find the necessary information, 47.73% only happen to find their answers sometimes and 14.21% have rarely or no answers to their search.

5 Conclusion

eHealth can change and influence healthcare systems at three levels: micro- that will impact directly patients and carers; meso- will impact suppliers, distributors, partners; and at a macro level towards the healthcare system including: hospitals, clinics, pharmaceutical companies and all healthcare providers. Focusing on the idea that information and knowledge exchange reduce the misused of medication; lack of information; reduce readmission to healthcare service aftercare or while undergoing treatments, the design of eHealth application for information exchange can help towards reducing costs in Healthcare facilities. eHealth should have the basis to rationalise and make processes effective, by increasing its ability to reach the public awareness and reduce costs to the care provider. There is indication that new suppliers and the ability to acquire open source systems is important towards the national health system.

The following conclusions arose from the respondent's answers analysis.

Firstly, as regards RQ1, the design of specific types of eHealth technologies towards specific health issues, such as obesity and weight management, may be extremely interesting for future implementation. A more personalised approach should be designed, developed and studied in a near future to target the problem, e.g., young adults in reducing weight and reducing obesity levels nationally to reduce healthcare problems arising from overweight.

Implementing and studying a different approach should be the target, to reduce later care costs. The evidence of our questionnaire shows that younger population are engaging positively to our new era on mobile apps and are aware of the health control for a healthier future. The Portuguese national health system should have this in mind to develop new approach mechanisms in order to use positively the shift seen in younger adults to be able to sustain a better future regarding health management and reduce negative impacts on healthcare system.

App designers should work closely with public health practitioners to integrate evidence-based practices and expert recommendations towards developing apps suitable to the national healthcare systems. Developing technologies to integrate and increasing integration processes between healthcare providers in specialities and public health care system will increase the effectiveness of our input value.

However, there is no significant evidence that eHealth apps will be successful towards the mitigation of health issues by itself, there is still the need to integrate the app development with other healthcare programs in order to follow the patient effectively. It is extremely important that performance expectancy for patients is aligned within social influence, government policies, medical education and eHealth main objective. Increasing medical education will reduce inadequate medical knowledge, linked directly to the second research question. Secondly, considering the RQ2, it was observed an increase in adherence to mobile applications towards new generations compared to older generations. This shows us a difference on the engagement to healthcare information in the public and private healthcare systems. Although the observation of the increase of younger population utilizing internet sources for health issues, the results show a still passive utilization in the implementation of eHealth and low patient engagement in the usage process felt by the healthcare providers.

Evidence is limited and mixed but argues for an impact of mobile app use on motivation and goal-setting behaviour and supports further study of the impact on health-related outcomes such as attitudes, perceptions, physical activity, and dietary habits. Considering the practice implications, healthcare-related professionals can use this evidence to discuss potential benefits of health promotion mobile apps with patients.

Even so, according the analysis of the obtained data, two main areas for APPs design improvement were defined: (a) the design of an APP should be based on a combination of thorough understanding of users and their contexts of use; (b) a more robust approach in evaluating the effectiveness of APP in terms of measures, length of observation periods and how and why certain features are successful in supporting behaviour change.

6 Future Approach & Research

Partially the difficulty arises due to the inability to predict the future of eHealth services and its market. The organizations and the public demand for new products will dictate the future of eHealth and its innovative services. Empirical studies should be further developed in order to validate the next steps effectively and proceed to understand the healthcare system demand. Next studies should be carried to understand the entire process from decision-making to its implementation towards the public population. This study should provide indications of what new demands, impacts, targets, costs are required to develop the next generation of eHealth services on our public healthcare system in order to increase patient empowerment and reduce costs of healthcare providers.

Trusting that innovation, optimization, modernizing and remodelling of the eHealth potential outcomes will increase patient information and it will deliver optimal healthcare services towards our population, this will be the key to the future of eHealth towards reducing healthcare delivery costs.

References

- Vest, J., Gamm, L.: Health information exchange: persistent challenges and new strategies. J. Am. Med. Inform. Assoc. 17(3), 288–294 (2010)
- 2. Sirockman, M.: Customer-Level Communications in a Digital Age. Artcraft Health (2015)
- 3. Whitehead, L., Seaton, P.: The effectiveness of self-management mobile phone and tablet apps in long-term condition management: a systematic review. J. Med. Internet Res. **18**(5), e97 (2016)

- Black, A., Car, J., Pagliari, C., Anandan, C., Cresswell, K., Bokun, T., McKinstry, B., Procter, R., Majeed, A., Sheikh, A.: The impact of eHealth on the quality and safety of healthcare: a systematic overview. Plos Med. 8(1), e1000387 (2011)
- Borgonovi, E., Compagni, A.: Sustaining universal health coverage: the interaction of social, political, and economic sustainability. Value Health 16, 534–538 (2013)
- Kim, J., Farmer, P., Porter, M.: Redefining health-care delivery. Health Policy. Lancet 382, 1060–1069 (2013)
- 7. Shaw, S., Rosen, R., Rumbold, B.: What is integrated care? An overview of integrated care in the NHS. Evidence for better health care Nuffieldtrust (2011)
- Ovretveit, J., Hansson, J., Brommels, M.: An integrated health and social care organisation in Sweden: creation and structure of a unique local public health and social care system. Health Policy 97, 113–121 (2010)
- 9. Kodner, D., Spreeuwenberg, C.: Integrated care: meaning, logic, applications, and implications a discussion paper. Int. J. Integr. Care 2 (2002)
- 10. Healthcare, C.D.W.: Smart Moved for Managing Healthcare Mobility: Rapid mHealth Growth Creates Opportunities and Challenges: CDW Healthcare (2014)
- 11. Bradway, M., Arsand, E., Grottland, A.: Mobile health: empowering patients and driving change. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. **26**(3), 114–117 (2015)
- Stroetmann, K., Jones, T., Dobrev, A., Stroetmann, V.: eHealth is Worth it, The economic benefits of implemented eHealth solutions at ten European sites. eHealth Impact: Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities (2008)
- Stanimirovic, D., Vintar, M.: Development of eHealth at a national level comparative aspects and mapping of general success factors. Inform. Health Soc. Care 39(2), 140–160 (2014)
- 14. Roulston, K.: Data analysis and "theorizing as ideology". Qual. Res. 1(3), 279-302 (2001)



Research on the Construction Method of the Hospital Information System Hourglass Model

Shifeng Zhao^(⊠), Jie Shen, and Zhenhuan Weng

Jiangnan University, Wuxi, Jiangsu, China zhaoshifeng920@live.com

Abstract. The informatization construction of modern health care has gradually shifted from "hospital informatization" around 1993 to "health care intelligentization". The studies on Hospital Information System (HIS) are carried out from multiple perspectives: research review, theoretical proposal and case application. Based on user experience elements and Actor-Network Theory, the construction method of HIS "hourglass model" is proposed. The hourglass model consists of three parts: the upper structure composed of the hospital ethnographic research and the definition of medical staff's requirements, the connected pipeline structure composed of HIS architecture design, and the lower structure composed of HIS interaction and visual design and HIS design evaluation. By expounding the complete development process of the nurse station service system, the reproducibility of the hourglass model construction method is proven, and the three structures of the hourglass model are refined, providing reference solutions for the subsequent development and research of agile projects.

Keywords: Human factors · Hospital Information System · Hourglass model

1 Literature Review

Before starting the research on this project, I searched the research pertaining to medical wisdom, Hospital Information System (HIS), nursing station system and other related research published between 1990 and 2018. After excluding irrelevant content, 103 literature contents were analyzed and reviewed, and were explored from historical dimension, tool dimension and participant dimension, respectively.

The concept of medical wisdom has changed in the historical dimension from the "hospital informationization" around 1993 to today's "medical wisdom" [1] The key factor to promote its development lies in the reform of national macro-policies and industrial development model [2], including measures such as strengthening information sharing, business synergy and health resource information integration between hospitals after the new medical reform [3], like the system construction method centering on "cloud computing service platform", which, however, ignores the integration of doctors' service for patients to some extent. Although other scholars pointed out some issues in the construction of smart medical system: the information is not

concentrated; the function is single; and only hardware upgrading is valued [4], the research lacks the research perspective of medical staff and also the exploration on and guidance for the specific methods for creating medical wisdom.

The study of HIS tool dimension can be significantly summarized as research on mobile devices and desktop devices. Among them, smart medical services based on mobile devices mainly include two categories: health management service used by patients and HIS collaborative terminal used by medical staff. First, centering on patients is the main research direction of current mobile medical wisdom. It technically simplifies user path through two-dimensional code, radio frequency identification, online medical guidance, etc. [5], and helps to improve patients' medical experience by using online health counseling, mental health mentoring, online registration and other services. Some scholars have proposed the design principles of medical wisdom -"intelligence", "co-creativity" and "systematization" [6], assessed the impact of medical wisdom on the transformation of the traditional medical industry [7], and built a cloud computing remote disease prevention and cloud computing care platforms based on the Internet of Things. However, all of these neglects the user service optimization in the medical staff port and increase the work intensity of medical staff to some extent. Second, mobile handheld device is the hotspot research direction for HIS contact point optimization. Its information verification module can significantly reduce the error rate of information transmission [8], but currently there are a few studies on PC-side HIS. The studies focus on the technical field and construct a relatively complete horizontal system and service category for medical wisdom, which is of a certain reference value. But at the meantime, the studies express that the HIS service system used by medical staff should be patient-centered for process optimization which, to a certain extent, violates the user-centered design principle, confuses the relationship between users and service objects, and lacks human factors thinking.

Nursing station service is an important part of HIS. Nurses are both service providers and service beneficiaries, so related research shows differences in terms of the role dimension [9]. When nurses are service beneficiaries, the design of the nursing station needs to pay attention to the psychological impact of environment on nurses, which not only affects nurses' perception of work stress, but also influences nurses' actual work intensity [10]. Additionally, some studies have found some problems, including transcribing medical orders leads to mistakes easily; special patients cannot be treated preferentially; and bed turnover rate is low, carried out relevant statistical tests, and confirmed that the solutions of electronic medical records and hospitalization process optimization in the studies can improve the efficiency of medical staff.

The above three main dimensions related to this study focus on policy orientation, technology orientation, and environmental orientation. Despite there is a long history of research on the field of medical wisdom, research on the fields of human factors engineering, service design, and user experience is still deficient in the literature. This study utilizes user experience and project development theories to establish an "hourglass model" construction method for smart medical service system, providing a new research direction for this research field.

2 Interest Research in Hourglass Model

2.1 Brief Description on the Concept of Interest Research

Interest research aims to create designs that are more in line with stakeholders' expectations and to create more valuable services for them, by analyzing and interpreting the "nature" and "relationship" for medical staff, and using observation and reasoning to analyze and integrate the various materials obtained during the research process. Methods commonly used in the field of user experience, such as focus groups, in-depth interviews, metaphor analysis, abstract surveys, projection techniques, voiced thinking, ethnographic research, PEST analysis and SWOT analysis, can all be applied in the course of constructing a smart medical service system. The phenomena and other data observed at this stage are the supporting materials for the demand and insight in the next stage, which have a profound impact on the development of subsequent research.

2.2 PEST-SWOT Model

The PEST-SWOT model enable to complete the market surveys on external environment and macro factors. The analysis on the PEST-SWOT model of smart medical services is shown in Table 1.

Strengths The government In 2016, China's C	China will enter a deeply aging	In medical
work reporttotal healthddpointed out that itexpendituresais necessary toreached 700caimprove medicalbillion US dollars;psupervision <i>"Health China</i> eaefficiency via the2020" StrategymInternet, big data,Research Reportaaetc., value thepointed out thatmresearch andby 2020, thepapplication of AI,account for 6.5%bInternet plusto 7.0% of GDPomedical care. Theoverall politicalcaenvironment isfavorable forindustries likemedical wisdomikeike	society, and the current aging population exceeds 200 million; the attention to "health preserving" paid by young people brings new opportunities to health preventive care	wisdom, there is a large demand for various sensors for wearable devices, and currently 35.6% of three-level hospitals in China have implemented cloud medical solutions

Table 1. PEST-SWOT model of smart medical services.

(continued)

	Politics	Economy	Society	Technology	
Weaknesses	As an industry	Insufficient supply	From a	There is a big gap	
	that relates to the	of resources and	psychological and	between its core	
	people's	concentration of	social point of	technology plus	
	livelihood,	high-quality	view, patients are	production	
	medical care still	resources have	more inclined to	technology and	
	needs government	caused that it is	seek medical	those of	
	power to	quite common for	advice in high-	developed	
	intervene in	patients to directly	level hospitals	countries;	
	industry norms.	seek medical	rather than in	enterprises	
	China's Invitation	advice in high-	primary hospitals;	engaged in the	
	for Advice on	level hospitals	the doctor-patient	development of	
	Developing	rather than in	relationship	medical sensors in	
	Administrative	primary hospitals	becomes tense	China are in small	
	Measures for	first, increasing		quantities and	
	Internet	the cost of the		scales	
	Diagnosis and	entire health			
	Treatment has	system			
	made more				
	regulations on				
	Internet diagnosis				
	and treatment, but				
	there are still				
	uncertainties				
Opportunities	Medical wisdom brings patients their familiar Internet thinking mode of				
	seeking medical advice, which saves both time and effort; medical wisdom can				
	help medical staff to assist in diagnosis and treatment, which improves service				
	level and service efficiency				
Threats	The decline in the ease of learning has increased the learning cost of users who				
	are not good at using the Internet; aside from normal consultation service,				
	medical staff need to maintain online information, increasing their working				
	intensity				

Table 1. (continued)

2.3 Ethnography Research

Ethnography is a method of conducting systematic study on people and cultures based on anthropology. The network of stakeholders of the nursing stations is involved deeply for a long term, and stakeholders' behavioral habits and the relationships therebetween are objectively observed and described by using qualitative methods. This study conducts ethnographic research on four public hospitals with significant differences and a software provider (including the Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology of Wuhan Red Cross Hospital, Department of Ultrasound Imaging of Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College of Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Department of Brain Treatment of Wuhan Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine of China-Japan Friendship Hospital, and Cloud of Practicing Medicine), collects the personality elements of the nurse group, such as lifestyles, behavioral habits, interests and hobbies by means of informal interviews, direct observation and participation in their lives, observes all touch points.

Nurses, doctors, nursing stations, nursing station service systems, pharmacies and other actors are equal and in a stable actor-network structure. Therefore, the phenomena are just recorded and described objectively at this stage, and a series of the obtained unstructured research findings and results will be analyzed in depth in the architectural optimization section. Four typical problems are found in the observation: firstly, nurses generally have their body and head tilted forward in the process of using the nursing station service system. Secondly, nurses are only familiar with the functions they often use, and there are even many interfaces that they have never seen. Thirdly, nursing and medicine belong to two systems and don't share the same developer, which needs to switch for operations. Fourthly, nurses need to refresh system pages from time to time to see if there are new medical orders, resulting in that viewing is not timely and operational burden is large.

3 Value Definition in Hourglass Model

3.1 Brief Description on the Concept of Value Definition

Value definition refers to defining the value for each stakeholder, derives from previous research and serves all follow-up work. Value definition requires a deep analysis of the findings during the interest research phase, constructs an unstructured "user demand cluster" and digs out the relationships among stakeholders, and refines them into information such as product characteristics, product functions, and demand priorities.

3.2 User Needs and Core Value

Finding user needs is the core of constructing a service system. At this stage, we need to try to understand the findings and results obtained during the interest research phase, like the problems users are most concerned and desire to address, and the degree of feasibility. In the hourglass model, the way to summarize user needs is to structure user needs, build a "user need cluster" and then mine the relationships between stakeholder clusters. Up to now, 46 typical user needs are summarized, and after fully exploring the relationship between clusters, the user needs are classified into four actors according to task needs: "patient management", "medical orders management", "drug management" and "charge settlement".

Through the interest research, it is concluded that the nurse group hopes the nursing station service system can not only be used to better manage and serve patients, but also serve nurses themselves, alleviate the work intensity of the nursing station and relieve their nervous psychological emotions, expecting to release more working hours to care for patients and other nursing activities. Consequently, this study defines the core value as constructing a nursing station service system that is clear in its structure, easy to use and close to nurses' life, weakens nurses' occupational attributes, and conforms to users' mental model.

3.3 Product Strategies

Product strategies focus on external user needs and internal product goals, which plays a guiding role in all subsequent strategies and implementations. Hence, the foundation of creating a friendly user experience is to have concise and specific strategic needs. According to literature research, ethnographic research and user interviews, the following product strategies can be summarized:

The nursing station service system is a branch of the nurse system in HIS, and a system service centered on the nurse user group needs to be built;

It should fit the interconnection and interworking properties of the "Internet +", and cooperate with multi-terminal equipment and multi-platform data;

The product emphasizes novelty and overall conforms to the characteristics of commercial end product services in the Internet era;

The services provided by the system need to meet the nurse group's behavioral habits, cognitive patterns and way of working.

4 Architecture Combing in Hourglass Model

4.1 Brief Description on the Concept of Architecture Combing

The most important task of architectural design is to clarify the information architecture based on stakeholders and their relationships. The organization of information architecture needs to transform the abstract relational network into concrete actors that influence user experience, and appropriately group the actors to further clarify the presentation mode and order of actors and sub-actors. The design part medical staff can perceive needs to regulate the interaction process between the product and users, including the scope of interaction between users and the product, the product 's mode of response to user interaction, as well as the distribution and zoning of product functions. And the priority arrangement of interface elements should be in line with the thinking and usage habits of medical staff. The most needed functions should be considered arranging in high-priority positions, and interaction design cannot be done entirely according to functional logic. During the architectural design phase, as many solutions as possible ought to be found. Agile iterations should be performed by using low-fidelity prototypes in order to choose the best ideas and solutions.

4.2 Architecture Combing

The existing service system architecture extracts the five-nursing station service system architectures in three levels of depth. Through analysis, the following four questions can be obtained: first, second-level pages are designated according to the functions of hospitals, which does not meet the thinking mode of medical staff when they receive tasks. Second, the function points in the second-level pages are unevenly distributed, resulting in a certain area being too large. Third, the number of third-level pages is huge; the functions are scattered, disordered and even duplicated. Fourth, although most of the function points are functions required in the work, the presented state tends to be unstructured functional clusters without optimization, which fails to meet users' thinking mode.

In the actor network theory, each element acts as an actor. When dealing with different relational networks, actors can be grouped into a new actor. Conversely, each actor can be a collection of multiple sub-actors, just like the relationship between a car and car parts. The four need clusters of "patient management", "medical orders management", "drug management" and "charge settlement" are used as the breakthrough points for structural optimization, which is in line with the mental model of nurses' work and greatly reduces cognitive difficulty. The description of sub-actors' relational network extracts the architectures in three levels of depth, as shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Comprehensive combing on the optimized nursing station service system architectures, including "Patient Management", "Medical Orders Management", "Drug Management" and "Charge Settlement", each of which contains a large number of functional clusters.

5 Cognitive Design

The focus of cognitive design lies in the five-sense cognitive styles of the nursing station service system, that is, the sensory presentation of architectural functions. The nursing station service system is a business-oriented server. Its presentation design needs to make full use of Gestalt psychology, schema theory, projection method, etc. for guiding the designs, such as the composition of point, line and surface, the shape and size of elements, the font, font size and color of texts to fully influence medical staff's function and emotional perception of the service system, so as to meet the conclusions, strategies and goals of the other four construction elements, alleviate the work pressure of the medical staff and reduce their operational burden.

5.1 Prototype Iteration

The prototype design of this study was made through three iterations, including a paper prototype and two computer prototypes. The second version of the prototype guarantees its basic use, but after click testing, it is found that there are many invalid clicks for completing a task, and some interactions are inefficient. The third version of the prototype made a large adjustment to the functional zoning. The four actors on the homepage after logging in facilitate nurses to locate their required tasks; the focus level of working area is improved; the left resident navigation bar facilitates nurses to



Fig. 2. Three versions of prototypes, including a paper prototype and two computer prototypes.

quickly switch between 12 functional clusters; and the navigation dynamic change at the top facilitates quick operations as shown in Fig. 2.

5.2 Visual Design

The visual design of the current nursing station service system is consistent with that in the literature research. The design of most interface elements is in a relatively early design style, among which the software system of Cloud of Practicing Medicine is overall more uniform. The typical visual elements in the five-nursing station service system interfaces are extracted as shown in Fig. 3. These elements play a certain role of suggestion and interface division, but they are rough, which fails to improve efficiency, reduce cognitive difficulty and enhance the basic aesthetic of interfaces.



Fig. 3. Typical visual elements in the nursing station service system.

The first version of visual design adopts a dark-colored "L"-shaped navigation partition to converge the working area in order to form a visual focus, making the visual line of working difficult to break; the information to be handled on the homepage and navigation partitions uses "little red dot" tag people in the Internet age are familiar with to quickly show the to-be-handled issues, reducing the operational burden of constant refreshing; illustrations are used to express the concept of four actors, enriching visual effects; cards of patient information use the concept of "bed", enhancing fun and reducing cognitive burden; the interface of medicine distribution can be displayed according to medicines and patients, and the beds are allocated according to the medicines, which is more in line with nurses' operating habits. However, during testing, nurses fed back some defects. For instance, the meaning of different background colors in the medical order list is not obvious; the position of logging out cannot be found quickly; and beds don't look obvious. These defects were then improved in the second visual iteration.

By changing the pillow element familiar to patients into patients' condition splint, it is more in line with the graphic language familiar to nurses, and by using dark-colored background plane to make a visual distinction, better zoning effects are created. The pages including long-term medical advice, temporary medical advice, patient drug, drug check, drug application and account management not only use different background colors for partition, but also add elements similar to the "in-operation status light" outside operation rooms to further define "unfinished" and "finished". Because the amount of page information in list details is large, in addition to reducing information density, the necessary signature elements such as "prescribed by", "reviewed by" and "executed by" adopt interesting forms of "signature", so that different personalized signatures for each person increase a sense of ritual, as shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. The final version of visual design.

6 Design Assessment

Design assessment runs through the entire design process: during the interest research phase, it can be used to verify whether research results are distorted; during the value definition phase, it can be used to verify if it truly brings new value to hospitals and medical staff; during the architecture and cognitive design phases, it can be used to timely assess whether the nursing station service system meets medical staff's expectations. The participation of medical staff in the entire hourglass model allows software providers to directly know how medical staff use the system to ensure that the design of medical wisdom is centered on real users. According to implementation methods, design assessment can be divided into cognitive reflection assessment and physiological data assessment. Cognitive reflection assessment makes testees reflect on their own experience by designing experiments and experiencing products, and uses quantitative forms to collect user feedback. Physiological data assessment acquires the content that testees cannot verbally express through obtaining and analyzing the physiological data of the testees.

6.1 Geneva Emotion Wheel Assessment

The Geneva emotion wheel is a scale tool that measures the emotion a person experienced as accurately as possible. Proposed by the Geneva emotional psychologist Klaus R. Scherer, it consists of discrete emotional terms. The emotional terms are distributed in four quadrants: positive emotion—negative emotion, controllable uncontrollable.

Even if the intensity of some emotions is very low, emotions are mixed and diverse in many cases. Therefore, in the assessment of this study, 10 testees assessed the intensity of each emotion after they experienced the nursing station service system, and for emotions they didn't feel, ticked in the lowest circle of the emotions. The data for the final detailed score distribution and the positive emotion valence quadrant are shown in Fig. 5. According to this, it can be intuitively seen that the emotional feelings of "joy", "enjoyment", "gentleness" and "disburdening" are intense, accounting for



Fig. 5. Detailed score distribution and positive emotion valence quadrant score distribution.

66.05% of the overall feeling. The average feelings are higher than other emotions by 58.21%, and high feelings are mainly within the range of active and moderately controllable emotions, which is suitable for nurses' working environment.

6.2 User Satisfaction Test

Apart from emotional perception, after the test, the testees are asked to fill out the user satisfaction test scale to evaluate the service system currently used and the service system of the test, respectively. The currently used service system SUS scored 52.75 (D), and the new service system SUS of the test scored 90.25 (A+). In addition, the easy-to-learn subscale scored 90, which is 41.17% higher than the current system; and the availability subscale scored 90.31, which is 80.62% higher than the current system. It can be seen that the nurse group shows lower overall satisfaction with the current working system. In this assessment, it cannot be excluded that the surprise emotion might affect the overall score of SUS, resulting in a high score, but it can still be considered that this study has made significant contributions to improve the user experience and emotional experience of the nursing station service system.

6.3 Physiological Data Assessment

Eye movement experiment aims to find the cognitive differences between the current system and the improved system from the perspective of cognition, as well as to point out the direction for future system iteration and improvement. According to the purposes of the test, the interfaces are organized into 23 pictures for cognitive test; without specifying the time of attention, testees are asked to comprehensively cognize the interfaces; and data are collected via Qingyan r2-100 eye tracker.

Some hot zones and trajectories of the currently used service system are shown in Fig. 6. Since the interface partition is relatively confusing, from the test results, it can be clearly seen that saccades are frequent and of long distances and large angles, but show no obvious primary and secondary relationship, indicating users' relatively short time of fixation on interest areas, a few times of regression and decentralized attention, which undoubtedly increases the burden of use and unnecessary use time for medical staff with high-intensity operations.



Fig. 6. Hot zones and trajectories of the currently used service system.

Some hot zones and trajectories of the system after optimization and reconstruction are shown in Fig. 7. The hot zones are distributed in the set interest areas. Important operations, important hints and main functional zones are all the main hot zones, and the fixation order accords with the order of functional priorities. For example, in Fig. 7, the fixation sequence starts from the login area, after gazing at the avatar area, password area and login button area, and glancing at the character image in the right illustration area in a small range, the fixation area returns to the login area. A reasonable sequence of saccades and hot zone distribution of interest areas indicate that users can unconsciously cognize the information architecture and function distribution on their first use.



Fig. 7. Hot zones and trajectories of the system after optimization and reconstruction.



Fig. 8. Hot zone changes in the navigation bar of the system after optimization and reconstruction.

Besides, it is found that as users' familiarity with pages and navigation bar increases, the navigation bar is unconsciously ignored, and users become more focused on the working area, as shown in Fig. 8, which conforms to the strategy and goal of converging the working area in the architecture and performance design.

7 Conclusion

Designed to transform the user experience of the nursing station service systems from the perspective of service design, this study has supplemented technology-centered development approach in the current research, reshaped the HIS development perspective centering on medical staff rather than patients, elaborated the guiding process of the hourglass model construction theory of the smart medical service system through the introduction and case analysis of the hourglass model, and verified the effect of the hourglass model on improving cognitive efficiency by using design assessment. This paper focuses on the case part in order to truly share this user-centered development process of medical wisdom hourglass model with future researchers, in the hope of guiding the research and development of related projects.

Moreover, it needs to be specifically pointed out that the user-centered development perspective is not a denial of the technology-centered development perspective. In the future research, the two approaches should be combined with each other and take medical staff and a variety of actors as the core to probe into the various possibilities of technical support, and should complement each other to jointly promote the experience quality of medical staff's port in medical wisdom environment. This is also the deficiencies and shortcomings of this study. Due to the limitations of the author's background and resources, no real docking between the transformed project and HIS is carried out to test effects. Hopefully, researchers interested in this direction can complete the design and test in the dual field of experience and technology to gain further data reference.

References

- Defeng, W.: Exploring the software construction of HIS information system in hospital. Contemp. Med. 47–48 (2003)
- Zhiyong, Yu, D.: Analysis of the structure and development status of smart medical industry. Mod. Manage. Sci. 52–54 (2015)
- Shuang, W., Jianfeng, S., Xuecheng, G.: Analysis of the status quo of smart medical construction in China. China Digital Med. 12, 27–29 (2017)
- Ruoran, X., Boya, Z., Bojian, Z., Xiaolin, X.: Research on the construction and development strategy of integrated wisdom medical system. China Hosp. Manage. 38, 72–74 (2018)
- Zhihui, C.: Explores mobile health system applications based on smart healthcare service platforms. Commun. World, 45–46 (2017)
- Jian, L., Youxin, W., Dongjuan, X.: Based on the design of intelligent medical research design, 38–39 (2017)
- 7. Yixin, W.: Shenzhen smart medical cloud service platform construction. Surveying Sci. **39**, 74–77 + 87 (2014)

- 8. Jiangchun, X., Qing, W., Yuantao, L., Haidong, X.: Design of handheld mobile nurse station based on wireless network technology. Ind. Instrum. Autom, 79–82 (2015)
- 9. Weiwei, Y., Dejun, C.: Study on brand contact points of nurse stations in %T general hospital. J. Nurs. 29, 33-35 (2014)
- Haiyan: Nurse Station Design Popular State. Chinese Hospital Building and Equipment 10, 11–13 (2009)


An Empirical Study of Information Visualization for Decision Support in an Emergency Department Information System

Quaneisha Jekins-Penha¹ and Steven $Jiang^{2(\boxtimes)}$

¹ Intel Corporation, 2821 Mission College Blvd., Santa Clara, CA, USA qlynnjenkins@gmail.com ² Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, North Carolina A&T State University, 1601 E Market St, Greensboro, NC 27411, USA xjiang@ncat.edu

Abstract. Emergency departments collect large amounts of data to make decisions regarding patient care. Implementation of decision support tools with information visualization (IV) techniques in Emergency Department Information System (EDIS) is difficult to achieve and thus an evaluation of the techniques is needed. The purpose of this study is to conduct a usability study of various IV techniques in EDIS and provide recommendations for developers. Fifty-nine participants were recruited in this study. Results indicate the density chart, tree map, and network diagram have lower times, higher usability scores, and lower mental workload ratings than the 3D scatter plot, scatter plot matrix, and parallel coordinates. Findings of this study can provide insights for the development of information visualization tools to support decision making in an emergency department information system.

Keywords: Information visualization · Emergency department · Information systems

1 Introduction

Since the mid-1980s, the emergency department in hospitals has virtually replaced regular physician visits for many persons in the United States as the cost of medical care has increased. In 2010, there were 123.8 million visits to the emergency departments (ED) throughout the country with 13% resulting in hospital admission [1]. As a result, professionals in the emergency department need to make their decisions quicker and better than before. One of the most important tools to support decision - making is through the technology of information visualization.

There is an enormous amount of data collected for each patient from their arrival time to the end of their follow up visits to the emergency department. The patient record is a composite of all the data acquired and created during a patient's path through the healthcare system [2]. The focus of patient care is not just on the period of

illness, but also includes the cycle of wellness to illness to recovery, and back to wellness again. Therefore, a patient's record must integrate data from multiple sources across multiple providers and for various times. Two significant categories of decisions in healthcare are diagnosis and the treatment plan. The decision makers, usually physicians, must use the raw data acquired and the views of other staff members involved to make decisions.

An ED for this research is defined as a facility that specializes in acute care for patients without prior appointments, typically attached to a hospital or other primary care unit. An ED is a complex system with a high degree of complexity, fatality risks, uncertainty, and dynamic environment. In addition, there is a tremendous amount of patient data collected in various formats. An information system designed for emergency department use needs to be able to display collected patient information and support decision - making for healthcare practitioners. The system is a complex web of information in which analysis can prove to be difficult, affecting patient care outcomes.

In a complex healthcare environment, such as an emergency department, time is a key component. Good decisions made too late turn into bad decisions leading up to tragic consequences. Often there may not be a clear indication of positive or negative results when a person makes a decision. Decision making process can be influenced by the technological support a user receives, such as a decision support tool that employs information visualization.

Information visualization is not a novel technology and has been researched extensively over the decades [3]. This technology can simultaneously provide a "big picture" and a "small picture" for clarification in an on - demand format for users [4]. There are many types of information display designs, but information visualization can improve decision - making by influencing user cognitive resources. This relationship provides an avenue of human factors research into information visualization. Visualizations can be a significant display method for complex information systems, such as an emergency department information system (EDIS). There are various information visualization techniques in existence, and not all are appropriate for any decision making situation in an emergency department. Therefore, there exists the need to analyze visualization techniques for their effectiveness and support in healthcare decision - making. Unfortunately, there is little research on the assessment of information visualization with an emergency department information system. Implementation of decision support tools with IV techniques in Emergency Department Information System (EDIS) is difficult to achieve and thus an evaluation of the techniques is needed.

The purpose of this study is to conduct a usability study of various IV techniques in EDIS and provide recommendations for developers.

2 Method

A comparative usability study was conducted to assess different IV techniques as used in EDIS. The following subsections describe the method used in the study.

2.1 Participants

Fifty - nine subjects were recruited from North Carolina A&T State University and from nursing programs at local universities. Of the participants, 41 were 18–25 years of age, 12 were 26–35 years of age, and 6 were 36–45 years of age. There were 28 males and 31 females. Table 1 summarizes the demographic statistics of the participants. Of the participants, 60% considered themselves more than average computer users and 60% were at least somewhat favorable towards new technology. In addition, 40% had worked in a hospital, and of those, 75% had experience using hospital information systems (either for scheduling or admission tasks).

Discipline	Discipline Age		Gene		Gender Primary		у	Visual acuity		
							hand			
Engineer	Nurse	18-25 years	26-35 years	36-45 years	М	F	Right	Left	\geq 20/20	<20/20
73%	27%	70%	20%	10%	48%	52%	92%	8%	92%	8%

Table 1. Demographic analysis of the study participants.

2.2 Experimental Design

A within subject design was used. The subjects saw the visualizations in a randomized order. The independent variable was the type of visualization. The dependent variables were performance measurements (decision time, accuracy, and abandonment), user opinion on usability, and mental workload.

2.3 Stimulus Materials

Stimulus materials included the healthcare decision - making task scenarios. The visualizations were created by SAS JMP, XDAT, and VOS Viewer.

2.4 Procedure

Subjects' consent was obtained after the experimenter welcomed and explained the study's purpose. The experiment then followed with the collection of demographic data, visual acuity, and color blindness. Next, the subject was walked through a demonstration and training on how to interpret the visualizations. Subjects could ask any questions at that time about using the interface and completing the tasks. Following the training session, the testing session began where the subjects viewed a visualization technique, read a scenario and answered a question about the data. Each question had four responses including "I Don't Know". After the subjects answered the task question, they completed a five-question usability survey about the visualization. Upon completion of the tasks, the subjects completed a post test questionnaire and were thanked and debriefed.

2.5 Data Collection

There were three categories of data collected from this study: objective metrics, subjective metrics, and demographic information. The objective metrics included time to complete task, percent of correct answers, and percent of abandoned questions. The time was measured with a standard stopwatch. The number of correct answers was measured by a pre - defined answer key for the questions. The subjective metrics included user opinion about the usability of the visualizations and mental workload. The user opinion of each visualization technique's usability was measured using a post - test questionnaire using a Likert scale from 1 to 5. The mental workload associated with each visualization technique was measured using the NASA TLX survey. The demographic information collected in the pre - test questionnaire included age, gender, professional/academic field, degree level. The subjects' visual acuity was measured using a Snellen Eye Chart and color blindness was tested using the Ishihara test.

The National Aeronautic and Space Administration Task Load Index (NASA - TLX) is one of the most frequently used subjective mental workload scales and is based on multidimensional property of mental workload [5]. It measures mental workload employing six rating scales: mental demand (MD), physical demand (PD), temporal demand (TD), performance (PE), effort (EF), and frustration (FR) levels. NASA - TLX has been successfully applied in a number of human factors system assessments [6].

3 Results and Analysis

Data collected on performance measurements, usability measurements, and mental workload measurements from the empirical study were analyzed and results are summarized in the following subsections.

3.1 Performance Measurements

The performance measurements gathered include completion time, accuracy rate, and abandonment rate.

Data Pre - Processing. Box plots were constructed to identify outliers on completion time, which can be seen in Fig. 1. There were 9 data points that were out of range across the 6 visualizations, which were removed.

Descriptive Statistics. The descriptive statistics for completion time, accuracy, and abandonment for all subjects can be seen in Table 2. The highest mean time to completion for 3D scatter plot was 118.27 s (standard deviation = 45.63) while the tree map had the shortest mean completion time of 80.57 s (standard deviation = 35.69). For engineers, 3D scatter plot had the highest mean completion time and the network diagram had the shortest mean completion time. For nurses, parallel coordinates had the highest mean completion time while the tree map had the shortest mean completion time. The network diagram had the highest accuracy rate at 79% while the parallel coordinates had the lowest with 21%. For engineers, density chart had the highest accuracy and parallel coordinates had the lowest accuracy. For nurses, tree map and



Fig. 1. Box plot of completion time.

Visualization	Time (seconds)	Accuracy rate	Abandonment rate
Density chart	82.31 (30.04)	0.75 (0.39)	0.23 (0.36)
Tree map	80.58 (35.69)	0.72 (0.44)	0.03 (0.18)
Network diagram	86.96 (35.28)	0.79 (0.39)	0.09 (0.28)
3D scatter plot	114.90 (47.75)	0.49 (0.54)	0.24 (0.42)
Scatter plot matrix	118.27 (45.63)	0.46 (0.50)	0.37 (0.48)
Parallel coordinates	115.21 (44.55)	0.21 (0.39)	0.39 (0.48)

Table 2. Descriptive statistics (mean and standard deviation) for performance measures.

network diagram had the highest accuracy while parallel coordinates had the lowest accuracy. Parallel coordinates also had the highest abandonment rate at 39%. The tree map visualization only had a 3% abandonment rate. For engineers, parallel coordinates had the highest abandonment rate. For nurses, density chart had highest abandonment rate.

Inferential Statistics. In this study, there is one independent variable with 6 levels and three dependent variables. A moderate correlation was shown between accuracy, time, and abandonment as see in Table 3. Due to this moderate correlation a multiple

	Time	Accuracy	Abandonment
Time	1		
Accuracy	-0.462	1	
Abandonment	0.310	-0.630	1

Table 3. Correlation of performance metrics.

analysis of variance (MANOVA) needs to be used to determine the variance between the performance variables for the 6 different visualizations.

Model adequacy check on the assumptions of normality, randomness, independence, and homogeneity of variance were done for each performance measure and no major violations were found.

The results of the MANOVA indicated a significant difference was present for visualization technique when all performance measurements were analyzed simultaneously (Wilks' Lambda = 0.6590, $F_{15, 930.71} = 10.12$, p < 0.001). In regards to each individual ANOVA for the performance measurements of time, accuracy, and abandonment there were significant differences present in the data. A significant difference was found for time ($F_{5, 339} = 9.88$, p < 0.0001). A significant difference was also found for accuracy rate and abandonment rate ($F_{5, 339} = 19.96$, p < 0.0001; $F_{5, 339} = 7.34$, p < 0.0001).

Post hoc analysis using Tukey test was done for pairwise comparison of the completion time for the 6 visualizations using significance level of 0.05 and results indicated that the tree map (mean = 80.58, standard deviation = 35.69) had significantly lower times than the network diagram (mean = 86.96, standard deviation = 35.28) and density chart (mean = 82.31, standard deviation = 30.04). The scatter plot matrix (mean = 118.27, standard deviation = 45.63) had significantly higher completion times than the network diagram and density chart. The parallel coordinates (mean = 115.21, standard deviation = 44.55) had significantly higher completion times than the network diagram and density chart. The 3D scatter plot (mean = 114.90, standard deviation = 47.75) had significantly higher completion times than the network diagram and density chart. The 3D scatter plot (mean = 35.28) had significantly lower times than the scatter plot matrix, parallel coordinates, and 3D scatter plot. The density chart (mean = 82.31, standard deviation = 30.04) had significantly lower times than the tree map, scatter plot matrix, parallel coordinates, and 3D scatter plot.

Similarly, Tukey test results on accuracy rate for the 6 visualizations indicated that the scatter plot matrix (mean = 0.46, standard deviation = 0.50) was significantly lower than the density chart (mean = 0.75, standard deviation = 0.39), the tree map (mean = 0.72, standard deviation = 0.44), and network diagram (mean = 0.79, standard deviation = 0.39). The 3D scatter plot (mean = 0.49, standard deviation = 0.54) had significantly lower accuracy than the density chart and network diagram. The density chart (mean = 0.75, standard deviation = 0.39) had significantly higher accuracy than the scatter plot matrix, parallel coordinates, and 3D scatter plot. The tree map (mean = 0.72, standard deviation = 0.44) had significantly higher accuracy than the

scatter plot matrix, parallel coordinates, and 3D scatter plot. The network diagram (mean = 0.79, standard deviation = 0.39) had significantly higher accuracy rate than all other visualizations. The parallel coordinates (mean = 0.21, standard deviation = 0.39) had significantly lower accuracy than all other visualizations.

Tukey test on abandonment rate for the 6 visualizations indicated that the scatter plot matrix (mean = 0.37, standard deviation = 0.48) was significantly higher than network diagram (mean = 0.09, standard deviation = 0.28) and tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.18). The network diagram (mean = 0.09, standard deviation = 0.28) has significantly lower abandonment rate than scatter plot matrix (mean = 0.37, standard deviation = 0.48) and parallel coordinates (mean = 0.39, standard deviation = 0.48). The density chart (mean = 0.23, standard deviation = 0.36) had significantly lower abandonment rate than parallel coordinates (mean = 0.39, standard deviation = 0.48). The tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.39, standard deviation = 0.48). The tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.18) had significantly lower abandonment rate than the scatter plot matrix and parallel coordinates. The parallel coordinates (mean = 0.39, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.48) had significantly higher abandonment rate than tree map (mean = 0.03, standard deviation = 0.18).

3.2 Usability Measurements

The usability survey had 4 items measuring overall usability, ease of use, ease of viewing, and value as a healthcare tool. The following sections investigate the descriptive and inferential statistics associated with the usability items for the visualization techniques.

Descriptive Statistics. Table 4 shows the descriptive results for all usability items. For overall usability, the density chart scored the highest with 3.88 (standard deviation = 1.05) and 3D scatter plot scored the lowest with 2.32 (standard deviation = 1.11). Nurses rated the parallel coordinates with lowest usability while engineers rated the 3D Scatter Plot the lowest. For the "ease of use" item, the density chart scored the highest with 3.57 (standard deviation = 1.35) and the 3D scatter plot scored the lowest with 1.98 (standard deviation = 1.05). Nurses favored the network diagram while engineers preferred the density chart. Density chart rated the lowest with nurses while engineers rated the 3D scatter plot the lowest. The tree map was rated the highest with 3.73 (standard deviation = 1.09) and the 3D scatter plot was rated the lowest with 1.98 (standard deviation = 1.05) for the "ease of viewing" item. Nurses favored the scatter plot matrix while engineers preferred the tree map for "ease of viewing". For "value as healthcare tool", the density chart was rated the highest with 2.29 (standard deviation = 0.74) and the 3D scatter plot was rated the lowest with 1.94 (standard deviation = 0.87). There is less variation in this item compared to the other usability items. Nurses favored the tree map while engineers favored the density chart. Parallel coordinates scored the lowest with nurses. 3D Scatter Plot scored the lowest with engineers.

Inferential Statistics. A correlation analysis depicted in Table 5 revealed there is moderate correlation among all the usability survey items. Model adequacy tests revealed no major violations.

	Usability survey item					
	Ease of use	Overall usability	Ease of viewing	Value for healthcare		
Density chart	3.57 (1.35)	3.88 (1.05)	3.33 (1.16)	2.29 (0.74)		
Tree map	3.20 (1.35)	3.43 (1.27)	3.73 (1.09)	2.18 (0.81)		
Network diagram	2.84 (1.33)	3.24 (1.28)	2.82 (1.15)	2.14 (0.76)		
3D scatter	1.98 (1.17)	2.32 (1.11)	1.98 (1.05)	1.94 (0.87)		
Scatter matrix	2.33 (1.35)	2.48 (1.36)	2.63 (1.37)	2.11 (0.80)		
Parallel coordinates	2.29 (1.25)	2.44 (1.32)	2.31 (1.35)	1.96 (0.90)		

Table 4. Descriptive statistics (mean and standard deviation) for usability survey.

Table 5. Correlation of usability items.

	Ease of view	Ease of use	Healthcare value	Overall usability
Ease of view	1			
Ease of use	0.415	1		
Healthcare value	0.650	0.755	1	
Overall usability	0.480	0.812	0.780	1

Since all four variables were measured at the same time in a survey, a profile analysis was conducted and three research questions were addressed: overall difference, parallelism, and flatness. An overall difference among the groups was found indicating there was a significant difference for visualization type ($F_{5, 278} = 16.26$, p < 0.0001). The test for parallelism examines whether the distance between scores for the techniques on any of the dependent variables differs. Results revealed that the profiles were not found to be parallel (Wilks' lambda = 0.78464 and $F_{15, 762.32} = 4.67$, p < 0.0001). The last step is to check for the flatness of the profiles, which indicates that the visualizations show the same significance across the usability items. The results revealed that the profiles were not flat (Wilks' lambda = 0.645576 and $F_{3, 276} = 50.51$, p < 0.0001).

3.3 Mental Workload Measurements

The NASA TLX survey had 6 items measuring effort, frustration, performance, physical demand, mental demand, and temporal demand. The following sections investigate the descriptive and inferential statistics associated with the mental workload items for the visualization techniques.

Descriptive Statistics. The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 6. On the "effort to complete task" item, the parallel coordinates was rated the highest at 4.74 (standard deviation = 1.84) while the density chart rated the lowest with 3.21 (standard deviation = 1.57). For nurses, the parallel coordinates rated the highest with 6.75 and the density chart the lowest with 4.5. For engineers, the highest rated visualization was the 3D scatter plot with 4.68 and the lowest rated was the density chart with 3.12. On the "frustration" item, the parallel coordinates was rated the highest at 3.72

Mental workload item	Density char	t Tree map	Network diagram
Effort	3.21 (1.57)	3.77 (1.66)	3.4 (1.78)
Frustration	2.4 (1.3)	1.96 (1.32)	2.51 (1.65)
Mental	3.02 (1.48)	3.66 (1.62)	3.43 (1.81)
Performance	5.66 (1.34)	4.87 (1.76)	4.87 (1.73)
Physical	2.2 (1.68)	1.96 (1.350	2.36 (1.63)
Temporal	2.62 (1.57)	1.98 (1.26)	2.35 (1.46)
Mental workload item	3D scatter	Scatter matrix	Parallel coordinates
Effort	4.80 (1.69)	4.7 (1.92)	4.74 (1.84)
Frustration	3.75 (1.93)	3.51 (2.04)	3.72 (2.17)
Mental	4.4 (2.07)	4.13 (2.44)	4.7 (2.49)
Performance	3.55 (1.66)	3.65 (2.19)	3.67 (2.04)
Physical	3.42 (2.04)	3.12 (2.04)	3.12 (2.13)
Temporal	3.0 (1.7)	2.81 (1.92)	3.02 (2.01)

Table 6. Descriptive statistics (mean and standard deviation) for NASA TLX.

(standard deviation = 2.17) while the tree map scored the lowest at 1.96 (standard deviation = 1.32). For nurses, the parallel coordinates was rated the highest with 6.5 and the tree map the lowest with 3.25. For engineers, the highest rated visualization was the 3D scatter plot with 3.53 and the lowest rated was the tree map with 1.84. For "mental demand", the parallel coordinates was rated the highest at 4.7 (standard deviation = 2.49) while the density chart rated the lowest at 3.02 (standard deviation = 1.48). For nurses, the parallel coordinates rated highest with 6.75 and density chart the lowest with 3.5. For engineers, the highest rated visualization was 3D scatter plot with 4.28 and the lowest rated was the density chart with 2.98. On the "performance" item, the density chart rated the highest at 5.66 (standard deviation = 1.34) while the 3D scatter plot rated the lowest at 3.55 (standard deviation = 1.66). For nurses, the density chart rated highest with 6.5 while the scatter plot matrix and parallel coordinates were the lowest rated at 3.75. For engineers, the highest rated visualization was the density chart with 5.58 and the lowest rated was 3D scatter plot with 3.5. On the "physical demand" and "temporal demand" items the trends are similar. The 3D scatter plot and parallel coordinates rated the highest while the density chart rated the lowest. For nurses, the parallel coordinates were the highest rated and density charts the lowest rated. For engineers, the highest rated visualization was 3D scatter plot and the lowest rated was the density chart.

Inferential Statistics. A correlation analysis revealed there was moderate correlation among all the mental workload survey items. Model adequacy tests revealed no major violations. Since all six variables were measured at the same time in a survey, a profile analysis was conducted and three research questions were addressed: overall difference, parallelism, and flatness. An overall difference among the groups was found indicating there was a significant difference for visualization ($F_{5, 256} = 5.64$, p < 0.0001).

The test for parallelism examines whether the distance between scores for the techniques on any of the dependent variables differs. Results revealed that the profiles were not found to be parallel. Figure 2 shows a graphical depiction of the profiles (Wilks' lambda = 0.73365 and $F_{25, 937.64} = 3.26$, p < 0.0001). The result indicated that the profiles were not flat (Wilks' lambda = 0.42156 and $F_{5, 252} = 69.16$, p < 0.0001).



Fig. 2. Profile analysis of mental workload items.

4 Discussion and Conclusion

This study conducted a comparison usability study to evaluate information visualizations for emergency department information systems. Results of the study clearly indicate that visualization type has an impact on performance measurements for emergency medical data tasks. Previous research studies that measured performance on an individual task (instead of a set of tasks) have shown similar results that indicated that different visualization techniques performed differently for various tasks [7].

The general trend emerging from the results indicates the density chart, tree map, and network diagram have lower times, higher usability scores, and lower mental workload ratings than the 3D scatter plot, scatter plot matrix, and parallel coordinates. This trend could be a result of either the tasks or the data format. The tasks associated with the density chart, tree map, and network diagram asked users to compare variables, specifically by frequency or amount of a variable. However, the tasks associated with the 3D scatter plot, scatter plot matrix, and parallel coordinates asked the users to compare correlations of variables. Another possible reason for this trend is that the 3D scatter plot matrix, and parallel coordinates are based on numerical data, for example, blood pressure or pulse rate. However, the parallel coordinates does allow

for a user to look at correlations of textual and numerical data, for example, the correlation between gender (male or female) and pulse rate. The other three visualizations were developed from textual data sources. The symptoms and diagnoses of patients in the emergency department were used to build the network diagram and density chart.

Information visualization is an effective way to view and understand large amounts of emergency medical patient data. However, the designers of emergency department information systems must be aware of the ways in which their system may be used to its fullest potential and estimate its impact on the end - user. Certain visualization techniques are appropriate for specific tasks and situations. An EDIS should be designed to integrate the usage of an appropriate technique for a health care decision making task to mitigate potential usability issues.

Acknowledgments. This research is partially supported by the Title III HBGI PhD Fellowship program at North Carolina A&T State University.

References

- 1. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/emergencydepartment.htm (2010)
- Tang, P.C., McDonald, C.J.: Computer-based patient-record systems. In: Medical Informatics: Computer Applications in Health Care and Biomedicine, pp. 327–358. Springer-Verlag, New York (2001)
- 3. Plaisant, C., Shneiderman, B.: Designing the User Interface: Strategies for Effective Human-Computer Interaction. Pearson Addison Wesley (2004)
- Shneiderman, B.: Inventing discovery tools: combining information visualization with data mining. Inf. Vis. 1(1), 5 (2002)
- Wu, C., Liu, Y.: Queuing network modeling of driver workload and performance. In: 50th Annual Conference of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society. San Francisco, CA (2006)
- Yost, B., North, C.: The perceptual scalability of visualization. IEEE Trans. Vis. Comput. Graph. 12(5), 837–844 (2006)
- Plaisant, C.: The challenge of information visualization evaluation. In: Proceedings of Conference on Advanced Visual Interfaces, pp. 109–116. Gallipoli, Italy (2004)

Healthcare Worker Risk



Are Teachers More Affected by Burnout than Physicians, Nurses and Other Professionals? A Systematic Review of the Literature

Myriam Squillaci Lanners⁽⁾

University of Fribourg, 1700 Fribourg, Switzerland myriam.squillaci@unifr.ch

Abstract. This article answers a main research question: Are teachers more affected by burnout than physicians, nurses and other various professionals? In order to answer this research question, a systematic literature review was conducted. All the articles included in the analysis used the Maslach Burnout Inventory (94 studies, 121 samples). Results show that occupations are impacted differently by burnout in the three sub-dimensions (emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and lack of accomplishment).

Keywords: Burnout · Maslach Burnout Inventory · Teachers · Nurses · Physicians · Working conditions

1 Introduction

Numerous scientific studies have shown the extent of burnout at work in different professions. In 2012, Maslach, Leiter and Jackson estimated burnout costs at US 300 billion. In Switzerland, according to data from the Federal Statistical Office (2018), more than a third of Swiss people feel stress at work, 18% feel emotionally exhausted. People who are overworked at work are five to six times more likely to suffer from depression than people who report job satisfaction. These data mean that about one in five active people has symptoms of depression that contribute to the explosion of medical consultations for psychological reasons [1]. This problem is so urgent that it is considered a priority of the Swiss long-term strategy [2].

The assertion that teachers face higher risks of burnout than other professions is a widely recognized idea in the common sense but ultimately poorly documented in research results [3]. Nevertheless, it must be acknowledged that burnout seems to reach more specifically occupations with high levels of social interactions, such as education and health [4]. In these fields of activity, the phenomenon is seen as a real epidemic.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 147–155, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_14

The original version of this chapter was revised: a few typographical errors were corrected. The correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_34

2 Definition

The most common definition of burnout is the one issued by Maslach, Jackson, Leiter, & Schaufeli (1996, p. 192): "Burnout is a psychological syndrome of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and lack of accomplishment that can occur among individuals who work with other people in some capacity" [5]. It is an emotional state that causes a loss of beliefs, positive feelings, optimism, respect and empathy for those around the person concerned. Psychic exhaustion is linked to physical fatigue and psychosomatic disorders. The scientific literature agrees that burnout is a disruption of the body due to a high and lasting level of stress correlated with external demands greater than the available resources. The symptoms reflect a psychic discomfort (mental or emotional exhaustion) that manifests itself in various ways [6]: mental and behavioral symptoms predominate over physical ones; the syndrome originates in professional environment; the symptoms are observed in individuals without a particular psychopathological background; decreased efficiency and lower performance are the result of negative attitudes at work; repercussions affect the person's physical and psychological functioning. The symptomatology of burnout is multiple, impacting people in their daily work and family.

The most widely used tool to measure burnout is the Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI). This instrument (22 items) investigate three sub-dimensions to prevent burnout and improve working conditions: emotional exhaustion (EE), depersonalization (D) and personal accomplishment (PA) [6]. Emotional exhaustion is assessed through 9 items, depersonalization through 5 items and personal achievement through 8 items. Scores are considered in the danger zone if they are in the upper third of the normal distribution, in the risk zone, if they are in the second third and in the correct zone, if they are in the lower third. A low level of burnout is manifested by a low score in the EE and D dimensions, and a high score in the PA dimension [5]. The researchers note that if the EE and D scores are in the dangerous zone, the risk of being burnout is real, especially if the PA score is low.

3 Literature Search: Methodology

In order to answer the main question of the study, an electronic search was conducted in various databases: Medline, Pubmed, Sciencedirect, Springer, Eric, Scopus. The selected searches were based on several inclusion criteria: 1. Be based on the Maslach model; 2. Use the MBI as a questionnaire to assess burnout; 3. Present scores and standard deviations in the three sub-dimensions (EE; D; PA). 4. Present the sample clearly (teachers, specialized teachers, doctors, nurses, etc.); 5. Have been published in scientific journals between 1996 and 2016; 6. Understand a sample of at least 45 participants. This literature review is part of a larger project on burnout that will be the subject of a meta-analysis [7].

As a result of this selection process, 94 studies were selected for specific data analysis: 37 studies (teachers), 28 studies (nurses), 15 studies (doctors), 14 studies (various professionals). As the same study sometimes contained several sub-samples, this review allowed to code the scores of 121 samples in the three sub-dimensions of

Studies	EE	D			PA		
	Ν	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
Al-Bawaliz, 2015	200	18.13	10.66	2.63	4.21	5.29	5.82

Table 1. Example of coding

burnout. For each sample, 7 categories were selected: N, EE mean and EE standard deviation, D mean and D standard deviation, PA mean and PA standard deviation (Table 1).

4 Results

The following table shows the distribution of average burnout scores of 45 samples of teachers in the three sub-dimensions (Table 2).

45 Samples N = 20'999	Correct zone	Risk zone	Danger zone
EE	16 samples n = 3'856	25 samples n = 16'048	4 samples n = 1'095
	18.36%	76.42%	5.21%
D	24 samples	19 samples	2 samples
	n = 7'988	n = 12'773	n = 238
	38.04%	60.83%	1.13%
PA	1 sample	11 samples	33 samples
	n = 78	n = 2'674	n = 18'247
	0.37%	12.73%	86.89%

Table 2. Teachers and burnout

This table provides a comparison of the average scores obtained by teachers in the three dimensions of burnout. With regard to emotional exhaustion, among the 45 samples (N = 20'999; 100%), 16 samples (n = 3'856) reported a correct level (18.36%), 25 samples (n = 16'048) are in the risk zone (76.42%) and 4 samples (n = 1095) are in the danger zone (5.21%). With regard to depersonalization, average ranges vary between M = 2.63 to M = 18.00. Among the 45 samples (N = 20'999), 24 samples (n = 7988) indicate a correct level (38.04%), 19 samples (n = 12773) are in the risk zone (60.83%) and 2 samples (n = 238) are in the danger zone (1.13%). With regard to personal achievement, only one study (n = 78) reports a correct level (0.37%), 11 samples (n = 2'674) are in the risk zone (12.73%) and 33 samples (n = 18247) are in the dangerous zone (86.89%). These data suggest that the demands of the teaching profession necessitate important resources in terms of emotional adaptation. The impact of emotional exhaustion in teaching is worrying with only 18% of teachers in the correct zone, because this profession requires emotional management

articulated to the needs of pupils. The depersonalization seems less affected than exhaustion with 38% in the correct area. Regarding personal achievement, only 0.37% of teachers report a correct level. The differences between dimensions in terms of dangerousness is unexpected. Considering all the studies (N = 45), only two studies report a level of burnout estimated to be dangerous in all the three dimensions [9, 10]. No study has found a satisfactory level of burnout in the three dimensions.

This first review of the literature on teachers indicates contrasting scores in all three dimensions. Is there a similar situation for nurses? The following table shows the distribution of average burnout scores of 34 samples of nurses in the three sub-dimensions (Table 3).

34 Samples	Correct zone	Risk zone	Danger zone
N = 14'685			
EE	13 samples	21 samples	0 sample
	n = 6'322	n = 8'363	
	43.05%	56.95%	
D	15 samples	18 samples	1 sample
	n = 4'090	n = 10'421	n = 174
	27.85%	70.96%	1.18%
PA	2 samples	15 samples	17 samples
	n = 252	n = 3'972	n = 10'461
	1.72%	27.05%	71.74%

Table 3. Nurses and burnout

With regard to emotional exhaustion, among the 34 samples (N = 14'685; 100%), 13 samples (n = 6'322) reported a correct level of exhaustion (43.05%), 21 samples (n = 8'363) are in the risk zone (56.95%) and 0 sample is in the dangerous zone. With regard to depersonalization, 15 studies (n = 4'090) indicate a correct level (27.85%), 18 samples (n = 10'421) are in the risk zone (70.96%) and 1 sample (n = 174) is in the danger zone (1.18%). With regard to personal achievement, averages range from M = 41.0 to M = 11.24. Only 2 studies (n = 252) report a correct level (1.72%), 15 samples (n = 3'972) are in the risk zone (27.05%) and 17 samples (n = 10'461) are in the dangerous zone (71.74%).

These data suggest that the demands of the nursing profession require emotional resources, but less than those of the teaching profession. Regarding depersonalization, 15 studies report a correct level, 18 samples are in the risk zone and only 1 study reports a dangerous level. Nurses seem more affected by depersonalization (27.85% in the "correct" zone) than by exhaustion (43.05% in the correct zone). The following table shows the distribution of average burnout scores of 20 samples of physicians in the three dimensions (Table 4).

With regard to emotional exhaustion, among the 20 samples (N = 7'033; 100%), 7 samples (n = 2'701) report a correct level (38.40%), 11 samples (n = 4'132) a level in the risk zone (58.75%) and 2 samples (n = 200) are in the dangerous zone (2.84%). With regard to depersonalization, 9 samples (n = 2'031) indicate a correct level

20 Samples N = 7'033	Correct zone	Risk zone	Danger zone
EE	7 samples	11 samples	2 samples
	n = 2'701	n = 4'132	n = 200
	38.40%	58.75%	2.84%
D	9 samples	8 samples	3 samples
	n = 2'031	n = 4'491	n = 511
	28.88%	63.86%	7.27%
РА	5 samples	7 samples	8 samples
	n = 914	n = 3'571	n = 2'548
	13.0%	50.77%	36.23%

Table 4. Physicians and burnout

(28.88%), 8 (n = 4'491) a level at risk (63.86%) and 3 (n = 511a danger level (7.27%). Regarding personal achievement, only 5 samples (n = 914) report a correct level (13.0%), 7 samples (n = 3'571) a level at risk (50.77%) and 8 (n = 2'548) a danger level (36.23%).

These data suggest that the profession of physician requires a high number of resources in terms of emotional adjustment, as the scores are close to those obtained by teachers. Emotional exhaustion appears to be more prevalent among physicians than among nurses. Depersonalization seems to affect more doctors than nurses or teachers. The fact that only 13% of doctors feel personally accomplished at work is notable. Lack of achievement affects doctors, nurses and teachers alike (Table 5).

22 Samples	Correct zone	Risk zone	Danger zone
N = 12'140			
EE	11 samples	11 samples	0 sample
	n = 7'654	n = 4'486	
	63.05%	36.95%	
D	6 samples	15 samples	1 sample
	n = 1'046	n = 10'820	n = 178
	8.55%	89.93%	1.52%
PA	1 sample	7 samples	14 samples
	n = 206	n = 1'097	n = 10'837
	1.7%	9.04%	89.27%

Table 5. Other professions and burnout

This table shows the distribution of samples according to the severity of the average scores obtained by various professionals (booksellers, psychologists, priests, journalists, police officers, call center employees, etc.). With regard to emotional exhaustion, among the 22 samples (N = 12'140; 100%), 11 samples (n = 7'654) reported a correct level (63.05%), 11 samples (n = 4'486) a level at risk (36.95%) and 0 sample a level considered as dangerous. With regard to depersonalization, 6 studies (n = 1'046)

indicate a correct level (8.55%), 15 studies (n = 10'820) a level at risk (89.93%) and one study (n = 178) a danger level (1.52%). With regard to personal achievement, only one study (n = 206) reported a correct level (1.7%), 7 studies (n = 1'097) a level at risk (9.04%) and 14 (n = 10'837) a dangerous level (89.27%). These data suggest that "various professionals" are less exhausted than nurses, teachers and doctors. Depersonalization seems to affect these professionals with only 8.55% in the correct zone.

5 Discussion

The adoption of a recognized theoretical model has facilitated the systematic review of the literature. The results of the review revealed some interesting differences. With regard to exhaustion, the averages from all-professionals [11-13] are lower than the other samples. According to these data, the average exhaustion score from physicians is higher than that from teachers (M = 20.60) and nurses (M = 19.0) [14-16]. Only the various professionals show an average exhaustion score in the correct area (M = 17.69). Physicians (M = 8.01) have higher depersonalization averages than various professionals (M = 7.34), nurses (M = 6.62) or teachers (M = 6.55), who obtain the highest average [9, 10]. It should be noted that the averages of all the samples are in the zone at risk for depersonalization. However, teachers, like nurses, are close to the correct area [17, 18]. At the level of personal achievement, scores are low, in the dangerous or at-risk area, indicating a lack of achievement at work [8, 10]. Teachers (M = 28.73) get the lowest score and are, like nurses (M = 30.49), in the danger zone [16, 19, 20]. Physicians (M = 35.54) have the highest personal achievement score, but their average score is in the zone at risk [21-23].

Teachers do not have the highest exhaustion averages, but the proportion of teachers in the correct area is the lowest among all the professional categories studied [24–26]. Teachers are less depersonalized than other professionals. However, teachers achieve the lowest personal achievement score among the professional categories considered. This descriptive and dimensional restitution showed that out of 45 studies involving a sample of 20,999 participants, only one study (N = 78) showed correct achievement [27]. The fact that there is such a low percentage of people accomplished on the job (regardless of the sample selected) shows the importance of considering this subscale with great caution. People who are less psychologically involved with their clients, such as call center employees, booksellers, police officers, seem more protected than other professionals [12, 28–30]. The heterogeneity of the results is startling. This situation can be explained through overestimation of small studies, biases related to cultural and geographical contexts, and even biases related to the timing of the questionnaire (busy calendar). This review of the literature documented the presence of burnout in all professions, as well as teachers, doctors and nurses.

The marked differences between the three dimensions in terms of dangerousness are unexpected. This study highlighted that personal achievement evolves in a different way and seems to be independent of the other two dimensions. These results suggest that personal achievement is the most independent dimension of the MBI threedimensional model, as confirmed by other studies [6, 31, 32]. It is difficult to comment the consistency of these scores. Are all professionals missing so much achievement at work? How is it possible that the same person is neither depersonalized nor exhausted but lacks personal accomplishment to the point of being in the danger zone? On this topic, the same heterogeneity emerges regardless of the sample size or location of the study (USA, Netherlands, Turkey, China, Italy, Switzerland). Cultural belonging therefore does not seem to offer an explanation for the differences observed. Sample sizes could also explain these differences, but the same heterogeneity is evident regardless of sample size. These items certainly raise questions and deserve specific attention. Are the items covering this dimension well formulated? In other words, do these items measure what they are supposed to measure? Are the thresholds properly established? These results suggest that it is necessary to question the gradation of the MBI scale.

6 Conclusion

This theoretical review, based on 94 studies and 121 samples, established that the presence of burnout is documented in all occupations, especially among teachers, doctors, and nurses. Having considered the results of a single tool is an advantage in comparing averages, but the limitations of this approach should be noted. The use of the Maslach Burnout Inventory [5] conceptualizes burnout in a three-dimensional way. Therefore, possible manifestations not included in the test are in fact excluded [33, 34]. Its frequent use in research cannot overshadow disagreements about the relationships between its three dimensions. As it stands, this tool deserves further investigation, particularly regarding personal achievement. The heterogeneity of these results indicates the need for further analysis, though the results should be considered with caution. The heterogeneity of these results testifies to the need to deepen their analysis. Confirmatory factorial analyses should examine the structure of this instrument to verify its consistency. A meta-analysis - in progress - will provide additional information for this study.

Given the consequences of burnout, research in the field must continue to reduce the devastating impact of this syndrome. Preventing burnout requires concerted action at all levels of the system. The role of the political authorities is to keep preserving the health of their employees by providing them adequate working conditions.

References

- 1. OFS, 14_Santé. Statistiques de poche 2017. Neuchâtel (2018)
- Balthasar, A., Studer, S.: Evaluation de la stratégie à long terme 2007–2018. Promotion Santé Suisse, Lucerne (2017)
- Jaoul, G., Kovess, V.: Le burnout dans la profession enseignante. Ann. Médicopsychologiques, Rev. Psychiatr. 162(1), 26–35 (2004)
- Laugaa, D., Rascle, N., Bruchon-Schweitzer, M.: Stress and burnout among French elementary school teachers: a transactional approach. Rev. Eur. Psychol. Appl. 58(4), 241–251 (2008)
- Maslach, C., Jackson, S.E., Leiter, M.: The Maslach Burnout Inventory: manual. In: Maslach Burnout Inventory, pp. 191–218. Consulting Psychologists Press, Palo Alto, CA (1996)

- Schaufeli, W.B., Buunk, B.P.: Burnout: an overview of 25 years of research and theorizing. In: The Handbook of Work and Health Psychology, pp. 383–425. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Chichester, UK (2004)
- Squillaci Lanners, M.: Le burnout des enseignants spécialisés au regard du Maslach Burnout Inventory. Fribourg (2018)
- Al-Bawaliz, M.A.: Emotional intelligence and its relationship with burnout among special education teachers in Jordan: an analytical descriptive study on the southern territory. J. Educ. Pract. 6(34), 88–95 (2015)
- 9. Saricam, H., Sakiz, H.: Burnout and teacher self-efficacy among teachers working in special education institutions in Turkey. Educ. Stud. **40**(4), 423–437 (2014)
- Mukundan, J., Khandehroo, K.: Burnout among english language teachers in Malaysia. Contemp. Issues Educ. Res. 3(1), 71–76 (2010)
- Angermeyer, M.C., Bull, N., Bernert, S., Dietrich, S., Kopf, A.: Burnout of caregivers: a comparison between partners of psychiatric patients and nurses. Arch. Psychiatr. Nurs. 20(4), 158–165 (2006)
- 12. Kop, N., Euwema, M., Schaufeli, W.: Burnout, job stress and violent behaviour among Dutch police officers. Work Stress 13(4), 326–340 (1999)
- 13. Koustelios, A.: Burnout among Greek sport centre employees. Sport Manag. Rev. 4(2), 151–163 (2001)
- Abdulghafour, Y.A., Bo-hamra, A.M., Al-Randi, M.S., Kamel, M.I., El-Shazly, M.K.: Burnout syndrome among physicians working in primary health care centers in Kuwait. Alexandria J. Med. 47(4), 351–357 (2011)
- Akroyd, D., Caison, A., Adams, R.D.: Burnout in radiation therapists: the predictive value of selected stressors. Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. 52(3), 816–821 (2002)
- 16. Schaufeli, W.: Burnout. In: Firth-Cozens, J., Payne, R.L. (eds.) Stress in Health Professionals, pp. 17–32. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester (1999)
- 17. Shukla, A., Trivedi, T.: Burnout in Indian teachers. Asia Pacific Educ. Rev. 9(3), 320–334 (2008)
- Wang, S., Liu, Y., Wang, L.: Nurse burnout: personal and environmental factors as predictors. Int. J. Nurs. Pract. 21(1), 78–86 (2015)
- Alimoglu, M.K., Donmez, L.: Daylight exposure and the other predictors of burnout among nurses in a University Hospital. Int. J. Nurs. Stud. 42(5), 549–555 (2005)
- Ogresta, J., Rusac, S., Zorec, L.: Relation between burnout syndrome and job satisfaction among mental health workers. Croat. Med. J. 49(3), 364–374 (2008)
- Goehring, C., Gallacchi, M.B., Künzi, B., Bovier, P.: Psychosocial and professional characteristics of burnout in Swiss primary care practitioners: a cross-sectional survey. Swiss Med. Wkly. 135(7–8), 101–108 (2005)
- Laurent, A., Chahraoui, K.: L'impact du stress professionnel sur les intervenants SMUR. Prat. Psychol. 18(4), 413–428 (2012)
- Leung, J., Rioseco, P., Munro, P.: Stress, satisfaction and burnout amongst Australian and New Zealand radiation oncologists. J. Med. Imaging Radiat. Oncol. 59(1), 115–124 (2015)
- Baran, G., Bıçakçı, M.Y., İnci, F., Öngör, M., Ceran, A., Atar, G.: Analysis of burnout levels of teacher. Procedia - Soc. Behav. Sci. 9, 975–980 (2010)
- Brouwers, A., Evers, W.J.G., Tomic, W.: Self-efficacy in eliciting social support and burnout among secondary-school teachers. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 31(7), 1474–1491 (2001)
- Fiorilli, C., Gabola, P., Pepe, A., Meylan, N., Curchod-Ruedi, D., Albanese, O., Doudin, P.A.: The effect of teachers' emotional intensity and social support on burnout syndrome. A comparison between Italy and Switzerland. Rev. Eur. Psychol. Appl. 65(6), 275–283 (2015)

- 27. Wilkerson, K., Bellini, J., Curchod-Ruedi, D.: Intrapersonal and organizational factors associated with burnout among school counselors. J. Couns. Dev. 84, 440–450 (2006)
- Togia, A.: Measurement of burnout and the influence of background characteristics in Greek academic librarians. Libr. Manag. 26(3), 130–138 (2005)
- 29. Shelby, R.A., Stoddart, R.M., Taylor, K.L.: Factors contributing to levels of burnout among sex offender treatment providers. J. Interpers. Violence **16**(11), 1205–1217 (2001)
- Kania, M.L., Meyer, B.B., Ebersole, K.T.: Personal and environmental characteristics predicting burnout among certified athletic trainers at national collegiate athletic association institutions. J. Athl. Train. 44(1), 58–66 (2009)
- 31. Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W.B., Leiter, M.P.: Job burnout. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 52, 397–422 (2001)
- 32. Truchot, D., Borteyrou, X.: Le burnout chez les infirmières en cancérologie. Une approche contextuelle du modèle exigences- contrôle-soutien (Burnout among oncology nurses: a context specificity approach of the Job Demand Control Support Model). Besançon (2004)
- Schutte, N., Toppinen, S., Kalimo, R., Schaufeli, W.: The factorial validity of the Maslach Burnout Inventory-General Survey (MBI-GS) across occupational groups and nations. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 73(1), 53–66 (2000)
- Zawieja, P., Guarnieri, F. (dir.): Guarnieri, Épuisement Professionnel : Approches Innovantes Et Pluridisciplinaires (2013). ISBN: 978-2-200-28772-6



Evaluation of the Impact of the Ergonomics of Technical Systems on the State of Health of a Human Operator with Regard to His Functional Reserve

Riad Taha Al-Kasasbeh^{1(⊠)}, Nikolay Korenevskiy², Aikeyeva Altyn³, and Maksim Ilyash⁴

 ¹ Al-Balqa Applied University, Amman, Jordan riad_alkasasbeh@bau.edu.jo
 ² South West State University, St. 50 Let Oktyabrya, 94, 305040 Kursk, Russia kstu-bmi@yandex.ru
 ³ Karaganda State Industrial University, 101400 Respubliki Ave, 30, Temirtau, Kazakhstan
 ⁴ ITMO University Saint Petersburg National Research University of Information Technologies, Mechanics and Optics, Saint Petersburg, Russia ilyashmu@gmail.com

Abstract. The paper studies the impact of the ergonomics of technical systems on the emergence and development of occupational diseases of a human operator, taking into account the functional reserve of his body. In view of the complexity of the analytical description of the interaction mechanisms of the human-technical system, a methodology for the synthesis of hybrid fuzzy decision rules, focused on solving poorly formalized problems, was chosen as the mathematical apparatus of research.

Keywords: Ergonomics · Functional reserve · Health status · Membership functions · Fuzzy logic

1 Introduction

Numerous studies of scientists from different countries of the world show that the quality of work of biotechnical systems of various types and purposes largely depends on the ergonomics of technical systems that are in contact with a human operator. The indicators characterizing the ergonomics of technical systems have a significant impact on the functional state and human health. It has been established that long-term contact of a human operator with technical systems that do not have well thought out ergonomics leads to the emergence and development of professional socially significant diseases of the cardiovascular, respiratory, nervous and urinary systems, musculoskeletal system, etc. Reducing the negative factors affecting the health of people from their contact with technical systems is one of the main tasks of ergonomics.

A lot of work has been devoted to studying the influence of technical systems and industrial facilities on people's health [1-7]. Analysis of numerous works in the field of ergonomics shows that the majority of researchers spend significant efforts on studying the mutual influence of specific technical systems and working conditions on specific types of diseases, and the results obtained are rather difficult and sometimes impossible to transfer to objects of other nature. That is, the whole complex of research, including the choice of an adequate mathematical apparatus when switching to another object of research, should be repeated almost completely without guarantee of obtaining positive results. From a mathematical point of view, the creation of a unified approach to the study of the influence of technical systems of various types and purposes on the emergence and development of various types of diseases is hampered by the fact that the ergonomic properties of the systems under study and indicators describing the functional state and health of a human operator are described by a heterogeneous system of signs, often the information is incomplete and fuzzy, and the classes used for the state of human health have a complex, poorly formalizable and strongly intersecting structure of classes [1, 4-16]. Under these conditions, as shown by numerous studies, it is advisable to use fuzzy logic of decision-making [8, 10-12, 15-19, 20]. In works [1, 2, 4–7] was shown that good practical results, when solving problems of assessing the impact of ergonomic technical systems on the functional state and health of a person, can be achieved using the synthesis methodology of hybrid fuzzy decision rules developed at the Department of Biomedical Engineering of South-West State University (Russian Federation) [8, 11, 12, 21, 22].

2 Methods

In works [1–7] was described the methods of synthesis of fuzzy rules for deciding the functional state and state of human health, taking into account the fact that one of the leading risk factors is the level of ergonomics of technical systems.

In general, view a fuzzy mathematical model of decision-making is described by the expression:

$$UPF_{\ell} = F_{\ell}(UPE_{\ell}, UPI_{\ell}, UPEK_{\ell}), \tag{1}$$

where UPF_{ℓ} - confidence in the decision on the class of the state of the human operator ω_{ℓ} ; UPE_{ℓ} - confidence in the class ω_{ℓ} on group of ergonomic indicators; UPI_{ℓ} - on individual risk factors; $UPEK_{\ell}$ - on environmental risk factors; F_{ℓ} - aggregation function.

If each of the particular decision rules UPE_{ℓ} , UPI_{ℓ} and $UPEK_{\ell}$ increases the risk in the transition of a human operator to a class of states ω_{ℓ} , then the decisive rule (1) is modified into E. Shortliff storage system [8, 11, 12, 21]:

$$UPF_{\ell}(q+1) = UPF_{\ell}(q) + Q_{q+1}[1 - UPF(q)],$$
(2)

Where–iteration number; $UPF_{\ell}(1) = Q_1 = UPE_{\ell}$; $Q_2 = UPI_{\ell}$; $Q_3 = UPEK_{\ell}$.

Considering that the mechanisms for obtaining private decision rules and the choice of their aggregation method are described in detail in [1, 7–13, 15, 17–20], we will dwell in more detail on the method of assessing the level of functional reserve of the human body. From the physiological point of view the experts cannot exactly define the concepts value and a level of functional reserve. Many experts compare these concepts to the balance of an organism to environment, its readiness to work, to resist to the external adverse factors and etc. Taking into account the indistinct nature of "functional reserve" concept and its possible classification the theory of fuzzy logic of decision-making was selected as the main mathematical device. We selected two ways from this theory. The way based on the usage of accessory function to studied classes of a state ω_l the construction mechanism of which was described in L. Zadeh papers [15], and the way using the confidence coefficient in the hypothesis ω_l the receiving and calculation mechanism of which was suggested by Shortliff [13] and their modification [21, 22]. As initial signs defining the classification and the level of functional reserve (FR) of an organism and its subsystems the power characteristics of meridian structures being changed at level changes of FR [23-25]; the level of psycho emotional pressure (PEP); the level of physical exhaustion (LPE); the level of intellectual exhaustion (LIE); pulse rate (PR); the value of systolic arterial pressure (SAP) and diastolic arterial pressure (DAP) were selected on the expert level [27-29].

The medico-technical capabilities and the features of solved tasks can expand this list.

According to the recommendations [30] the selected (or other reasonably imposed) features xi, defined during the measurement or calculated with the help of appropriate methods, are determined before and after dosed physical and/or intellectual loadings. After that the ration of the measured index before loading (x_{i_0}) to the meaning of the same index measured after load test (x_{i_H}) are defined:

$$Y_i = \frac{x_{i_0}}{x_{i_H}} \tag{3}$$

The obtained indices Yi can be used as basic variables of an accessory function to different classes characterizing functional reserve of an organism and/or its subsystems. For example, the following classes characterizing FR of an organism can be selected:

 ω_0 is an optimal functional reserve of a healthy person allowing normally and reliably function at reasonably raised loadings;

 ω_1 is a satisfactory functional reserve allowing normally function at usual conditions without considerable loadings;

 ω_2 is an unsatisfactory functional reserve at which the risk of emergence and disease developments and/or unforeseen failures at work because of lack of reserve opportunities of an organism are high.

The example is shown on the Fig. 1, where the graphs of accessory functions to the selected classes of FR with the base variable Yi are shown.

The value $\mu_{\omega_l}^m \leq 1,0$ limited the maximum meaning of the accessory function describes the experts' point of view that how reliable the index Y_i at the classification of FR can be. If the experts believe that the selected index reliably characterizes such a concept functional reserve of an organism, then $\mu_{\omega_l}^m = 1, 0$.



Fig. 1. The variants of distribution of an accessory function by the classes ω_l (l = 0, 1, 2 with the basic variable Y_i

In practical applications, a few indices defined from the ration (1) are used to estimate functional reserve and its classification. The confidence proportion at the given classification using one index can be small. If it happens, the task of reaching such certain (for each of used indices Y_i) accessory functions and ways of their aggregation which allow to get an acceptable quality of classifications for practice.

If the choice of indices and corresponding accessory functions is supplied in such a way that the usage of each does not reduce confidence in the accepted decision of the classification of FR, according to the recommendations [8, 12, 14, 29] the common confidence of studied hypothesizes ω_l can be defined by the Shortliff "accumulative" iterative expression:

$$QU\omega l(i+1) = QU\omega l(i) + \mu\omega l(Y * i+1)[1 - QU\omega l(i)], \quad (4)$$

Where $QU\omega l$ (i) is a confidence coefficient in the classification ω_l (l = 0, 1, 2) after i of Yi indices was analyzed; $\mu\omega l$ (Y*i+1) is the value of an accessory function calculated for the basic variable with i+1 at the point Y*; $QU\omega l$ (1) = $\mu\omega l$ (Y*1).

Among the allocated classes of states and their corresponding accessory functions, the class of optimal functional reserve with the accessory function $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ is of great interest. Let us select this accessory function in such a way that the more the meaning of Y_i lags behind the coordinate meaning of Y_{i_0} according to the experts' point of view corresponding to the concept optimal functional reserve, the smaller $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ and the smaller the level of this reserve. Thus, the value $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ can characterize the level of functional reserve of an organism. The $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ accessory function made for the solution of classified tasks can match with the $\mu_U(Y_i)$ accessory function made for level determination of functional reserve but cannot match with it. If a few indices are used for level assessment of FR each of them allows to make a positive investment at level assessment of studied subsystems and the whole organism function, then as (4), the integrated levels of FR can be assessed by:

$$UF(i+1) = UF(i) + \mu_{\omega_0}(Y_{i+1})[1 - UF(i)];$$
(5)

$$UF(i+1) = UF(i) + \mu_U(Y_{i+1})[1 - UF(i)];$$
(6)

Where UF(i) is a level of functional reserve defined after adding i indices to the calculations: $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_{*i+1})$ is a value of an accessory function to the ω_0 class. By the index with i+1 defined in the Y* point at the conditions that the classification of an accessory function to the ω_0 class used for the level assessment of FR; $\mu_U(Y_{*i+1})$ is an accessory function to the ω_0 class on purpose defined for the level assessment by the experts. The main characteristic of expressions (5) and (6) is their accumulative property consisting of that at every input to the calculations of each used indices Yi the increase of settlement level of FR is provided. In practice, such mechanism of level calculation of FR is not always acceptable. There is a possible variant of such an expert conclusion when the violation in functioning of one of the subsystems leads to the violation in functioning of the whole system and subsystems of higher level, then the level assessment of FR by the combined calculated parameters Yi characterizing the level of FR of subsystem with i should be carried out according to the following ration:

$$UF = \min(\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)) \tag{7}$$

$$UF = \min_{i}(\mu_U(Y_i)) \tag{8}$$

The conduct analysis of the original features at parameter determination Yi (exp. 1) shows that at carrying out load tests at first the change of xi takes place from xi0 to xih, and then the current meaning of xi with different speed (depending on the level of FR) heads to return to the meaning xi0. This tendency at the conduct of xi allowed the experts to come to the conclusion it is wise to include not only the ration (1) to the level calculation of FR, but also the indices of return dynamics of xi to xi0. In the given work paper the dynamic record of xi at level determination of FR is suggested to carry out by the input of two illegible corrections to $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ or $\mu_U(Y_i)$ increasing the assessment precision of the studied level. To obtain the illegible corrections let us input two extra indices: thi is a supervision time, thi is a return time of xito xi0 after load test. Supervision time is derived from reasonable restrictions on research time.

To obtain the illegible corrections for each parameter of Yi let us define the accessory function to the concepts of the maximum corrections of the chosen basic variable. As the first basic variable let us choose return time of xi to xi0, if tbi<thi. As the second basic variable Ci it is necessary to choose the value of difference size between xi and xi0, if tbi>thi. Taking into account that for different parameter types the meaning of xi can be as bigger as less of xi0, the size of the basic variable Cican be defined from the rations:

$$C_{i} = \begin{cases} x_{i0} - x_{i}, & \text{if } x_{i0} \ge x_{i} \\ x_{i} - x_{i0}, & \text{if } x_{i0} < x_{i} \end{cases}$$
(9)

The maximum meaning of μ_{1i}^m and μ_{2i}^m of the entered accessory functions of the first and the second basic variables will be defined as an experts' point of view of what maximum meaning the levels of FR defined by the accessory function of $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ or $\mu_U(Y_i)$ can have if return dynamic of xi to xi0 is taken into account. If creating the accessory function to the meaning of the maximum corrections of the basic variables of the $(\mu_P(t_{bi}))$ and $\operatorname{Ci}(\mu_P(C_i))$ the additional conditions are done, their current meaning reflects the experts' images about the current corrections to $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ or $\mu_U(Y_i)$, then the accessory function defining the level of functional reserve by Yi parameter can be corrected by the ration of algebraic sum:

$$\mu \overset{*}{U}(Y_i) = \begin{cases} \mu_U(Y_i) + \mu_P(t_{bi}) - \mu_U(Y_i) \cdot \mu_P(t_{bi}), & \text{if } t_b \le t_h \\ \mu_U(Y_i) + \mu_P(C_i) - \mu_U(Y_i) \cdot \mu_P(C_i), & \text{if } t_b > t_h \end{cases}$$
(10)

The accessory function of $\mu_{\omega_0}(Y_i)$ is corrected the same way.

Considering that a high level of functional reserve prevents the emergence and development of the state ω_l , the UF indicator should be considered as a measure of mistrust to the classification ω_l [12–14]. Since the level of functional reserve for different classes of state ω_l affects this state differently and, basically, is nonlinear, we introduce the concept of the function of belonging to the concept of a high level of protection in a class ω_l with a basic variable UF – $\mu_{Z\ell}(UF)$.

Taking into account $\mu_{Z\ell}(UF)$ the certainty UW_{ℓ} that the subject is in class ω_l in accordance with the recommendations [4, 5, 12, 13] is determined by the expression:

$$UW_{\ell} = \begin{cases} UPE_{\ell} - \mu_{Z\ell}(UF), \text{ if } UPE_{\ell} > \mu_{Z\ell}(UF); \\ 0, \text{ if } UPE_{\ell} \le \mu_{Z\ell}(UF). \end{cases}$$
(11)

3 Results

As a specific example the Problem of the Mathematical Model prediction synthesis nervous system diseases provoked ergonomics Russian manufacture tractor according to individual risk factors and the functional reserve of the organism. The primary features used to assess the level of ergonomics of the tractor cab at the expert level were: temperature in the cab (x1); cabin noise level (x2); the average level of load on the hands (x3); the average level of load on the legs (x4), vibration of the whole body (x5), vibration on the hands (x6), vibration on the legs (x7), angle of inclination of the seat (x8), seat height (x9), distance to the main controls (x10); the level of psychoemotional stress associated with professional activity (x11) and the level of chronic physical fatigue (x₁₂) [1, 2, 7, 31, 32]. The signs x_{11} and x_{12} characterize the individual properties of a person, but since they "strongly depend" on the level of ergonomics of technical systems with which the operator contacts, they can indirectly characterize the level of ergonomics included these signs.

For the construction of private functions of the level of ergonomics on the signs $x_1, ..., x_{10}$, two approaches were chosen: the method of psychophysical scaling and the construction of specialized test questionnaires.

Signs $x_1, ..., x_{10}$ are measured using appropriate technical means and computer questionnaires.

Levels of psycho emotional stress x_{11} and fatigue x_{12} are determined by the methods described in [12, 23, 19, 32].

In accordance with the general methodology for the synthesis of hybrid fuzzy decision rules in conditions of poor formalization, it is advisable to use the interactive package RUMM 2020, the use of which is described in [8, 12] in conditions of poor formalization.

In the course of evaluating the information content, six informative features x_2 , x_5 , x_6 , x_7 , x_{11} and x_{12} were selected from the entire set of features describing the tractor cabin ergonomics for the task of predicting the onset of nervous diseases.

- 1. The sign x_2 was measured with an electronic device in decibels. For a quantitative assessment of signs x_5 , x_6 and x_7 , a specially designed questionnaire with a point estimate was used.
- 2. Working conditions are not connected with vibration $x_5 = 0$.
- 3. Working conditions are associated with low-intensity physically poorly perceptible vibration without causing physical discomfort $x_5 = 1$.
- 4. Working conditions are associated with noticeable tangible vibration without causing physical discomfort $x_5 = 2$.
- 5. Working conditions are associated with a well-perceptible vibration causing some physical discomfort by the end of the day, but over time there is a feeling that the discomfort "does not accumulate" $x_5 = 3$.
- 6. Working conditions are associated with significant vibration, which causes pain to the end of the work shift and with significant work experience (over 25 years) leads to pathological changes $x_5 = 3$.

Using these characteristics as basic variables in accordance with the recommendations [12, 13, 19, 23], the membership functions $\mu_H(x_2)$, $\mu_H(x_5)$, $\mu_H(x_6)$, $\mu_H(x_7)$, $\mu_H(x_{11})$ and $\mu_H(x_{12})$ were constructed to class ω_H "high risk of diseases of the nervous system."

In accordance with the recommendations [8, 10, 12, 16–18], a fuzzy model was built to predict the occurrence and development of nervous diseases from human contact with a machine (tractor):

$$UPF_{H}^{*}(p+1) = UPF_{H}^{*}(p) + \mu_{H}\left(x_{j+1}^{*}\right) \left[1 - UPF_{H}^{*}(p)\right],$$
(12)

Where $UPF_{H}^{*}(1) = \mu_{H}^{*}(x_{2}); x_{2}^{*} = x_{5}; x_{3}^{*} = x_{6}; x_{4}^{*} = x_{7}; x_{5}^{*} = x_{11}; x_{6}^{*} = x_{12};; j = 1, 2, ..., 5.$

Considering that a significant risk factor for the class of risk of the onset and development of diseases of the nervous system is the work experience, taking into account the recommendations [2, 4, 5, 12, 13], was obtained the function of time accounting $\gamma_{E_H}(t_p)$ with basic variable t_p – work experience.

Confidence in the appearance and development of nervous diseases from contact with a tractor for expressions (1) and (2) with due regard for recommendations [4, 5, 12, 33] and work experience is determined by the expression:

$$UPF_{H} = \gamma_{EH}(t_{p}) \cdot UPF_{H}^{*}, \qquad (13)$$

For the indicator UPI_H of expressions (1) and (2), at the expert level, the following composition of informative features was determined; medications that have a harmful effect on the nervous system; alcohol intake; diseases of the nervous system in close relatives; imbalance of the energy characteristics of the meridian biologically active points (BAP) associated with the situation of the disease of the nervous system (points P9, G5, V43, V60, R9, VC7).

In accordance with the recommendations [8–10, 12, 13], a predictive model of the form was synthesized for this group of characters:

$$UPI_{H}(q+1) = UPI_{H}(q) + R(q+1)[1 - UPI_{H}(q)],$$
(14)

where $UPI_H(1) = \mu_H(L_s)$; $R(2) = \mu_H(AL)$; $R(3) = \mu_H(Br)$; $R(4) = UB_H$; Ls – a sign describing the conditions for taking medicines; AL – alcohol consumption; Br – diseases of the nervous system in close relatives; UB_H – confidence in the appearance and development of diseases of the nervous system, determined by the energy characteristics of the BAP in accordance with the recommendations [23–27].

Considering the fact that the studies were conducted in a relatively clean ecological region of the Kursk region (Russia), the component $UPEK_l$ for expressions (1) and (2) was not determined.

When assessing the level of functional reserve by the method described in the work using expression (5), the membership function $\mu_{ZH}(UF)$ is:

$$\mu_{ZH}(UF) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } UF < 0, 1\\ 1, 28 & UF - 0, 13, & \text{if } 0, 1 \le UF < 0, 8.\\ 0, 9, & \text{if } UF \ge 0, 8 \end{cases}$$
(15)

In the course of the conducted clinical trials on control representative samples according to the method described in [4, 5, 12], it was shown that the number of erroneous forecasts using mathematical models of type (2) is 0,86, and using model (10) - 0,94.

Thus, the simultaneous consideration of ergonomic risk factors and functional reserves of the human body in the considered example allows to increase the quality of the forecast by 8%.

4 Conclusion

The reliability of human-machine systems is largely determined by the ergonomics of technical systems, which in the long run can lead to deterioration in the functional state and health of a human operator. Moreover, having an appropriate functional reserve, the human body can significantly reduce the harmful effect not only of technical systems with which it contacts for a long time, but also from other environmental factors (environmental factors). The paper proposes a method for the synthesis of hybrid fuzzy decision rules, which allows to take into account the influence of

heterogeneous risk factors on the human body, taking into account its protective properties evaluated through a functional reserve. On a practical example (forecast of the onset and development of diseases of the nervous system) it is shown that the simultaneous consideration of ergonomic risk factors and the size of the functional reserve allows to improve the quality of decisions made about the state of health of the human body.

References

- AL-Kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N., Alshamasin, M.S., Maksim, I.: Method of ergonomics assessment of technical systems and its influence on operators heath on basis of hybrid fuzzy models. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE) 2017: Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices, Part of the Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing Book Series, vol. 590, pp. 581–592. AISC, Los Angeles, CA, USA, 17–21 July 2017
- AL-Kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N., Alshamasin, M.S., Korenevskya, S., Al-Kasasbeh, E. T., Maksim, I.: Fuzzy model evaluation of vehicles ergonomics and its influence on occupational diseases. In: International Conference on Applied Human Factors and Ergonomics (AHFE) 2018, 21–25 July, Orlando, FL, USA: Advances in Social and Occupational Ergonomics, vol. 792, pp. 143–154, Part of the Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing Book Series (AISC)
- Al-kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N.A., Alshamasin, M.S., Korenevskaya, S.N., Al-kasasbeh, E.T., Maksim, I.: Fuzzy model evaluation of vehicles ergonomics and its influence on occupational diseases. In: Advances in intelligent Systems and Computing, pp. 143–154 (2018)
- Korenevskiy, N.A., Artemenko, M.V., Provotorov, V.N., Novikova, L.A.: The method of synthesis of fuzzy decision rules based on models of system interconnections for solving problems of predicting and diagnosing diseases. Syst. Anal. Control in Biomed. Syst. 13(4), 881–886 (2014)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R.: Biotechnical measurement and software system controlled features for determining the level of psycho-emotional tension on man-machine systems by fuzzy measures. Adv. Eng. Softw. 45, 137–143 (2012) ISSN: 0965-9978
- Al-Kasasbeh, R., Korenevskiy, N., Ionescu, F., Alshamasin, M., Smith, A.P., Alwadie, A.: Biotechnical measurement and software system for the prediction and diagnosis of osteochondrosis of the lumbar region based on acupuncture points with the use of fuzzy logic rules. Biomed. Eng. (Biomedizinische Technik) 58(1), 51–65 (2013) ISSN: 1862-278X. https://doi.org/10.1515/bmt-2012-0081
- Korenevskiy, N., Alshamasin, M., Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Anatolevich, K.R., Ionescu, F.: Prediction and prenosological diagnosis of stomach diseases based on energy characteristics of acupuncture points and fuzzy logic. Int. J. Model. Ident. Control 23(1), 55–67 (2015)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R., Korenevskiy, N., Ionescu, F., Alshamasin, M., Smith, A.P., Alwadie, A., Aljbour, S.: Application of fuzzy analysis with the energy condition of bioactive points to the prediction and diagnosis of gastrointestinal tract diseases. Int. J. Biomed. Eng. Technol. Vol. 11(2) (2013), ISSN online: 1752-6426, ISSN print: 1752-6418
- Zadeh, L.A.: Advances in fuzzy mathematics and engineering: fuzzy sets and fuzzy information-granulation theory. Beijing Normal University Press, Beijing (2005). ISBN 7-303-05324-7

- Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Zaubi, M.A.A., Korenevskiy, N., Al-Shawawreh, F., Alshamasin, M.S., Ionescu, F.: A biotech measurement software system using controlled features for determining the level of psycho-emotional tension on man-machine system operators by bio-active points based on fuzzy logic measures. Int. J. Model. Ident. Control 22(4), 375–395 (2014)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N.A., Ionescu, F., Kuzmin, A.A.: Synthesis of the combined fuzzy rules for medical applications with using tools of exploration analysis. In: Proceedings of the 4th IAFA International Conference Interdisciplinary Approaches in Fractal Analysis, pp. 71–78, Bucharest, Romania, 26–29 May, 2009 ISSN 2066-4451
- Korenevsky, N.A., Gorbatenko, S.A., Krupchatnikov, R.A., Lukashov, M.I.: Design of network-based fuzzy knowledge bases for medical decision-making support systems. Biomed. Eng. 43(4), 187–190 (2009)
- Buchanan, B.G., Shortlife, E.H.: Rule-Based Expert Systems: The MYCIN Experiments of the Stanford Heuristic Programming Project. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Reading, Massachusetts (1984), ISBN 0-201-10172-6
- Korenevskiy, N.A., Ionescu, F., Kuzmin, A.A., Al-Kasasbeh, R.T.: Synthesis of the combined fuzzy rules for medical applications with using tools of exploration analysis. J. Biomed. Electron. 65–76. ISSN 1560–4136,5-2009
- Korenevskiy, N.A., Ionescu, F., Kuzmin, A.A., Al-Kasasbeh, R.T.: Synthesis of the combined fuzzy rulles for medical applications by using tools of exploration analysis. In: Proceedings of IAFA 2009 International Conference on Interdisciplinary Approaches in Fractal Analysis, pp. 71–77. Bucharest, Romania 26–29 May ISSN 2066-4451
- Korenevskiy, N.A., Krupchatnikov, R.A., Al-kasasbeh, R.T.: Theoretical bases of biophysics of acupuncture with applications in medicine, psychology and ecology based on fuzzy network models: monograph. TNT, Stary Oskol, p. 528 (2013)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R., Korenevskiy, N., Ioneskou, F., Alshamasin, M., Kuzmin, A.: Synthesis of fuzzy logic for prediction and medical diagnostics by energy characteristics of acupuncture points. JAMS J. Acupunct. Meridian Stud. 4(3), 175–182 (2011)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N.A., Ionescu, F., Kuzmin, A.A.: Using Fuzzy logic for prediction of occurrence, aggravation and pre-nosological diagnostics of osteochondrosis of a backbone's lumbar region. In: Proceedings of the IASTED International Conference Computational Intelligence, pp. 190–194. ACTA Press, Honolulu, HI, USA, 17–19 August 2009
- Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N., Alshamasin, M.S., Klionskiy, D., Ionescu, F.: Numerical software algorithms for monitoring control processes and correcting health by synthesis of hybrid fuzzy rules of decision-making on the basis of changes in energetic characteristics of biologically active points. Int. J. Model. Ident. Control 25(2), 119–137 (2016)
- Korenevskiy, N.A., Ionescu, F., Kuzmin, A.A., Al-Kasasbeh, R.T.: The prognosis of early and differential diagnostics of diseases on the energetic dicbalance of Acupuncture points and fuzzy logic. In: 2009 International Conference Medical – Ecological Information Technologies, pp. 155–169, Kursk-Russia, 26–29 May 2010. ISBN 978-5-7681-0470-2
- Korenevskiy, N., Al-Kasasbeh, R., Ionescou, F.: Determining the level of psycho-emotional tension on heterogeneous rules of fuzzy output. In: Proceedings CSCS18: 18th International Conference on Control Systems and Computer Scil, vol. 2, pp. 901–904. Editura POLITENICA Press, Bucharest 24–27 May 2011
- Korenevskiy, N., Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Ionescouc, F., Alshamasin, M., Alkasasbeh, E., Andrew P. Smith, fuzzy determination of the human's level of psycho-emotional. In: 4th International Conference on Biomedical Engineering in Vietnam, IFMBE Proceedings, vol. 40, pp. 213–216. Springer (2013). ISBN: 978-3-642-32182-5 (Print) 978-3-642-32183-2 (Online)

- Korenevskiy, N., Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Ionescouc, F., Alshamasin, M., Alkasasbeh, E., Smith, A.P.: Fuzzy determination of the human's level of psycho-emotional. In: IFMBE Proceedings, vol. 40, pp. 213–216 (2013)
- Korenevskiy, N.A., Shutkin, A.N., Bojcova, E.A., Dmitrieva, V.V.: Assessment and management of the state of health based on rasch models. Biomed. Eng. 49(6), 375–379 (2016)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R., Korenevskiy, N., Ionescu, F., Alshamasin, M.: Prediction and prenosological diagnostics of gastrointestinal tract diseases based on energy characteristic of acupuncture points and fuzzy logic. In: Bioinformatics Biomedical Technology: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedical Technology (ICBBT 2011), Sanya, China, pp. 307–311 (2011a)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R., Korenevskiy, N., Ionescou, F., Alshamasin, M., Kuzmin, A.: Synthesis of fuzzy logic for prediction and medical diagnostics by energy characteristics of acupuncture POINTS. J. Acupunct. Meridian Stud. 4(3), 175–182 (2011)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N., Alshamasin, M., Ionescou, F., Smith, A.P.: Prediction of gastric ulcers based on the change in electrical resistance of acupuncture points using fuzzy logic decision making. Comput. Methods in Biomech. Biomed. Eng. 1–12 (2012b) https://doi.org/10.1080/10255842.2011.618926
- Al-Kasasbeh, R., Korenevskiy, N., Ionescou, F., Alshamasin, M., Kuzmin, A.: Prediction and prenosological diagnostics of heart diseases based on energy characteristics of acupuncture points and fuzzy logic. Comput. Methods in Biomech. Biomed, pp. 1–9 (2012c) https://doi.org/10.1080/10255842.2011.554644
- Al-Kasasbeh, R., Korenevskiy, N., Alshamasin, M.: Bioengineering system for prediction and early prenosological diagnostics of stomach diseases based on energy characteristics of bioactive points with fuzzy logic. In: 2nd Biomedical Engineering Conference and Expo, San Antonio, USA, November 30–December 1, 2015
- 30. Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Ionescu, F., Korenevskiy, N.A., Mahdi, S.: Prediction and pre nosological diagnostics of gastrointestinal tract diseases based on energy characteristic of acupuncture points and fuzzy logic. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedical Technology, Sanya, China, 25–27 March 2011
- Kobzar, E.U., Al-Kasasbeh, R.T.: Prediction of occurrence of osteochondrosis of backbone's lumbar region. In: 2009 International Conference Medical –Ecological Information Technologies, pp. 36–39, Kursk-Russia, 26–29 May 2009. ISBN 978-5-7681-0470-2
- 32. Koneva, L.V.: Assessment of the level of emotional tension and fatigue on indicators characterizing the state of human attention. S.N. Korenevskaya, S.V. Degtyarev // System Analysis and Control in Biomedical Systems. 11(4), 993–1000 (2012)
- Al-Kasasbeh, R.T., Korenevskiy, N.A., Alshamasin, M.S., Maksim, I.: Hybrid fuzzy logic modelling and software for ergonomics assessment of biotechnical systems. Int. J. Comput. Appl. Technol. 60(1) (2019)



Low Back Pain and Work Ability Among Thai Nurses

Chuliporn Sopajareeya^(⊠)

The Department of Community Health Nursing, Faculty of Nursing, Thammasat University, Pathumthani, Thailand csopajareeya@gmail.com, juraipor@tu.ac.th

Abstract. The work ability (WA) of nurses is of concern in several countries, including Thailand. Low back pain (LBP) is a major occupational health problem among hospital nurses and it impacts the nurses' work ability. Limited research concerning the relationship between LBP and WA in hospital nurses has been conducted in Thailand. The aims of the present study were to study the levels of intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months and the WA level of nurses in order to examine the relationship between individual factors, work factors, and the intensity of LBP and WA, and to determine whether individual factors, work factors, or the intensity of LBP could predict the WA of 312 nurses working in the general hospital under study. A self-reported questionnaire that was confirmed for its quality and that was composed of individual factors, work factors, LBP complaints, and the work ability index (WAI), was used for collecting the data, which were analyzed using descriptive statistics, correlation, and multiple regression. The results showed that the nurses had intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months at a moderate level. More than half of the nurses had WA at a moderate level. Back muscle exercise was seen to be positively related to WA (r = 0.157, p < .05). The intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months was inversely related to WA (r = -0.211). p < .05 and r = -0.239, p < .01). Further, the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months and the back muscle exercise were seen to be important predictors of the WA among the nurses (p < .05). Hospital administrators can use the findings of this study to promote WA among nurses.

Keywords: Low back pain · Work ability index · Hospital · Nurses

1 Introduction

Work ability is a concept that assesses and promotes nurses working in hospitals and is of concern in several countries, including Thailand. It is important for the quality of nursing care. Nursing work includes caring for and promoting the health of clients and patients, and therefore their work and workload are at risk of occupational health problems, especially LBP, the most common problem [1]. LBP can result in persistent pain and decreased ability to work [2].

Several studies have shown that many factors, including age, work demand, work roles, work stress, physical exercise, musculoskeletal disorders, and intensity of LBP contribute to WA among nurses [1–5]. In this study, the individual factors included age and frequency of back muscle exercise, and work factors, including work experience in the current unit, work hours, and work stress. The LBP in this study emphasized the intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months.

Most studies regarding the relationship between intensity of LBP and WA among nurses have been conducted in other countries, while there has been limited research on the relationship between the intensity of LBP and WA among hospital nurses in Thailand. Therefore, it is expected that this study will provide a better way to help improve or promote WA among the nurses in Thailand.

2 Objectives

The aims of the study were to study the levels of intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months and the nurses' WA level in order to examine the relationship between individual factors, work factors, and the intensity of LBP and WA, and to determine whether individual factors, work factors, or the intensity of LBP could predict the WA of the nurses.

3 Methodology

3.1 Study Design

This cross-sectional study was performed with 312 nurses working at Singburi Hospital, a secondary care hospital in Singburi province, Thailand.

3.2 Subjects and Ethical Approval

The research protocol was approved by the research board of Singburi Hospital for permission to carry out the study. All of the nurses, the study population, in the nursing department of the hospital were invited to participate in the study and were informed about the objectives of the research. Participation in the study was voluntary and they were asked to provide written consent before the beginning of the study. Finally, 260 completed questionnaires were returned for a response rate of 83.3%.

3.3 Data Collection

The data collection was carried out from June to July, 2016, using a self-administered questionnaire. The questionnaire was divided into four parts: demographic characteristics and individual factors (9 items); questions regarding work factors and work stress (37 items); and questions about low back pain complaints (2 items); and work ability (10 items).

The demographic characteristics and individual factors included age, gender, weight, height, pregnancy, smoking, and frequency of back muscle exercise. The work factors consisted of types of nursing units, work experience in the current unit, work hours, and work stress. The work stress among the nurses was measured using the nursing stress scale (NSS) of Gray-Toft and Anderson [6] in order to assess the sources of stress experienced by the nurses. The NSS consists of a 34-item Likert scale with seven sub-scales, including death and dying (7 items), conflicts with physicians (5 items), conflicts with other nurses (5 items), lack of support (3 items), workload (6 items), inadequate preparation (3 items), and uncertainty concerning treatment (5 items). A 4-point Likert scale was used to indicate the frequency of work stress from never (1), to occasionally (2), to frequently (3), and to very frequently (4). The results were calculated from the total points, ranging from 34 to 136. A higher score indicated a higher frequency of work stressors experienced by the nurses.

In this study, the low back pain complaints included the intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months. The intensity of LBP means the level of LBP among the nurses who had LBP and it was measured using a numerical rating scale (NRS). A numeral 11-point scale was used to collect the data on the intensity of LBP among the nurses. The scale was a visual analogue scale (VAS) ranging from zero to ten points, where "zero" means absence of pain and "ten" means unbearable pain. The intensity of LBP was divided into three levels: low (less than or equal to 3 points); moderate (more than 3 to 7 points); and high (more than 7 to 10 points).

Perceived work ability was measured using a questionnaire [7] and the WAI scores were calculated according the standard method provided by the Finish Institute of Occupational Health (FIOH). The following seven items were (1) current work ability compared with the lifetime best (0–10 points); (2) work ability in relation to both physical and mental demand of work (2–10 points); (3) number of current diseases (1–7 points); (4) estimated work impairment due to diseases (1–6 points); (5) sick leaves during the past year (12 months) (1–5 points); (6) one's own prognosis of work ability 2 years from the time of filling out the questionnaire (1, 4, or 7 points); and (7) mental resources (enjoying daily tasks, activities and life spirit, and optimism about the future) (1–4 points). The WAI scores were calculated by summing up the estimated points for each item. A higher score indicated better work ability. The total WAI scores ranged from 7 to 49 points and the scores were classified into four levels as poor (7–27), moderate (28–36), good (37–43), and excellent (44–49).

The self-reported questionnaire, which was confirmed for quality and validity, was examined by five experts. The reliability of the questionnaire on work stress and work ability was tested using Cronbach's alpha and was found to be 0.81 and 0.89, respectively.

3.4 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics, including frequency, percentage, mean, and standard deviation, were used to describe the characteristics of the study population, the intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months, and work ability. The

analytical statistics comprised Pearson's product correlation and stepwise multiple linear regression analysis. The level of statistical significance was set at 0.05.

4 Results

4.1 Characteristics of the Participants

Most of the respondents were registered nurses (90.7%) and were female (96.3%). The participants' ages ranged from 25 to 59 years, with a mean age of 39.5. The BMI of the nurses ranged from 16.9 kg/m² to 36.2 kg/m², with a mean BMI of 23 kg/m². The number of work experience in the current unit of the participants ranged from 1 to 35 years, with a mean years of 9.7 (S.D. = 0.38). Most of them (96.6%) worked in the direct patient care units including surgical wards, medical wards, an outpatient department, obstetric and gynecological wards, a labor room, an operating room, a pediatric department and a nursery unit, and an emergency department. Most of the participants (87.6%) had never experienced an accident or back trauma from work. Almost none of the participants (98.6%) had ever smoked.

4.2 Levels of Intensity of LBP During the Previous Seven Days and the Previous 12 Months

The mean score for the intensity of LBP during the previous seven days was 4.20 (S.D. = 1.63, Min = 1 Max = 9), while the mean score for the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months was 5.56 (S.D. = 1.63, Min = 1 Max = 10). The mean scores for the intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months indicated a moderate level.

4.3 WA Level of Thai Nurses

The nurses had WA at a moderate level (52.8%), an excellent level (24.9%), a good level (21.9%), and a poor level (0.4%) (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Work ability of the Thai nurses classified according to the level of WA
4.4 The Relationship Among Individual Factors, Work Factors, and the Intensity of LBP and WA and the Predictors of WA Among the Nurses

Back muscle exercise was seen to be positively related to WA at the 0.05 level of statistical significance (r = 0.157). The intensity of LBP during the previous seven days was seen to be inversely related to WA at the 0.05 level of statistical significance (r = -0.211). The intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months was inversely related to WA at the 0.01 level of statistical significance (r = -0.239). On the other hand, age, work experience in the current unit, work hours, and work stress were not related to WA at the 0.05 level of statistical significance (Table 1).

Variables	Correlation coefficient (r)
Individual factors	
1. Age	-0.035
2. Back muscle exercise	0.157*
Work factors	•
3. Work experience in the current unit	0.168
4. Work hours	-0.025
5. Work stress	0.095
LBP	
6. Intensity of LBP during the previous seven days	-0.211*
7. Intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months	-0.239**

Table 1. The relationship among individual factors, work factors, and the intensity of LBP and WA using Pearson's product correlation analysis

*Correlation was significant at the 0.05 level.

** Correlation was significant at the 0.01 level.

Prior to analysis, the Komogorov-Smirnov test indicated that age, back muscle exercise, work experience in the current unit, work hours, work stress, the intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months and the WA scores had a normal distribution. Multicollinearity verified by examining the correlation among the seven variables was carried out and the results showed a low to moderate correlation with each other (r = .021 to 0.386).

The results of the stepwise multiple linear regression analysis showed that the predictors of the WA were back muscle exercise and the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months. The two variables altogether explained 89.0% of the variance in WA at the statistically significant level of 0.01 (R2 = 8.9, p-value < .01). Table 2 presents the predictors of WA using stepwise multiple linear regression analysis.

Variables	b ₀	Standard	Beta	t	p-value
		error			
- Intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months	-0.527	0.162	-0.227	-3.252*	.001
- Back muscle exercise	1.358	0.520	0.182	2.611*	.010
Constant	45.131	1.478		30.357	

Table 2. The predictors of WA using stepwise multiple linear regression analysis

R = 29.9%, R2 = 8.9%, Adjusted R2 = 8.0%

*p-value < .05

The equation explaining the variance in WA is as follows.

$$Y = b_0 + b_1 X_1 + b_2 X_2. \tag{1}$$

where Y = WA

 $b_0 = constant value$

 b_1 = regression coefficient value of the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months

 b_2 = regression coefficient value of back muscle exercise

 X_1 = the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months

 X_2 = back muscle exercise

Therefore, the predicted WA = 45.131 - 0.527 (the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months) + 1.358 (back muscle exercise).

This equation means that if the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months increases 1 unit, WA will decrease in an identical way by 0.527 units, controlling for other variables. Conversely, the equation means that if back muscle exercise increases 1 unit, WA will increase in an identical way by 1.358 units, again controlling for other variables.

5 Discussion

5.1 The Levels of Intensity of LBP During the Previous Seven Days and the Previous 12 Months

The study's findings demonstrated that Thai nurses experienced a moderate level of the intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months. The results are consistent with the study of Souza and Alexandre [2], where it was seen that Brazilian nursing personnel experienced a medium intensity of LBP. The findings of the study are also similar to a study of Rasheed, Rasshid, and Javeed [1], who conducted a study of Pakistan nurses and found that a majority of the nurses perceived moderate severity of LBP. However, the results of the present study are different from the findings of Sikiru and Hanifa [8], where a majority of Nigeria nurses reported mild intensity of LBP. This could be due to the different nature of nursing work in Nigeria, the workload there, the classification of the intensity of LBP, and the types of questions used to collect the data.

5.2 The WA Level of Thai Nurses

The results of the present study revealed that more than half of the nurses had WA at a moderate level (52.8%) and some at a very good or excellent level (24.9%), compared with the research findings from previous studies conducted among Thai nurses in a university hospital [9], where the nurses reported their WA at a good level (59.9%) and at a moderate level (21.3%). The findings of another study of Satsue, Siritarungsri, Subtaweesin, and Wiratchpintu [10] revealed that a majority of the nurses rated WA at a good level (64.1%) and at a moderate level (22.2%). The difference may be due to the different health status and health behaviors of nurses, the characteristics of nursing work, and the work environment of each hospital. In this study, the data were collected from nurses at a secondary care hospital or a tertiary care hospital. The findings from previous studies conducted among nurses in Brazil [11], where the nurses reported that they had WA at a good/excellent level (56.6%). The difference could be due to many factors, including the health status and health behaviors of nurses, the characteristics of nursing work, and the work environment, as indicated before.

5.3 The Relationship Among Individual Factors, Work Factors, and the Intensity of LBP and WA and the Predictors of WA Among the Nurses

As the results indicated, back muscle exercise was positively related to WA. The findings of this study were consistent with the findings from the work of Jacobsen and colleagues [3], where it was found that physical exercise was positively associated with WA among healthcare workers. Performing physical exercise at least twice a week was effective in preventing the deteriorations of WA [3].

The results of the present study also indicated that the intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months was inversely related to WA. A study of Magnago and colleages [11] reported that the intensity of musculoskeletal pain was inversely related to the WA among nursing workers. Additionally, a study of Iyaoromi, Madaki, and Dankyau [4] reported that the duration of LBP was inversely related to the mean WAI scores among nurses in Nigeria. Further, the results of the present study were supported by the results of the work of Ge, Sun, Liu, and Zhang [5], where it was found that musculoskeletal disorders, including LBP, had an influence on WA.

6 Conclusion

The nurses in this study had intensity of LBP during the previous seven days and the previous 12 months at a moderate level. More than half of the nurses had WA at a moderate level. The intensity of LBP during the previous 12 months and back muscle exercise were the important predictors of WA among the nurses. This study confirmed that the intensity of chronic LBP and performing back muscle exercise influence the WA of the nurses.

7 Implications/Recommendations

The findings of this study can be used to promote the WA among Thai nurses in hospitals. Hospital administrators should provide back muscle exercises to promote the health and improve the WA of the nurses. Moreover, education programs on the prevention of LBP and the treatment of LBP should be developed and provided in order to decrease and even prevent the intensity of LBP on the part of nurses. Future research would be needed to test the effectiveness of such programs.

Acknowledgements. The author would like to thank the nurses that participated in this study for their cooperation during the data collection.

Conflicts of Interest. No conflicts of interest are declared by the author.

References

- Rasheed, H., Rasshid, J., Javeed, R.S.: Frequency of low back pain among nurses working in Jinnah hospital Lahore. Int. J. End. Health Sci. Res. 5(3), 44–51 (2017)
- Souza, A.C., Alexandre, N.: Musculoskeletal symptoms, work ability, and disability among nursing personnel. Work. Health Saf. 60(8), 353–360 (2012)
- Jacobsen, M.D., Sundstrup, E., Brandt, M., Jay, K., Aagaard, P., Andersen, L.L.: Physical exercise at the workplace prevents deterioration of work ability among health care workers: cluster randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health 15, 1174 (2015)
- Iyaoromi, O.O., Madaki, A.J., Dankyau, M.: Relationship between low back pain and workplace functioning of nurses at a tertiary hospital in North Central Nigeria. Internet J. Heal. Admin. 11(1), 1–7 (2016)
- Ge, H., Sun, X., Liu, J., Zhang, C.: The status of musculoskeletal disorders and its influence on the working ability of oil workers in Xinjiang, China. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15, 842 (2018)
- Gray-Toft, P., Anderson, J.G.: The nursing stress scale: development of an instrument. J. Behav. Assess. 3, 11–23 (1981)
- Ilmarinen, J., Tuomi, K., Seitsamo, J.: New dimensions of work ability. Int. Cong. Series 1280, 3–7 (2005)
- Sikiru, L., Hanifa, S.: Prevalence and risk factors of low back pain among nurses in a typical Nigerian hospital. J. Afri. Health Sci. 10(1), 26–30 (2010)
- 9. Hengsuwan, R., Chanprasit, C., Kaewthummanukul, T.: Work ability and health status among registered nurses in a university hospital (in Thai). Nur. J. **43**(12), 116–128 (2016)
- Satsue, S., Siritarungsri, B., Subtaweesin, T., Wiratchpintu, P.: Work ability of professional nurses at the cardiovascular unit in a tertiary care hospital (in Thai). J. Nur. Div. 44(1), 82–102 (2017)
- Magnago, T.S., Lima, A.S., Prochnow, A., Ceron, M.S., Tavares, J.P., Urbanetto, J.S.: Intensity of musculoskeletal pain and ability to work in nursing. Rev. Latino-Am. Enfermagem. 20(6), 1125–1133 (2012)



Understanding the Challenges to the Safe Delivery of Care in the Mexican Healthcare System

Carlos D. de-Leon Zuloaga^{1(⊠)}, Carlos Aceves-Gonzalez¹, Elvira Perez Vallejos², Rosa Rosales-Cinco¹, Alexandra Lang³, and Sue Hignett⁴

¹ Centro de Investigaciones en Ergonomía, Universidad de Guadalajara, Guadalajara, Mexico carlos.diazdeleon@alumnos.udg.mx, {c.aceves,rosa.rcinco}@academicos.udg.mx
² Nottingham Biomedical Research Centre, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK elvira.perez@nottingham.ac.uk
³ Nottingham University Hospitals Trust, Queen's Medical Centre, Nottingham, UK alexandra.lang@nottingham.ac.uk
Loughborough Design School, Loughborough University, Loughborough, UK s.m.hignett@lboro.ac.uk

Abstract. Safety and quality challenges have been identified by national and global organizations highlighting the need for health sector improvements in Mexico. The current research investigates healthcare workers' perspectives of factors affecting their job performance and wellbeing, ability to provide effective care and overall patient safety culture within a public hospital in Guadalajara. A total of 30 hospital staff took part in a card sorting task to elicit the perceived impact of eight pre-identified organizational factors. Results showed that healthcare workers identified the top contributory factors as 'Finance/budget' and 'Resources'. 'Staff numbers and competency' was chosen for having more significant impact in delivering safe and effective healthcare, while 'Communication' was perceived to have more impact on the way their do their job. The findings from this study helped to identify areas for future applied research projects and provisional direction to the Hospital Quality Managers for targeted improvements projects.

Keywords: Healthcare \cdot Quality improvement \cdot Staff performance \cdot Patient safety \cdot LMIC

1 Introduction

Initiatives for improving healthcare staff and patient safety and wellbeing within Low and Medium-Income Countries (LMIC) are less well developed and established than in more developed countries. Over the last 20 years, the UK and US have developed programs for safety improvement that have, in varying degrees, started to improve the working conditions and demands on healthcare staff [1]. In contrast, some LMIC's are just starting on this journey. Mexico is one such example where safety challenges have been identified [2] and national and global organizations have highlighted the need for health sector improvements regarding quality and safe care provision [3].

In response to this need, the current feasibility study was conceived by collaborating research teams from the UK and Mexico to investigate healthcare staff perspectives of the challenges encountered in the safe delivery of care in regard to personal job roles, work environment and organizational structure.

According to the [3], Mexico's health system must change to deliver peoplecentered, high-quality care. It is also claimed that there is a need for higher standards for safe and effective care across all Mexican providers, including the private ones [3]. The PAHO [4] Latin American Study of Adverse Events (IBEAS) reported that up to 20% of patients experience at least one harmful incident during their hospitalization [4]. Additionally, the study acknowledged that more than half of these harmful incidents could have been avoided. This shows that the health system in Mexico still needs to increase awareness and implementation of an improved safety culture.

In Mexico, patient safety is a relatively new subject. [2] comments that although it is a known and discussed topic within the different healthcare institutions, associations, faculties, medical equipment and pharmaceuticals companies, and the diverse array of professions working in those institutions; to date there has been little action to address this issue and to embed patient safety culture in the healthcare practice. Around the same time [5] investigation into the nursing practices and environments evidences the need to fully understand the context of work and sign post to the need for further investigation.

In regards to staff wellbeing and performance [6] identified that healthcare staff in the north of Mexico presented with work-related injuries, which could have been avoided with the intervention of the human factors/ergonomics. Specifically in nursing staff, some of the factors linked to work-related injuries included the mobilization of overweight patients, excessive numbers of patients and the duration of postures sustained for long periods of time [7]. Healthcare workers reported that the lack of support from directive staff when presenting work-related injuries could affect also their mental wellbeing [7].

There is significant evidence that staff mental wellbeing is also diminished due to work overload, organizational culture and negative experiences in regard to patient interaction, all of which can contribute to stress [8, 9], fatigue or even burnout [10, 11].

The literature provides evidence for further investigation into these important issues and as such this study aims,

- to understand healthcare staff perspectives about the impact of different factors affecting their efficiency and wellbeing and patient safety within a public hospital in Guadalajara.
- to develop a framework for exploring healthcare challenges within a large teaching hospital in the city of Guadalajara.

2 Method

This feasibility study took place within a large teaching hospital in Guadalajara, Mexico. A total of 30 healthcare staff participated in the workshops. Five workshops took place on five consecutive days. Each workshop involved at least three moderators to coordinate the activities and a maximum of nine participants.

Participation in the workshops was completely voluntary. The study protocol was reviewed and approved by an Ethics Committee at the University of Nottingham, the UK academic institute co-leading the project. The invitation to healthcare workers to participate in the workshops came from the hospital Quality Management Office and was issued to each chief of service who then passed it onto their staff.

2.1 Study Design

Each workshop included a hybrid card sorting task, combining a closed card sorting activity (with categories provided to participants) with the opportunity for participants to produce their own categories, also known as open card sorting [12]. This method was implemented to enable participants to consider and reflect on their wellbeing and safety challenges present in their own healthcare system in relation to eight preidentified categories. The eight factors used in the card sorting activity were previously identified from a thematic analysis of a data set in the UK [1]. The factors used as the card sorting categories were: 'Staff number and competency', 'Organizational culture', 'Risk management culture', 'Pressure of work', 'Communication', 'Finance/budget', 'Resources' and 'Patient complexity'. In order to avoid cultural limitations; in regard to UK specificity of the categories, and to explore the possible inclusion of different contextual factors in the card sorting, blank cards were provided to participants to give them the option of contributing factors not already listed in the pre-identified categories (open card sorting strategy). Participant proposed factors should relate to how healthcare workers carry out their jobs and the way they deliver care. This would then provide opportunity for the card sorting activity to not just be dictated by the findings of a study in a non LMIC healthcare service but to also be inclusive of and reflect experiences in Mexico.

2.2 Procedure

Participants were asked to provide informed consent and were asked to fill in a participant background questionnaire to obtain their demographic data and work role details. The workshop started with an introduction video about system thinking theory [13], a brief icebreaker activity encouraged healthcare workers to reflect on their job roles. This was followed by focus group discussions, which set the scene of the card sorting activity. The workshops and materials used were in Spanish. This paper only reports the findings of the card sorting activity, which was the final task within the workshop.

In the card sorting, participants were handed two sets of nine cards in which the eight categories (listed previously) were written. The remaining two cards were blank for participants to write any extra factors they considered important and relevant to the task.

Participants were able to ask for more blank cards if needed. Two grids were presented to the participants. See Fig. 1 for an example of the grids. The first grid asked the question (Q1) How do these factors impact the way I do my job? The second grid asked the question (Q2) How do these factors impact the delivery of safe and effective healthcare? These two questions would elicit reflections from participants on two levels, a personal individual work level and higher organizational level. The impact categories participants could allocate the cards were: high impact, medium impact, little impact, very little impact at all (Fig. 1).

How these factors impact the way I do my job?						
No impact at all Very little impact Little impact Medium impact High im						

Fig. 1. Example of one of the card sorting grid: how these factors impact the way I do my job?

2.3 Data Analysis

The factors were scored according to their perceived impact. Factors allocated in high impact category added four points; medium impact, three points; little impact, two points; very little impact, one point; and no impact at all that added no points. This means that the higher the total points on each factor the higher the perceived impact of the categories on each question (Q1 and Q2).

3 Results

The statistical analysis used IBM's SPSS software (version 21 for Windows) and Microsoft Office Excel (version 10 for Windows) to generate the database. Nonparametric tests were used in comparing results. When comparing results from Q1 with Q2 a Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was used. To compare between groups a Kruskal Wallis test was used; post-hoc analysis was made with a Mann-Whitney U test between pair groups with a Bonferroni adjustment applied (p = 0,025). All tests considered a p = 0,05 of significance level.

The card sorting included 30 participants, 19 were women with an average age of 48 years old (± 16) and ten were men with an average age of 46 years old (± 12) , one participant refrained from reporting the gender information. According to job role, ten participants were nursing staff, eight were medical staff, seven were allied health professionals (social workers, psychologists and dietitians), six were hospital operational staff (chiefs of operations, chief of floor, stretcher bearer), one participant was had a non-clinical management role and one participant did not record their job role. Before starting the card sorting activity one of the participants had to leave the activity due to an emergency.

The total points score that each card received were calculated and are presented in Table 1. According to the perceived impact to each question (Q1 and Q2) based on those score, the factors were ranked from first place (1) to last (8), with 1 being the top

factor with the highest impact and accumulation of points and the 8th factor indicating the one with smallest impact.

When comparing the impact of each factor from Q1 to Q2, a Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test revealed that participants perceived that 'Communication' impacts more in how they do their job than in providing safe and quality healthcare, z = -2,15, p = 0,032, with a small effect size (r = 0,28). In contrast, 'Staff number and competency' was perceived to impact more in providing secured and quality healthcare than in the way they do their job, z = -1,98, p = 0,047 (small effect size, r = 0,26). No other factor showed a statistical difference (Table 1).

	Q1		Q2	z	p	
	Aggregated value	Rank	Aggregated value	Rank		
Finance/budget	88	1	91	2	-0,44	0,661
Resources	87	2	95	1	-0,99	0,320
Pressure of work	84	3	75	4	-1,86	0,063
Communication	71	4	55	8	-2,15	0,032
Organizational culture	68	5	59	6	-1,40	0,162
Staff number and competency	63	6	76	3	-1,98	0,047
Risk Management	62	7	72	5	-1,45	0,148
Patient complexity	54	8	58	7	-0,73	0,447

Table 1. Aggregated value and rank of eight different factors in Q1 and Q2

A comparison between the four staff groups was made in order to identify differences in the perceived impact of each factor regarding job performance (Q1) and safe and efficient healthcare (Q2).

The Kruskal-Wallis Test revealed a statistically significant difference in the impact of 'Patient complexity' in how quality and effective healthcare is provided to the patient (Q2) across four different staff groups (Nursing staff, n = 9: Medical staff, n = 8: Allied Health Staff, n = 6: Hospital Operational Staff, n = 6), x2 (3, n = 29) = 8.877, p = 0,031. Median values given by staff group to Q2 are presented in Table 2. The Nursing staff recorded the highest median score on impact (Md = 3) and the lowest recorded by Allied Health Staff (Md = 1) and Hospital Operational Staff (Md = 1). In post-hoc test (Mann-Whitney U test) when comparing Nursing staff (Md = 3,00, n = 9) to Allied Health staff (Md = 1,00, n = 6), results showed statistically significant difference in the impact of the 'Patient complexity' in how they provide safe and quality service to the patient, U = 6,50, z = -2,51, p = 0,012, r = -0,65. Nursing staff compared with Hospital Operational staff (Md = 1,00, n = 6) also showed significant difference, U = 8,50, z = -2,30, p = 0,021, r = -0,59.

	Nursing	Medical	Allied health	Hospital
	staff	staff	professionals	operational staff
	n = 9	n = 8	n = 6	n = 6
Staff number an competency	2,0	2,5	2,0	2,5
Organizational culture	1,0	1,0	1,0	3,0
Risk management	3,0	3,0	3,0	2,5
Pressure of work	2,0	2,5	2,0	2,5
Communication	2,0	1,5	2,0	1,5
Finance/budget	3,0	3,0	3,0	2,5
Resources	4,0	4,0	3,0	4,0
Patient complexity	3,0	2,5	1,0	1,0

Table 2. Median ranks of the impact of eight factors in delivering safe and effective healthcare according to staff groups (Q2).

Only one blank card was used by a participant to add in a factor which they perceived impacted Q1. On the card the participant wrote "Patients with little or lack of general knowledge" (empathy).

In Q2 there was also only one blank card used with the statement: "Null or deficient assessment of the workers/professional profile for each role. Bad human resources", somewhat related to the 'Staff number and competency' factor already contained in the card sorting activity.

4 Discussion

The majority of the factors analysed in this study were perceived with a similar impact (no significant difference) on the two questions used in the card sorting activity in the way healthcare staff do their job and in delivering safe and effective healthcare.

'Finance/Budget' and 'Resources'. These were factors with more perceived impact on both questions, this could be due to the fact that those factors are related, less budget could translate to fewer resources in delivering healthcare services. Previous research by [14] in different regions of Mexico with high maternal mortality, collected the opinion of local practice communities, in some regions finance and resources came up as a top-level obstacle to improve maternal healthcare.

The Mexican health sector has presented funding cuts for around ten years, this issue when combined with the fact that some of the health centers were built in the 1950s, contributes to a system whereby healthcare institutions have to provide healthcare with less budget and resources [15]. Other problems arise when distributing the resources within healthcare institutions, the current distribution is based on the hierarchical order determined by profession (doctors on top) and other status markers (educational level, seniority), and not planned around the needs of a patient, type of unit or institution [16]. This situation is therefore a problem component of the

'Organizational Culture' factor. [15] and [16] show that facilities, equipment and furnishings in public healthcare institutions are usually not well maintained but still used and often staff has to improvise non-tested solutions, especially in the case of damaged equipment. These problems are compounded due to the culture which could promote the view that Mexican health authorities perceive this standard to be the norm for public healthcare services rather than perceiving it to be a substandard or unacceptable situation.

The current study is unable to change the funding system within the regional hospitals involved, however working towards a progressive strategic framework to improve education and implementation of patient safety and improved staff wellbeing and performance may positively impact through the avoidance of occupational health problems and costs associated with unsafe acts or errors.

'Pressure of Work'. Placed in overall third place and presenting as the most impact factor in Q1 and fourth in Q2. This result is in agreement with the Sociotechnical Systems Analysis in Healthcare proposed by [17]. The authors suggest that high workload or work pressure have detrimental effect in safe provision of care. It is also consistent with the thematic analysis performed by [1] in which 'Pressure of work' is ranked in third place in terms of impact on challenges to safe delivery of care.

'Pressure of work' may include full/blocked departments, time pressures, improved coping strategies and excessive workload to name a few [1]. In a Chilean study, it is mentioned in regard to an increasing number of patients and the understaffing to be linked to fatigue and burnout [11]. In a similar study carried out with nursing staff in Mexico staff reported workload as one factor that impacts in their wellbeing and can potentially affect their job performance [8]. An investigation with nursing staff at the same hospital in 2006 had reported similar outputs, with reported workload and lack of support from the organization as factors contributing to increased stress levels in their professional life [18]. In another study Mexican medical staff reported to have high and severe stress related to the excessive burden of supervision, medical workload, constrained freedom to perform their job, long shift hours and more patients than they can handle [9].

These references provide evidence of the excessive workload experienced by different healthcare professionals and it is reflected in a similar way in this study. It might be difficult to diminish workload due to the number of patients, some solutions can be proposed from the human factors perspective to improve work distribution through a healthcare staff centered solution.

'Staff Number and Competency'. Participants reported that this factor significantly impacts more on the way they deliver safe and effective healthcare to patients than on a personal job role level. According to [3], Mexico is the country with the lowest number of nursing staff compared to other OECD countries, with 2.6 nurses per 1000 population compared to an average of 9.1. Medical staff has similar numbers with 2.2 per 1000 compared to the OECD average of 3.2. It is not a problem specific to Mexico, in the UK [3] reports 2.8 doctors per 1000 habitants. The number of nurses per 1000 population in UK is higher than in Mexico, 7.9 per 1000 population, but not as high as Denmark, Switzerland and Norway whom double the number (at least 16.9 per 1000 population) [3]. This finding is also exacerbated by non-clinical workers within

hospital settings, for example the work of [19] highlighted how poor administration and processes of human resources within healthcare systems led to inefficiency.

Less experienced staff will have fewer established competencies than more experienced staff and so could need more time and resources to perform their tasks and this may affect the patients perceived quality of healthcare provided to patients as reported by [20] in Mexican ambulatory health services. This could be one of the reasons for which the participants in this study suggested that the competency and amount of coworkers affects their job performance at a personal level but it affects more how the system works and could translate to an unsafe and inefficient health care.

'Organizational Culture'. In this study 'Organizational culture' was ranked in fifth place for Q1 (how I do my job) and sixth in Q2 (delivery of safe and effective care). A possible explanation for this is suggested by [16], since the health sector has experienced funding cuts it has led to continuing to provide healthcare but with fewer and less functional resources. At the same time informal practices (such as hierarchical resource and workload distribution) have been created within healthcare institutions in order to keep up with healthcare demand but do not address the real problems causing pressure in the system. The distribution of workload is distributed according to a hierarchical order instead of the needs of healthcare [16]. The hierarchical order is first defined by profession (with doctors having more power, and influence within the hierarchy), other status markers that could influence hierarchy are educational level, seniority, type of employment and proximity to authorities. This kind of work and role distribution is one of the contributors to conflict creation among healthcare staff and departments. Without evidence for novel approaches for improving quality and safe delivery of care the current status quo will continue as it is currently embedded in the hospital culture as the only way to reach suggested productivity goals.

'Risk Management Culture'. This feasibility study supports this finding and coincides with the experiences of [1], with participants reporting that this factor has more impact in the delivery of safe and efficient healthcare than in the way they do their job. 'Risk management culture' include proactive safety processes such as risk assessments and baseline knowledge of safety by all workers in an organization [1]. It is known that Mexican risk management culture does not focus on prevention, for example there are documents and procedures for the analysis of root causes of adverse events in Hospitals [21] but not for fostering a pervasive risk management culture [22]. According to healthcare institutions' normative operations and policies [21], there should be records of all accidents and adverse events in Mexican hospitals in order that action can be taken to protect against repeat occurrences. However, in practice this does not always happen [22] compared five Mexican studies about the perception on safety culture, and found that the majority of accidents and adverse events are not reported due to fear of punishment, blame culture or participants not considering or understanding the need to report. Recommendation was made to sensitize Mexican healthcare staff on the importance of this issue in order to host and promote a more safety oriented culture in health institutions. These recent findings align with the current study, whereby human factors and systems thinking are being utilized with a sample of hospital staff (clinical and non-clinical) to encourage transparent working, communication and awareness of risks to safe and effective healthcare delivery.

'Communication'. This factor was identified as impacting significantly more on the way participants do their job than the provision of effective and safe care to patients on a macro scale. In contrast with this, other studies have identified 'Communication' to have more impact in the latter, safe delivery and care on an organizational level. [23] mention that failing to have appropriate ways of communicating with the patient and between the services/staff represents an inadequate use of resources, loss of efficiency and may affect service quality. [24] indicates that effective communication could avoid accidents or harm to patients. The [3] recommends improving information systems in order to standardize communication templates and tools in order to improve and effective communication.

[25] concludes that information and communication technologies (ICT) could help to restructure processes in health services and may represent a cost-effective intervention to improve quality and safety in healthcare. Since then much work has been done to understand how those ICT tools can help to support communication and effective teamwork in improving patients outcomes [26], better work [27], to deliver safe and high quality healthcare [26, 27].

The current landscape of health information technologies (HITs) in Mexico is limited and still in infancy, with a sustained interest from 2001 but with ups and downs on its implementations or creation of official norms regarding the use of HIT [28]. The implementation of HIT in Mexico has been focused on administrative and management areas [28], on implementing electronic patient records [28, 29] and the creation of an e-Health portal initiative [29]. Even though some strategies are implemented, they are not fully established due to the unequal use of HIT tools and software caused by the lack of coordinated actions of the institutions taking part on these strategies, constrained in part by the Mexican legal framework [29]. This study highlights the need for further investment and research into the impact of ICT in the Mexican healthcare system.

'Patient Complexity'. Nursing staff participating in this study identified 'Patient complexity' as one high level factor that impacts the way they deliver effective and quality healthcare in compared to two other groups of healthcare workers. Overall it was ranked as the least impactful factor (8th place) in Q1 and 7th place in the Q2, similar to the UK results of [1] study.

A study carried out in another state of Mexico suggest that nursing staff experience stress as a result of workload and possibly exposure to patient suffering [8]. This idea may explain to some degree the difference found in this study, whereby exposure to patient suffering may be linked with the concept of 'Patient complexity'. The same author suggests that there is null or little concern regarding staff health from the institutions they work for, highlighting the need for occupational health and psychological support programs within the same institutions. This aligns with the idea that better support to staff from governance structures, appropriate training programmes and ongoing systematic support mechanisms can enhance the performance of healthcare staff, can lower cost and improve satisfaction rates. One notable example of this practice is the strategy used within Norwegian healthcare service providers [3] and whilst this exemplar of best practice cannot be lifted into the Mexican system there are points of learning which can be considered in the Latin American context. Even as the least impact factor of the eight, the difference found among staff groups suggest an initial pathway to action and evidence the idea that some factors have not the same impact among all the hospital staff.

4.1 Limitations

One limitation in the ranking of the cards was that there was not possible to allocate more than two cards by a participant in each impact category, this included the blank cards to be written in. The no impact at all category was the only one with no minimum or maximum of necessary cards. This was perceived to be a limitation by some participants however the study was designed in this way to force participants to prioritize the factors against each of the two research questions.

There is the possibility that participants were reluctant or did not have time to consider what factors above and beyond those presented may be relevant to the Mexican healthcare service in which they worked. Whilst the opportunity was presented via the blank cards for participants to offer their own suggestions, only two acted on that opportunity. This may be due to the fact that participants needed to return to their clinical and non-clinical work activities or that they did not feel empowered in offering up their own suggestions.

Another limitation of this study might be that not all of the studies used in the discussion section were from a human factors perspective, thus these comparisons should be taken with caution.

4.2 Future Work

This study only reports hospital staff perspectives about the impact of how the eight factors presented impact their work and the delivery of safe and effective care. Whilst they do not have full insight into the operationalization of the hospital and the factors which influence healthcare staff work, the experiences of patients are an important contributor to developing and improving health service delivery. Patients could potentially have insight into and assess some of the factors such as 'Communication', 'Risk management', 'Resources' and 'Organizational culture'. According to [20], patient perceived quality of service is ordinarily reported by factors like type of institution, waiting time, time in consult and improvement of health after consultation. In further research, it would be important to elicit patient perspectives in order to provide a more complete and inclusive view of the challenges experienced within the Mexican healthcare system.

This study provided insight into the current challenges faced and future opportunities for improvement within the hospital. The findings provide a pathway for further research using human factors methods to improve design of work and the whole system, additionally continued collaboration will see not only research pathways but also applied targeted projects to develop better ways of working. More analysis is needed to clarify possible hypothesis about the differences found between staff groups. Further work analyzing the other activities in the focus groups needs to be done in order to corroborate some of the findings of the card sorting activity.

A natural progression of this study is to explore the relationship between job performance and patient safety in the Mexican context. Here those concepts were explored as separate but related topics. Follow on enquiries would take a systems thinking approach to understand the inter-relationships between how work is done in the hospital by staff, the efficiency and performance of the system and the resulting patient outcomes and safety.

5 Conclusion

This feasibility study has investigated challenges to the safe delivery of care in a Mexican hospital. It has provided understanding of how staff perceives those challenges in regard to their personal experiences of providing care and what they think are the priorities at an organizational level. Whilst the findings do not contribute applied interventions, they provide knowledge from which the research team and hospital collaborators can focus resource and capacity for future safety and quality improvement initiatives.

The impact of factors affecting care delivery were prioritized, this allowed comparison with other Mexican studies in order to corroborate our findings and add to the limited existing literature specific to a Latin-American context. Where staff groups identified different factors as impacting them in their job there is a call to investigate these differences further so that work design and organizational policies can meet the needs of a wide range of staff groups and not just those who are 'higher up' in the hierarchical standing of Mexican healthcare institutes.

The study has introduced HF/E to the hospital Quality Managers and healthcare staff as a discipline which can contribute to their internal improvement processes by taking a systems approach and through understanding the needs of workers within the system.

Acknowledgments. Research team thanks the HCdG Quality Management staff for their support planning and executing the workshops. Acknowledgement of funding for this research through the UK Research and Innovation Global Challenge Research Fund, University of Nottingham award. Elvira Perez Vallejos acknowledges the financial support of the NIHR Nottingham Biomedical Research Centre.

References

- Hignett, S., Lang, A., Pickup, L., Ives, C., Fray, M., McKeown, C., Tapley, S., Woodward, M., Bowie, P.: More holes than cheese. What prevents the delivery of effective, high quality, and safe healthcare in England? Ergonomics 61(1), 5–14 (2016)
- Perez Castro, J.A.: ¿La seguridad del paciente es un nuevo paradigma en la atención médica? Cirugía y Cirujanos 79(4), 303–304 (2011)
- 3. OECD: OECD Reviews of Health Systems: Mexico 2016. OECD Publishing, Paris (2016)
- 4. World Health Organization: IBEAS: A Pioneer Study on Patient Safety in Latin America. Towards Safer Hospital Care. WHO Document Production Services, Geneva (2011)
- Squires, A., Juárez, A.: A qualitative study of the work environments of Mexican nurses. Int. J. Nurs. Stud. 49(7), 793–802 (2012)

- Rivera Guillén, M.A., Sanmiguel Salazar, M.F., Serrano Gallardo, L.B., Nava Hernández, M.P., Moran Martínez, J., Figuerola Chaparro, L.C., García Salcedo, J.J.: Factores asociados a lesiones músculo-esqueléticas por carga en trabajadores hospitalarios de la ciudad de Torreón, Coahuila, México. Ciencia & trabajo 17(53), 144–149 (2015)
- Rodarte-Cuevas, L., Araujo-Espino, R., Trejo-Ortiz, P.M., González-Tovar, J.: Calidad de vida profesional y trastornos musculoesqueléticos en profesionales de Enfermería. Enfermería Clínica 26(6), 336–343 (2016)
- 8. Cortaza Ramírez, L., Torres, F., Domingo, M.: Estrés laboral en enfermeros de un hospital de Veracruz. México Rev. iberoam. educ. invest. enferm. (Internet) **4**(1), 20–26 (2014)
- Palacios-Nava, M.E., Paz-Román, M.D.P.: Condiciones de trabajo, estrés y manifestaciones psicosomáticas en médicos de hospitales de la ciudad de México. Medicina y Seguridad del Trabajo 60(235), 322–334 (2014)
- Miranda-Lara, V.R., Monzalvo-Herrera, G., Hernández-Caballero, B., Ocampo-Torres, M.: Prevalencia del síndrome de burnout en personal de enfermería de dos instituciones de salud. Rev. enferm. Inst. Mex. Seguro Soc. 24(2), 115–122 (2016)
- 11. Seguel, F., Valenzuela, S.: Relación entre la fatiga laboral y el síndrome burnout en personal de enfermería de centros hospitalarios. Enfermería universitaria **11**(4), 119–127 (2014)
- 12. Spencer, D.: Card Sorting: Designing Usable Categories. Rosenfeld Media, New York (2009)
- 13. Systems Thinking Lab. https://systemsthinkinglab.com/
- Rouvier, M., González-Block, M.Á., Sesia, P., Becerril-Montekio, V.: Problemas del sistema de salud en estados de México con alta incidencia de mortalidad materna. Salud pública de México 55, 185–192 (2013)
- 15. Martínez, G.: Un sistema en busca de salud: Desarrollo, declive y renovación del sistema de salud mexicana. Fondo de Cultura Economica, México (2013)
- Saavedra, N.I., Berenzon, S., Galván, J.: "This is how we work here": informal logic and social order in primary health care services in Mexico City. Qual. Health Res. 27(9), 1359– 1369 (2017)
- Carayon, P., Bass, E.J., Bellandi, T., Gurses, A.P., Hallbeck, M.S., Mollo, V.: Sociotechnical systems analysis in health care: a research agenda. IIE Trans. Healthc. Syst. Eng. 1(3), 145–160 (2011)
- Loera, M.: Las enfermeras trabajan con estrés. La gaceta (2006). http://www.gaceta.udg.mx/ Hemeroteca/paginas/461/461-8.pdf
- Sauceda-Valenzuela, A.L., Wirtz, V.J., Santa-Ana-Téllez, Y., Kageyama-Escobar, M.L.: Ambulatory health service users' experience of waiting time and expenditure and factors associated with the perception of low quality of care in Mexico. BMC Health Serv. Res. 10, 178 (2010)
- Nigenda, G., Alcalde-Rabanal, J., González-Robledo, L.M., Serván-Mori, E., García-Saiso, S., Lozano, R.: Eficiencia de los recursos humanos en salud: una aproximación a su análisis en México. Salud Pública de México 58, 533–542 (2016)
- Consejo de Salubridad General: Modelo de Seguridad del paciente de SiNaCEAM, Estándares para implementar el modelo en Hospitales, Sistema Nacional de Certificación de Establecimientos de Atención Médica (SiNaCEAM) (2018)
- Perez, J.A., Rodriguez, E.D., Recio, F.I.: Una Visión de la Cultura de Seguridad del Paciente en Hospitales en México. Revista CONAMED 21(3), 109–119 (2016)
- Galindo-Estupiñan, Z.T., Aceves-Gonzalez, C., Ortiz, G., Rey-Galindo, J., Mireles-Ramirez, M.: Information characteristics in the operation of a healthcare service from the staff perspective. In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 588. Springer, Cham (2018)

- 24. Leonard, M., Graham, S., Bonacum, D.: The human factor: the critical importance of effective teamwork and communication in providing safe care. BMJ Qual. Safety. **13**(Suppl. 1), i85–i90 (2004)
- 25. Coiera, E.: Communication systems in healthcare. Clin. Biochem. Rev. 27, 89 (2006)
- Davis Boykins, A.: Core communication competencies in patient-centered care. ABNF J. 25 (2), 40–45 (2014)
- Leonard, M.W., Frankel, A.S.: Role of effective teamwork and communication in delivering safe, high-quality care. Mt Sinai J. Med. J. Transl. Pers. Med. 78(6), 820–826 (2011)
- Oviedo, E., Fernández, A.: Tecnologías de la información y la comunicación en el sector salud: oportunidades y desafíos para reducir inequidades en América Latina y el Caribe. CEPAL (2010)
- 29. Mariscal Avilés, J., Gil-García, J.R., Ramirez-Hernández, F.: e-Salud en México: antecedentes, objetivos, logros y retos. Espacios Públicos 15(34), 65–94 (2012)

Diagnosis Systems



Development of a Sleep Monitoring System by Using a Depth Sensor: A Pilot Study

Jangwoon Park^{1(⊠)}, Jungyoon Kim², Jaehyun Park³, Alaa Sheta⁴, Christina Murphey⁵, and Dugan Um¹

 ¹ Department of Engineering, Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi, Corpus Christi, TX, USA jangwoon. park@tamucc.edu
 ² Department of Computer Science, Kent State University, Kent, OH, USA
 ³ Department of Industrial and Management Engineering, Incheon National University, Incheon, South Korea
 ⁴ Department of Computing Sciences, Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi, Corpus Christi, TX, USA
 ⁵ College of Nursing and Health Sciences, Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi, Corpus Christi, TX, USA

Abstract. Sleep is an essential part of health and longevity persons. As people grow older, the quality of their sleep becomes vital. Poor sleep quality can make negative physiological, psychological, and social impacts on the elderly population, causing a range of health problems including coronary heart disease, depression, anxiety, and loneliness. Early detection, proper diagnosis, and treatments for sleep disorders can be achieved by identifying sleep patterns through long-term sleep monitoring. Although many studies developed sleep monitoring systems by using non-invasive measures such as body temperature, pressure, or body movement signal, research is still limited to detect sleep position changes by using a depth camera. The present study is intended (1) to identify concerns on the existing sleep monitoring system based on the literature review and (2) propose to developing a non-invasive sleep monitoring system using an infrared depth camera. For the literature review, various journal/conference papers have been reviewed to understand the characteristics, tools, and algorithms of the existing sleep monitoring systems. For the system development and validation, we collected data for the sleep positions from two subjects (35 years old man and 84 years old women) during the four-hour sleep. Kinect II depth sensor was used for data collection. We found that the averaged depth data is useful measure to notify the participants' positional changes during the sleep.

Keywords: Sleep quality \cdot Sleep movement \cdot Sleep pattern \cdot Kinect II depth sensor

1 Introduction

Advances in the healthcare and medical field have resulted in prolonged human life, thus causing an increase in the elderly population. According to the United States Census Bureau, it is estimated that the U.S. elderly population over age 65 will grow from 43.1 million in 2012 to 83.7 million in 2050 [1].

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 191–196, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_18 The elderly that are isolated and neglected can lead to an increased likelihood of age-related sleep disorders and sometimes emergency medical conditions, such as heart failure during sleep. Proper diagnosis and treatments for age-related sleep disorders such as REM-sleep behavior disorder, narcolepsy, periodic leg movements, and restless legs syndrome can be achieved by identifying sleep patterns through long-term sleep monitoring. Therefore, an unobtrusive and yet precise sleep monitoring system, once developed, will be useful at home, assisted living or any other elder-care facility.

There are two main goals in this study. The first goal is to understand the characteristics of the existing sleep monitoring system. The second goal is to develop an unobtrusive automated sleep monitoring system that can measure the sleep behaviors of elderly people by using touchless sensors.

2 Literature Review

Early diagnosis and prompt treatment of sleep disorders for elderly people can be achieved through an accurate and seamless sleep monitoring system, such as a wearable smart device for monitoring sleep quality. However, many elders oppose the idea of having to wear or place sensors to the body during sleep [2]. Therefore, new touchless technology needs to be developed that can unobtrusively measure a senior's sleep behavior data and can provide an accurate diagnosis based on the real-time monitoring sleep behaviors. Currently, there are three key varieties of commercialized sleep monitoring techniques.

The first is the polysomnography (PSG) device that is highly regarded in the medical field as the standard for highly accurate sleep sensing data. The only disadvantage to PSG technology is that it is very expensive and can only be used in a lab/hospital environment. The PSG device is also highly obtrusive to the user because it incorporates several sensors and electrodes. This sensor will be worn during sleep.

The second group involves a common method, using smart devices such as a smartphone, smart watches, and fitness trackers. For example, the smartphone app Sleep Cycle Alarm Clock is one of the most famous sleep monitoring systems, and it's free to download. It is very cost effective. The smart devices use built-in accelerometers to detect body motion and correlate high motion with restless sleep [2]. However, this method does not produce results with reliable accuracy in sleep monitoring.

The third group of devices includes the DoppleSleep and Wi-Sleep systems that use wireless signal changes to detect sleep motion. The DoppleSleep sensing system uses Doppler radar technology. In a lab setting, it is known to provide an 86% recall rate for physical movement detection. There was only an 8% error for heart rate detection and an 11% error for breathing error detection [3]. Further literature reviews lead to Wi-Sleep, a system that generates data similar to DoppleSleep but uses Wi-Fi signals instead of Doppler radar to interpret sleep quality. The key aspects of Wi-Sleep fall into signal processing, outlier detection, noise filtering, and interpolation of data to create a map of sleep quality patterns [4]. The drawbacks are that the devices do not obtain as many measurements as the PSG and the accuracy of measurements is unstable due to the environmental interruptions, such as other moving objects.

Table 1 shows a comparison between the three categories mentioned above. The low-cost aspect associated with high accuracy in the unobtrusive form factor is the main focus of the proposed study.

Sensing system	Sleep sensing parameters								
	Cost	Accuracy	Easy to	Body-	Breathing	Heart	Brain	Snoring	Muscle
			carry	motion	rate	rate	activity		tone
SmartWatch/fitness tracker	Low	Low	X	X					
Frequency sleep system	Low	Medium		X	X	X			
Polysomnography device	High	High		X	Х	X	Х	Х	Х

Table 1. Comparison of the existing sleep monitoring systems

3 Development of a Sleep Monitoring System

This study has utilized multimodal touchless sensor technology (i.e., Microsoft Kinect II depth sensor) that can unobtrusively and precisely collect a sleeping person's body positions. Two adults participated in this study. One is a male who is 33 years old (YO), 170 cm in height, and 75 kg in weight. The other one is an older female who is 84 YO, 155 cm in height, and 45 kg in weight. As shown in Fig. 1, the Kinect II depth sensor was located next to the bed, and it captured the participant's movements during sleep, for around four hours, for one night. The resolution of the depth image is 512×424 pixels, and each pixel has a distance in millimeters between the sensor and the participant. If the participant changes the sleep posture or position, the depth values will be continuously changed due to the minor distance changes between depth sensor and participants' body (note that the depth sensor is located in a fixed position). The sampling rate of the data was 30 frames per second. A computerized program was developed to record the data as shown in Fig. 2. The system calculates and shows an



Fig. 1. In-home experimental setup: MS Kinect II depth sensor.



Fig. 2. The proposed system for recording changes in depth between the sensor and the participant.

average distance of all the distances in each pixel. To protect the privacy of the participant, we didn't collect any identifiable images, such as a colored or infrared facial image.

4 Results

Figure 3(a) shows the mean distance changes as well as infrared images of the 85 YO female participant. Based on the visual analysis on the graph, it is anticipated that the first changing sleep position (CSP) occurred at 9:21:52 pm (hh:mm:ss). At that time, we anticipated that the participant changed her sleep position, so that the average depth data changed, which causes a small spike in the graph. If there is no spike (flat height in the graph), then we can anticipate that the participant does not change the sleep position over a certain amount of time. Similarly, the second CSP occurred at around 9:37:00 pm. However, after 11:22:56 pm, many spikes were shown in the graphs, which indicate many postural changes during that time, ultimately causing poor sleep quality. On the other hand, as shown in Fig. 3(b), the male participant showed relatively stable sleeping pattern throughout the experiment compared to the female participant. The male participant changed the sleep posture more frequently than the female participant, but once the position change occurred, then the male participant could stay the position more stable than the female participant. We can conclude that the young male participant well maintained the sleeping position compared to the older female participant, which indicate better sleep quality.



(b) male participant, 33 YO

Fig. 3. Measured mean distance for the two participants during the testing.

5 Discussion

Based on the literature review, we can conclude that an accurate, non-obtrusive, and cost-effective sleep monitoring system needs to be developed. A 3D depth sensor could be one of the possible solutions since it shows acceptable accuracy, a non-invasive technique, as well as a cost-effective method. For future study, we need to collect more human subject data to develop a computerized algorithm to detect sleep position changes. The system presented in this study could be applicable in senior care facilities since the data was collected from a home-based environment without attaching any sensors or wearables. Therefore, the system with the developed algorithm would be particularly useful to readily detect an abnormal sleep pattern change for a senior person.

Acknowledgements. This project was supported by a TCRF Program Development grant from Division of Research, Commercialization and Outreach at Texas A&M University-Corpus Christi.

References

- Ortman, J.M., Velkoff, V.A., Hogan, H.: An aging nation: the older population in the United States, pp. 25–1140. United States Census Bureau, Economics and Statistics Administration, US Department of Commerce (2014)
- Seneviratne, S., Hu, Y., Nguyen, T., Lan, G., Khalifa, S., Thilakarathna, K., Seneviratne, A.: A survey of wearable devices and challenges. IEEE Commun. Surv. Tutor. 19(4), 2573–2620 (2017)
- Rahman, T., Adams, A.T., Ravichandran, R.V., Zhang, M., Patel, S.N., Kientz, J.A., Choudhury, T.: DoppleSleep: a contactless unobtrusive sleep sensing system using shortrange Doppler radar. In: Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing, pp. 39–50. ACM, September 2015
- Liu, X., Cao, J., Tang, S., Wen, J., Guo, P.: Contactless respiration monitoring via off-theshelf WiFi devices. IEEE Trans. Mob. Comput. 15(10), 2466–2479 (2016)



Quantitative Evaluation of Pulse Diagnosis Using Capillary Blood Flow of Images

Yumie Osada^{1(\boxtimes)}, Fuminori Matsuura², Yoshinori Hirano¹, Xiaodan Lu³, Tomoko Ota³, Hiroyuki Hamada⁴, and Noriyuki Kida⁴

 ¹ NPO Corporation Five Elements Japan, Tokyo, Japan yumie28512@yahoo.co.jp
 ² FIVE APPLE, Tokyo, Japan
 ³ Chuo Business Group, Tokyo, Japan
 ⁴ Kyoto Institute of Technology, Kyoto, Japan

Abstract. In this research the purpose is to evaluate pulse diagnosis in "medical medicine" from a scientific point of view. Also it is scientifically assessing the relevance of the pointed out diet contents and pulse diagnosis. By evaluating and examining above, evaluating the usefulness of pulse diagnosis to health.

Keywords: Pulse diagnosis · Capillary blood flow

1 Introduction

When checking the pulse diagnosis as shown in Fig. 1, it is said that "Pulse diagnosis is a method of examining the state of disease by touching the pulse of the patient, grasping the strength and rapidness of the pulsation, hardness and thickness, ups and downs, etc.". Pulse diagnosis was generally used for examination because it is described in the medical book "Yellow Emperor Naka" which was around 220 BC, and has been involved in health care in a long history. Previously Western medicine also had a pulse diagnosis, and it was said that "I will diagnose the disease in the future" [1, 2].

As an example, when looking at the carotid artery and the radial artery at the same time, if both are coincident and striking a pulse, there is no abnormality in both the body and the environment at present, but if they do not match, either the current body or the environment is in a state where there is abnormality. Currently, the popularity of pulse diagnosis is low, we do not know exactly what to know by examining a pulse, "unclearness" is persistent as an image.

Also, individual differences greatly appear in the amount of information obtained by the skill of the technician performing pulse diagnosis. The data can be said the experience value. There is a present situation that it takes a very long time to master pulse diagnosis by getting that experience. One of authors took the data of the pulse of 40 thousand people and made decisions based on it. She spent about twenty years. As one of the factors that causes such a long period of time, since there are few scientific databases for pulse diagnosis, it is greatly influenced by the leadership skill of the

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 197–205, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_19



Fig. 1. Method of pulse diagnosis

expert. In other words, there is not much teaching curriculum, even if there is, it has become a sense world.

The purpose of this research was to quantitatively evaluate the pulse using the blood flow of the capillary and to compare with the result of the pulse diagnosis. Because there is no tool to judge the diet that really exists in each patient, it is important to communicate dietary care using pulse diagnosis. Although it is very effective as a tool, it is currently the case that there is no scientific database related to pulse diagnosis and food curing. Therefore, another purpose is that by using the meal content pointed out database was created.

2 Experiments

In order to measure the blood flow of the capillary, SC-10 scope manufactured by Vascular Beauty Co., Ltd. was used. All of the subjects and the capillary blood flow image of the left side of the ring finger were taken at the observation site. The reason why the fingertip of the fourth finger was used, the sympathetic nerves are gathered, so it is easier to measure the capillary than other fingers.

After the subject received a pulse diagnosis, one of authors pointed out and then it was recorded the contents of the speech with a voice recorder and raised it in letters.

3 Pulse Diagnosis Method

The method of the pulse diagnosis was as shown in Fig. 2;



Fig. 2. Method of pulse diagnosis, the position of the finger, ① was assigned the index finger, ② was for the middle finger ③ was for the ring finger respectively.

- Check with left hand, this is because of the hormonal relationship.
- Using the pulsation of the radial artery, the radial artery runs throughout the body, and as a result, weak parts with strong pulse can be judged by pulsation from the body surface.
- Concerning the position of the finger, ① was assigned the index finger, ② was for the middle finger ③ was for the ring finger respectively. Organs are assigned each finger.

The reason for dividing this single pulse into three is that in medicine, Yin and Yang are assigned to the pulse of the wrist and divided into upper focus, middle focus, and lower focus, so that the part of the pulse of (1), (2) and (3) was separated.

The pulse diagnosis method in this paper was based on statistics. The pulse of ① pulse is accompanied by arrhythmia, when we feel arrhythmia in a shallow place, it related to the heart. When we feel arrhythmia in the deep place it related to the large intestine. When the heart activity begins to decline, the peristalsis of the large intestine also decreases. When there is no arrhythmia, it means a drop in the lungs. If the lung drops, it means a decrease in the brain. When the liver of ② pulse expresses abnormality, it accompanies itching and pain in the body, when the liver declines, absorbing amino acids from the small intestine starts to decline. When the pancreas, the pulse feels strong, as the pancreas starts to decline, absorption of hormones also begins to

decrease in the gallbladder. ③ pulse represents kidney decline. The digestion problems arise when the peristaltic movement of the stomach starts to decline. The view of the viscera is described. In medicine, because of the idea divided into Yin and Yang, the organ is heavy, so think it as a shade, feel it downward. The understood is thought as hollow, feel it upward. From the relationship of hormones, peristalsis movement is detected in the depths below.

The judgment of pulse diagnosis was mentioned as follows; First, when a pulse is pressed with a force of 8 g or less, a state of pulse is called "magma pulse" And if we apply pressure more than 9 g, it is "glacier pulse" state. In short, magma pulse means a state with heat in the body and the connection with sympathetic nerve is strong and also sympathetic nerve moves blood flow quickly. The glacial pulse is a state in which the parasympathetic nerve is dominant and the pulse is also decreasing due to some activity of the internal organs. The grade, level, stage of the pulse was described. When evaluating the strength of the pulse, it is not only the feeling but also a five-point evaluation using numerical values. These five stages can be applied to each pulse number and quantified. The pulse rate is measured by hitting in one minute.

There are 90 participants with 50 males and 40 females.

4 Results

4.1 Examples

The evaluation method of capillary image as shown in Fig. 3 was mentioned. The evaluation items are five items of length, thickness, twist, size of the loop and collapse. Ideally it is a state in which blood vessels on straight hairpins are lined up regularly. For five items was evaluated as $\bigcirc \Delta \times$, three grades.

- Length is given as \bigcirc , slightly short is \triangle and short is \times .
- The thickness of this figure is \bigcirc , if it is thin, it is Δ , and if it becomes thick, it is \times
- In the middle of this figure the veins crossed. If it is up to one, \bigcirc is score, and 2 to 3 is Δ , 4 or more is \times .
- The size of the loop is this state \bigcirc . If the loop is thin, \triangle is score and \times is score if the loop is thick
- In the collapsed state, the middle part of the blood vessel seems to be collapsed. The photograph was evaluated as \bigcirc , and 2 to 3 is \triangle , 4 or more is \times .

Figure 4 is an example of the data. For comparison with the previous good condition, it is all \times . It is obvious from the previous case, because both the length and thickness are all not good condition.

Figure 5 is a state of poor blood flow. In such a good state and a bad state, there is a big difference in the capillary blood vessel image. This is no longer showing the blood vessel image well. The evaluation of the three stages is also not enough. This state is a picture that took a whole lot also, but this is that the basic physical strength is declining.



Fig. 3. Good example of capillary image

10 1 10 0 10 V	length	×
8	thickness	×
18 7	twist	×
	size of the loop	×
	collapse	×
1 - Carlos - U	conupse	

Fig. 4. Bad example of capillary image; five items of length, thickness, twist, size of the loop and collapse are all \times .

4.2 Relation Between Pulse Diagnosis and Capillary Image

In this section Relation between pulse diagnosis and capillary image was mentioned by using 5 examples in which participant's disease was known. In the next section the food regulation for each participant are described.

Allergies. The first example was shown in Fig. 6 and this is the result of the blood flow measurement image of those who have allergies. The evaluation level of length,



Fig. 5. Example of poor blood flow

thickness, twist, size of the loop, collapse is indicated. When to see this allergy, the size of the loop was pointed out.



Fig. 6. The example of the blood flow measurement image of those who have allergies. The pulse diagnosis results; "glacier pulse", grade $(12)^2$

This is the result of pulse diagnosis for this person. First of all, this person is a glacier pulse, the grade of the pulse ① was 1, that of the pulse of ② was 2 and for the pulse of ③ the grade was 2. The allergy of this one comes from the drop of the small intestine. Noteworthy point is the size of the loop. Pulse rate was normal.

Dialyzed. Figure 7 is a pulse that tends to be dialyzed. The point to pay attention to in a pulse that is likely to be dialyzed is the length. The result of pulse diagnosis is a characteristic in grade. (1) It is like a pulse with the pulse of the pulse (2) of the pulse (2) in the same, like a straw. And pay attention to the length of blood flow measurement image. Pulse rate is early.



Fig. 7. The example of the blood flow measurement image of those who tends to be dialyzed. The pulse diagnosis results; "glacier pulse", grade $\bigcirc 3 \bigcirc 3 \bigcirc 3$

Allergies (2). The next example is also allergic as shown in Fig. 8, so the size of loop was paid attention just as before. The result of pulse diagnosis is indicated. Since allergy of this person felt in the shallow part of ②, allergy is coming from a decline of the liver. The pulse was normal.



Fig. 8. The second example of the blood flow measurement image of those who have allergies. The pulse diagnosis results; "glacier pulse", grade (1)(2)(3)(2)

Hay Fever. The next one is the result of those who have hay fever as shown in Fig. 9.

The five-grade evaluation is as described, because it becomes the classification of allergy, the size of the loop was paid attention. The result of the pulse diagnosis is indicated. In the glacial pulse, the pulse of ② is falling. In this case poll enosis from the pancreas is occurring, and the pulse rate is normal.



Fig. 9. The example of the blood flow measurement image of those who have hay fever. The pulse diagnosis results; "glacier pulse", grade (13)(2)(3)

Thyroid Gland. This person is a pulse that tends to be a thyroid gland as shown in Fig. 10. The grade is all the same 3, in this case the twist was paid attention. The vibe was felt, so that thyroid activity is low. The pulse rate is early.



Fig. 10. The example of the blood flow measurement image of those who tends to be a thyroid gland. The pulse diagnosis results; "glacier pulse", grade 032333

4.3 Dietary Regimens

In this section dietary regimens for each person were described. For person of allergic, it is in a state that additives are accumulated in the body, because it is allergic. The digestive enzymes of the small intestine are lowered, so that the convenience store foods, dishes, canned coffee, supplements, etc., should not be taken, because there are many additives. The recommendation was to eat pork with abundant vitamin B1, and to drink water up to 500–1500 ml a day. The small intestine is the final stage of digestion, and it can be said that the intestinal environment has declined due to food additives.

The result of Dialyzed patient is the content of such guidance. In the case of this person, because kidneys were reduced by potassium, a lot of potassium should be refrained. Also, to eat ingredient with a lot of folic acid of hematopoietic vitamin was recommended.

The result of example 3 was mentioned as following guidance. When the liver is declining, it is susceptible to the influence of the toxicity of solanaceae, so it should be refrained from it.

Regarding to example 4, the recommendation was that this person should refrain from this food so as not to further enhance sympathetic nerve, and conversely, this person eat the food whose parasympathetic nerves rise.

For example 5, this person also needs folic acid. Because of thyroid gland, this food that iodine will go up should be refrained.

5 Conclusion

According to this research, in the future, in order to inform the general public of this pulse diagnosis, persuasive power will increase and awareness will be raised. Accumulation of data, pulse diagnosis will be also collected data with a view to mechanization. The relationship between pulse diagnosis and disease can be evaluated by accumulating data of more diseases.

References

- 1. Narumi, K., et al.: Development and experimental validation of mathematical model for acquisition of information in pulse diagnosis. Proc. Biofrontier. **17**, 55–56 (2006)
- Takashima, M., et al.: Development of new apparatus for oriental pulse diagnosis. Jpn. J. Orient. Med. 47(4), 635–643 (1997)

Medical Device Development



Finding Health Care Usability and Safety Issues in Consumer Product Reviews

Helen J. A. Fuller^{$1(\boxtimes)$} and Timothy Arnold^{1,2}

¹ VA National Center for Patient Safety, Ann Arbor, MI, USA {Helen.Fuller, Timothy. Arnold4}@va.gov

² University of Michigan, College of Pharmacy, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

Abstract. Multiple techniques exist for eliciting usability and safety information related to product design. These methods work well for some types of use scenarios but have limitations. This work proposes a supplemental method of obtaining information relevant to usability and safety by systematically evaluating consumer reviews of medical devices using Natural Language Processing (NLP) techniques. Results include valuable information about categories of use, user priorities, and sources of user confusion. This project described a new method for gathering information from end users of medical devices. The information extracted may be useful to clinicians, manufacturers, and patient educators.

Keywords: Human factors · Usability · Patient safety · Safety · Natural Language Processing (NLP)

1 Introduction

Practitioners in the fields of human factors, usability, and user experience employ multiple methods for identifying and understanding usability concerns. Some commonly used examples include heuristic evaluation, usability testing, structured interviews, and surveys.

Accessing a large pool of representative end users can be a significant challenge. When selecting clinician users, it can be difficult to find participants who have the time in a busy clinical schedule for a usability evaluation. When targeting patient end users, finding a representative sample can be a challenge.

In addition, in most usability studies, users interact with a device or system over a short period of time in a controlled laboratory setting. For example, Hornbæk found that the median duration of product use in traditional usability studies was 30 minutes [1]. While this study format has advantages in terms of controlling variability, reducing confounders, and increasing statistical power, it can be difficult to ensure participants behave as they would in their everyday interactions.

Within the field of health care, usability issues often create patient safety concerns. Patient harm may result when a medical device or product is used incorrectly or cannot be used due to confusion over instructions or the device interface. Increasingly, health care is being performed in the home setting, and the user may be the patient.

This work explores a new and supplemental avenue for identifying safety and usability concerns with health care products by using Natural Language Processing

This is a U.S. government work and not under copyright protection in the U.S.; foreign copyright protection may apply 2020 N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 209–218, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_20

The original version of this chapter was revised: a few typographical errors were corrected. The correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_34

(NLP) to explore online reviews. This is the first example we have found of mining consumer product reviews of patient-facing devices and equipment for information on usability and patient safety concerns.

1.1 Usability, User Experience, and Patient Safety

Designers, purchasers, and end users are often interested in the usability and user experience (UX) of a particular product. Within the field of health care, usability concerns can be associated with safety hazards. For the purposes of the discussion in this paper, we will use the following definitions of usability, user experience, and patient safety, from the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and the World Health Organization (WHO).

Usability. The extent to which a product can be used by specified users to achieve specific goals with effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction in a specified context of use [2].

User Experience. A person's perceptions and responses that result from the use and/or anticipated use of a product, system, or service [3].

Patient Safety. The absence of preventable harm to a patient during the process of health care and reduction of risk of unnecessary harm associated with health care to an acceptable minimum [4].

Five classic dimensions of usability are effectiveness/errors, efficiency, satisfaction, learnability, and memorability [5]. There is variability among researchers in the dimensions of UX, but some sample dimensions are likeability, trust, support, and frustration [6].

1.2 Previous Research on Consumer Text

Due to limitations of traditional usability and UX experimental methods, some researchers have explored utilizing alternate sources such as consumer-generated text from existing online sources for usability information. Hedegaard and Simonsen proposed looking at online product reviews for dimensions of usability that require longer term evaluations such as learnability and memorability [6]. They attempted to quantify the amount of usability and user experience (UUX) information and dimensions in online reviews within the domains of software and video games and found that 49% of sentences in studied reviews contained information relevant to usability or UX [6].

Other work has focused on identifying language describing product use and assessing online reviews in the context of marketing research. For example, Lahiri and colleagues performed text classification to identify portions of online reviews with usage expressions [7]. Zhang and colleagues studied electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) to determine how users evaluate its usefulness [8].

Researchers have also explored the use of consumer text in the field of health care. Pharmaceutical companies have monitored online social conversations for post-market drug research [9-11]. Vydiswaran and colleagues used phrases from consumer-generated text to identify consumer health vocabulary [12]. Torii and colleagues
searched online product reviews and utilized machine learning to locate health-related information [13].

Previous attempts at machine learning solutions have had mixed results [e.g., 6, 14]. Therefore, we used a manual approach aided by NLP software to filter reviews and identify ones with likely information for close review.

2 Methods

This work included identifying a health care product with patient end-users, acquiring reviews, and processing the resulting text to identify usability themes. Because of the large volume of consumer reviews, we sought an efficient approach to extract enough relevant information to facilitate a deeper understanding into the design of a medical device.

2.1 Product Selection and Review Extraction

For the purposes of this proof-of-concept work, we selected a health care product that is commonly used by non-clinicians: a glucometer.

For simplicity, we focused on two models that represented a large share of the market and pulled reviews from an online retailer. There were 463 total reviews considered for one model and 160 reviews for the second model. Because the purpose of this study was to determine what types of usability information can be gleaned from online reviews, the findings were aggregated rather than used to compare the models to each other.

2.2 Review Analysis Techniques

We employed natural language processing in PolyAnalystTM [15] to retrieve reviews and analyze the language of the reporters. In an iterative approach, we used text clustering techniques to explore themes and sentiment analysis to identify processes or components of the device that users found worked well or were difficult.

We extracted individual consumer reviews into a spreadsheet format utilizing regular expressions. Next, we performed sentiment analysis on this data set through the extraction of a subject, an evaluation, and the object of the evaluation. This was used as a filter to identify positive and negative sentiment in reviews.

Features were manually reviewed and expanded as necessary to review context. Conceptualization from review of the sentiment analysis and context informed the design of subqueries and formulation of a taxonomy of negative and positive sentiment towards use types, use settings, and user characteristics. This method grouped similar concepts for focused review.

The focus of this inquiry was not on quantitative results such as number or proportion of users experiencing a problem. Instead, the goal was to efficiently identify positive and negative attitudes towards the use of a medical device that might describe safety and usability characteristics related to design.

3 Results

3.1 Categories of Users and Use Environments

Information provided in some of the reviews suggested different types of users. By utilizing the query node, we were able to search for additional categories with which users self-identified or types of user concerns that could be used to group users into categories. The user categories identified in the reviews are shown in Table 1.

User	Example(s)				
category/concern					
Diabetes (Type I)	Using device to determine insulin dosing				
Diabetes (Type II)	Using device to determine how to modify diet				
Gestational diabetes	Monitoring blood sugar to determine whether it can be controlled by diet or medication is necessary				
Pre-diabetes	Monitoring blood sugar due to concerns with high blood sugar but not diagnosed as diabetic				
	"I have recently been told that I am prediabetic"				
	"I had gestational diabetes during my previous pregnancy, so I bought this				
	meter to monitor my level before I was tested and referred to the diabetes center"				
Low blood sugar	Monitoring blood sugar due to concerns with low blood sugar				
Following a diet	Monitoring blood sugar for ketogenic diet				
	Using to determine impact of an artificial sweetener on blood sugar level				
Emergency	Paramedic/EMT				
responder	Firefighter				
	Gym owner				
Caregiver	"My mom is 60 years old, and she has type 2 diabetes, high blood				
	pressure, high blood sugar, and high cholesterolWe use it every				
	evening, and it's helping us stay on track with her blood sugar levels"				
Curious	"I am not diabetic, but like to check my blood glucose every so often"				
Pet owner	Used for diabetic cat or dog				

Table 1. Self-identified categories of users from reviews.

Reviewers also identified characteristics of users that may affect device usability. For example, one reviewer noted difficulty using the lancet to draw blood and stated, "I have some thicker skin from being a mechanic a long time ago."

Some of the reviews also identified specific use environments that may have distinct characteristics and usability requirements. One example is travel or, more generally, use of the device outside the home. Reviews that identified this issue focused on portability. Another category of use was in low light conditions, such as at night. A reviewer noted that the lack of a display backlight makes it difficult to use the device to check blood sugar in the middle of the night.

3.2 User Opinions

When end users described features that they liked or found frustrating, they often used words that conveyed positive or negative emotions. Sentiment analysis allowed us to extract such reviews to manually review how users described their experiences with specific features (Fig. 1).

HeadObject	1 Negative	1 Positive	1.5 Average degree
general evaluation	15	94	2.74
product	7	49	3.16
price	0	24	4.04
kit	1	21	3.86
strip	9	4	-1.15
device	5	8	1.00
result	2	8	1.60
service	3	-5	1.63
reading	3	4	0.14
unit	3	3	-0.17
machine	1	4	2.40
monitor	1	4	3.20
instruction	2	2	-0.50
deal	0	4	4.00
problem	0	3	2.00
purchase	0	3	3.67
work	0	13	3.00

Fig. 1. This example sentiment analysis output suggests areas of user satisfaction and concern.

The term co-occurrence network provided a visualization of the interactions and relationships between key words and phrases found in the reviews (Fig. 2). These visualizations both suggested useful starting places for manual review of the reviews and called attention to phrases within the reviews that identified particular user concerns regarding both functionality and usability of the glucometers.

The primary concern identified in the reviews was one of accuracy of the glucometer, including a lack of match with the expected value for the test solution. Multiple users described designing their own tests to measure repeatability and finding variability in readings taken over a short period of time. In addition, one user wrote about obtaining the same value on four tests spread out over approximately 36 hours.

Some users also expressed concern that the test solution permits readings within a range of values that is too wide to be clinically useful. In addition, users identified the lack of availability of the test solution as a barrier to use of the glucometer.

A lancet is a component of the blood sugar testing system that was included with both glucometers. The lancet is used with a needle to prick the user's skin to obtain a blood sample for testing. Some of the reviews identified concerns with the lancet such as difficulty opening it to insert new needles and difficulty removing the cap, inability to draw blood with it, and the impression that it breaks easily.

One user identified an issue that violates the flexibility heuristic [16], writing, "My only issue is that I can't erase individual results. If I want to erase one result I have to



Fig. 2. This term cooccurrence network provides a visualization of the relationships between important terms in the reviews. The colors aid in visualizing meaningful cooccurrences.

erase all results." Another noted, "During the meter setup, I set the date and time. The setup process skipped over the AM/PM setting, meaning that you can only set the time during PM hours."

Other concerns that were mentioned in reviews included the unit not beeping even when sounds were enabled and the unit ceasing to work after a short period of time, including after checking and changing the batteries. In many of the above examples, there was not enough detail in those reviews to make a definitive determination of whether these were functionality or usability concerns.

It would not be surprising to find that some of the complaints issued by users were related to poor usability of the instructions and learnability of the device. Multiple reviewers noted that the instructions were difficult to understand. These included statements such as, "instruction [sic] were impossible," and, "the instructions for the lancet are exceptionally poor." One user stated the device came with multiple instruction manuals that contained different instructions.

There were also complaints about the frequency of error messages, as illustrated by the following sample reviews:

- "I've used it 10 times now and got an error 5 times. At which point, I have no choice but to poke myself again and pray it works."
- "Also, each time i check, I have to use at least 3 test strips because I get 'error' messages. One time I had to use 7!!"

3.3 User Priorities

The positive sentiments found in the reviews were useful in identifying user priorities for a glucometer and, more generally, a blood sugar testing system. For example, there were many positive reviews related to the low price, indicating this is a priority for patients.

Another subset of positive reviews focused on how the glucometer required only a small amount of blood. Example statements included:

- "A small amount of blood is needed for the reading."
- "Needs a little blood to work."
- "Measures with a small drop of blood."

Several reviewers noted that using the lancet device was less painful than expected. One reviewer wrote, "The lancing device is also great. I didn't know there was a difference in them. I didn't think it worked till I squeezed my finger! I didn't even feel it!" Reviewers also appreciated the ability to use different test sites to draw blood.

Based on reviews, the ability to obtain rapid results and the ability to obtain accurate results were also user priorities.

3.4 User Workarounds

A subset of the reviews identified a user concern along with a technique the user had found to make the system work as desired. For example, one user wrote, "My ONLY Complaint is the way the test unit is shaped.... the sides of the unit where you grip it are tapered in at the bottom and very smooth with no place to get a good grip, It constantly popped out of my grip if I squeezed the sides... I FIXED that problem by placing thin strips of textured tape to the sides to give me a grip and no problems since."

A related theme identified in reviews is patients' desire to use a device outside of the intended parameters. Multiple users described their frustration at the inability to use expired test strips with one of the glucometers. Reviews suggest that this is something they are accustomed to doing with other devices.

4 Discussion

This project described a new method for gathering information from end users of medical devices and products. It focused on non-clinician users of medical devices, which is a group of users that may be more difficult to access in traditional ways for people in the medical device community. In addition, this is a segment of the user population that is growing as more people manage components of their health care in home settings.

This method was useful for identifying user concerns with existing product features as well as user priorities, which could be valuable for product redesign teams. It also facilitates the definition of user categories and contexts of use.

User concerns can identify areas for additional investigation. For example, one user noted that it was impossible to correctly set the time during morning hours. Further evaluation of the device and user manual are required to determine whether this is a true feature of the device, a malfunction of the device, or the user had difficulty utilizing the device correctly or interpreting instructions. This would then allow the manufacturer to explore what actions might be appropriate.

The level of frustration contained in some of the reviews suggests users may not understand why the glucometer is generating an error message. Negative sentiments related to the user guide may also point to a potential area for improvement.

Based on the reviews, users appeared to find error messages frustrating both due to the cost of using additional strips and the need to obtain a new blood sample. It is important to capture and address these user concerns due to the potential for them to reduce patient adherence to a prescribed treatment protocol. In the case of a glucometer, if patients find testing to be unacceptably burdensome due to cost, pain, frustration, or other reasons, they may be less likely to use the glucometer at the appropriate times.

There are several limitations to this method of using consumer-generated text to identify usability and safety concerns. They primarily relate to representativeness of the sample and availability of relevant information.

In previous studies, researchers have found that very satisfied and very dissatisfied customers were more likely to engage in word-of-mouth (WOM) communications [e.g., 17]. This finding was confirmed for electronic WOM in a study that found that 53% of products on Amazon had a bimodal score distribution [18]. This indicates average consumer scores may be misguiding and that information extracted from reviews may not be indicative of the experience of the average user. However, this may not be an issue for the purposes of identifying usability problems that may result in patient safety concerns, because such issues often occur at the tail ends of use conditions and the user population.

The information provided in the overall corpus of the reviews was both limited and uneven. The reviews contain few details about reviewers. Usability depends on the product, task, user, and circumstances, but not all of this contextual information was provided in every review. Therefore, even reviews that included usability information may not have enough detail for this information to be interpreted correctly.

With any anonymous reviewing system, there may be fake reviews. Our analysis was relatively insensitive to this possibility, however, because we focused on the review text rather than the star rating. In addition, we were primarily interested in specific accounts of usability and safety concerns rather than positive or negative sentiments regarding functionality.

Online reviews tend to represent some dimensions of usability and UX more prominently than others, and this may be dependent on the product category. For example, a previous study of online reviews found reviewers tended not to mention some important dimensions such as memorability and efficiency but often discussed likeability [6]. The same study found that the dimension of support is rare in video game reviews but more prevalent in software reviews.

Due to necessity, the focus of this inquiry was on qualitative rather than quantitative results. The majority of users did not supply information that would facilitate categorization, so it is not possible to determine percentages of users who self-identify with each characteristic. In addition, because the reviewers were likely not a representative sample, it was impossible to determine the number or proportion of users experiencing a certain problem. This limitation was balanced by the strength of this method at allowing efficient access to a portion of the population that might be difficult to reach using other methods.

An additional limitation of utilizing consumer reviews to identify usability and safety concerns, identified in previous studies [e.g., 14] is that reviews are only available after a product is launched. There is an ethical concern with using end users as product testers, perhaps especially in the health care domain. However, some hazards may not be discoverable during testing in controlled environments, and it is important to discover unintended consequences during actual product use. In addition, such review would fit well with the Food and Drug Administration's guidance on including post-market use error problems in the Human Factors Engineering/Usability Engineering report [19].

Due to the limitations as well as the ethical concerns, this method should be considered an addition to rather than a replacement for traditional usability testing. For example, user characteristics identified from the reviews could be used to inform the development of user personas for future usability testing.

Future work could examine product features and related consumer sentiments hierarchically. One method could be to incorporate the Hierarchical Learning process and Sentiment Ontology Tree (HL-SOT) approach described by Wei and Gulla [20]. It may also be important to consider how the language patients use may differ from professional terminologies. Techniques for extracting consumer health vocabulary were discussed by Vydiswaran and colleagues [12].

Much of the information extracted from these reviews using the method described may be useful to clinicians, manufacturers, and patient educators. Functionality concerns could suggest quality issues with the product. Alternately, if the manufacturer is unable to replicate functionality problems, there may be a usability or education issue that causes a gap between the user's expectations and the product's performance.

Reviews that describe use outside of the intended parameters may suggest a possible vulnerability or safety hazard. It may be that the interface of the device does not appropriately inform against this activity. However, such reports also present an opportunity to expand functionality in ways that users desire. Finally, they open a window into the thought processes of users, presenting evidence of risk assessment by the patient end-users.

Acknowledgments. We would like to thank everybody at the VA National Center for Patient Safety for their commitment to patient safety. There were no relevant financial relationships or any source of support in the forms of grants, equipment, or drugs. The authors declare no conflict of interest. The opinions expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the Veterans Administration.

References

- 1. Hornbæk, K.: Current practice in measuring usability: challenges to usability studies and research. Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud. 64, 79–102 (2006)
- ISO 9241-11: Ergonomic requirements for office work with visual display terminals (vdts)part 11: guidance on usability (1998)

- 3. ISO 9241-210: Human-centered design process for interactive systems (2010)
- World Health Organization (WHO): Patient safety, 4 February 2019. https://www.who.int/ patientsafety/en/
- Seffah, A., Donyaee, M., Kline, R.B., Padda, H.K.: Usability measurement and metrics: a consolidated model. Softw. Qual. J. 14, 159–178 (2006)
- Hedegaard, S., Simonsen, J.G.: Extracting usability and user experience information from online user reviews. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 2089–2098. ACM (2013)
- Lahiri, S., Vydiswaran, V.V., Mihalcea, R.: Identifying usage expression sentences in consumer product reviews. In: Proceedings of the Eighth International Joint Conference on Natural Language Processing, pp. 394–403 (2017)
- Zhang, J.Q., Craciun, G., Shin, D.: When does electronic word-of-mouth matter? A study of consumer product reviews. J. Bus. Res. 63, 1336–1341 (2010)
- Frost, J., Okun, S., Vaughan, T., Heywood, J., Wicks, P.: Patient-reported outcomes as a source of evidence in off-label prescribing: analysis of data from PatientsLikeMe. J. Med. Internet Res. 13, e6 (2011)
- Pearson, J.F., Brownstein, C.A., Brownstein, J.S.: Potential for electronic health records and online social networking to redefine medical research. Clin. Chem. 57, 196–204 (2011)
- Bian, J., Topaloglu, U., Yu, F.: Towards large-scale Twitter mining for drug-related adverse events. In: Proceedings of 2013 ACM International Workshop on Smart Health and Wellbeing, pp. 25–32 (2012)
- Vydiswaran, V.V., Mei, Q., Hanauer, D.A., Zheng, K.: Mining consumer health vocabulary from community-generated text. In: AMIA Annual Symposium Proceedings, pp. 1150–1159 (2014)
- Torii, M., Tilak, S.S., Doan, S., Zisook, D.S., Fan, J.W.: Mining health-related issues in consumer product reviews by using scalable text analytics. Biomed. Inform. Insights 8(S1), 1–11 (2016)
- Bakiu, E., Guzman, E.: Which feature is unusable? Detecting usability and user experience issues from user reviews. In: IEEE 25th International Requirements Engineering Conference Workshops (REW) (2017)
- 15. Megaputer Intelligence: PolyAnalyst Professional: Version 6.5.2030. Data & Text Analysis Software. Bloomington, Indiana (2018)
- Nielsen, J.: Enhancing the explanatory power of usability heuristics. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pp. 152–158 (1994)
- 17. Anderson, E.W.: Customer satisfaction and word of mouth. J. Serv. Res. 1(1), 5-17 (1998)
- Hu, N., Pavlou, P.A., Zhang, J.: Can online reviews reveal a product's true quality? Empirical findings and analytical modeling of online word-of-mouth communication. In: Proceedings of the 7th ACM Conference on Electronic Commerce, pp. 324–330. Ann Arbor, MI (2006)
- Food and Drug Administration (FDA): Applying human factors and usability engineering to medical devices: guidance for Industry and Food and Drug Administration Staff (3 February 2016) https://www.fda.gov/media/80481/download
- Wei, W., Gulla, J.A.: Sentiment learning on product reviews via sentiment ontology tree. In: Proceedings of the 48th Annual Meeting of the Association for Computational Linguistics, pp. 404–413 (2010)



Preventing Chemotherapy-Induced Onycholysis with the Use of an Active Local Cooling Device

Muriel De Boeck^(⊠), Jochen Vleugels, Marc Peeters, and Guido De Bruyne

Department Product Development, University of Antwerp, Ambtmanstraat 1, 2000 Antwerp, Belgium {muriel.deboeck,jochen.vleugels,marc.peeters, guido.debruyne}@uantwerpen.be

Abstract. Chemotherapy-induced onycholysis is a severe form of nail toxicity, characterized by partial or complete detachment of the nail from the nail bed. This medical condition is caused by the presence of taxanes in the patient's blood while undergoing chemotherapy and is observed in 0 to 44% of cancer patients. The taxanes limit rapid cell reproduction, treating cancer, but also bring deterioration to the nail and nail bed structure. Cryotherapy is currently used in the form of passive cooling for the prevention of onycholysis. Ice gloves are cryotherapeutic applications that are used during chemotherapy to prevent nail toxicity. Although they are significantly effective, they cause extreme cold and pain. In this research, the effectiveness of a five-finger active cooling device was examined to control the blood flow at the distal phalanges at one hand, while increasing the patient's comfort.

Keywords: Chemotherapy \cdot Nail toxicity \cdot Onycholysis \cdot Cryotherapy \cdot Cold-Induced Vasodilation

1 Introduction

Patients treated with systemic anticancer drugs often show adverse toxic events to their nails [1]. Some nail toxicities can affect both the nail plate and bed, which causes pain and functional impairment [2]. Onycholysis is a severe form of nail toxicity where the nail partially or completely detaches from the nail bed [3]. This medical condition is reported to develop with up to 44% of the patients undergoing a systemic cancer treatment [4, 5].

Onycholysis is nearly exclusively associated with cytotoxic chemicals taxanes (principally docetaxel and paclitaxel) and anthracyclines, which are commonly used for curing prostate, breast, ovarian, lung and stomach cancer [6]. These chemicals provide a toxic effect to the bed epithelium, which will interrupt the process of melanocytes and will inroad between the structures that holds the nail on its nail bed [4].

Nail disorder categories were expanded into three grades, which were recorded in the National Cancer Institute Common Toxicity Criteria (NCI-CTC, version 3) [7, 8].

The first grade is the least severe category with discoloration of the nails and ridging or pitting. The pitting is caused by a defect in the uppermost layer of the nail plate. These pits can vary in morphology and distribution [9]. The second grade includes partial loss of nails or pain in the nail beds, but not interfering with function. Lastly, the third category contains partial to even complete loss of the nail or having pain in the nail beds interfering with activities of daily living (ADL).

Cryotherapy – or cold therapy – is the therapeutic use of extreme cold and has been found to decrease the effects of onycholysis and other chemotherapy-induced complications [10]. Cryotherapy invokes local cold-induced vasoconstriction (CIVC), which causes a decreased blood flow and therefore limits the transport of chemotherapeutic agents towards the nail beds. After five to ten minutes of extreme cold, the vessels start to dilate again as a protection mechanism of the body to prevent cold-induced tissue damages [11]. This effect is called cold-induced vasodilation (CIVD), which has a negative impact on the usefulness of the cryotherapeutic treatment [12]. During a period of long exposure of cold, a so-called hunting reaction will take place, which is characterized by interchanging periods of vasodilation and vasoconstriction.

Examples of currently used passive cooling techniques to obtain vasoconstriction are gel-filled frozen gloves and socks and cold caps, which are refrigerated and need to be worn for a total of 90 min (15 min before the administration of the cytotoxic drug, 60 min during the drug infusion and 15 min after the infusion) [7, 13, 14]. These cryotherapeutic applications are usually frozen at a temperature of -20 to -30 °C, although Ishiguro et al. have shown that convenient preparation of frozen gloves at -10 to -20 °C is almost as effective as the standard preparation, with significantly less discomfort [15]. Since these passive cooling applications warm up during use, they have to be replaced by cold new ones. The gloves and socks are used for protecting the nails to reduce the risk of onycholysis, while the cold cap is placed on the patient's head to minimize the hair loss or alopecia. The frozen gloves and socks significantly reduce nail toxicity, with Scotté et al. reporting a drop in overall occurrence of nail toxicity from 51 to 11% [14].

Since cooling is applied passively, the temperature inside the gloves and socks does not remain constant. This problem can be addressed by implementing an active local cooling system that is capable of maintaining a low temperature. Earlier studies have evaluated active cooling devices based on Peltier elements for controlling blood flow in the fingertips. A primary prototype enabled cooling the lateral sides of the middle and distal phalanges [16, 17]. Results showed that active cooling could become an effective means to control blood flow. Cooling the lateral sides of the fingers was unfortunately not always comfortable regarding the hands pose, and the studies showed difficulties in interpreting the thermal responses at the fingertips due to local active cooling. To improve comfort and enhance control of vasoconstriction on the fingertips, it was tried to cool the palmar side of the finger with the use of a one-finger prototype [18]. Arteriovenous anastomoses (AVA's), that allow vasoconstriction, are namely found at the palmar side of the hand while the location may also allow designing a device that can be grasped more comfortably. The one-finger active cooling prototype improved controlling the blood flow towards a predefined set point as compared to the devices that provide cooling on the lateral sides of the fingers. For this study, cooling based on coolant was used as an alternative method of cooling since it provides a greater cooling

capacity and does not require cooling fins enabling a compacter infrastructure compared to cooling based on Peltier elements.

The aim of this research was to examine the effectiveness of a five-finger active cooling device based on coolant to control the blood flow under the nail bed at the distal phalanges of one hand. This to enhance the effectivity of active local cooling to reduce nail toxicity during cancer treatments.

2 Methods

2.1 Participants

Twelve healthy test persons – six men and six women, aged between 18 and 40 years – participated this study. All participants had to sign an informed consent prior to the tests. People who suffer from cold intolerance, perniosis, Raynaud syndrome or other cardiovascular diseases were excluded from participating to eliminate any external factors influencing the digital blood flow. Each subject was asked not to drink any alcohol the night before the test and was not allowed to eat or drink hot beverages during the test.

2.2 Materials and Set-Up

In this study, a five-finger active cooling system was developed that allows cooling of the palmar side of the distal phalanges of one hand, as shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Placement of the hand on the cooling device.

The cooling is induced with cooling liquid that is cooled in a freezer and circulated towards the cooling device. The cooling system of the hand was controlled by a microcontroller. A computer was connected to the microcontroller to record and monitor the data obtained during the experiments. Twenty-four NTC thermistors were placed on the Peltier elements for controlling internal temperature of the device. Finger skin temperature (and thus blood flow at the nail bed) was measured with five NTC thermistors at the dorsal side of the distal phalanges of the right hand. A last NTC thermistor was placed under the armpit as indicator for body temperature. A schematic illustration of the complete test setup is shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of the experiment setup.

2.3 Protocol

The tests were conducted in November 2017. The examination room was kept at the same temperature. The participants were asked to wear similar clothes during each test: a long pair of trousers, a T-shirt and a thin sweater. They were not allowed to eat right before or during the test and not allowed to remove their finger from the device. Each person retained the right to discontinue his or her participation in the study at any time. Before being tested, each person has to acclimatise for twenty minutes at a room temperature of 21 °C. Afterwards, the cooling strategy was tested.

2.4 Cooling Strategy

The first fifteen minutes of each test were used to normalise the finger temperature of each participant, this by controlling the Peltier elements at a temperature of 20 °C. The mean temperature of the finger during this first period was calculated for each person for each test and was seen as the reference temperature. For every second after this period, the difference between the current finger temperature and the reference temperature was calculated and used as variable *delta time* (Δ t). This was done to neutralise the effect of the natural body temperature of every test subject. Subsequently, it was aimed to control the palmar side of the distal phalanges at 2 °C for 60 min (independent variable). The dependent variable is blood flow at the nail bed, quantified as

the finger temperature on the dorsal side of the finger. The course of the variable Δt during the test indicated the effectiveness of the cooling.

3 Results

3.1 Effectiveness of Cooling

The results showed an average temperature reduction on the dorsal side of the distal phalanges of 4.81 $^{\circ}$ C (SD 1.91 $^{\circ}$ C) during the 60 minute-trial, which indicates that the cooling strategy allowed to reduce blood flow at the fingertip.

The degree of correlation between the average reduction of device temperature and the average reduction of finger temperature is demonstrated using a scatter plot with a regression line (see Fig. 3). The results indicate a positive correlation and thus the effectiveness of the active cooling.



Fig. 3. Scatter plot of the average Δt fingers and the average Δt device of all twelve subjects.

3.2 Individual Differences

However, a vast variation between test persons was noticeable: a deviation in temperature reduction from 3.26 °C (SD 0.89 °C) to 7.79 °C (SD 1.55 °C) was observed between different test persons. The divergence between all test subjects is illustrated in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Average Δt fingers of all twelve subjects

3.3 Occurrence of CIVD

The effect of CIVD was only notable at one test person. Figure 5 shows the fluctuating course of the temperature of all fingers of the subject, which might indicate the incidence of CIVD.



Fig. 5. Temperature graph of the fingers of a subject.

4 Conclusion

This study proposed an active local cooling device based on coolant that allowed investigating the effect of controlled cooling of palmar side of the fingertips on blood flow at the nail bed. The aim was to examine the effectiveness of the device and to gain insight in CIVD, which ultimately may conduce developing a cooling system to prevent nail toxicity during chemotherapy.

The results indicated that the cooling strategy allowed reducing blood flow at the nail bed, with an average temperature reduction of 4.81 °C (SD 1.91 °C) during a 60 minute-trial on the dorsal side of the distal phalanges. However, a vast variation between test persons was noticeable: a deviation in temperature reduction from 3.26 °C (SD 0.89 °C) to 7.79 °C (SD 1.55 °C) was observed between all test persons. Therefore, it may be considered to provide personalized treatments for every patient based on real-time measured finger temperature.

In conclusion, the five-finger prototype that induced active cooling at the distal phalanges with the use of a liquid cooling system was more challenging to control as compared to the prototypes that induced cooling with the use of Peltier elements. Furthermore, it had also been found that cooling the palmar side of the finger allowed controlling blood flow more steady as compared to cooling the lateral sides. It is therefore advised to use Peltier elements to induce local active cooling at the palmar side of the fingertips for the prevention of onycholysis at cancer patients.

References

- 1. Verweij, J., Clavel, M., Chevalier, B.: Paclitaxel (Taxol) and docetaxel (Taxotere): not simply two of a kind. Ann. Oncol. **5**(6), 495–505 (1994)
- Robert, C., et al.: Nail toxicities induced by systemic anticancer treatments. Lancet Oncol. 16 (4), e181–e189 (2015)
- Gilbar, P., Hain, A., Peereboom Veta-Marie, V.M.: Nail toxicity induced by cancer chemotherapy. J. Oncol. Pharm. Pract. 15(3), 143–155 (2009)
- 4. Minisini, A.M., et al.: Taxane-induced nail changes: incidence, clinical presentation and outcome. Ann. Oncol. 14(2), 333–337 (2003)
- Bladt, L., et al.: Cold-induced vasoconstriction for preventing onycholysis during cancer treatment. Extrem. Physiol. Med. 4(1), A60 (2015)
- Hussain, S., Anderson, D.N., Salvatti, M.E., Adamson, B., McManus, M., Braverman, A.S.: Onycholysis as a complication of systemic chemotherapy: report of five cases associated with prolonged weekly paclitaxel therapy and review of the literature. Cancer 88(10), 2367– 2371 (2000)
- Scotté, F., et al.: Matched case-control phase 2 study to evaluate the use of a frozen sock to prevent docetaxel-induced onycholysis and cutaneous toxicity of the foot. Cancer 112(7), 1625–1631 (2008)
- Cancer Therapy Evaluation Program: Common terminology criteria for adverse events Version 3.0. Publish, p. 71 (2006)
- Jadhav, V.M., Mahajan, P.M., Mhaske, C.B.: Nail pitting and onycholysis. Indian J. Dermatol. Venereol. Leprol. 75(6), 631–634 (2009)

- 10. Kadakia, K.C., Rozell, S.A., Butala, A.A., Loprinzi, C.L.: Supportive cryotherapy: a review from head to toe. J. Pain Symptom Manage. **47**(6), 1100–1115 (2014)
- 11. Tyler, C.J., Reeve, T., Cheung, S.S.: Cold-induced vasodilation during single digit immersion in 0 °C and 8 °C water in men and women. PLoS ONE **10**(4), 1–13 (2015)
- 12. Daanen, H.A.M.: Finger cold-induced vasodilation: a review. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 89(5), 411–426 (2003)
- Lemenager, M., Lecomte, S., Bonneterre, M.E., Bessa, E., Dauba, J., Bonneterre, J.: Effectiveness of cold cap in the prevention of docetaxel-induced alopecia. Eur. J. Cancer Part A 33(2), 297–300 (1997)
- 14. Scotté, F., et al.: Multicenter study of a frozen glove to prevent docetaxel-induced onycholysis and cutaneous toxicity of the hand. J. Clin. Oncol. **23**(19), 4424–4429 (2005)
- Ishiguro, H., et al.: Degree of freezing does not affect efficacy of frozen gloves for prevention of docetaxel-induced nail toxicity in breast cancer patients. Support. Care Cancer 20(9), 2017–2024 (2012)
- Steckel, J., et al.: A research platform using active local cooling directed at minimizing the blood flow in human fingers. In: Proceeding of ICTs Improving Patients Rehabilitation Research Techniques, pp. 81–84 (2013)
- Youssef, A., D'Haene, M., Vleugels, J., De Bruyne, G., Aerts, J.-M.: Localised model-based active controlling of blood flow during chemotherapy to prevent nail toxicity and onycholysis. J. Med. Biol. Eng. 39, 1–12 (2018). No. 0123456789
- De Boeck, M., et al.: Prevention of onycholysis during cancer treatment using an active local cooling device: comparison of three different cooling strategies. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. 818, 214–221 (2019)



Multi-frameworks Development for the Medical Device Design Process as a Critical Factor for Innovation

Fabiola Cortes-Chavez^{1(⊠)}, Alberto Rossa-Sierra¹, Elvia Luz Gonzalez-Muñoz², Carlos Aceves-Gonzalez², Paulina Manzano-Hernandez¹, and Maria Giovanna-Trotta¹

¹ Facultad de Ingeniería, Universidad Panamericana, Prolongación Calzada Circunvalación Poniente 49, 45010 Zapopan, Jalisco, Mexico {fcortes, lurosa, paulina.manzano, gtrotta}@up.edu.mx
² Centro de Investigaciones en Ergonomia, Universidad de Guadalajara, 44250 Guadalajara, Jalisco, Mexico {elvia.gmunoz, c.aceves}@academicos.udg.mx

Abstract. The process of innovation in the design of medical devices is complex. The analysis of the user, the disease stage of the patient and the fact that all clinical histories are different generates a series of variables that are a challenge for any Medical Device designer. The traditional industrial design uses frameworks to control information and visualize future scenarios to understand the user experience; this allows the designer to anticipate behaviour and design the object according to the needs of the users. Industrial design framework and medical device design framework differ significantly since the design of medical devices requires the analysis of multi-frameworks for a single object. This generates a very complex brief for any designer. This theoretical work argues that prior knowledge of the multi-framework in the design process of medical devices might help the designer to visualize the spectrum of the problem and focuses its efforts on reducing frames.

Keywords: Medical device design · Engineering design · User-centered design · Design process · Design challenges · Usability · User hierarchy · Industrial design

1 Introduction

Who the user of medical devices is, or who they are, is a question that as simple as it seems, throws a massive amount of answers, but at this day these answers have not been clarified. Even so, there is previous research that states at least seven users around a medical device design [1]. Other studies speak of a large number of users, such that they are set into seven groups [2]. Therefore, a medical device must be designed considering the different needs of these users.

In traditional industrial design, the number of users is less than those considered in the design of medical devices. Typically, two types of users are considered, the direct user and the indirect user. The direct user is the one to whom the product is intended, whereas the indirect user is who carries out secondary activities to the primary objective, for that reason products, in general, must be designed keeping in mind the objectives of all the users.

According to the practical application manual for analyzing products, which specifies the "Scenarios to think about the product" as a fundamental tool [3], in traditional industrial design the use of scenarios is implemented during the design process to visualize possible user behaviour with the product [2].

The scenarios model to think about the product focuses on the "product" dimension. This model specifies six types of scenarios, granting a single scenario for the user's visualization and its interaction with the context, although it does not define or specify whether there are more scenarios in this same area [4].

Human Factors Engineering (HFE) involves the application of knowledge about human capabilities to the design of products to facilitate their operation by users [5]. The complexity of medical device design, based on Human Factors Engineering (HFE) in innovation, explains that it is necessary to adopt innovations if medical devices are not easy to use [6]. If we consider the case of the design of medical devices, different authors and studies talk about the importance of user-centered design. The quality control standards, such as the ones of the Federal Drug Administration (FDA), require the user's needs to be considered during the medical device design process [7].

1.1 Design Process

The industrial design process and Medical device design process seem to be equal, but they are not, because the variables are different and complex. That is why this article is based on the complexity of the system in which the medical device is used.

The objective of this paper proposal is to show the complexity of medical device design, during the design process. A focus will be made in providing a visualization of the number of possible scenarios to consider the usability of the object, before specifying the field of action of the product. This work will show how many scenarios could exist and how many frameworks the designers must consider in the medical device design process considering the following variables: (1) users, (2) stages of disease, and (3) levels of hierarchy.

The relevance of this work for designers of medical devices relies on the analysis of multi-frameworks, which seeks to facilitate the structured attempts of the designers to "anticipate experiences of use in medical devices" considering the complexity of the variables involved.

2 Scenarios and Framework/Multi-framework

What is a scenario? The scenarios are descriptions of alternative futures that can happen, thus allowing the generation of possible policies and actions to prepare us for that future [5]. How many scenarios could a medical device design process bring? How can we control all the user necessities in each scenario? How many frameworks must the designer visualize in order to understand the behaviour of the users during the

medical device design process? These are all are questions that the designers must answer during the design process (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Variable scheme

In this work, seven users (see Fig. 2) were selected alongside eight stages of disease (see Fig. 4) and seven levels of hierarchy (see Fig. 3).

The users were included for the analysis by their level of approach to the medical device, according to previous studies [1]. These are patient, family, doctor, nurse, specialist, maintenance, and technician as shown (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. User table.

The hierarchy of user needs was analysed in seven priority levels ranging from high to low (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Priority scale, levels of hierarchy.

Eight disease stages were included for the analysis based on the model of Leavell and Clark [8]. The latter are broken down in Fig. 4 to exemplify further the stage of the disease in which the patient is.



Fig. 4. Disease stages table.

The possible scenarios were analysed considering seven users with seven priority levels and eight disease stages using the Scenario-Based Design method. This design method futurizes different configurations of the possible use of a product in the idealized context. The configurations include, for example, the use of interactions and experiments based on "What if" questions? to visualize the possibilities of the product, weaknesses, risks, strengths and opportunities before the project is taken to manufacturing. These seek to reduce risks of use and generate greater use-related satisfaction [9].

The scenarios are based on observational studies and future projections with the analysis of data concluded using an investigation. A study conducted by Vincent [10] found that designers can use the scenarios to articulate differences resulting in a better understanding of how the devices will be used in the context of use. The results showed that the dialogue that was created when validating the scenarios was useful since it allowed mediation through professional perspectives and provided insight into the realities of use. The scenarios supported the acquisition of knowledge in the exchange of perspectives. It was concluded that the scenario generation method could be applied in medical and non-medical contexts [10].

The scenarios are an integral part of the international standard for medical device usability engineering (IEC 62366: 2007) and apply to health software development (IEC standard 82304-1). Standard 62366 establishes a process to mitigate risk during regular use (i.e. use according to instructions or accepted medical practice) [10].

In traditional industrial design, the term scenario is used to refer future visualizations of product usability in specific environment. However, in the software usability interfaces design, the framework term is frequently used at the same specific use. Framework is a standardized set of concepts, practices and criteria to approach a particular type of problem in specific environment that serves as a reference, to face and solve new problems of a similar nature [11].

In both cases, traditional industrial design and software interface design, the use of scenarios and frameworks respectively have the same objective. In this work, we use both terms to reduce the confusion between the designers of medical technology devices and the designers of medical devices (product or object wise) since this work can help both designers in their areas of expertise (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Main concepts

The scenarios seek to anticipate the user's experience before the product is brought to reality, which is why it is imperative to consider the possible user responses during the user experience. Feedback to be considered includes features such as subjective feelings, behaviour's, emotional reactions and physiological reactions since they are elements that the designer must previously visualize during the design process [12].

The user experience in an adequate and well-designed scenario will allow us to adapt the characteristics of the product to the needs of the user and this will help us reduce the risks of use and/or medical errors. In a study, Ward and Clarkson [12] presented an analysis of medical errors in US and UK hospitals, which were caused by errors in the use of medical devices. They concluded that the scale of errors in the use of the medical device is not precise since users are often blamed for misuse, before blaming the object [12]. Failure to adequately consider users in the design of medical devices dramatically increases the errors of use.

The FDA and the trials that they have carried out recognized that the medical errors correspond to the poor design of medical devices. They explain that to reduce these errors, designers need to give importance to Human Factors Engineering and understand the real needs of the users for the use of medical devices, as well as, during the design process [13].

In a study conducted by Mitchell [11], a random sample of 498 clinical incidents was reviewed, and the most severe error factor was identified as the action of the personnel as the leading cause of incidents. The errors based on the skills were strongly related to erroneous diagnoses, and the authors conclude on the importance of preventive actions [11].

Due to the high rate of errors in medical devices related to usability, the regulatory agencies have petitioned as a requirement to meet the needs of users during the design process to improve usability and reduce the risk of errors in the new medical devices. A clear example of the latter is the ISO standards that state the importance of considering the needs of users during the design process (Fig. 6). For instance, the standard: "IEC 62366-1: 2015 Medical devices – Application of usability engineering to medical devices" specifies a process for a manufacturer to analyse, specify, design, verify and validate usability, as it relates to the safety of a medical device. This

usability engineering process evaluates and mitigates risks caused by usability problems associated with incorrect use and use errors. This standard is as important as the "ISO 13485: 2016 - Medical devices" because the requirements can be referred to as design quality control. Good design and development processes include a systematic assessment of the outputs as an integral part of design and development. The focus is to be sure that design and development inputs, based on user needs, are met by the design and development outputs [14]. Accordingly, designers might benefit by enhanced understanding of the degree of conformance of outputs to the user and patient needs, and by improved communication and coordination among participants in the design process [14].



Fig. 6. ISO model in which design and development proceed in a logical sequence of phases or stages. Requirements are developed, and a medical device is created to meet those requirements. The medical device is then verified and validated, transferred to production [14].

3 Synthesis

In this paper we analysed the capacity of scenarios that can be found by combining the following variables:

- 1. Users: Patient, Nurse, Doctor, Specialist, Maintenance, Technician, Family (Fig. 2).
- 2. Disease Stages: Health, Non-detected disease, disease symptoms, Medical consultation, Medication, Serious illness is detected/specialist, Hospitalization, Intensive therapy, induced coma, Death (Fig. 4).
- 3. Seven Levels of Hierarchy, with 1 being the highest priority and 7 the lowest priority (Fig. 3).

A mixture of factors was calculated, looking for the possible combinations between each one of the variables concerning the seven users. From this, the outcomes were: (1) the result of combining the seven users, and the seven levels of hierarchy is equal to 1716 possibilities of scenarios (Fig. 7), and (2) the result of combining the seven users and the eight disease stages, is equal to 3432 possibilities of scenarios (Fig. 7). These large quantities of scenarios allow the concept of multi-framework. Designers must know the existence of medical device design multi-frameworks in order to understand the complexity of the user needs in each scenario.



Fig. 7. Calculation of multiframework's by combinatorial.

4 Discussion and Conclusion

The difference in the process of traditional industrial design in comparison with the process of design of medical devices differs from scenarios or frameworks. The traditional design considers the development of scenarios for specific moments of usability with a single direct user and several indirect [4] but at times of stable use.

In the medical design process, the scenarios are not stable, since they depend on the stage of health in which the patient is located, and the number of variables is much higher in three aspects: a number of users [2] hierarchy of use and disease stages [8]. This indicates that the number of frameworks generates many possibilities, and it is impossible to design a single product that meets the usability of all frameworks.

We know that the disease and the users will dictate whether this number of frameworks increases or decreases. But even so, the medical device design has enough variables that hinder the design of a generalized product if we seek the satisfaction of the user and prevention of the risk of use as it explains the requirement of the ISO standard [1]. This is why the design of medical devices is intricate and challenging for any designer.

The broader the design spectrum (Multi-frameworks), the higher the risk of using a single product. It is necessary to visualize the usability spectrum of a medical device before designing to reduce risks and increase product satisfaction.

Designers should consider focusing the action of using a medical device for health states, users, hierarchy and time. They should foresee that frameworks should be reduced to visualize the future scenarios of the product, being these viable to design an efficient product that meets user's needs. These significant quantities of scenarios allow the concept of multi-framework. Designers must know the existence of medical device design multi-frameworks in order to understand the complexity of the user needs in each scenario.

5 Future Work

This work is part of a doctoral thesis that aims to generate a tool that helps designers of medical devices during the design process to improve the usability of the devices. The focus of the study is the movement in the hierarchy of users during the process of the patient's illness. The objective of this thesis is to find a pattern of movement in the group of users that surrounds a specific clinical case to generate a tool that allows knowing the needs of the users previously in order to increase the efficiency of the design process and improve user satisfaction.

References

- Wiggermann, N., et al.: Human-centered design process for a hospital bed: promoting patient safety and ease of use. Ergon. Des. Q. Hum. Factors Appl. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1064804618805570
- Shah, S.G.S., Robinson, I.: Medical device technologies: who is the user? Int. J. Healthc. Technol. Manag. 9(2), 181 (2008)
- 3. Vigna, A., et al.: Manual Práctico para analizar productos en base a escenarios, Buenos Aires, Argentina (2014)
- 4. Ariza, R., et al.: Escenarios para pensar el producto (2015)
- 5. Kishita, Y., et al.: Scenario design approach to envisioning sustainable manufacturing industries to 2050. Procedia CIRP **48**, 407–412 (2016)
- White, R.H., et al.: Diffusion of innovation in service organizations. J. Arthroplasty 25(4), 667 (2010)
- Trujillo Suárez, M., et al.: Los métodos más característicos del diseño centrado en el usuario -DCU-, adaptados para el desarrollo de productos materiales. Iconofacto. 12(19), 215–236 (2016)
- Universidad del Valle: El Modelo De Leavell Y Clark Como Marco Descriptivo Dentro De Las Investigaciones Sobre El Virus De La Hepatitis B En Niños Con Infección Por Vih/Sida Del Grupo De Investigación Gastrohnup. 1, 2015–2018 (2017)
- 9. Eilouti, B.: Scenario-based design: new applications in metamorphic architecture. Front. Archit. Res. 7(4), 530–543 (2018)
- Vincent, C.J., Blandford, A.: Usability standards meet scenario-based design: challenges and opportunities. J. Biomed. Inform. 53, 243–250 (2015)
- Mitchell, R.J., et al.: Application of a human factors classification framework for patient safety to identify precursor and contributing factors to adverse clinical incidents in hospital. Appl. Ergon. 52, 185–195 (2016)
- 12. Desmet, P.M.A., Hekkert, P.: Framework of product experience. Int. J. Des. 1(1), 57–66 (2007)
- 13. Ward, J.R., et al.: An analysis of medical device-related errors: prevalence and possible solutions 1902 (2009)
- 14. ISO: A practical guide ISO 13485 : 2016 Medical devices (2017)



Research on Sleeping Posture Recognition Method Based on Pressure Sensor

Huabing Wang and Changyuan Wan^(⊠)

Design School, South China University of Technology, Guangzhou, China hbwang@scut.edu.cn, 977648700@qq.com

Abstract. Using the structure of the butterfly pillow is the most simplest identification method, combined with the pressure sensor. The resistance value of the pressure sensor is obtained by analog-to-digital converter (A/D). The change of resistance of pressure sensors under different sleeping postures is analyzed, then pattern matching system is used to realize pattern matching and sleep position recognition. The recognition rate of sleeping position in the NISS is 95.6%, and the recognition rate in ISS mode is 92.5%. The recognition method proposed in this paper does not interfere with the user's normal sleep experience. Combining the existing technology and methods to optimize the recognition of sleeping posture, the recognition rate of sleeping posture is still very high, which can help people with poor sleep to greatly optimize the sleep quality.

Keywords: Pressure sensor · Butterfly pillow · Sleeping position · Position recognition · Pattern matching

1 Introduction

One third of a person's life is spent in sleep, and poor sleep quality can cause serious damage to people's mental and physical health [1]. Sleeping posture is one of the most important factors in evaluating sleep quality (such as sleep stage and sleep difficulty) [2]. During deep sleep period (Non-Rapid Eye Movement Sleep), people will keep sleeping posture continuously and the change frequency of sleeping posture will decrease. In addition, sleeping posture is also closely related to some diseases. For example, sleep apnea symptoms can be effectively improved by changing sleeping posture, lateral posture can reduce sleep disorders in patients with mild and moderate sleep apnea [3]. There are a lot of consumer-level products to monitor sleep quality and record sleep data, such as wearable bracelets, sleep apps and other hardware and software products.

2 Overview of the Research on Sleeping Posture Recognition

Sleep posture is static for a period of time, and there is no obvious change. While the user's sleep behavior is a dynamic process [4], the duration is very short, and there is no roles to follow. Therefore, the related technologies of sleep recognition are to determine the current sleep status by identifying user's sleeping posture.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 235–244, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_23

2.1 Sleeping Posture Type

People's sleeping posture varies with their living habits and diseases [5]. Generally speaking, it can be divided into three categories: lateral sleeping (LS), supine sleeping (SS) and prone sleeping (PS). Lateral sleeping (LS) includes left lateral sleeping and right lateral sleeping. According to the actual questionnaire, 62.3% of users prefer to LS (left and right), 30.5% of SS and 7.2% of PS. PS is considered to be the worst and the least sleeping posture in the study. So this paper mainly focuses on LS and SS.

2.2 Research Status of Sleeping Posture Recognition

Sleeping posture recognition technologies mostly realize the recognition of sleeping posture based on the different pressure produced by pillow or mattress under different sleeping postures. Huang [6] and other used six pressure sensors (FSR sensor) to realize the recognition of sleeping posture. Six sensors were evenly distributed over the pillow to collect the pressure values under each sleeping posture. User models were constructed through experiments, and then pattern matching was used to identify the sleeping posture. In addition to the recognition technology based on pressure sensor, there are also recognition based on computer vision, such as Ye [7], Dong [8], which got the real-time sleeping posture images of users through cameras to recognize sleeping posture. Xu and Zhang [9] realized the recognition of sleeping posture by collecting the respiratory impedance signals of the left and right chest of users.

Based on the existing technology, the pressure value of each sleeping posture can be obtained by pressure sensor, which can realize the recognition of sleeping posture that has '0' effect on normal sleep—Non-invasive Sleeping Posture Recognition. However, the number of pressure sensors is too large for the above-mentioned pressure sensor-based recognition. In this paper, three flexible film pressure sensors are used as data acquisition module to recognize the current sleeping posture of users by detecting the pressure values of key parts of the head. The advantage of this scheme is that fewer hardware devices are used, the butterfly pillow structure is fully utilized, and the user is not affected. It has high practical value.

We would like to draw your attention to the fact that it is not possible to modify a paper in any way, once it has been published. This applies to both the printed book and the online version of the publication. Every detail, including the order of the names of the authors, should be checked before the paper is sent to the Volume Editors.

3 Construction of the Sleeping Position Recognition System

The system consists of two parts: hardware and "software". The hardware level includes sensors for detecting pressure, Arduino development board, analog-to-digital converter (ADC), SD memory card and butterfly pillow. The "software" level Including data analysis, establishing reference patterns and pattern matching and identification.

3.1 Hardware Level Construction

The pillow of the system carrying the pressure sensor is a butterfly pillow. The structure of the butterfly pillow is characterized by low middle and high sides. Hou and Shen [10] studied the design of human-computer pillows that meet the comfort of sleepIing. The suitable height for SS is 6–7 cm and the suitable height for LS is 7–8 cm, so the butterfly pillow surface is divided into three areas, the middle area (MA), the right sleeping area (RSA) and the left sleeping area (LSA), three areas correspond to supine sleeping (SS), right lateral sleeping (TLS), and left lateral sleeping (LLS), which is shown in Fig. 1. Therefore, when the pressure sensor is set in the corresponding sleeping position area, the sleeping position recognition can be performed.



Fig. 1. Sleeping area division on Butterfly pillow

Chen Ying and others study the impact of pillow type on sleep comfort, they select three points of the head as the main pressure test points, which is shown in Fig. 2 [11]. Combined with the structure of the butterfly pillow, the system only collects the opisthion and the lateral point.



Fig. 2. Test point visual map

The pressure sensor uses a flexible membrane pressure sensor, and a pressure sensor is arranged in each of the three regions of the butterfly pillow, as shown in Fig. 3. The pressure sensor is labeled S1, S2, S3 from left to right, the opisthion of users is detected by S2 in the SS, and the lateral point of users is detected by S1, S3 in the LS.

The pressure sensor is a resistive pressure sensitive sensor, a SD memory card is used to store the corresponding value of the sensor to provide raw data for the "software" level construction.



Fig. 3. Pressure sensor distribution

3.2 'Software' Level Construction

(1) Data acquisition and analysis

The analog value of pressure obtained by the Arduino is converted to resistance value. The circuit is shown in Fig. 4. The pressure sensor decreases with the increase of pressure. The formula is expressed as the nth resistance of the pressure sensor in the mth posture:

$$R_{i}^{m}(n) = R_{0} \times \left(\frac{1023}{p_{i}^{m}(n)} - 1\right)$$
(1)

 $R_0 = 1 \text{ K}\Omega$ is a the input resistor. $p_i^m(n)$ is the pressure simulation value of the *ith* pressure sensor in the *mth* posture.



Fig. 4. Circuit diagram

In SS, the corresponding resistance distribution of pressure sensor is shown in Fig. 5. The resistance value of S1 and S3 varies from 10^6 to $2*10^5$ and that of S2 varies from 10^4 to $3*10^4$, but the value of S1 and S3 are much larger than S2. In LS, the resistance value of S1 and S3 was very high under no pressure, and the resistance value of S2 decreases under pressure, the resistance value of S2 is much smaller than S1 and S3. It shows that the interaction of S1, S2 and S3 can be neglected in the process of pressure detection, and the value can be simplified as follows:

$$R_{i}^{m}(n) = \begin{cases} R_{0} \times \left(\frac{1023}{p_{i}^{m}(n)} - 1\right), & p_{i}^{m}(n) \ge P_{0} \\ 1 \times 10^{6}, & p_{i}^{m}(n) \le P_{0} \end{cases}$$
(2)

Threshold $P_0 = 10$ can effectively avoid the interaction between pressure sensors. The resistance value of S1, S2 and S3 in SP is simplified, which is shown in Fig. 6. It can be concluded that no pressure was detected for S1 and S3 of the RSA and the LSA during SS, but S2 of the MA has obvious pressure.



Fig. 5. Resistance of S1, S2 and S3 when lying on the supine posture



Fig. 6. S1, S2, S3 resistance after simplification

Users' sleeping posture conversion habits can be divided into two categories: insitu switching (ISS) and Non-in-situ switching (NISS). The characteristics of in-situ conversion lie in that people are accustomed to sleeping in the middle area of the pillow, the contact area between head and pillow has not changed during the conversion of sleeping position, as shown in Fig. 7. On the contrary, in non-in-situ conversion of sleeping position, the contact area between head and pillow has changed, as shown in Fig. 8. Through online questionnaires, 30.8% of people prefer to ISS and 69.2% prefer to NISS. Next, the resistance changes of pressure sensors under these two modes are analyzed.



Fig. 7. In-situ conversion

Fig. 8. Non-in situ conversion

Formula (2) can be used directly in NISS. The sensor in a certain area can detect pressure, and the corresponding resistance value of the sensor can be changed. Then the sleeping posture in the corresponding area can be identified directly. For example, the detection of pressure in S1 of the MA, the resistance value of S1 can be changed, indicating that the current sleeping posture of the user is SS.

According to formula (2), there is no change in the resistance values of S1 and S3, only S2 of the MA can detect the pressure, regardless of the sleeping position. So we can only consider the resistance change of S2, we get a resistance change chart about S2, which is shown in Fig. 9, the value of S2 in SS is obviously larger than that of S2 in LS, which can distinguish whether users' sleeping posture is SS or LS.

Pattern matching for posture recognition

Through the above analysis of the collected data, We use pattern matching system [6] to recognize sleeping posture, the system includes two programs of training and testing, training the sample gets the reference mode, then, the reference mode and the test mode use the mean square error method for pattern matching recognition.



Fig. 9. Resistance of three sleeping positions S2

Signal sample: The signal sample of $p_i^m(n)$ is obtained by the circuit, this is the simulated pressure value of the *ith* sensor in the *mth* position.

Feature extraction: The pressure simulation value is obtained through Arduino, and then the resistance value of the corresponding pressure sensor through the analog-todigital converter. $R_i^m(n)$ is obtained for of the m*th* posture as Formula (2).

Reference mode: The sample data of the *mth* sleeping position is obtained through experiments, and the sample mean value of the *mth* sleeping position is calculated as the reference pattern of the *mth* posture by

$$ar^{m} = \{ ar_{1}^{m}, ar_{2}^{m}, ar_{3}^{m} \}, i = 1, 2, 3$$
(3)

The sample mean of the ith pressure sensor Si can be expressed by

$$ar^{m} = \{ ar_{1}^{m}, ar_{2}^{m}, ar_{3}^{m} \}, i = 1, 2, 3$$

$$(4)$$

After the reference mode is established, the test program can begin. The signal samples and feature extractions in the test procedure are similar to the reference program acquisition, and we obtain the nth testing data $x(n) = \{x_1(n), x_2(n), x_3(n)\}$, then, the testing data and the reference patterns are pattern matching by the mean square error for the mth posture as

$$MSE_{m}(n) = \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \left(x_{i}(n) - ar_{i}^{m} \right)^{2}$$
(5)

In the test procedure, the basis of posture recognition is the minimum mean square error as

$$MMSE_m(n) = \arg\min_m MSE_m(n) \tag{6}$$

4 Experimental Process and Results Analysis

Pattern matching needs to be obtained through experiment, and the resistance value of each sample in the sleeping position is obtained, and the reference mode is constructed. The larger the sample size is, the more representative the reference pattern is in each sleeping position, and the correctness of recognition is higher. Through the sample reference mode and test mode obtained by the experiment, pattern matching and recognition can be performed to realize the determination and recognition of the sleeping position.

4.1 Experimental Environment and Parameter Construction

In this paper, user's current sleeping posture is determined by experiment and posture pattern recognition method. In the experiment, the sample data is collected when the

Experimental parameters	Value			
Types of postures	SS, LLS, RLS			
Sampling rate		1 samples/second		
Sampling time per sample	30 s			
Unit of signals		Kilo Ohms		
Environment		Beyond a bed		
Measurements	3 times of each posture			
Number of samples each measure	20 samples			
Total number of training samples	Sample number of NISS	200 samples each postures	120	
	Sample number of ISS		80	
Total number of test samples	Sample number of NISS	50 samples each postures	30	
	Sample number of ISS		20	

 Table 1. Experimental related parameters.

participant adjusts the sleeping posture to the best. Each sleeping posture was measured 3 times, the sampling rate is once per second, and the sampling duration is 30 s. The relevant parameters of the experiment are shown in Table 1.

4.2 Experimental Results and Analysis

According to the proportion of two habitual sleeping posture conversion modes, a reference mode of NISS is constructed. We select t120 people who like NISS, the reference mode can be obtained by formula (3), (4), which is shown Table 2. In the construction of the reference mode of ISS, we select 80 people who like ISS, which is shown in Table 3.

	Mean resistance of pressure sensor, ar_i^m (K Ω)			
Areas	S1	S2	S3	
MA	7.6	1000	1000	
RSA	1000	20.3	1000	
LSA	1000	1000	7.8	

Table 2. Reference mode for non-in situ conversion sleeping position.

Table 3. Reference mode for in-situ conversion sleeping position.

Mean resistance of pressure sensor, ar_i^m (K Ω)			
Areas	S1	S2	S3
MA	1000	7.1	1000
RSA	1000	19.5	1000
LSA	1000	7.2	1000

The test sample data is obtained by formula (3), (4). The mean square deviation of the test model and the parameter model is calculated, and the minimum mean square deviation is obtained by referring to formula (5), (6). The recognition rate of each sleeping position under NISS (Table 4) and ISS (Table 5) can be calculated. Sleep recognition rate was 95.6% under Non-in-situ switching and 92.5% under ISS, and it was also possible to distinguish left side sleeping from right side sleeping under NISS.

		SS	LS	LS		Accuracy rate	
			RLS	LLS			
SS		0	29	1	96.7%		
LS	RLS	28	2	0	93.3%	95.0%	
	LLS	0	1	29	96.7%		
Recognit	ion rate	95.9%	·		·		

 Table 4.
 Non-in situ conversion sleep position for each sleeping position test recognition result.

Table 5. In-situ conversion sleep position for each sleeping position test recognition result

	SS	LS	Accuracy rate
SS	18	2	90.0%
LS	1	19	95.0%
Recognition rate 9		5%	

5 Conclusion

In this paper, only three pressure sensors are used to recognize the user's current sleeping posture, which greatly reduces the use of sensors. It benefits from the innovative use of the butterfly pillow's own structure and the study of the user's sleeping posture habits. A large number of experiments have been carried out to ensure the reliability of the proposed sleep posture recognition model. The method can be used in the fields of height adjustable sleeping pillow and other related products, and can greatly improve the quality of sleep.

References

- Irwin, M., Mcclintick, J., Costlow, C., Fortner, M., White, J., Gillin, J.C.: Partial night sleep deprivation reduces natural killer and cellular immune responses in humans. Faseb J. Official Publ. Fed. Am. Soc. Exp. Biol. 10(5), 643–653 (1996)
- Liu, J.J., Xu, W., Huang, M.C., Alshurafa, N., Sarrafzadeh, M., Raut, N., et al.: Sleep posture analysis using a dense pressure sensitive bedsheet. Pervasive and Mobile Comput. 10(part_PA), 34–50 (2014)
- Lee, J.B., Park, Y.H., Hong, J.H., Lee, S.H., Jung, K.H., Kim, J.H., et al.: Determining optimal sleep position in patients with positional sleep-disordered breathing using response surface analysis. J. Sleep Res. 18(1), 26–35 (2009)

- Zhao, Y.-q., Teng, J.: Discussion on sleep of ancient physicians. Guiding J. Tradit. Chin. Med. Pharm. 1, 95–97 (2014). (in Chinese)
- 5. Mao, M.: Cardiovascular health assessment based on BCG collected from intelligence mattress. Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (2018). (in Chinese)
- 6. Huang, Y.F., Hsu, Y.H., Chang, C.C., Liu, S.H., Wei, C.C., Yao, T.Y., et al.: An improved sleep posture recognition based on force sensing resistors. In: Asian Conference on Intelligent Information and Database Systems. Springer, Cham (2017)
- Ye, Y.-Q., Jiang, T.-P., Zhang, L.: Recognizing for sleep posture based on level set method and neural network. Ind. Control Comput. 26(5), 88–90 (2013). (in Chinese)
- 8. Dong, B.: Research of the 3D grid human model sleep posture recognition. Doctoral dissertation (2013)
- 9. Xu, H., Zhang, P.: Study on sleep posture recognition based on bioelectrical impedance technology. Chin. Med. Equipment **32**(6), 39–44 (2017). (in Chinese)
- 10. Hu, T., Wang, L., Hou, L., et al.: Study of methods for monitoring body posture in sleep based on accelerometer. Chin. J. Med. Phys. **29**(4), 3542–3576 (2012). (in Chinese)
- He, Y.-M., Chen, Y., Tang, S.-J., et al.: Influence of pillows structure on the evaluation of sleep comfortableness. J. Beijing Inst. Clothing Technol. 25(4), 40–47 (2005). (in Chinese)



A Guide to Drive Medical Devices Development Through Human Factors Inclusion: Building a Value Proposition for Local Projects

Ilse I. Reyes¹, Gloria A. Mendoza Franco¹, and Ángel L. Rodríguez $Morales^{2(\boxtimes)}$

¹ Posgrado en Diseño Industrial UNAM, Mexico City, Mexico di.ivette.reyes@gmail.com, pdi_5@posgrado.unam.mx ² Ángel Luis Rodríguez Morales, Centro de Física Aplicada y Tecnología Avanzada, UNAM Querétaro, Santiago de Querétaro, Mexico alrodriguez@fata.unam.mx

Abstract. A fundamental factor in flourishing societies is being able to provide healthcare access for every person [1]. However, the material resources such as medical equipment and infrastructure available in the public sector of developing countries impose limits to the healthcare services, directly impacting the quality of medical care provided to the population [2]. Therefore, it is crucial to provide tools that promote the development of medical equipment in a local way focused on responding to specific contextual needs. Following the hypothesis that the consideration of user requirements accompanied by socio-cultural context factors can positively impact the effectiveness of medical devices in a specific context, a methodological model based on design thinking tools is proposed to drive human factors inclusion from the conceptual stages of medical devices as the central axis of an innovation process.

Keywords: Medical equipment · Human factors · Innovation process

1 Introduction

On the development of a successful health care system, medical devices are considering as crucial factors for its importance in prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and rehabilitation. However, despite scientific and technological advances, low and middle-income countries are strongly excluded from access to appropriate and affordable health care technologies [3].

Within the quality of health care services provided in developing countries, two factors are remarkable: quick attention and waiting time. Both are related to material resources disposal to give health care attention. For this reason, it is essential to consider the availability of medical equipment because when it is not in diagnostic or treatment conditions, the services to the population are compromising, especially the most vulnerable population who does not have access to cover expenditures in the private sector. Some of the factors why medical equipment may be not available are: due to lack of supplies, spare parts or maintenance, this is because nowadays, most of the medical devices used on limited resources countries are imported from first world countries, and as a consequence, are not designed to satisfy local needs. For this reason, despite demonstrating its effectiveness in high-tech hospitals, it fails in these environments. According to WHO, 70% of medical equipment from developed countries does not function appropriately in countries with another economic situation.

Some of the biggest challenges that developing countries face locally producing medical equipment are human factors inclusion and technology cycle understanding.

In the specific case of Mexico, in the last decade, the sector of medical devices has been defined as a growth industry, positioning this country as a principal provider of medical products to the USA [4] and the second biggest market in Latin America. However, this growing industry produces low tech products and consumables. The small industry and the academia intend the innovative and high-tech medical equipment production; in consequence, most of the time, functional prototypes do not become final products and do not reach the market. It is necessary to add value to the production chain in the field of research and innovation to overcome the current limitation of assembly industry [5], contributing to shortening the technological gap that this country has on its public health care system.

Innovation in developing countries has a variety of benefits, not only for the people involved in the process but also for communities. One of the benefits of local innovation is that the products have greater acceptance of consumers and users, so unlike imported products, the tropicalization process is not necessary.

Following the hypothesis that the consideration of user requirements accompanied by socio-cultural context factors can positively impact the effectiveness of medical devices in a specific context, a methodological model based on design thinking tools is proposed to drive human factors inclusion from the conceptual stages of medical devices as the central axis of an innovation process. At the same time, these considerations will constitute their value proposition, positioning them over imported devices.

The model seeks to generate interdisciplinary and collaborative processes in research centers by providing methodological tools that ensure the consideration of human factors at the first six stages of medical devices development, according to the Technology Readiness Levels TRLs. This model not only affords a more precise picture to team members about the stage in which their developments are located but also helps them to exploit competitive advantages over imported devices. Finally, the model informs about the steps that must be followed to make devices and equipment viable for industrial production.

2 Human Factors on Health Care

Hand in hand of user-centered design trend, in the design of medical equipment arise a tendency where functionality is decentralized to give rise to the consideration of the complexity involved in the use of a medical device, which is focused on the interactions that the use of the product has in several subsystems including social perspective.
At the same time, the patient-centered approach stands out; its principle is that a patient is a person with unique perceptions of reality and concerns, which are the basis he uses to build relationships with all the elements involved on medical procedures [6], this includes medical devices used for detection and treatment.

The recognition of human factors in health care has been crucial for a better understanding of the patients' point of view, making this type of services more empathic. This approach allows to reformulate the interactions in medical practices; it is necessary to include all the factors involved in medical care, such as medical equipment and procedures, according to this approach. For this reason, the inclusion of human factors in the process of developing medical devices from the first steps is proposed to improve health care systems.

Human factors are a principle where very different disciplines, such as psychology and engineering, converge in the search for consideration of physical, perceptive and cognitive abilities of people in the design and performance of various devices [7].

In contrast to poorly designed devices, the actual integration of human factors into medical devices design helps to reduce errors, avoiding the exposure of the patients and staff to risks, while performing a procedure/task. Hazards associated with use increase when design problems cause human errors, risking the integrity of those involved. It is at this point where human factors engineering plays a valuable role in the identification, evaluation, and attention of those hazards. For this, it is necessary to analyze all aspects of the user, the intended use, the environment of use and the user interface of a device. In Table 1, all the considerations proposed to be addressed for each human factors aspect in each stage of the developing process of new medical devices are shown.

Aspect to analyze	Considerations
User	 Primary, secondary or third user Who will use it? (doctor, nurse, adult patient, pediatric patient, senior patient, someone external to the medical field) What are his physical characteristics? (physical strength, range of movements, anthropometrics) What are his psychological and cultural characteristics? (perception, emotional states, concerns, attitudes) What training will he receive to use it? and what is his previous knowledge with similar devices?
Intended use	What will the device be used for? (self-administration of medication, diagnosis, treatment, etc.)What is the specific task for which it is designed? (for example: monitoring the oxygen saturation level of a patient)How frequently will the device be used?

 Table 1. Human factors to be considered at first six stages of new medical devices developing process.

(continued)

Aspect to analyze	Considerations
Use environment	Where will the device be used? (In a hospital, laboratories, doctors' offices, emergency transport vehicles, patient homes or public space) What are the characteristics of this place? (lighting, noise, privacy etc.) Are other activities carried out in the same environment at the same time? (other medical devices using simultaneously or other activities where the user participates while operating the device)
User interface	Size, shape and weight of the device Elements that are displayed on the device (such as function indicators) Feedback elements (display, alarms, vibrations) How is the information placed and what is the logical sequence to perform the procedure/task? (characteristics of switches, touch screens, icons, menus, indicator lights, and alarms, but also operating instructions, and training materials)

Table 1. (continued)

For the correct implementation of the methodological model proposed in this paper, it is suggested that the teams (scientists, engineers and all the medical technology developers) consider all the aspects required by the guide: "Application of human factors and usability engineering to optimize the design of medical devices" proposed in 2011 by the FDA [7]. This document focuses on the use of methods to identify and mitigate the hazards associated with the use of the medical devices, including the new requirements for human factors validation tests.

3 A Methodological Model to Involve Human Factors

The development of new medical devices involves the application of some technology, for this reason measuring technological maturity is fundamental to recognize in which stage they are and assess their viability. For this measurement, Technology Readiness Levels (TRLs) are using [8], in Table 2 the characteristics and general requirements of each level are shown.

Although in most of the cases, risks mitigation carries out on the final prototype, changes and adjustments in this stage of development in minimal resources projects can represent a barrier to continue the development process. For this reason, the methodological model proposed shows some tools and considerations to allow the team members to analyze all the aspects involved in the use. In this way, their capability to identify potential risks prospectively is augmented.

At the same time, the FDA has established a Human Factors Engineering Report and a Usability Engineering Report as some of the requirements to register a new medical device [9]. For that purpose, the methodological model proposes some human factors considerations to help teams to carry out the registration of their proposal,

It has been defined for each stage of development some critical points of human factors to take into account. So that, during the first six stages of the development

Stage		General requirements
TRL1	Observed and reported basic principles	Analysis of technological feasibility as
		a medical device
		Analysis of the business opportunity
TRL2	Technological concept or technological	Classification of the device
	application	Definition of differentiators
		Definition of critical points
TRL3	First evaluation of functionality	Start of laboratory and analytical tests
		Check the effectiveness of the invention
TRL4	Laboratory verification of components	Verification of functionality at a
		laboratory
		Efficiency in a controlled environment
TRL5	Research protocol tests in a similar	Tests of a beta prototype in similar
	environment of use	conditions to the real context
TRL6	Technological tests into a relevant	Tests of pre-production prototype in a
	environment for the system or sub-	real environment of use
	system of the healthcare model proposed	
TRL7	Real environment tests	Tests of the final prototype within the
		healthcare system proposed in a real
		environment
TRL8	Certification process	Registration and approval of the device
		by all regulatory agencies
TRL9	Market launch	Monitoring and control of use and
		errors of the device

Table 2. Technology readiness levels description

process, the most relevant aspects needed to HFE (Human Factors and Ergonomics) and UE (User Experience) reports elaboration are described in Table 3.

While for professionals in the design field, talking about human factors can be daily, it should be considered the variety of professionals who works developing medical devices, for this reason, it is not certain that all teams have a member with human factors knowledge. For this reason, it is not enough to mention what are the considerations to involve human factors; it is also essential to provide these teams with some tools that allow them to include this factors even if they are not experts in this field. With this in mind, based on the bibliographic review, some design thinking tools are proposed considering the match of its outcomes with the human factors considerations previously mentioned (Table 4).

This methodological proposal, far from being an exhaustive list of tools, is focused on making it easy to identify what tool can be applied to obtain the necessary considerations at each stage.

Besides, to guide the inclusion of human factors with the implementation of design tools, the value proposition is to build the base for the user perspective understanding. The first stage of the value proposition building process is focused on identifying those attributes that users perceive as valuable, which arise from focus group application and

TRL 1: Observed and reported I	basic principles	
Primary and secondary user determination	What are the roles of both users? What is the population segment to which each user belongs? What is the level of training of the primary user? What are the socio-cultural factors related to disease or condition, and the medical procedure?	
The beginning of Value Proposition Building	Identify advantages of the proposal on what already exists in market	
TRL 2: Technological concept or technological application		
Acceptance test	Perception analysis of the proposal (device, technique, and procedure)	
Building value proposition	Benchmarketing (comparing similar products or techniques with the same purpose)	
Use the environment	Where will the device be used? A detailed description of this environment With what other devices does it interact in that place? What other activities are carried out simultaneously?	
TRL 3: First evaluation of funct	ionality	
Potential risks identification	What are the risks the user is exposed to? In what situations can the risks exist?	
TRL 4: Laboratory verification	of components	
Aesthetic requirements	Evaluation of size, shape, materials, and color according to the user needs or preferences Anthropometric analysis to determine dimensions, particularly on portable devices or rehabilitation equipment	
User interface	Function indicators and information showed on the device	
Use sequence	A sequence of the use of the device. Describing in detail each step Is it optimized?	
TRL 5: Research protocol tests	in a similar environment of use	
Experience design	Experience design looking for acceptance and comfort of users during the medical proceeding	
TRL 6: Technological tests into healthcare model proposed	an environment relevant to the system or sub-system of the	
Service design	Design of all steps of medical attention within the specific real environment	
Perception evaluation test	Obtain the opinion of the users to identify points of improvement	

Table 3. Human factors considerations in each TRL stage.

other proposed tools for TRL1 and TRL2. The no-functional prototypes test subsequently identifies the differentiators proposed in the new device. These differentiators are related to the expectations and needs that users express during the application of the "5 why's" [13]. Finally, the value proposition involves the procedure or technique of use, so the proposed tools for the TLR6 are fundamental in the generation of the approach where the user experience is considered in medical application.

Stage	Tools	Brief description	Purpose
TRL1	Mock-up prototype	Make a very rapid and simple prototype, without functionalities, just to get an overall view of the proposal	Use the mock-up to test the perception of the device and the task proposed with a specific group involving
	Focus group	Gather a group of people to take part in the discussion of the advantages and disadvantages of the proposal [10–13]	target users
	Storyboard solution	Draw the environment of use, adding a sketch for each action of the users involved in the task. Imagine hypothetical situations and stories, to understand user experiences [10, 11, 13, 14]	Recognize in a subsystem how the device interacts with users and the environment. Involving previous knowledge of team members about some perception factors
TRL2	Prototype with function simulation	Make a not detailed prototype that simulates that actually works to test with some possible users	Recognize some details that need to be considered to proper functionality
	Co-discovery	Involves two participants (primary or secondary users, in this case, can be doctors, nurses or even patients) working together to explore devices with the same or similar purpose that the device proposed [15]	Analyze functional and aesthetic qualities in sense to define what is different and valuable of the device proposed
	Focus group	Involve a group of people of your specific target to discuss similar devices or even similar medical procedures or techniques [12, 16]	
	5 Why's	Start asking a question about your main interest, and then ask "why?" as an answer to the five consecutive interrogations [13]	Recognize underlying reasons of people to perceive in a certain way something
TRL3	Role-playing	Define with your team all the roles of the users involved (primary and secondary) and make a simulation where each team member chose one role [11, 13, 14]	Identify potential errors during the use of the device imagining multiples scenarios

Table 4. Tools to involve human factors considerations in each stage.

(continued)

-			
Stage	Tools	Brief description	Purpose
TRL4/ TRL5	Think aloud protocols accord with a functional prototype	Involve two field experts or users and ask to try for the first time the device, explain that they need to say aloud what are doing, why and their opinion [15]	Explore the first impression of the product, identify difficulties of use and details that user likes or dislikes
	Co-discovery between experts or final users	Involve two field experts or users who do not know about the project, to explore the product and process for the first time. Team members need to take notes about comments and expressions of volunteers [15]	
TRL6	Blueprints	Make a visual scheme to show in detail each aspect of the procedure/task were the device proposed is involved. Considering all the users and tasks, even behind-the- scenes processes [13, 17]	Design the task to make the real user tests looking for a good experience
	Customer journey maps	Make a visual scheme to illustrate how users interact with the device during the task and how users interact between them [11–14]	

Table 4. (continued)

4 Discussion

Since the methodological proposal is based on the bibliographic review, the results of the next stage of the investigation are essential. Proposed tools are in development, an efficient way of presentation is also required to be designed and of course to be evaluated. For this, it is necessary to focus the attention on the problematics and deficiencies of multidisciplinary research centers while developing medical devices.

Taking into account the wide variety of devices and equipment used in health care, the tools proposed would support the development of non-invasive devices, thus excluding the devices used for surgical procedures. In these devices, although it is essential to ensure usability in the interface design, the level of depth necessary to carry out its analysis requires an expert figure in this area.

The information presented in this paper establish a precedent, which addresses the need to provide tools that contribute to the process of integrating human factors during the development of medical devices, and that at the same time allows generating on this basis the value proposition. The methodological model proposed is focused on the development of the devices that have the most significant opportunity to reach the market, through the generation of these competitive advantages, over the imported devices.

Taking into consideration the difficulties encountered in developing environments for the generation of proprietary technologies, the proposed tools seek to focus the teams' efforts on the generation of contextualized proposals that respond to specific needs. So, when applying the tools, they not only make use of their technical expertise but also capture the empirical knowledge of their social environment.

The presented methodological proposal adds to the efforts to transform the health systems of underdeveloped countries, because when generating technology in a local way the technological dependence is reduced which directly impacts the quality of the public health services in these countries. Besides, continuing with the trend of patient-centered design, the inclusion of human factors from the early stages of development of the devices will humanize the techniques and procedures of health services, in consequence, the social acceptance will be higher, by the improvement of the experiences that these entail.

References

- 1. ONU: Bienestar y Salud: ¿Por qué es importante? México (2015)
- 2. SSA: Programa de Acción Específico Gestión de Equipo Médico, 53 (2012)
- WHO: Innovative Technologies That Address Global Health Concerns Innovative, Geneva, 110 (2010)
- 4. ProMéxico: Mapa de ruta de los dispositivos médicos, p. 64 (2011)
- Ayala, L.: Estudio de la Ingeniería Biomédica en México: Identificación de Áreas de Oportunidad para el Desarrollo de la Industria Biomédica, México, pp. 1–18 (n.d.)
- Nigenda, G., Gonzáles, L., Caballero, M., Zarco, M., Gozález, A., González, M.C.: Proceso social del cáncer de mama: Perspectiva de mujeres diagnosticadas, sus parejas y los prestadores de servicios de salud, México, pp. 11–18 (2009)
- 7. Reevers, T.: Human Factors MD, FDA Offers New HF Guidance (2011)
- Rodríguez, M.C.: Proceso de Ecodiseño para el diseño y desarrollo de dispositivos médicos. UNAM, México (2017)
- 9. FDA: Applying Human Factors and Usability Engineering to Medical Device, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, U.S.A. (2016)
- Kumar, V.: 101 Design Methods: A Structured Approach for Driving Innovation in Your Organization. Wiley, Hoboken (2013)
- Jordan, P.: Designing Pleasurable Products: An Introduction to the New Human Factors, pp. 136–205. Taylor & Francis, London (2002)
- 12. Gibbons, S.: Nielsen Norman Group. https://www.nngroup.com/articles/service-design-101/
- Stickdorn, M., Schneider, J.: This Is Service Design Thinking, pp. 155–169. BIS Publishers (2011)
- 14. Baxter, R., Hastings, N., Law, A., Glass, E.J.: Design thinking integrating innovation, customer experience and brand value. Anim. Genet. **39**, 561–563 (2009)
- Johnson, B., Abraham, M., Conway, J.S.L., Edgman-Levitan, S., Sodomka, P., Schlucter, J., Ford, D.: Partnering with Patients and Families to Design a Patient- and Family- Centered Health Care System: A Roadmap for the Future, p. 38. Institute for Family Centered Care, Bethesda (2008)
- 16. Shaller, D.: Patient-Centered Care: What Does It Take? p. 34. Common Wealth Fund (2007)



Invasive Medical Device for Cardiovascular Surgery

Alexandra Ene^(云) and Carmen Mihai

The National Research and Development Institute for Textiles and Leather, 16, Lucrețiu Patrașcanu str., 030508 Bucharest, Romania alexandra.ene@certex.ro

Abstract. The identification of the biological requirements of the most complicated mechanism as the human body, correlated with the possibilities of the current technique, has enabled the successful achievement of an advanced material destined to be used as invasive medical device in cardiovascular surgery. In order to accomplish this type of medical device there is an increasing need for synthetic yarns characterized through: adequate ration resistance/ weight, elasticity, flexibility, biocompatibility, chemical inertia etc. To design the fabrics destined for the vascular prostheses, there have been taken into account the minimal requirements for the bio functional characteristics, imposed by clinical usage field, from which there resulted the following: the product geometry imposes the use of the tubular or branched structure; impermeability imposes main parameters of fabric designing (achievement of a structure for which there are used untwisted yarns, the densities of the two systems and the product mass, etc.

The level of biomedical and bio functional performances demonstrate that the advanced product developed is suitable to be used in surgical intervention for replacement portion of vascular system with different geometry, in case of thrombosis, occlusion, aneurysm.

Keywords: Biomaterials · Blood flow · Cardiovascular surgery

1 Introduction

Woven structures' design criteria for the cardiovascular implants with variable geometry have been based on physical, hemodynamical and biological phenomena specific to the blood flow through linear and branched blood vessels, based on laminar and turbulent flow, boundary layer and membrane theories with the particularities related to: fluid incompressibility, viscosity, impermeability of the vascular wall, adherence of the blood to the vascular wall, tangential shear stresses development inside the blood and at its contact with the vascular wall, linearity relation existing between normal and tangential stress and velocity gradients.

In order to accomplish this type of medical device there is an increasing need for synthetic yarns characterized through: adequate ration resistance/weight, elasticity, flexibility, biocompatibility, chemical inertia etc.

2 Materials and Methods

Establishment of the technological equipment as well as of the specific processing parameters in order to obtain the woven structure of the cardiovascular implant with variable geometry have been performed based on the results of ongoing complex characterization program for the biomedical yarns based on polyester, consisting of:

- spectrophotometric characterization for determination the presence of the treatment substances such as: optical bleaching, stabilizators, oxidizing agents etc.;
- physical-mechanical characterization of the biomedical yarns based on polyester having the length density of 76 den/f24 \times 1/350Z and 167 den/f32 \times 1 trough:
- evaluation of the tensile strength behavior in conditional, wet and after thermal treatments at different temperatures status;
- evaluation and interpretation of the tensile strength behavior under loop and knot;
- evaluation of the strength and elongation at break as a result of technological phases, specific to the weaving preparation (after warping step).

Spectrophotometric analyses (Fig. 1) allowed highlighting the special characteristics of the yarn, represented by: high structural stability, lack of the components that could affect the structural mobility of the polymer backbone and the absence of bleaching agents based of titanium dioxide (maximum white degree of 80%).

After processing the yarns within the weaving preparation phase, on the warp machine, values obtained for forces tear and elongation at break determined in conditional, wet and after heat treatment states, have not been modified due the polyethylene terephthalate low chemical creep. Following intensive warping operations (stretching, bending and abrasion), undergone for the analyzed yarns, no critical tensions in the polymeric structure associated with the deformation of the polymeric chains and with the concentration of mechanical energy on the chain segments localized in the zones with structural defects (i.e. asymmetric molecular chain) that promote cleavage of chemical bonds had not been reached. In this manner, no structural changes and hence modifications in the physical-mechanical properties of the yarn were identified.

The design and accomplishment of the woven structure used for the replacement of a portion of the cardiovascular system affected by a cardiovascular disease, in accordance with the imposed medical application requirements assumed the following aspects: - utilization of the blood hemodynamic parameters (pressure, viscosity, velocity) in order to calculate the warp and weft density; - evaluation of the influence of the cardiovascular implant safety coefficients (dynamic load coefficient, for tridimensional structural convergence, asymmetrical load and losing resistance coefficients etc.) against woven structure; - usage of the obtained results as a consequence of the physical-chemical and structural determination for the yarns.

Accomplishment of the woven structure was made under the conditions of adopting specific measures for the entire technological process and selection of the optimal processing parameters, such as: tensile of max 0,1 CN/dtex (in warping phase); shoulder kinematic advance: 1,78; implementation of the braking, tensile and guidance devices without any surface defects or rust.



Fig. 1. IR absorption spectra for 76 den/f24 \times 1/350Z yarn

The design and accomplishment of the finishing technology were based on the requirements imposed by the high- risk class of these category of invasive medical devices as well as of the clinical field of usage so that the level of physical-chemical and biological performances (i.e. sensibilization, irritability potential, genotoxicity and tolerance at implantation) to be in accordance with the international normative in force.

These requirements were secured through a sequence of stages of finishing technology represented by washing-degreasing-cleaning-disinfection in order to eliminate antistatic products as well as any oil spots or remaining glass metal filings on woven support; oligomers extraction; simple and/or double curb in order to ensure the appearance of the surface of the woven structure similar to that of the vascular wall and thermal fixing for corrugated structure stabilization.

Assurance of the biocidal effect of the implantable medical product imposed the establishment and optimal correlation of the specific parameters of the treatments with ionized radiation with the characteristics of the raw material in such a way as to achieve a 10^{-6} sterility assurance level required for invasive medical devices.

Assessment of the bio functional performance level of the cardiovascular implants imposed to conduct a rigorous and complex experimental program, represented by: the evaluation of the stress reaction in conditional, wet and after heat treatment at different temperatures status both for the linear portion of the implant and its branched area, in the crudeness and after thermo-fixing; determination of physical-chemical characteristics on aqueous extract; structural analysis of the influence of treatment with ionizing radiation to the implant by mass spectrometry RES.

"In-vitro" simulation of the phenomena that took place at the replacement of a portion from the vascular system, affected by a cardiovascular disease, has been accomplished through numerical modelling of the blood flow.

This simulation allowed exact description of the blood flow from the entrance to the exit of the linear or branched geometry of the blood vessel, through: - analyses of the evolution of the main hemodynamics parameters (velocity, pressure, density, viscosity); - highlighting the clear zones of separation flow in the form of vortex cores that are

initiated from the linear area, and that are developed as they advance towards the branched area [1, 2].

Afterward these vortex are maintained as blood advance through the ramifications (Fig. 2), analyses of the Re number variations taking into consideration its dependence from specific parameters, represented by the diameter of the medical product, velocity, dynamic viscosity and the blood density; - characterization of the system diffusion, through the analysis of "the number of Reynolds of the cell"; biofluid flow study-through cardiovascular implant (in the linear area, near branched and inside the vessels) by using the lines of the current [3].



Fig. 2. Density of the blood in branched zone of the vascular system

3 Results and Discussion

Spectrophotometric analyses highlighted that the selected type of yarn will provide the biomedical required characteristics (e.g. chemical inertia, stability of the characteristics for a long period of time; good tolerance in human body; absence of irritability and sensitivity etc.), being suitable for the final application development.

RES mass spectrometry revealed that in cardiovascular implant samples (linear and bifurcated) didn't show up free radicals both before and after sterilization by irradiation, thus validating the correctness of treatment with ionizing radiation at a dose 28 kGy, for eight hours.

It has been demonstrated that the product absorbed dose of radiation at optimal range, so there were no chemical changes of product material associated to the destruction of covalent bonds in the polyethylene terephthalate structure subjected to sterilization process were identified.

The "in-vitro" simulation allowed exact description of the blood flow from the entrance to the exit of the linear or branched geometry of the blood vessel, through: - analyses of the evolution of the main hemodynamics parameters (velocity, pressure, density, viscosity); - highlighting the clear zones of separation flow in the form of vortex cores that are initiated from the linear area, and that are developed as they advance towards the branched area.

The final product was subjected to a rigorous pharmacological experimental program in order to evaluate the following biomedical level of performances: - irritability and sensibilization potential; - genotoxicity and cytotoxicity; - inflammatory infiltration development at placement area; - edema in implantation zone and surrounding muscle fibers; - muscle tissue infiltration clearance; - reactions of the tissue in contact with the implant.

4 Conclusions

The tensile as loop and knot of the analyzed yarns showed that the breaking forces and breaking elongation increases, so the complex stress (tension and compression) that occur during the technological process can be properly supported.

The determined loop resistance predicted the workability of these types of yarns in optimal conditions, during the technological phases specific to the weaving preparation and weaving.

The selected yarn provides the biomedical and bio functional required characteristics (e.g. chemical inertia, stability of the characteristics for a long period of time; good tolerance in human body; absence of irritability and sensitivity etc.) and will suitable for the final application development.

The level of biomedical and bio functional performances demonstrate that the advanced product developed is suitable to be used in surgical intervention for replacement portion of vascular system with different geometry, in case of thrombosis, occlusion, aneurysm.

Acknowledgment. This scientific paper is funded by the Ministry of Research and Innovation within Program 1 - Development of the national RD system, Subprogram 1.2 - Institutional Performance - RDI excellence funding projects, Contract no. 6PFE/2018.

References

- Izaguirre, J.A., Chaturvedi, R., Huang, C., Cickovski, T., Thomas, G., Forgac, G., Alber, M., Hentschel, G., Newman, S.A., Glazier, J.A.: COMPU-CELL, a multi-model framework for simulation of morphogenesis. Bioinformatics 20(7), 1129–1137 (2004)
- Murea, C.M., Hentschel, G.: Finite element methods for investigating the moving boundary problem in biological development. Prog. Nonlinear Differ. Eqn. Appl. 64, 357–371 (2005)
- Leier, A., Marquez-Lago, T.: Correction factors for boundary diffusion in reaction-diffusion master equations. J. Chem. Phys. 135(13), 1–10 (2011)

Aging and Gerontology



Alterations in Thyroid Function Testing with Aging

Jawahar (Jay) Kalra^{1,2(⊠)}, Zoher Rafid-Hamed², and Patrick Seitzinger³

 ¹ Saskatoon Health Region, Royal University Hospital, 103 Hospital Drive, Saskatoon, SK S7N 0W8, Canada
 ² Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada {jay.kalra,zor325}@usask.ca
 ³ Northern Medical Program, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC V6T 1Z4, Canada patrickseitzinger@alumni.ubc.ca

Abstract. In the present study, we investigated if there are any diurnal variations in serum thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) levels in normal subjects and any alterations in serum TSH, free thyroxine (fT_4), and free triiodothyronine (fT_3) levels with aging. Our results showed the presence of a circadian rhythm in serum TSH levels in normal subjects (n = 11; 5 males, 6 females; age range 19–46) with no significant changes in fT_3 and fT_4 , indicating that the regulation of TSH is central rather than peripheral. In addition, we examined samples from 1,571 euthyroid outpatients (513 males, 1,058 females; age range 10–90) over a 6-month period. Serum TSH levels in age groups 50–59, 60–69, 70–79, and 80–89 were found to be progressively higher than those in the age group 10–19 with no significant differences between male and female populations. These findings suggest the presence of an alteration in TSH secretion with aging.

Keywords: Age \cdot Aging \cdot Thyroxine \cdot Triiodothyronine \cdot Thyroid stimulating hormone

1 Introduction

Thyroid hormones play important roles in development, thermoregulation and metabolic homeostasis [1]. The measurement of serum thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), using sensitive immunoradiometric assay (IRMA) and enzyme immunoassay (EIA), is an important test in the diagnosis and management of thyroid disorders [2]. As individuals age, the endocrine system and related organs including the thyroid gland undergo vital changes in both functionality and secretion patterns [3].

A considerable body of literature indicates that thyroid function decreases with age [3–9]. In euthyroid individuals with sufficient iodine intake serum TSH concentration have been found to increase with age [10]. Among the strongest evidence is data from 14, 376 euthyroid participants of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III which showed a positive shift in TSH levels as individuals age. In a 13 year

longitudinal study (n = 908) mean serum TSH was found to increase by 0.32 mU/L (95% CI 0.27–0.38) [3]. Mean fT₄ remained unchanged [3]. For each decade of life, gender-adjusted changes in TSH were found to increase by 0.08 mU/L (95% CI 0.04–0.11). Individuals with low baseline TSH values experience the largest increase in TSH as they age while individuals with higher baseline TSH values have more modest increases in TSH levels [3].

There are conflicting reports on the effect of age-related changes on the secretion of various thyroid regulatory hormones and thyroid function tests. Previous studies of euthyroid individuals have found that increased age is associated with decreased TSH secretion [11, 12]. For example, in a study of 3,346 patients, TSH was found decrease with age while fT_4 levels stayed relatively constant throughout life and fT_3 varied among ages and ethnicities [1]. We have previously shown that serum sensitive TSH assays may be used as an initial screening test for anyone suspected of thyroid disorder and for monitoring optimal thyroxine replacement therapy [2]. The presence of conflicting reports of the effects of age on thyroid function make it an important and timely endeavor to resolve such discrepancies by investigating if there are any diurnal variations in serum TSH levels in normal subjects and any alterations in serum TSH, fT_4 , and fT_3 levels with aging.

The existence of circadian rhythmic patterns in the secretion of prolactin, adrenocorticotrophin (ACTH), growth hormone (GH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) have been demonstrated [13, 14]. There are reports of a circadian rhythm for serum TSH and for cortisol [14, 15]. In earlier studies, circadian variations of fT_4 were reported to be accompanied by a non-significant inverse relationship of plasma TSH level [16]. Moreover, it has also been demonstrated that concentrations of thyroxine (T₄) and triiodothyronine (T₃) fluctuate during a 24-h period [17–19]. However, in a later report, pulsatile synchronous diurnal rhythm was found for free triiodothyronine (fT_3) [17], and diurnal rhythm in serum T₃ to T₄ ratios [20]. Based on these reports, a gap in the understanding in the pattern of variation of thyroid hormones has been identified. Therefore, in this study we assess the circadian rhythm in serum T₃, T₄, fT₄ and fT₃ compared to circadian variations of serum TSH, and the relationship of TSH with the daily variation in cortisol concentration in normal adult human subjects.

2 Methods

For the portion of the study that investigated circadian rhythms and thyroid function, 11 normal hospital workers were studied. Inclusion criteria included being euthyroid (having a normally functioning thyroid gland) with TSH results within normal range and having normal levels of electrolytes liver enzymes, creatinine and urea. Exclusion criteria included taking any medication such as being on birth control. These 11 subjects were observed for their usual living and day to day habits.

Blood samples were collected every 4 h for a period of 24 h, starting at 0800 h. Various routine immunoradiometric methods, radioimmunoassay and enzyme immunoassay were employed for measurement of T_4 , T_3 , fT_4 fT_3 , TSH, and cortisol [2, 21]. Sera were stored at -20 °C until the end of study and samples from each subject were assayed in a single batch to eliminate inter-assay variations.

For the portion of the study that investigated changes in thyroid levels and aging, samples from 1,571 ambulatory patients were sent to the laboratory over a 6-month period. Only euthyroid patients with normal levels of electrolytes, and liver enzymes were included and any participants taking medications such as birth control were excluded. The individuals in this study were grouped into decades so that comparisons of age-related changes could be made.

3 Results

Study Population. The analysis of circadian rhythm included 11 patients with a mean age of 20 ± 9.0 years, range 19–46 years. There were 54.5% (6/11) females and 45.5% (5/11) males. All subjects followed a routine of daytime work and night time sleep. The analysis of thyroid levels and aging involved 1571 patients ranging from 10 to 90 years old. Approximately 67.3% (1058/1571) of the patients were female and 32.7% (513/1571) were male.

Triiodothyronine and Thyroxine. No predictable pattern of variation was found in the levels of serum T_3 and T_4 in normal subjects over a 24-h period (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Relative changes in serum triiodothyronine (T_3) and serum thyroxine (T_4) levels (% 24 h, Mean \pm SEM) over a 24-h period in normal subjects.

Free Triiodothyronine and Free Thyroxine. Data showed no significant difference in the serum fT_4 and fT_3 values in normal subjects over a period of 24 h. Serum fT_4 and fT_3 levels in normal subjects over a period of 24 h are shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Relative changes in serum free triiodothyronine (fT_3) and serum free thyroxine (fT_4) levels (% 24 h, Mean \pm SEM) over a 24-h period in normal subjects.

Thyroid Stimulating Hormone and Cortisol. Mean serum TSH concentrations were found to be decreased from 0800 h to 1600 h, being lowest at 1600 h. Peak TSH levels occurred at 0200 h. Mean cortisol levels were found to be lowest at 2400 h, with a progressive rise at 0200 h, with maxima at 0800 h. A comparison of changes in TSH concentrations with that of cortisol levels is shown in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Relative changes in serum thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) levels and cortisol levels (% 24 h, Mean \pm SEM) over a 24-h period in normal subjects.

There were no significant differences observed when comparing serum TSH values from the age group 10–19 to TSH values from age groups 20–29, 30–39, and 40–49. However, serum TSH levels in age groups 50–59, 60–69, 70–79, and 80–89 were found to be progressively higher than those in the age group 10–19. TSH levels in each decade of life are shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Levels of serum thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) (Mean \pm SEM) in each decade of life.

When comparing TSH levels at each decade of life, no significant differences between male and female populations. TSH levels of males and females in each decade of life are shown in Fig. 5. Female TSH levels tended to be slightly greater than male TSH levels in each decade of life (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Comparison of thyroid stimulating hormone levels (Mean \pm SEM) between males and females in each decade of life.

4 Discussion

The measurement of serum thyroid hormones has allowed us not only to study circadian rhythms of the thyroid but also to investigate how the functionality and secretion patterns of the thyroid change with age. This study has shown that there is no significant difference in the serum T_4 , T_3 , fT_4 and fT_3 values in normal subjects over a period of 24 h. These observations indicate that serum T_4 , T_3 , fT_4 and fT_3 in normal human subjects are not controlled by circadian rhythms. This finding is supported by numerous previous studies of circadian rhythms [17–20].

Our observations indicate that there exists a circadian rhythm in the secretion of serum TSH in normal subjects, as was previously reported in a similar study [22]. Mean serum TSH concentrations were found to decrease between 0800 h to 1600 h, with a minimum at 1600 h. We observed that there was a progressive increase of mean TSH concentration that began at 2000 h and reached a maximum value at 0200 h. The mean TSH concentration at 1600 h and 0200 h were significantly different (p < 0.01). The presence of a circadian rhythm for TSH, combined with the absence of a measurable circadian rhythm in other hormones pertaining to the thyroid suggests that there is no relationship between the release of thyroid hormones (bound or free) and fluctuating TSH values over the 24 h period. Furthermore, it suggests that the serum TSH circadian rhythm may primarily be regulated centrally rather than peripherally.

The lack of a relationship between the release of thyroid hormones and circadian rhythms of TSH values found in this study contributes to an ongoing discussion about the pattern of variation of thyroid hormones. In contrast to our findings, pulsatile release of free hormones from the thyroid gland has been reported to be controlled by pulsatile TSH secretion [23]. However, in an earlier study, no increment of plasma T_4 or T_3 followed the nocturnal TSH surge [17] suggesting that the diurnal rhythm of serum T_3 is not TSH dependent [20].

The discussion of the regulation of the thyroid is ongoing. Recently, it has been suggested that pulsatile and circadian TSH secretions are predominantly controlled by TRH [24]. Hypothalamic regulation of TSH biosynthesis and secretion has been demonstrated [25]. It has been speculated that the increase in melatonin at night leads to a dopaminergic activity, resultantly the diminished release of dopamine (DA) may lead to an increase in TSH [26]. Infusion of a DA has been found to abolish the maximal peak in TSH occurring at 2300 h while cortisol levels were unaffected by DA [27]. However, later studies have demonstrated that the neuroendocrine mechanism(s) that underlies the nocturnal increase in TSH secretion are not due to dopaminergic inhibition [28]. When interpreting the information and data provided from the combination of these studies it is apparent that the control of TSH secretion remains an ongoing debate. To contribute to the understanding of the control of TSH secretion, our data indicate that with respect to the circadian variation of serum TSH levels, the timing of sample collections plays an important role in the diagnosis of thyroid disorders. For example, in central hypothyroidism there is a deficient nocturnal surge of TSH, therefore, evaluation of circadian pattern of TSH may be useful adjunct in making the diagnosis of hypothyroidism in patients with diseases involving the pituitary or hypothalamus [29].

Cortisol was found to have diurnal variation. Mean cortisol levels were lowest at 2400 h, with a progressive rise at 0200 h, with maxima at 0800 h. As far as the relationship in diurnal variation between TSH and cortisol is concerned we our data show that the rise in serum TSH preceded the rise in cortisol (Fig. 3). Additionally, we see that during the period of maximum TSH levels, cortisol was at its lowest point suggesting an inverse correlation between the two hormones. This inverse relationship may be due to the acute suppression of TSH secretion when cortisol concentration is at a high point. These effects have been found in both man and in rats after the administration of glucocorticoids in pharmacological doses [30]. Dexamethasone administration also resulted in a prompt, sustained and significant suppression of basal TSH [30]. However, this inverse correlation between serum cortisol and TSH secretion was not consistent [31]. Therefore, the role of cortisol on the secretion pattern of TSH remains unsolved and requires further investigation. Possible factors responsible for the inconsistencies in the outcome of different investigations include variations in the adoption of methods for the determination of desired parameters, sensitivities of the procedures, sampling devices, time of sampling, lab practices, ethnicity, race, genetics, sex and the health status of the subjects under study.

In regard to the effect of aging on thyroid function, there were no significant differences in the mean serum values of fT_3 and fT_4 between age groups, as has been previously reported [3]. No significant differences were found when comparing serum TSH values from the age group 10–19 to TSH values from age groups 20–29, 30–39, and 40–49. However, serum TSH levels in age groups 50–59, 60–69, 70–79, and 80–89 were found to be progressively higher than those in the age group 10–19 with no significant differences between male and female populations. The findings of this study provide evidence that TSH levels increase with age. These results are aligned with previous studies that have reported a similar positive effect of age on TSH levels [3, 10]. The physiological processes underlying the association between aging and increased TSH levels is suspected to involve diminished TSH bioactivity or reduced responsiveness of the thyroid to TSH [3].

It has been suggested that lower reference ranges of TSH should be used in early life and that higher reference ranges should be used for elderly patients [1, 7, 32]. Although there still exists a great deal of debate around the issue [33, 34], the use of age-specific TSH levels may allow for more accurate diagnoses while minimizing overdiagnosis and overtreatment. This study has shown that aging does have a measurable and predictable effect on thyroid function and that TSH levels increase as age increases. It is therefore reasonable to support the adoption of age-specific TSH reference ranges to provide accuracy to the diagnosis of thyroid disorders. This study serves as an important step in the investigation of circadian rhythms of the thyroid and to understanding how thyroid functionality and secretion patterns change with age.

References

- Kumari, T., Prasad, A., Sinha, K.K., Bharti, M.L.G., Satyam, K.: Age and sex specific thyroid hormone profile in euthyroid subjects. J. Biochem. Technol. 6, 1008–1012 (2016)
- Kalra, J., Laxdal, V.A., Walker, S.D., Massey, K.L.: Evaluation and assessment of high sensitivity thyrotropin methods as an index for thyroid function. Clin. Biochem. 20, 307–312 (1987)

- Bremner, A.P., Feddema, P., Leedman, P.J., Brown, S.J., Beilby, J.P., Lim, E.M., Wilson, S.G., O'Leary, P.C., Walsh, J.P.: Age-related changes in thyroid function: a longitudinal study of a community-based cohort. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 97, 1554–1562 (2012)
- Barhanovic, N.G., Antunovic, T., Kavaric, S., Djogo, A., Spasojevic, V.K.: Age and assay related changes of laboratory thyroid function tests in the reference female population. J. Med. Biochem. 38, 22–32 (2018)
- Ochs, N., Auer, R., Bauer, D.C., Nanchen, D., Gussekloo, J., Cornuz, J., Rodondi, N.: Metaanalysis: subclinical thyroid dysfunction and the risk for coronary heart disease and mortality. Ann. Intern. Med. 148, 832–845 (2008)
- Atzmon, G., Barzilai, N., Hollowell, J.G., Surks, M.I., Gabriely, I.: Extreme longevity is associated with increased serum thyrotropin. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 94, 1251–1254 (2009)
- Surks, M.I., Boucai, L.: Age- and race-based serum thyrotropin reference limits. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95, 496–502 (2010)
- 8. Cooper, D.S., Biondi, B.: Subclinical thyroid disease. Lancet 379, 1142-1154 (2012)
- 9. Yeap, B.B.: Hormones and health outcomes in aging men. Exp. Gerontol. 48, 677–681 (2013)
- Hollowell, J.G., Staehling, N.W., Dana Flanders, W., Harry Hannon, W., Gunter, E.W., Spencer, C.A., Braverman, L.E.: Serum TSH, T4, and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 489–499 (2002)
- Mariotti, S., Franceschi, C., Cossarizza, A., Pinchera, N.: The aging thyroid. Endocr. Rev. 16, 686–715 (1995)
- 12. Chahal, H., Drake, W.: The endocrine system and ageing. J. Pathol. 211, 173-180 (2007)
- Weitzman, E.D.: Circadian rhythms and episodic hormone secretion in man. Annu. Rev. Med. 27, 225–243 (1976)
- Daly, J.R.: The relevance of biological rhythms to clinical biochemistry. In: Williams, D.L., Marks, V. (eds.) Princ. Clin. Biochem. Found, pp. 70–91 (1988)
- 15. Krieger, D.T., Allen, W., Rizzo, F., Krieger, H.P.: Characterization of the normal temporal pattern of plasma corticosteroid levels. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. **32**, 266–284 (1971)
- Lemarchand-Béraud, T., Vannotti, A.: Relationships between blood thyrotrophin level, protein bound iodine and free thyroxine concentration in man under normal physiological conditions. Acta Endocrinol. (Copenh.) 60, 315–326 (1969)
- 17. Azukizawa, M., Pekary, A.E., Hershman, J.M., Parker, D.C.: Plasma thyrotropin, thyroxine, and triiodothyronine relationships in man. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 43, 533–542 (1976)
- 18. O-Connor, J.F., Wu, G.Y., Gallagher, T.F., Hellman, L.: The 24-hour plasma thyroxin profile in normal man. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. **39**, 765–771 (1974)
- 19. Balsam, A., Dobbs, C.R., Leppo, L.E.: Circadian variations in concentrations of plasma thyroxine and triiodothyronine in man. J. Appl. Physiol. **39**, 297–299 (1975)
- Nimalasuriya, A., Spencer, C.A., Lin, S.C., Tse, J.K., Nicoloff, J.T.: Studies on the diurnal pattern of serum 3, 5, 3'-triiodothyronine. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 62, 153–158 (1986)
- Kalra, J., Massey, K., Laxdal, V.A.: Existence of a circadian rhythm of serum thyrotropin in normal subjects. Clin. Investig. Med. 10, R348 (1987)
- Weeke, J.: Circadian variation of the serum thyrotropin level in normal subjects. Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. **31**, 337–342 (1973)
- 23. Weeke, J., Gundersen, H.J.G.: Circadian and 30 minutes variations in serum TSH and thyroid hormones in normal subjects. Acta Endocrinol. (Copenh.) **89**, 659–672 (1978)
- Brabant, G., Brabant, A., Ranft, U., Ocran, K., Kohrle, J., Hesch, R.D., von zur Muhlen, A.: Circadian and pulsatile thyrotropin secretion in euthyroid man under the influence of thyroid hormone and glucocorticoid administration. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 65, 83–88 (1987)

- 25. Ridgway, E.C., Greenspan, S., Shupnik, M.: Hypothalamic regulation of thyrotropin biosynthesis and secretion. Horm. Metab. Res. Suppl. 17, 78–82 (1987)
- 26. Rao, M.L., Mager, T.: Influence of the pineal gland on pituitary function in humans. Psychoneuroendocrinology **12**, 141–147 (1987)
- Kerr, D.J., Singh, V.K., McConway, M.G., Beastall, G.H., Connell, J.M., Alexander, W.D., Davies, D.L.: Circadian variation of thyrotrophin, determined by ultrasensitive immunoradiometric assay, and the effect of low dose nocturnal dopamine infusion. Clin. Sci. (Lond.) 72, 737–741 (1987)
- Rossmanith, W.G., Mortola, J.F., Laughlin, G.A., Yen, S.S.C.: Dopaminergic control of circadian and pulsatile pituitary thyrotropin release in women. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 67, 560–564 (1988)
- Caron, P.J., Nieman, L.K., Rose, S.R., Nisula, B.C.: Deficient nocturnal surge of thyrotropin in central hypothyroidism. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 62, 960–964 (1986)
- Wilber, J.F., Utiger, R.D.: The effect of glucocorticoids on thyrotropin secretion. J. Clin. Invest. 48, 2096–2103 (1969)
- Nicoloff, J.T., Fisher, D.A., Appleman, M.D.: The role of glucocorticoids in the regulation of thyroid function in man. J. Clin. Invest. 49, 1922–1929 (1970)
- 32. Boucai, L., Hollowell, J.G., Surks, M.I.: An approach for development of age-, gender-, and ethnicity-specific thyrotropin reference limits. Thyroid **21**, 5–11 (2011)
- 33. Laurberg, P., Andersen, S., Carlé, A., Karmisholt, J., Knudsen, N., Pedersen, I.B.: The TSH upper reference limit: where are we at? Nat. Rev. Endocrinol. **7**, 232–239 (2011)
- 34. Fatourechi, V.: Upper limit of normal serum thyroid-stimulating hormone: a moving and now an aging target? J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. **92**, 4560–4562 (2007)



The Design Adaptation of the Virtual Assistant Anne for Moderate Dementia Patients and Their Formal Caregivers in Protected Environment Tests

Vera Stara^{1(⊠)}, Michiel de Jong², Elisa Felici¹, Daniel Bolliger³, Edith Birrer³, Viviane von Döllen⁴, Lorena Rossi¹, and Marcel Heerink⁵

¹ IRCSS INRCA-National Institute of Health and Science on Ageing, Ancona, Italy {v.stara, e.felici, l.rossi}@inrca.it ² University of Twente, Enschede, The Netherlands m.dejong-l@utwente.nl ³ iHomeLab Lucerne University of Applied Sciences and Arts, Lucerne, Switzerland {daniel.bolliger, edith.birrer}@hslu.ch ⁴ Stëftung Hëllef Doheem, Luxembourg City, Luxembourg viviane.vondoellen@shd.lu ⁵ Windesheim University, Almere, The Netherlands mheerink@windesheimflevoland.nl

Abstract. Dementia has become a major health problem with an equally important economic impact on our society and enabling patients with dementia and their caregivers to improve their quality of life and dignity is a great challenge. A significant solution to meet the challenge, could be the use of Personal Virtual Assistant (PVA). The aim of this paper is to share the know-how reached in the design and adaptation of the Personal Virtual Assistant "Anne" for moderate dementia patients and their formal caregivers. The paper presents the results of the first iteration of protected environment tests in Italy and Luxembourg.

Keywords: Personal Virtual Assistant · User Centred Design · Dementia

1 Introduction

Dementia has become a major health problem with an equally important economic impact on our society: approximately 47 million people have dementia worldwide and this is expected to almost triple by 2050. The cost associated with this disease is estimated to be at 818 billion dollars, and by 2030, this cost is expected to exceed one trillion dollars [1]. Enabling patients with dementia and their caregivers to improve their quality of life and dignity is a great challenge. A significant solution to meet the challenge, is the use of innovative technology. Avatars or Personal Virtual Assistant (PVA) are promising examples of technological solutions with a large potential in this field. PVAs are screen-based entities designed to stimulate human face to face

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 270–279, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_27 conversation skills and thus allow for natural interaction between humans and computer [2]. The extent to which this type of innovation may be able to support people affected by dementia and their caregivers along the progressive nature of this terrible illness, represents a great challenge for the entire scientific community. The changing needs of patients and those who provide care for them force the necessity of appropriate and effective technologies at the different stages of dementia. For example, exiting systems target memory support and self-care for people in the early stage of dementia whereas in the moderate to severe stages of dementia, assistive and safety technology (i.e. motion/fall detectors, environmental sensors measuring elements such as room temperature, smoke/gas/water presence) are mostly needed [3]. Unfortunately, specific studies on the efficacy of virtual agents within the dementia context are rare. Nevertheless, some research has shown significant results; an animated conversational agent can be used as a trusted exercise adviser [4]. People with cognitive impairment seem to engage naturally with a screen agent [5]. Moreover, it is found that virtual agents provide a sense of companionship [6]. The aim of this paper is to share the know-how reached in the design and adaptation of the PVA "Anne" for moderate dementia patients and their formal caregivers, within the Living Well with Anne project.

2 The Living Well with Anne Project

The *Living well with Anne* project (http://livingwellwithanne.eu/) is co-financed under the Active Assisted Living Joint Programme of the European Commission (www.aal-europe.eu) and the National Funding Agencies of 7 partners out of 4 European countries (the Netherlands, Italy, Luxembourg and Switzerland). The project has started in June 2017 and the duration was set to 36 months. Living well with Anne is based on the AAL predecessor project *MyLifeMyWay* (http://www.mylifemyway-aal. eu/), and it operates in a promising research field based on new approaches in technical assistance systems and robotics with the focus on seniors suffering from forgetfulness, cognitive impairments and/or the early stage of dementia (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. The users interface. Copyright Virtask B.V.©

2.1 Component Overview of the Personal Assistant Anne

The LivingWell project features the Personal Virtual Assistant "Anne" that can support the users in all aspects of daily life: communication with the outside world, keeping track of items on the personal calendar, daily structure, medication, reading the news and re-laxation (games, music). While the technology in the background is quite complex, for the end-users the PVA is a friendly, human-looking avatar on their screen. They can interact with the PVA with their voice and touch. In this project, the personal assistant is extended with features that meet the changing needs of people with dementia (PwD). Anne will enable PwD to live independently for longer by giving them an easy-to-use, most natural way to interact with assistive technology. Anne is able to learn autonomously from its users and gets to know their personal preferences and needs. The PVA can assist and support PwD and their social environment in such a way that they can be active much longer be active and take part in social life. In addition, as end-users learn to use Anne and increase their autonomy, it is believed that it will have an unburdening effect on their informal and formal caregivers.

Anne works on a Surface Pro tablet under the Microsoft Windows 10 operating system. Currently the following languages are available: Dutch, English, German, Italian, French. Spanish and Portuguese are under development (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Screenshots of current available modules that show an example layout. Depending on the abilities of the user, the layout can be different, or the module can be hidden or disabled. The challenges in the design development. Copyright Virtask B.V.©

In the Living Well project, we explore the following question: how Anne can be modified to the requirements of people with dementia in different stages?

Rather than to reinvent the wheel, the project uses on an already developed modular software solution and smartly combining several existing technologies such as language recognition and speech generation, 3D-rendering, adaptive decision control mechanisms etc. Building on the knowledge already attained in building the basic version of Anne, the project will go beyond the state of the art in avatar technology. The objective is to ensure that Anne will be able to adapt to the changings needs of the concerned people as the disease progresses. The new and innovative concept builds upon new functionalities of Anne advancing her in four major areas:

- Dynamic state and progression analysis: The avatar will be able to detect the state of the PwD living at home in order to get a close picture on what the person is still can and cannot do. This analysis continues dynamically and will get more precise while Anne learns. But Anne will also be able to detect changes in the behavior and the abilities of the PwD as the disease progresses.
- Situational context analysis: While in the previous area, the general abilities of the PwD living at home are analyzed on a more mid-term basis, Anne will also be able to find out more about specific situations and the typical day-to-day living patterns of a PwD.
- Smart, context-sensitive service provision: Once Anne knows more about the abilities of the PwD, she may choose the most suited ones among her standard and newly developed functional modules (Agenda, Radio, News, etc.) the most suited ones and decide on which level of complexity they should be provided.
- Adaptive user interface: Finally, Anne will be able to adapt her user interface to
 provide the selected services in a way that still make them accessible to the PwD.

This development requires the close involvement of end-users during the design process in conformity with the User-Centered Design (UCD) approach. A great challenge of the Living Well project is to provide a human-centered perspective that can be integrated in the main development cycles of the system [7]. The active involvement of users and a clear understanding of context of use are the key strengths to overcome the main barriers in applying technology for seniors in general and in particular for people who suffer of dementia.

In the light of this challenge, the research objectives of this particular part of the project are to obtain insights in: (i) how do patients experience the PVA in the stage of moderate dementia? (ii) how Anne can be modified to the requirements of people in the stage of moderate dementia?

3 Methodology

For this study, the method of protected environment tests was used as a phase of the UCD development process. Predefined small test sessions were performed in a safe and familiar environment where the end user met with a caregiver and a researcher for a short time (e.g. an hour or even shorter) to perform a particular activity. Each user interaction between the PwD and Anne was observed, analyzed and documented by the formal caregivers and researchers.

The protected environment tests scenarios were previously agreed between formal caregivers, researchers and technicians in order to establish the needs and requirements (pains and gains). In this way, Anne was experienced by patients with moderate dementia within a controlled setting and under the supervision of their formal caregivers and the risks of exposing PwD to the PVA (e.g. provoking paranoid reactions to the Avatar and leading to aggression behaviors) were mitigated. To supplement the observations, formal caregivers were interviewed at the end of each session of test using a semi-structured list of questions. In accordance with Preece et al. [8], our questions are conforming to the usual usability goals like effectiveness, efficiency, safety, utility and learnability. The interview included the following statements (Table 1):

Table 1. The semi-structured list of questions

Question	15
1.	Did the tool meet the predefined expectations? Why (not)? If not: what should be changed?
2.	Is this tool useful in each stage of dementia?
3.	On the basis of this experience, do you think that the system is useful in this specific stage of dementia?
4.	Do you think that this tool can be used by the patient without the caregiver's supervision?
5.	If not, what kind of changes will be necessary to adapt Anne for the needs of this stage of dementia?
6.	What kind of behaviors did you recognize in the target during the interaction with Anne?
7.	Do you think that these behaviors represent positive, negative or neutral feelings in the subjects?
8.	Do you think that Anne could have some benefits/advantages on the target?

The protected environment tests were performed in two different settings:

- In Italy, 5 female patients with moderate dementia, 2 formal caregivers and 2 researchers working at the Alzheimer Daily Center of INRCA were involved in different iterations;
- In Luxembourg 1 female patient with dementia, 2 formal caregivers and 1 researcher were involved in the requirements session. Additional patients will be involved in the testing of the consequent iteration of the protected environment tests.

4 Results

This section provides the outcomes of the participants' interactions with the PVA. The results provided are the combined notes of the formal caregivers and researchers in Italy and Luxembourg.

4.1 Protected Environment Tests in Italy

Formal caregivers, researchers and technicians agreed to develop and observe two specific requirements in the Italian setting: prayers and the quizzes. These two functionalities respond to the general need of keeping the patients calm and relax and in parallel involve them in entertainment activities that can stimulate their procedural memory. The PVA was evaluated with the PwD in a setting familiar to the participants, at the day care centers where they are frequent visitors.

From a qualitative point of view, a result of the observations was that the older adults at no point exhibited fear, misunderstanding or inconvenience when seeing the avatar on the screen or, most importantly, when the avatar spoke to them directly. Moreover, nobody withdrew from the test. Another result to underline is that PwD freely spoke to her. The sample group responded verbally to the avatar but they did not use the touch control.

The interviewed informal caregivers recognized the potential of the PVA as a tool for their daily activities. For example, for them it appeared clear that the prayer evoked the procedural memory and acted as a "mantra" and the PwD seemed to feel soon comfortable. Nevertheless, the formal caregivers were strongly convinced that the use of the PVA is only useful for this stage of dementia if controlled by the professional staff. The proactivity of the avatar emerged as the most important aspect to improve the next iterations. The users need to experience the personal assistant as a companion. Other suggestions coming from the interviews put the attention on the leisure/games functionalities and the need to maintain the residual cognitive ability of PwD fostering cognitive training by means of painting pictures, paying quizzes and puzzles, reading books and listening to stories, and music (mainly classical).

All these improvements are being implemented for the second iteration of protected environment tests.

4.2 Protected Environment Test in Luxembourg

In Luxemburg Formal caregivers, the researcher and technicians agreed to develop and observe one specific requirement of the basic Anne: the puzzle. One lady with intermittently medium dementia (temporary loss of memory and cognitive functions), together with 2 of her formal caregivers at and 1 researcher, tested the basic Anne as she is currently being used by older adults without issues of dementia. The PwD quickly focused on the games section and in particular the puzzle because she already does puzzles as a means of exercising her memory and cognitive abilities. The problem she encounters currently is that when she does puzzles in the Day care Center, there is always a member of staff at hand to help and encourage her but at home, she gets too quickly frustrated to play. As she only attends the Day Care Center twice a week, the benefits of this activity are limited. Both the PwD and her caregivers are convinced that if Anne could take on the role of supporting and encouraging the PWD at home, she would be able to play a little every day and thus maximize the benefits on her memory and other cognitive abilities and thus maybe even slow down the development of her dementia.

In the post test interview, the formal caregivers expressed the belief that within the 10 SHD Day Care Centers, a large number of their PwD patients could benefit of such a development.

The following requirements were identified:

- The Puzzle needs to be simplified (cut into simple shapes) and provide several choices of complexity in order to insure that the Puzzle can be adapted to the PwD with severe cognitive problems while still challenging those who are still more able. For example, the client tried to play the normal puzzle and failed. Client herself said that the curly complex shapes made it difficult for her. The formal caregiver said that if we oversimplify, then other clients may get bored. So they expressed the need to have a choice of difficulty to meet the needs of all their clients and help them to challenge themselves.
- The pictures used need to be relevant to the PwD's life experience (e.g. pictures of Luxembourg or their country of origin, pictures of their Day Care Center building/bus/staff, pictures of their home or their family members).
- Anne needs to actively invite and encourage the PwD to play and provide choices on the level of difficulty.
- Anne needs to notice when the PwD has difficulties completing the Puzzle and offer appropriate help and/or offer to reduce the level of difficulty.
- Anne has to actively encourage and complement the PwD throughout the session and after each game.

These and other specifically designed features are being implemented to be tested in the 2^{nd} iteration in the protected environment tests which will include other PwDs attending the SHD Day Care Centers.

5 Discussion

The goals of this study were to find answers to the research objectives introduced in Sect. 2.1.

5.1 How Do Patients in the Stage of Moderate Dementia Experience the PVA?

PwD and their formal caregivers enrolled in this study were positive regarding the PVA. All the participants interacted with Anne playing games, quizzes or praying with her. No problem behaviors (i.e., verbal, physical, and overall agitation), were observed, neither patients withdrew from the tests. This data suggested that people with moderate dementia can be engaged in interactions with a PVA. This results confirm the state of the art in the field [9–13].

However, patients experienced difficulties in using a touchscreen and navigating the different applications of Anne. This convinced the formal caregivers in Italy that Anne could be a useful tool for their daily working activities but that their patients could not use it independently. The caregivers in Luxembourg agreed that the daily living activities of the current Anne (e.g. Agenda, medication, video call...) were too difficult for PwD to use independently at home. This is in line with recent researches that shown how the PwD needed permanent help and prompting while using natural user interfaces [14, 15]. However, the staff thought that once adapted appropriately, the Day Care Centre attendees with mild to moderate dementia could continue to play the games (e.g. puzzles) independently at home with Anne mimicking the support given by the formal caregivers.

The results showed very clearly the importance of personalized solutions: the design adaptation was conducted in close collaboration with the care organizations which provide daily assistance to the patients both in Italy and Luxembourg. This participatory strategy allows for easy adaptation and consequently helps to match the needs of future beneficiaries with the proposed technology [16, 17].

5.2 How Anne Can Be Modified to the Requirements of People in the Stage of Moderate Dementia?

In software design for PwD, user centeredness is crucial. User-centric design (UCD) implies developing in small steps, iteratively testing new versions with the endusers. This is only possible in a software environment where it is very easy to implement changes to the look-and-feel, without having to adapt many back-end functions, databases etc. We therefore decided to use a simplified version of the Anne software on stand-alone systems without backend integration, where we could provide software versions tailored very specifically for each protected environment test, without having to adapt many back-end functions not directly visible for the user. For each protected environment test, the researchers, carers and developers collaborated closely to design the test, to install and perform it. The development cycles were shortened further by creation of mockup images before implementing software. For installation and support of the test computers, direct remote access for the developers proved very useful. From the results of all these very specific tests and software versions, the following general results can be extracted for an Anne version suitable for PwD:

- Encouragement: Anne should encourage the user to continue if he/she has succeeded in doing something, has finished a subtask or done a step towards a goal.
- Immediate feedback: Whenever the user interacts with Anne, immediate feedback should be given, e.g. a visual effect when touching an active element on the screen, or an audible feedback when Anne has heard a speech command. This is a common truth for all user interfaces, but for PwD it is crucial.
- Give hints: When the user is stuck in a task, Anne should give hints or make suggestions what to try or what next step could be possible.
- Simplify screens to the absolute minimum: The PwD should not be confused with visual elements that are not important for the current task.
- Personalization: Anne should be personalizable very easily by the carers, not only to the overall wishes of the PwD (e.g. what modules should be visible in general), but also depending on current strength of the PwD, as this can vary from day to day. As the Anne software knows the interaction patterns of the user, it should support

the carers in this configuration process by recommending simplification possibilities. The associated machine-learning capability of Anne opens many research questions and, if proved feasible, even possibilities that future versions of Anne could self-adapt their user interface, based on the current condition of the PwD.

5.3 Limitations, Conclusion and Future Steps

While this study was limited by its small sample size, gender homogeneity (only females were included in the group) and very low ICT skills, its intent was to develop some specific features for the use of people with different stages of dementia and associated cognitive problems and pave the way for future studies of how PVAs can be adapted to fit the different stages of dementia. It is to underline that current PwDs had generally little experience with mobile technology before they became affected by dementia.

Nevertheless, future steps are needed. The first step is to conduct methodologically sound scientific researches in the community dementia care and support. This could lead to the urgent proof of the cost-effectiveness of such devices. The second step is to study in depth what are the factors that can influence the deployment of these technologies. In this respect, it could be very interesting to know if a participatory design strategy is the key to sell products to PwD but also to the caregivers (informal and formal) who will recommend or even buy the product for the PwD asking themselves "what is the added value for me?". In the future, interaction with technology may become less of a problem for PwDs. This increased IT literacy will open the way for broader application of ICT with PwD in a more severe stage.

Acknowledgments. This study is part of the Living well with Anne which was co-financed by the EU (Active and Assisted Living Programme, AAL-call-2016-102), the national funding agency of Switzerland: State Secretariat for Education, Research and Innovation SERI; the Italian Ministry of Health; the Luxembourg Fond National de la Recherche (FNR) and the Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development (ZonMw). The partner coordinator of the LivingWell project is Virtask that is the main developer of Anne under the Copyright Virtask B.V.©.

References

- Magklara, E., Stephan, B.C., Robinson, L.: Current approaches to dementia screening and case finding in low- and middle-income countries: research update and recommendations. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 34(1), 3–7 (2019)
- Tsiourti, C., Quintas, J., Ben-Moussa, M., Hanke, S., Nijdam, N.A., Konstantas, D.: The CaMeLi framework—a multimodal virtual companion for older adults. In: Proceedings of SAI Intelligent Systems Conference, pp. 196–217. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Lorenz, K., Freddolino, P.P., Comas-Herrera, A., Knapp, M., Damant, J.: Technology-based tools and services for people with dementia and carers: mapping technology onto the dementia care pathway. Dementia 18, 725–741 (2017)
- Bickmore, T.W., Caruso, L., Clough-Gorr, K.: Acceptance and usability of a relational agent interface by urban older adults. In: Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, CHI 2005, pp. 1212–1215. ACM (2015)

- 5. Carrasco, E.: Computers helping people with special needs, vol. 7382 (2012)
- Vardoulakis, L.P., Ring, L., Barry, B., Sidner, C.L., Bickmore, T.: Designing relational agents as long term social companions for older adults. In: International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents, pp. 289–302. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)
- de Jong, M., Stara, V., von Döllen, V., Bolliger, D., Heerink, M., Evers, V.: Users requirements in the design of a virtual agent for patients with dementia and their caregivers. In: Proceedings of the 4th EAI International Conference on Smart Objects and Technologies for Social Good, pp. 136–141. ACM (2018)
- Preece, J., Rogers, Y., Sharp, H.: Interaction Design: Beyond Human-Computer Interaction. Wiley, Chichester (2015)
- Nonaka, Y., Sakai, Y., Yasuda, K., Nakano, Y.: Towards assessing the communication responsiveness of people with dementia. In: International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents, pp. 496–498. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)
- Carrasco, E., Epelde, G., Moreno, A., Ortiz, A., Garcia, I., Buiza, C., Arruti, A.: Natural interaction between avatars and persons with alzheimer's disease. In: International Conference on Computers for Handicapped Persons, pp. 38–45. Springer, Heidelberg (2008)
- Huang, H.H., Matsushita, H., Kawagoe, K., Sakai, Y., Nonaka, Y., Nakano, Y., Yasuda, K.: Toward a memory assistant companion for the individuals with mild memory impairment. In: International Conference on Cognitive Informatics and Cognitive Computing, pp. 295– 299. IEEE (2012)
- Wilks, Y., Jasiewicz, J.M., Catizone, R., Galescu, L., Martinez, K.M., Rugs, D.: CALONIS: an artificial companion with in a smart home for the care of cognitively impaired patients. In: International Conference on Smart Homes and Health Telematics, pp. 255–260. Springer, Cham (2014)
- 13. Yasuda, K., Aoe, J.I., Fuketa, M.: Development of an agent system for conversing with individuals with dementia. In: The 27th Annual Conference of the Japanese Society for Artificial Intelligence (2013)
- Gündogdu, R., Bejan, A., Kunze, C., Wölfel, M.: Activating people with dementia using natural user interface interaction on a surface computer. In: Proceedings of the 11th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare, pp. 386– 394. ACM (2017)
- Bejan, A., Gündogdu, R., Butz, K., Müller, N., Kunze, C., König, P.: Using multimedia information and communication technology (ICT) to provide added value to reminiscence therapy for people with dementia. Z. Gerontol. Geriat. 51(1), 9–15 (2018)
- 16. Joddrell, P., Astell, A.J.: Studies involving people with dementia and touchscreen technology: a literature review. JMIR Rehabil. Assist. Technol. 3(2), e10 (2016)
- Meiland, F., Innes, A., Mountain, G., Robinson, L., van der Roest, H., García-Casal, J.A., Kelly, F.: Technologies to support community-dwelling persons with dementia: a position paper on issues regarding development, usability, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness, deployment, and ethics. JMIR Rehabil. Assist. Technol. 4(1), e1 (2017)



Design and Implementation of Bed-Exit Alarm System for Preventing Elderly Falling

Ching-Ta $Wu^{(\boxtimes)}$ and Chien-Hsu Chen

No. 1, University Road, Tainan City 701, Taiwan (R.O.C.) datsev0222@gmail.com

Abstract. In recent years, with the aging of the population, the increase in the elderly population has brought a greater burden on medical institutions. Therefore, how to reduce the incidence of hospitalization through medical technology will become an important issue for hospitals. In many hospitalization accidents, the greatest threat to the elderly due to falls. Besides immediate dangers, the sequelae will also increase the burden on caregivers and health care. In order to reduce the second-degree injury caused by falls, hospitals or nursing homes often use the bed-exit alarm system to actively inform the nurse or caregiver to help when the patient gets out of bed. However, the false alarm of related products on the market are too frequent, which not only causes the caregivers to be exhausted, but also delay critical rescue opportunities.

Based on the above issues, this study will propose two new types of bed-exit alarm systems, one of which is based on the nurse's clinical care experience, setting up multiple sensing such as infrared, ultrasonic and triaxial accelerometers on the route that patients pass by most often. Another set of bed-exit alarm system uses the infrared array sensor mounted on the headboard of the bed to capture the patient's thermal imaging, and then uses the support vector machine to analyze the position of the patient on the bed to determine whether the behavior is about to leave the bed. Unlike traditional image processing, this method eliminates the need for edge detection and motion tracking and is immune to ambient light sources.

Keywords: Bed-exit alarm system · Elderly · Falling

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

According to the report of the Statistics Department of the Ministry of the Interior, the number of elderly people over the age of 65 in Taiwan has increased from 1.39 million to 3.31 million (+122.16%) at the end of March 2018, that is to say, Taiwan has entered the "ageing society" from the "aged society" in 25 years. According to the National Development Committee, it is estimated that the elderly population will exceed 20% of the total population after eight years. It is listed as a "super-age society" with Japan, South Korea, Singapore and some European countries (Fig. 1). The year-on-year

increase in the elderly population has brought greater pressure on medical care. To this end, the relevant units of the medical institution must propose appropriate programs to respond to this problem, and the safety of patients will therefore become the primary concern and input project.



Fig. 1. Estimated figure of senior population ratio

The injury incidents that cause patient safety hazards include: drugs, falls, medical care, injury behaviors and surgical accidents, etc. Among them, the fall problem is one of the most important issues of global public health, in the 107 years of the patient safety notification system of the Ministry of Health and Welfare Among the number of notifications in the first quarter (Fig. 2), a total of 8531 cases (35.2%) occurred in the drug incident, followed by a fall event, which occurred 5899 cases (24.3%) (Ministry of Health and Welfare of the Republic of China 2018). However, the Hospital Assessment and Medical Quality Policy Council noted (Table 1) that the impact of a fall event on a patient's health is much greater than a drug event compared to a drug event. Nearly half of all falls have occurred in the elderly, and the improvement and implementation of medical care for fall prevention has become a top priority.



Fig. 2. Medical notification of various types of incidents

1.2 Research Purposes

In summary, in order to reduce the accident rate of hospitalized patients falling in hospitals, they began to cooperate with hospitals more than half a year ago, trying to make effective preventive measures against this problem. In general, since falls often occur when elderly people go to bed, the major hospitals often use the "bed-off alarm" to monitor the movement of the elderly to get out of bed, thereby preventing the elderly from getting out of bed and preventing falls purpose.

However, the goal of this research is not only to stop the "bed-off alarm" used in the hospital, but to develop a "bed-off alarm" that is common in hospitals, nursing homes and even homes. The non-contact design of the bed-off alarm system is designed to reduce the fall rate caused by the elderly to get out of bed, so that the nursing staff can relieve the physical and mental burden of the nursing staff with the help of smart instruments.

2 Related Work

Falling is quite common accident in the elderly, and it is also a very important health issue. There are many factors in the falling of the elderly, including cognitive function, sensory dysfunction and gait instability (Tinetti et al. 1995). Falling problems are also common among older people in care settings, such as nursing homes, rehabilitation facilities, and chronic wards.

2.1 Analysis of the Falling Factor of the Elderly

The falling of the elderly is usually not caused by a single cause. Among them, aging leads to poor balance, gait instability and decline of cardiopulmonary function. Common causes include chronic diseases (such as infection, dehydration, etc.), the new medical treatment and environmental stress (in the face of unfamiliar environments) are also among the risk factors for the falling of the elderly (Inouye 2000).

Risk factors for falling include past medical history of falling, lower limb weakness, advanced age, female, cognitive dysfunction, abnormal balance, use of psychiatric use, past history of stroke, anemia, and postural hypotension (Bischoff-Ferrari et al. 2009). Many different falling risk factors also have been found in different studies. These shows that the cause of falling is inherently multi-independent and can only be explained by a single cause. However, many studies have consistently found that risk factors in many falls. Among them, the problem of gait instability and balance is the most common.

The location of the fall, whether inside or outside, is considered to be the focus of an analysis of the cause of the falling, because people who falling indoors tend to be weaker, usually accompanied by physical disability and mean health. Poorer and more static lifestyles; outdoor falls are more common in younger and more active populations (Verma et al. 2016).

In general, the more risk factors fall, the greater the chance of falling. The following is a detailed breakdown of the risk factors for falls, which are summarized in Table 1.

Internal factors	External factors
Aging-related posture control degradation	Multiple medicine use
Muscle tension changes	Footwear selection
Blood pressure regulation problem	Environmental factor
Chronic disease	
Cognitive dysfunction	

Table 1. Elderly falling factors

Internal Factors

1. Aging-related posture control degradation

Maintaining an upright posture relies on the input and integration of several sensations, including vision, proprioception, and vestibular nerve coordination, all of which function with age. In addition, aging can also affect the central nervous system. For example, loss of neurons in the basal ganglia and loss of neurotransmitters (such as dopamine) can further cause difficulty in posture control (Bekkers et al. 2015).

2. Muscle tension changes

Aging can cause muscle loss, and the fat cells in the muscle will increase, which will affect the decline in activity and loss of function of the elderly. In addition, when the balance is lost, the reaction speed of the muscles and joints will also slow down, resulting in easy fall. Situation (Woollacott and Shumway-Cook 1990).
3. Blood pressure regulation problem

The regulation of systolic blood pressure is an important key to maintaining an upright posture. Postural hypotension can cause insufficient blood perfusion in the brain, which increases the risk of falls. The causes, including the reduction in sensitization reflexes associated with aging, do not compensate for increased heart rate when blood pressure is lowered. Another cause of low blood pressure in the elderly is that the total body water content decreases with age. Therefore, the elderly population is prone to hypotension volume due to acute diseases, diuretic use, or hot climate. Low blood pressure and falls.

4. Chronic disease

Certain chronic conditions may increase the risk of falls, including Parkinson's disease, chronic musculoskeletal pain, skeletal degenerative arthritis, and diabetes spasms. Parkinson's disease causes falls, including stiffness of the lower limbs, difficulty in starting the movement, postures that cannot correct the body's swing, and side effects of hypotension caused by treatments (Kempster et al. 2007). Knee degenerative arthritis affects the mobility and posture stability of the elderly, as older people tend to avoid joints that are heavier than pain, and chronic pain may also affect their attention and cognitive function. Can reduce the occurrence of falls. In addition, the study found that people with diabetes have a higher chance of falling (Berlie and Garwood 2010). The more elderly people with chronic diseases, the higher the chance of falling.

5. Cognitive dysfunction

Mild to moderate cognitive dysfunction is associated with higher risk of falls and hip fractures (Guo et al. 1998), and other studies have found some anatomical changes associated with cognitive dysfunction. It is also related to the risk of falling, for example, the volume of white matter in the cerebral cortex is related to the risk of falling.

External Factors

1. Multiple medicine use

The problem of drug use is one of the most likely factors to change among the causes of falls. In addition to special types of drugs, the use of multiple drugs and changes in drug dosages will increase the trend of falls, and it is also worth noting that drug compliance is poor. The patient has a higher risk of falling. There are two common types of drugs that are associated with falls risk: drugs that act on the central nervous system and cardiovascular drugs. Drugs that act on the central nervous system include psychotropic drugs, benzodiazepines, and antidepressants. The use of these drugs is significantly associated with the risk of falls, but it is easier to use at the beginning or chronic use. There has been no conclusion that a fall has occurred. In addition, long-acting or short-acting benzodiazepines, which are more likely to cause falls, have no clear evidence (Ray et al. 2000). There are not many studies on the association between antidepressant drugs and fall risk in selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor

(SSRI), but a few studies have found that this is used by older generations older than 50 years. The drug may increase the risk of fracture by twice. In the cardiovascular component, vasodilators in blood pressure lowering drugs increase the risk of falls, but a recent integrated study showed that beta-blockers and diuretics are associated with falls. Sex is not significant (Woolcott et al. 2009).

2. Footwear selection

The choice of footwear is also related to the risk of falling. According to a small study, thinner and harder can provide a better balance, but these shoes are generally less comfortable (Robbins et al. 1992). In addition, studies have shown that sneakers have a lower risk of falling than other footwear, but such research has many potential interference factors, because the healthy elderly may wear sneakers more often, so the risk of falling is lower.

3. Environmental factor

Safety measures such as poor lighting, uneven floor or slippery floors, sliding of the carpet, and the absence of armrests and non-slip floors in the bathroom are among the many risky environments that may cause the fall of the elderly. Environmental factors often interact with internal factors, so their importance is often not clearly defined. For example, functional therapists visit elderly homes to improve the risk of falling in the home environment, but because the therapist may It is recommended that older people have better behavior and gait, thus reducing the risk of falls, so it is difficult to study.

2.2 Existing Product Analysis

In recent years, in order to improve the safety and management convenience of elderly people, there are many products on the market that prevent the fall of elderly people. The most common of these is the bed lift alarm. Since the fall of the elderly is mostly caused by the shift of the upper and lower beds, if the elderly can be prevented from getting out of bed, the chances of the elderly falling due to lack of muscle strength can be reduced (Tzeng and Yin 2014).

The representative bed lift alarm product is Smartcaregiver's Falling Monitor, as shown in Fig. 3. Its appearance is the only cushion with a matrix shock detection pressure change. Put it under the cover, the elderly will change from the lying position to the sitting position in order to get out of bed. When the pressure applied to the matrix electric shock disappears, the bed alarm can detect the change and judge the elderly to get out of bed. Actions. However, the matrix electrode may not be able to distinguish the pressure changes of the elderly who are underweight, and the movement of the elderly in the bed often causes the device to misjudge. Table 2 is a statistical table of the research of Kaohsiung Veterans General Hospital. The research shows that the report rate of Fall Monitor is as high as 30%. Frequent false alarms not only make the caregivers exhausted, but also delay the key rescue opportunities in hospitals where every second counts.



Fig. 3. Fall Monitor product image

Table 2. Elderly falling factors

Bed-Exit Alarm	Bed-Exit	No Bed-Exit	Total
Trigger alarm	3717	1687	5395
Untriggered alarm	222	4648	4870
Total	3939	6329	10235

In 2016, in order to reduce the high false positive rate of pressure-type bed-away alarms, the team of Hao Liu of Wuhan University published a related paper (Liu et al. 2016) proposed combining pressure sensor and infrared sensing. The bed-out alarm structure of the device uses the Finite State Machine Method to identify the patient's status based on the sensor data, and then determine whether the elderly person gets out of bed by the transition between states, and sends out the bed alarm through the ZigBee network. In this paper, the influence of sensors installed at different positions on the measurement results is compared. The ideal configuration of pressure sensors and infrared sensors is proposed, and good results are obtained in internal experiments. However, this study did not actually conduct a large number of tests in the hospital, so its accuracy is still open to question. And because the pressure sensor will directly contact the elderly, there are concerns about health problems.

In addition to the traditional pressure is the bed sensor, the team of the University of Adelaide DCRanasinghe proposed in 2014 to remove the bed based on the wearable RFID (Radio Frequency Identification) triaxial accelerometer and RSSI (Received Signal Strength Indication). Alarm system (Ranasinghe et al. 2014). This system detects the current action by detecting the RSS of the mobile home speed and the surrounding antenna by the sensor fixed to the elderly. When it is detected that the posture is changed from sitting to standing, the elderly are getting out of bed, and an alarm is issued, as shown in Fig. 4. Since the sensor uses RFID technology, it can be

hunted by the signal of the receiving end (antenna), so no battery is needed. In addition, the system has the advantages of light weight, simple maintenance, low cost, and no inconvenience to activities. However, since the algorithm of the system cuts the sensor data in units of 20 s, it may cause a delay of 20 s in the worst case, and cannot respond to the action of the elderly getting out of bed in time, so it is not suitable for leaving the bed. The application context of the alarm.

In order to improve the above shortcomings, the same team introduced the support vector machine (SVM) into the above system in 2017. The new system classifies the actions of senior citizens by the labels "in bed" and "out bed". The well-trained SVM will determine which tag the elderly person's current action belongs to based on the acceleration and RSSI data collected by the sensor. If the current label is out bed and the previous label is in bed, then it is considered that the elderly person gets out of bed and issues an alarm. Since the improved algorithm processes the sensor data in units of 2 s, the alarm can be issued more instantaneously than in the past. However, the experimental data shows that the system still has room for improvement. The reason is that RFID communication is vulnerable to environmental influences. If obstacles (such as human bodies) are blocked, once the antenna signal strength of the RFID can be inefficient, it will cause the device to fail. working normally. In addition, the two outof-bed alarm systems proposed by the University of Adelaide require an antenna as the receiving end. Compared to the RFID sensor, the antenna cost is not cheap, and since the RSSI signal is subject to environmental changes, Therefore, if the environment changes, the RSSI data must be re-collected to train the SVM model, so there are still many restrictions on its use.



Fig. 4. RFID-based indoor fall detection system

In addition, in 2014, the team of Keio University's Shota Mashiyama proposed an indoor fall detection system based on the low-resolution thermal imager Panasonic Grid-Eye and Arduino. In order to reduce the risk of falling alone and the inconvenience of the current wearable device, the study installed the thermal imager on the ceiling. By extracting the temperature pixel changes, input KNN so that the person directly below is standing or It has already fallen. As shown in Fig. 4, this system has the advantages of small size and low cost compared with the above-mentioned pressure type and wearable type. The appearance of the device is shown in Fig. 4. However, since the device needs to be mounted on the ceiling, it is not easy to use. It can only be done after the fall has occurred, and it is impossible to prevent accidents, so there is still much room for improvement.

In the context of this study, the study aimed at the safety of elderly hospitalization and the burden of reducing caregivers; combined with multiple modules, as well as infrared sensing, ultrasonic sensing and thermal imaging technologies, developed two new models. The bed-off alert system hopes to create a care environment that is friendly to seniors and caregivers. ent will be used by the nurses to do subjective questionnaires and interview evaluation.

3 Research Method

This study will be targeted at elderly or hospitalized patients, and will be divided into observation analysis, design criteria, device design and design evaluation, as shown in Fig. 3. Firstly, through observation and analysis, we can understand the risk factors of falling down caused by the living and living in the ward, and also discuss the living behavior pattern of the patients by cooperating with the nursing teacher. It is aimed at the elderly or patients. The specific behavior of the bed is studied and combined with the literature to propose design parameters and criteria, and the design of the next stage of the device will be carried out. The design assessm

3.1 Observation and Analysis

Observing the behavior of elderly and inpatients is divided into two parts, one is to directly observe the behavior, process or situation of the elderly and inpatients, and the other is to use the semi-structured interview nurses to care for the elderly. For the former to observe the daily living problems, such as: elderly or inpatients want to get out of bed to go to the toilet or get up and walk, the latter through the interview with the nurse to understand the existing hospital care situation, in-depth discussion of elderly or hospitalized The distress and needs of the patient during their stay in hospital. During the process, the effects of different types of devices on training motivation and the social behavior of older patients were observed. In addition, the existing tracking methods were interviewed with the therapist, and the above observations were used for analysis and discussion as design parameters.

3.2 Semi-structural Interviews

Semi-structural Interviews, using the same sentence but in other words, the schema is unchanged, and can be used to guide respondents according to different interviews with different open-ended questions. An in-depth presentation of the topic. For all the questions of the subjects, the words do not need to be the same, only the pre-set questions have the same meaning. If the respondents cannot understand the questions, the visitors can ask the questions again to make the respondents clarify. For sensations that are not easily detectable, such as human feelings and emotions, this method can obtain information simply, effectively and practically, and the data is less likely to be biased and neglected.

4 Expected Results

The expected result of this study is: through the system 1 training system 2, to achieve the prediction of elderly people to leave the bed, rather than the alarm system after the elderly leaving the bed.

References

- Tinetti, M.E., Inouye, S.K., Gill, T.M., Doucette, J.T.: Shared risk. Factors for falls, incontinence, and functional dependence: unifying the approach to geriatric syndromes. JAMA 273(17), 1348–1353 (1995)
- Inouye, S.K.: Prevention of delirium in hospitalized older patients: risk factors and targeted intervention strategies. Ann. Med. **32**(4), 257–263 (2000)
- Bischoff-Ferrari, H.A., Dawson-Hughes, B., Staehelin, H.B., Orav, J.E., Stuck, A.E., Theiler, R., Wong, J.B., Egli, A., Kiel, D.P., Henschkowski, J.: Fall prevention with supplemental and active forms of vitamin D: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 339, b3692 (2009)
- Verma, S.K., Willetts, J.L., Corns, H.L., Marucci-Wellman, H.R., Lombardi, D.A., Courtney, T. K.: Falls and fall-related injuries among community-dwelling adults in the United States. PLoS One 11(3), e0150939 (2016)
- Bekkers, E., Dockx, K., Heremans, E., Verschueren, S., Mirelman, A., Hausdorff, J.M., Nieuwboer, A.: The effect of treadmill training with and without virtual reality on postural control and gait in elderly fallers (2015)
- Woollacott, M.H., Shumway-Cook, A.: Changes in posture control across the life span—a systems approach. Phys. Ther. **70**(12), 799–807 (1990)
- Kosse, N.M., Brands, K., Bauer, J.M., Hortobágyi, T., Lamoth, C.J.: Sensor technologies aiming at fall prevention in institutionalized old adults: a synthesis of current knowledge. Int. J. Med. Inform. 82(9), 743–752 (2013)
- Berlie, H.D., Garwood, C.L.: Diabetes medications related to an increased risk of falls and fallrelated morbidity in the elderly. Ann. Pharmacother. **44**(4), 712–717 (2010)
- Guo, Z., Wills, P., Viitanen, M., Fastbom, J., Winblad, B.: Cognitive impairment, drug use, and the risk of hip fracture in persons over 75 years old: a community-based prospective study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 148(9), 887–892 (1998)

- Ray, W.A., Thapa, P.B., Gideon, P.: Benzodiazepines and the risk of falls in nursing home residents. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 48(6), 682–685 (2000)
- Woolcott, J.C., Richardson, K.J., Wiens, M.O., Patel, B., Marin, J., Khan, K.M., Marra, C.A.: Meta-analysis of the impact of 9 medication classes on falls in elderly persons. Arch. Intern. Med. 169(21), 1952–1960 (2009)
- Robbins, S., Gouw, G.J., McClaran, J.: Shoe sole thickness and hardness influence balance in older men. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. **40**(11), 1089–1094 (1992)
- Tzeng, H.M., Yin, C.Y.: Most and least helpful aspects of fall prevention education to prevent injurious falls: a qualitative study on nurses' perspectives. J. Clin. Nurs. 23(17–18), 2676– 2680 (2014)
- Liu, H., Huang, J., Lu, C., Lan, Z., Wang, Q.: Indoor monitoring system for elderly based on ZigBee network. In: 2016 International Symposium on Paper Presented at the Micro-NanoMechatronics and Human Science (MHS) (2016)



A Grip Force Training and Testing Device for Old People

Ze Bian^(IM), Shijian Luo, Yufei Zhang, Ping Shan, and Hebo Gong

Industrial Design Department, College of Computer Science and Technology, Zhejiang University, No. 38 Zheda Road, Hangzhou, China 359243864@qq.com, 634906847@qq.com, 403191990@qq.com,

sjluo@zju.edu.cn, gonghebo@l63.com

Abstract. Grip force is an important physiological index to reflect people's healthy status. In this article, we tried to design a grip strength training and testing device for elderly. Through competitive analysis, we found that products in market are not able to record data, show grip force trend, draw users' attention nor socialize with others. We established old people's persona and investigated their needs, determined product orientation and main functions. Besides, by portraying their daily activity scenes, we found out several service design touchpoint and discussed solutions according to the touchpoint. The devices were eventually used in three communities and get over 100 people's data. We have obtained improvement advice to the equipment, and communities has also increased the fitness activities of residents and the monitoring of the health of the elderly.

Keywords: Grip force \cdot Gamification \cdot Design for old people \cdot Service design touchpoint

1 Background

1.1 Grip Force

Hand, which is composed of joint bones and muscles, is the most flexible organ of human beings. People have to do a lot of work by hand everyday so that the flexibility and grip strength of hands are significant. Grip force is an important physiological index to indicate hand health and work capacity [1]. In addition, grip force has relationship with other diseases, including pneumonia, cardiovascular disease and so on [2, 3]. Therefore, detecting and exercising grip force are necessary for people especially elders.

Nowadays research of grip force includes hand strength and finger strength. The study of the grip strength concentrates on grip force's relationship with population difference, and the strength of hand in different sports states [4]. The study of finger force aims to find out the relationship between different finger force and overall strength [5].

Grip force devices including dynamometers and grip training devices. Dynamometers are mainly used in clinical medicine, professional grip test, post-injury grip recovery test, which need highly testing accuracy. Some studies have engaged to improved the accuracy of the grip tester to obtain accurate data at different atmospheric pressures [6]. Besides, comfort is also in designers' consideration. Grip training devices are mainly used for the recovery of the grip of injured people, and the flexibility and grip of hands are practiced through small games. The training devices that can be used at home are shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Grip force training devices and dynamometers

1.2 Gamification

Games with appropriate difficulty can make player generate a flow of heart, invest in the game, and get happiness. Gamification refers to transformation of systems, services, organizations and activities to obtain similar experiences, motivation and skills as games [7]. Gamification has been widely used in education, healthcare, management, software engineering and so on [8-11].

McGonigal [12] in her book thought that goal, rules, feedback system and voluntary participation were four major components of game. Real time feedback serves to players as a promise that the goal is definitely achievable. In the following research, we use gamification method to design our competitive mode, in which the goal is to get higher rank and the feedback is visual display of strength that appears in real time during griping.

1.3 Design for Old People

There was analysis of apps for old people on Google Play and iTunes. It showed that health and fitness category got the highest rank with a following of medical [13].

Study shows that aging and non-visual feedback will bring decline in grip strength and strength stability control. Besides, elders show difference in dominated hand and non- dominated hand while young people don't have this difference [14]. We can infer that visual feedback and grip exercise can help older people improve their grip force.

Old people are not that good at cell phones as young. At the same time, cell phone use impairs standing postural balance of elderly and young adults. For old people, dialing function causes the largest mobility deterioration [15]. Turning to community has been introduced as a way of thinking about and doing HCI research and design with older people [16]. In community, elders' social isolation is reduced and they will concentrate more about technology appropriation. So in this study, we encourage old people to use grip training and testing devices in community and they can get others' help in phone using.

2 Investigation

2.1 Interview

Interview was chosen as the investigation method. Seven old people in three communities in Hangzhou were interviewed and the question includes subjects' health of hands, whether they have used a grip training device, the evaluation of existing grip exercisers, and the need for a grip training and testing device. At the same time, in order to construct user behavior scenarios, we also asked about the main activity areas and activities of the elderly.

Only one of them have used a grip training device which is very simple and unattractive. Most subjects feel it important to train the grip force of hands and would like to try a new product.

2.2 Community Environment

We investigated three communities in Hangzhou and found that they all had community activities centers, where there were rooms for residents especially retired people to dance, draw and do handwork.

Moreover, community have its own health examination room, including blood pressure test device, grip test device and so on. In addition, doctors and nurses from hospital come to check the physical status of old people regularly. There are also staff and volunteers in every community to help residents in their life and activities.

2.3 Competitive Products Analysis

Shortcomings

- 1. There's no device that combines training and testing.
- 2. Dynamometers are not portable.
- 3. Dynamometers can not storage data and analysis data.
- 4. Grip force index is too simple.
- 5. Grip force training devices are not attractive enough for users to use them long time.

3 Product Orientation and Main Functions

3.1 Persona

According to the investigation, we establish the persona of a typical user. Persona always includes user's basic information and actions from interview and can combine with several interviews' characteristics. This typical image can help designers understand user's mental model and behavior, and better design for the them (Table 1).

	Basic information				
- De	Name	Xing Lin	Gender	Male	
	Age	67	Occupation	Retired, used to be a driver	
Goals	Interesting grip training and testing device; easy for people not good at smartphone to use; offer data simple to understand				
Using Area	Home, community, areas near community				
Social circle	Other old people in community, community workers &their children				

Table	1.	Typical	user's	persona
1 ante		rypicar	user s	persona

3.2 Product Orientation

Non-professional products, mainly used for daily grip training and simple testing. Target users are middle-aged and older people in the community. After discussion, the name of the product is 'grip ball'.

3.3 Main Functions

- 1. The grip ball is put in the fixed location of the community, smartphone users can download the app and register by phone number to use the grip ball. Non-smartphone users can use community's public phones to register and practice.
- 2. Three modes are available: free practice mode, test mode and competitive mode.

In free practice mode, we record user's practicing time, number of griping and average grip force value.

Test mode record user's maximum grip force value (GF) of each hand. To insure that users have played their best level, they are forced to grip three times and maximum is used as eventual grade.

The *competitive mode* including grip explosive strength competition and grip endurance competition. *Grip explosive strength (EF)* records grip force value (GF) and the length of time to reach the value(t1).

$$EF = GF/t1. \quad (N/s) \tag{1}$$

Grip endurance (TF) records the length of time grip force value decaying from F to $F/\sqrt{2}$. (defined according to the characteristics of electronic components) We define t2 as the time *when force value is* $F/\sqrt{2}$.

$$TF = t2 - t1.$$
 (s) (2)

Competitive mode has ranking lists. And it ranks according to the data. To ensure the timeliness and freshness of the game, the rankings are updated weekly.

3. The user data and grip strength data are stored by phone and some data is uploaded to the sever. The data is visualized and show in trend graph or other form.

4 Service Design Touchpoints and Interaction Design

Touchpoint is a common concept in service design, especially in commercial scenes [17]. It means the during service, customer's behavior interaction with human, machine, Internet and so on.

After determining the main functions of the grip ball, we established using scenes and found out the service design touchpoints to finish interaction design (Table 2).

Scene	Register	Connection	Learn to Use
Picture	* -		
Touch- point	Old people are not good at smartphone.	In community, there might be more than lgrip ball ready to connect the phones. And during using, grip ball may disconnect with phone	Old people need easy guide.
Solution	One account to quick switch user	Clear matching way; Detect the connection status in real time and reconnect automatically	Simple and clear UI with voice guide
Scene	Go Outside	Feedback	Social
picture		?]	
Touch- point	Grip ball may discon- nect with phone	Users would like to know the testing result	Users would like to interact with others
Solution	Data storage and recon- nect	Data visualization and the standard grip force under different age, gender, height and weight	Competition is neces- sary

Table 2. Using scenes and service design touchpoints

Scene 1. Register. The regular registration is registering with phone number, which is easy to remember and retrieve password through verification code. With a phone number, users can quickly finish the registration by completing their nickname, age, gender and physical information. However, old people may not have a smartphone or they are not good at it. So that we use a *quick registration mode*, in which old people can use the community's phone or their children's phone to register without logging out nor a new phone number. At home, family members can quickly switch the account to use grip ball and Check each other's healthy data (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Simple interaction design pictures of quick switch account. When clicking on the avatar at home page, there will appear a pop-up with account list. User can quickly switch the account by clicking on the aim avatar. If user wants to add new account without logging out, just press the '+' button and finish the information.

Scene2. Connection. Grip ball and phone are connected by Bluetooth and every grip ball has its own code on the body. When there are several phones ready to connect grip balls simultaneously, there is grip ball list for user to choose.

When users prepare to practice or test, they click on the 'start' button and app get to check whether phone's Bluetooth have already turned on. If not, there's an instruction to turn on the Bluetooth and next step is to connect grip ball. If already connected grip ball, the steps are skipped.

During using, grip ball may disconnect with phone and affect the testing or competition. Therefore, during practice, test mode and competition, connection is detected in real time. Once disconnected, there is pop-up to alert the user and for them to choose to reconnect or quit to home page.

Moreover, a small button is set to indicate the connection status. Green means connection, red means disconnection from a connection status when using the grip ball, and grey means grip ball haven't connected or is disconnected by user.

Scene 3. Learn to Use. In testing and competitive modes, users have to test each hand three times according to different test objective. And they have to switch hand after testing one hand. Considering that most users are old people, voice prompts are imported with text instructions. When one step finished, another voice instruction starts.

Scene 4. Go Outside. Users may go outside with the grip ball without phone connection, therefore in the disconnection period, chip inside the grip ball temporarily stores the data. And when users go back to home and reconnect phone and grip ball, data will be transmitted from chip to phone.

Scene 5. Feedback. During or after using grip ball for a while, uses would like to know their training effect and healthy status. So that we record every training, testing and competitive data including time and force value.

During training, testing and competitive modes, data displays in graph according to their value of their force in real time.

After griping, data is shown on the home page. Users can also get their grip force trend by clicking on 'trend' button at the homepage, and they will see grip force trend pictures with time as horizontal axis and force value as vertical axis. Of course, only the best results of the day are showed on the trend picture.

In addition, it's hard for users to know their healthy status only from data. So standard grip force value range under user's age, gender height and weight are offered and a score will be given based on it. Grip endurance and grip explosive strength standards can be formed after getting enough data.

Scene 6. Social. Users' requirements of competition and socialization are realized through competitive mode. After testing their grip explosive strength or grip endurance, the rank list is shown after the data displaying. Only the top 20 scores are shown on the mixed left and right hand ranking. To keep the attraction of the game, rank is cleared every week. If the user is on the list, his or her score is highlighted.

5 Hardware Design

5.1 Product Appearance

The grip device is designed to fit users' hands, so that we used sludge to try different shapes. At last, considering the internal component layout and product proofing, we choose the 'egg' shape (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Grip ball's product appearance

5.2 Structural Design

As shown in Fig. 4, the grip ball includes a left outer casing 8, a right outer casing 6, a force receiving plate 1, a light emitting unit 3, a power switch 4, a battery 7, a development plate 5, and a pressure sensor 2.



Fig. 4. Grip ball's structural design

The left outer casing 8 is connected to the right outer casing 6. Between 8 and 6, there are force plate 1, light-emitting unit 3 and power switch 4. The force plate 1 is in close contact with the pressure sensor 2.

Pressure sensor 2 is used for detecting the grip strength. And light unit 3 is used for displaying the battery power and the Bluetooth connection status. Besides, pressure sensor 2 and light unit 3 are connected to the single chip 5 through the data line. Meanwhile, battery 7 connected to the power supply terminal of the single chip 5 to supply power for it. The built-in Bluetooth module can communicate wirelessly with the mobile phone. The light-emitting unit 3 includes a three-color LED light 3-1, different colors indicate different power levels. And there is a green LED light 3-2 indicates whether the Bluetooth connection is successful.

The working principle of the grip ball system is that when the user uses the grip ball, the mobile phone sends a signal to the grip ball through Bluetooth, and single-chip microcomputer 5 in the grip ball starts to select the working mode after receiving the Bluetooth signal. When user presses force plate 1, pressure sensor 2 detects the pressure signal and transmits it to the single-chip microcomputer 5 through the data line. The single-chip microcomputer 5 transmits the signal to the mobile phone app through the Bluetooth after the signal processing, and stores the data in the sever for competitive ranking.

As shown in Fig. 5, it is a working principle diagram of the circuit of the present invention. As can be seen from Fig. 4, the circuit of grip ball is mainly composed of four parts: a power switch 4, a light-emitting unit 3, a single-chip microcomputer 5, and a pressure sensor 2. The pressure sensor 2 detects the pressure signal, the lighting unit 3 displays the working state of the grip ball including battery remaining amount and Bluetooth connection. Single chip microcomputer 7 controls the data running of all components and performs data interaction with the mobile phone app.



Fig. 5. Working principle of single chip circuit

6 User Interface Design

The user interface design style is defined as simple and clear. Dark blue is chosen to be the background color which can fit the sedate style of elderly. According to the interaction design, user interface design is accomplished (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6. Three user interfaces of grip ball

7 Application

The devices were eventually used in three communities in Hangzhou, Zhejiang for three weeks and we got 294 people's data. 39% of them are female and 61% are male. Figure 7 shows user data interface of explosive strength in server, which stores user's id, time and grip force value. In Fig. 8, it's obvious that residents between 60–70 are our main users. Through average using times figure, we can see that users seem to prefer to use competitive mode and testing mode. However, the average using time is low. This may because for management, the staff required that grip balls were only used in the communities and were not allowed to be taken away.

	(MySQL 5.7.20) 120.79.133.38/Gripbal/explosive_record_table					
Grand C	- m -	0 02 09	100			
for the formation of	147 LLL U					
DERCE COLOURS	process carses re-	nors inques uner	ins query			
81.65	Search: explosive	- (* NU				
Hexplosive_record_table	extension is extension	thand value involved	withand timested	righthand of least	when ris exclusive date	· interio
practice_record_table	109	552	2.42	453	1.56 2018-01-01 19:08-42	246./
Toria, infa, tabia	482	641	2.46	201	2 25 2018-03-02 02 22 23	219
stamina_record_table	124	544	14	249	2 11 2018-03-02 03 51 16	303 (
test_record_table	467	758	2.9	280	1.04 2018-03-02 03 53 13	116
	72	305	1.85	321	1.66 2018-03-02 05 43 03	29.0
	435	443	1.79	145	0.8 2008-03-07 72:06:04	
	194	443	6.72	718	1 25 2018-03-03 05 32 23	241.0
	145	225	2.54	456	0.79 2018-03-03 06 39 26	258
	294	556	1.11	282	3 2018-03-03 06 11:32	128 (
	184	125	11	150	3 2018-03-03 08 18 15	204
	54	195	1.22	418	2.18 2018-03-03 12 29 46	180 (
	433	225	0.82	612	2.65 2018-03-03 12 39 33	293 (
	145	189	0.48	343	1.21 2018-03-03 16 21 34	85.0
	460	304	1.34	132	1.4 2018-03-03 18:06:14	295 (
	16	755	1.15	421	2.67 2018-03-03 1917-15	173.0
	427	\$27	2.22	167	0.49 2018-03-03 23 07 07	268
	283	558	1.09	297	0.89 2018-03-04 01 28-48	224
	18	192	2.25	296	1.95 2018-03-04 09 22 19	240 (
	267	85	2.22	63	2.23 2018-03-04 09 11 18	296.0
	274	447	2.78	614	3.17 2018-03-04 12:08:55	85 1
	219	732	1.16	225	0.32 2018-03-04 16 16 16	97.0
	289	163	0.62	648	2.71 2018-03-04 21:06:44	222
	480	314	0.32	93	2.49 2018-03-04 21 22:07	282.0
	#1	222	0.54	296	0.6 2018-03-04 22 24 22	43.0
	126	220	1.87	432	1.47 2018-03-05 02 10 12	55.0
	172	480	1.31	127	1.98 2018-03-05 09 53 18	227
	362	116	0.95	214	1.73 2018-03-05 20 18 35	132 (
	185	125	0.68	538	3.15 2018-03-05 11.34:24	285 1
	3#1	693	2.19	437	0.78 2018-03-05 14 50 14	112 (
	361	789	2.42	35	2.34 2018-03-05 16:47:35	159
	62	566	1.9	631	2.15 2018-03-05 19:27:34	232 (
ILE INFORMATION	145	465	0.85	154	2.7 2018-03-06 02 13 15	77 (
The second building and	24	\$38	2.57	696	2.47 2018-03-06 03.46.29	281 (
Creater 2 1/06/2018	22	734	1.88	466	1.27 2018-03-06 13:37:45	223 (
Contraction and the second	290	99	0.7	253	0.65 2018-03-06 14 28:48	266 (
angine imous	266	127	2.28	421	2.54 2018-03-06 15:05:18	220 (
104E 477	390	275	0.87	544	1.72 2018-03-06 16:42:32	151 (
2 838: 04.0 KB	429	125	2	166	3.14 2018-03-06 22 13:55	45 (
encoding: table 1	298	345	2.55	367	1.83 2018-03-07 00.32 13	299 (
auto_increment: 3,633	28	153	0.82	118	1.86 2018-03-07 03 01 33	287 0

Fig. 7. User data interface of explosive strength in server, including user's id, time and grip force value



Fig. 8. User age distribution and average using times during different modes

In addition, we have obtained improvement advice to the grip ball, and the communities have also increased the fitness activities of residents and monitoring of the health of the elderly.

Advice. (1) The material of grip ball can change from plastic to silicone, which is more comfortable to grip, and shape change will give better feedback to users. (2) Besides competition of explosive strength and endurance, designer can add more interesting games.

8 Conclusion

By investigating the residents and environment of the community, researchers established persona and using scene. And accomplished interaction design, hardware design and UI design for old people. The grip balls were eventually used in communities and got user's data.

In the next study, we are ready to improve from three aspects. Firstly, the material of the grip ball will be improved, which is more comfortable for users. Secondly, after obtaining more grip data, the relationship model between user's physiological information and the grip strength value will be established. Thus users will be provided with reference and scoring results in testing and competition mode to infer their health status. Finally, we will develop more interesting gameplay to attract users.

Acknowledgements. This research was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 51675476 and No. 51775458).

References

- 1. Cooper, R., Kuh, D., Hardy, R.: Objectively measured physical capability levels and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 34, c4467 (2010)
- Kodama, S., Saito, K., Tanaka, S., et al.: Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. JAMA 301(19), 2024–2035 (2009)
- 3. Ortega, F.B., Silventoinen, K., Tynelius, P., et al.: Muscular strength in male adolescents and premature death: cohort study of one million participants. BMJ **345**, e7279 (2012)
- Blampain, J., Ott, L., Delevoye-Turrell, Y.N.: Seeing action simulation as it unfolds: the implicit effects of action scenes on muscle contraction evidenced through the use of a gripforce sensor. Neuropsychologia 114, 231–242 (2018)
- Luo, S.J., Shu, G., Gong, Y.: Real time relationship between individual finger force and grip exertion on distal phalanges in linear force following tasks. Appl. Ergon. 69, 25–31 (2018)
- Chkeir, A., Jaber, R., Hewson, D.J., Duchene, J.: Estimation of grip force using the Grip-ball dynamometer. Med. Eng. Phys. 35(11), 1698–1702 (2013)
- Rapp, A., Hopfgartner, F., Hamari, J., Linehan, C., Cena, F.: Strengthening gamification studies: current trends and future opportunities of gamification research. Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud. (2018)
- van Roy, R., Zaman, B.: Need-supporting gamification in education: an assessment of motivational effects over time. Comput. Educ. 127, 283–297 (2018)
- Johnson, D., Deterding, S., Kuhn, K.A., Staneva, A., Stoyanov, S., Hides, L.: Gamification for health and wellbeing: A systematic review of the literature. Internet Interv. 6, 89–106 (2016)
- Garcia, F., Pedreira, O., Piattini, M., Cerdeira-Pena, A., Penabad, M.: A framework for gamification in software engineering. J. Syst. Softw. 132, 21–40 (2017)
- 11. Mitchell, R.: J. Bus. Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.11.022
- 12. McGonigal, J.: Reality Is Broken: Why Games Make Us Better and How They Can Change the World. Penguin, New York (2011)
- Cunha, A., Cunha, E., Peres, E., Trigueiros, P.: Helping older people: is there an app for that? Procedia Comput. Sci. 100, 118–127 (2016)
- Lin, C.H., Sung, W.H., Chiang, S.L., Lu, L.H., Wang, P.C., Wang, X.M.: Influence of aging and visual feedback on the stability of hand grip control in elderly adults. Exp. Gerontol. 119, 74–81 (2019)
- Laatar, R., Kachouri, H., Borji, R., Rebai, H., Sahli, S.: The effect of cell phone use on postural balance and mobility in older compared to young adults. Physiol. Behav. 173, 293– 297 (2017)
- Righi, V., Sayago, S., Blat, J.: When we talk about older people in HCI, who are we talking about? Towards a 'turn to community' in the design of technologies for a growing ageing population. Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud. 108, 15–31 (2017)
- Wagner, G., Schramm-Klein, H., Steinmann, S.: Online retailing across e-channels and echannel touchpoints: empirical studies of consumer behavior in the multichannel ecommerce environment. J. Bus. Res. (2018)



Optimized Design of Accompanying Smart Car for the Elderly Based on Humanization Design Methods

Mengyi Cao, Xingyi Zhong, and Ting Han^(⊠)

School of Design, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai 200030, China {caomengyi, xy_zhong, hanting}@sjtu.edu.cn

Abstract. The aim of this paper is to design accompanying smart car for elderly people, it is not just a tool to assist them more appropriate to travel but also reducing their psychological burden. This paper uses the method of user-friendly theory and human factor engineering theory. Through observation, interviews and literature analysis, this paper analysis the travel needs and characteristics of studied group deeply. Through market research, the advantages and disadvantages of related product is obtained. As result, considering the design orientation mainly from four aspects of shape, structure, color and ergonomics. In conclusion, this paper introduces the design of companion intelligent vehicle of short distance, and discusses the connotation of elderly-friendliness in product design and its relationship.

Keywords: The elderly \cdot Smart car \cdot Humanization design \cdot Psychological burden

1 Introduction

At present, intelligent travel tools for the elderly are mainly intelligent wheelchairs, and wheelchairs generally cause psychological discomfort to them. In order to solve this problem and ensure elderly users' travel demands, the smart car and the smart wheelchair are combined and designed to provide a stylish, easy-to-use accompanying smart car for the elderly as viable solution. It will not only be a mode of transportation, but more importantly, the elderly users can use the smart car to carry out physical exercise and participate in social activities, which can help the elderly to communicate with the people better and reduce the burden of psychological inconvenience.

Through literature analysis, it has been found that there are many related researches on smart wheelchairs. The structure and composition module have mature technologies. However, research aimed at the elderly segment is less frequent, and even less frequent is the investigation about the needs in term of shape for those products. Discover through market research, the old scooter products are numerous, and the brand competition is fierce. There are also aesthetic problems, with unsmooth or unappealing shapes, and functional ones, with diverse deficiencies. There are vacancies of assisted walking, short-distance travel in the product market for the elderly and older people.

1.1 Analysis of Travel Needs of the Elderly

The study shows that the purpose of the elderly travel is mainly leisure and entertainment, accounting for 53.1%; the travel mode is mainly based on taking public transport and walking, 48.4% and 43.1% respectively; the travel destination is mainly open public places such as parks, squares, roadsides, community supporting fitness areas, accounting for 55.3%; travel distance is 0.5-1.5 km away from home, accounting for 24.2%; activity duration is mainly 60-120 min, accounting for 27.9%[1]. With the increase of age, the decline of physical condition, the reduction of motorization level, the dependence of the elderly on walking tools is increasing, but electric cars and motorcycles are no longer suitable for the elderly.

According to the survey, the types of injuries suffered by the elderly mainly include abuse, age discrimination and accidental injuries. Among them, falls accounted for the largest number of accidental injuries. The main causes of falls were physiological dysfunction, disease, physical environment and other factors [2]. In order to prevent such situations, there is a functional need for protection, hazard warning and postinjury alarms.

The causes of death in the elderly are mainly malignant tumors, cerebrovascular diseases, respiratory diseases, heart disease and various physical diseases. Therefore, it is particularly important to strengthen the monitoring of physiological parameters of the elderly in daily life.

The mechanical memory of the elderly is obviously reduced, and they tend have bad memory effect on numbers and names. However, the elderly's recognition of images and cognitive memory decline is not obvious [3]. Therefore, in the interface design of the elderly mobility aids, existing knowledge and experience should be incorporated to improve the recognition and understanding of information.

1.2 Definition of Accompanying Smart Car for the Elderly

Older walkers refer to tools that maintain balance, support muscle strength, and assist walking in older people with limited limb movement [4]. Mainly divided into three categories: one-arm operation walker, two-arm operation walker and wheelchair.

The Intelligent car is a result of the combination of the latest technological achievements such as electronic computers and the modern automobile industry, and thus "comprehensive". It usually has automatic driving, automatic shifting, and even has the function of automatically recognizing the road [5].

The elderly accompanied by smart cars is one tool that combines the latest scientific and technological achievements to improve the basic functions of assisting the elderly to walk, and try to reduce psychological burden to the elderly.

1.3 Related Work

The early development of smart wheelchair for the elderly has been given low-level controls such as simple motion, speed control and obstacle avoidance. With the development of technology, smart cars incorporate modern robot control technology

and robotic mobile technology on the basic requirements. Intelligent electric tool which helps users and the disabled have better interactivity, adaptability and autonomy.

In 1996, the intelligent wheelchair developed by the French VAHM project had three operating modes: automatic, manual and semi-automatic. When the user selects the automatic mode, the computer on the wheelchair can realize path planning and navigation, and control the autonomous movement of the wheelchair to the target position selected by the user; when the manual mode is selected, the wheelchair moves according to the operation instruction of the user; in the semi-automatic mode, the user can Choose between intelligent control and manual control [6].

In 1998, the smart wheelchair called WHEELESLEY, researched by the MIT Intelligence Lab, have three controls of menus, joysticks, and user interfaces. In the menu mode and joystick mode, the wheelchair user can make use of the joystick to issue a direction command to avoid obstacles. In the user interface mode, the user can use the eagle eye system to control the wheelchair only by eye movement [7].

The multi-functional intelligent wheelchair system developed by the SIAMO project in Spain adopts the modular design principle. According to the difference of the user's degree of disability, the intelligent operation bar, voice and head motion recognition, respiratory control and electro-optical signal drive are designed [8].

In 2007, Scewo is an electrical wheelchair able to climb stairs. Moving on the ground is accomplished with a Segway-like system by balancing on the two main wheels. The stairs are climbed using two rubber tracks mounted on the bottom of the chair [9].

The TAO Aicle intelligent wheelchair developed by AISIN Seiki and Fujitsu in Japan can automatically avoid obstacles and move to the destination. In outdoor environments, data can be collected through acquisition equipment on smart wheelchairs. To transfer and monitor wheelchair movement status, provide traffic information for users and provide path management functions [10].

In 2016, Whill is another revolutionary design of new electrical chairs with new specifications and better innovations, such as the inclusion of a mouse controller, instead of a joystick. The front wheels are multi-directional, giving the advantage of a 4-wheel driving chair that can go through grass, snow and rough surfaces [11].

Although the research on intelligent wheelchairs in China started late, it has achieved certain research results in recent years. For example, the multi-modal intelligent wheelchair prototype developed by the Institute of Automation of the Chinese Academy of Sciences; the intelligent wheelchair Luoson-III researched by the Chung Cheng University of Taiwan; the intelligent wheelchair designed and developed by Shanghai Jiaotong University [12].

2 Design and Demonstrate

2.1 Existing Product Analysis

According to the research and analysis of the walker market of the aged, it is found that smart cars are mainly divided into wheelchairs and electric bicycles. According to the number of rounds, they can be divided into three-wheel, four-wheel and crawler styles.

Analysis shows that the style of the smart car can be divided into stable, portable, fashionable, public. Red as the mainstream color, accounting for about 63%, and less common colors like white, blue, yellow, green, in descending order.

Through card method and inductive analysis of some existing products in markets, the four styles of stable, portable, fashionable and popular are obtained, and the vertical axis and the horizontal axis are marked; the color of the color area indicates the main color of the product, and the size of the color area represents the representative proportion (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Positioning map of existing elderly scooter.

Analysis of the existing products in terms of categories, styles and colors found that wheelchairs can be operated with one hand, have simple and comfortable operation, can up and down stairs, and generally no shopping baskets; electric scooters generally have shopping baskets and can travel long distances, but inconvenient to store, not suitable for the elderly.

Stable style is wide and thick overall, and has a sense of security and a large volume. Portable style is light and small, generally it has a folding function, which can save space; the fashionable style has a smooth and beautiful body line, and the visual impact and interaction are strong; The public function is clear and easy to understand.

The three-wheeled scooter is lighter overall, and the four-wheel type is more secure. The crawler type is convenient for up and down stairs, divided into a push type and an electric type. The former has a long back and requires extra assistance. The electric type can be operated by a single person and outdoor activities are easier.

2.2 Ergonomics Analysis

The human body parameters required to accompany smart car for the elderly are mainly divided into two parts: standing and sitting size data. The basic size of the elderly is obtained by consulting the literature [13], and according to the application method of the human-machine size, the 95th percentile and the first 5th percentile is used as the basis for the upper and lower limits of the size to obtain the standing and sitting dimensions of the elderly, as shown in Table 1. Since the above data is generally measured naked or in a single coat, it is necessary to increase the amount of function correction, that is, the human-machine size of the elderly accompanied by the smart car = the old man's percentile + function correction amount, and the final size data is shown in Table 2.

Size measurement project	Female(5th)	Male(95th)
Height	1425 mm	1761 mm
Shoulder height	1157 mm	1481 mm
Elbow height	845 mm	1118 mm
High hand function	544 mm	789 mm
Hand width	245 mm	361 mm
Sitting height	753 mm	929 mm
Sitting deep	406 mm	492 mm
Sitting shoulder height	489 mm	660 mm
Sitting knee height	395 mm	528 mm
Sitting elbow height	194 mm	301 mm
Sitting hip width	332 mm	418 mm

Table 1. The elderly standing position and sitting position size percentile.

2.3 Design Strategy

After research, the older scooter products are abundant in the market, and the brand competition is fierce. There are also problems about the product shape is not being smooth and appealing, and its function being still insufficient.

In view of these problems, through the humanized design concept, according to the behavior habits, physiological structure and thinking mode of the elderly, on the basis of the basic functions accompanied the smart car of the elderly, Rethinking and optimizing design in terms of function, shape, man-machine, material, usage, color, etc. To achieve the convenience and comfort of the elderly, to meet the travel and aesthetic needs of the elderly.

In the end, the product positioning of this article is safe, environmentally friendly, fashionable and beautiful, convenient and easy to use. Use of modern technology to provide quality travel services for the elderly with the smart car optimization design. The population is located between the ages of 65 and 85, and elderly people who need short-distance or longer-distance travel activities, and those with mild mobility disorder who need assistance. The function is positioned as manned storage, walking assistance,

Size project	Man-machine size
Body length	1300 mm-1500 mm
Body width	500 mm-700 mm
Body height	900 mm-1100 mm
Pedal height	160 mm-200 mm
Handle height	780 mm-820 mm
Handle diameter	25 mm
Sitting height	360 mm-420 mm
Sitting deep	394 mm-509 mm
Sitting width	361 mm-450 mm
Handrail height	254 mm-284 mm
Dashboard tilt	30°
Dublioourd int	200

Table 2. Man-machine size of accompanying smart car for seniors.

up and down stairs through electricity, voice timing reminder, alarm help, physiological monitoring, voice interaction and so on.

2.4 Design Scheme and Comparison

The drawing of creative sketches is an important and basic part of product design. According to the design and positioning of the smart cars as defined above, use modern design methods of brainstorming, mind mapping, reverse thinking, learning creative flexibility to fully expand and divergent thinking, and display it on paper through design tools (Fig. 2).

According to the man-machine size obtained above, the four sketch schemes were modeled with modeling software, and the functions, modeling, materials, color, sizes of sketches were compared and analyzed.

The first sketch has rich functions, such as up and down stairs by electric, physiological monitoring, alarm for help, etc. Arc curve support structure and Orange chair, simple and smooth. The red-light band is at the same time a warning and a recognition. Large volume is inconvenient in pass the public field or go out shopping; Lockers are small and have limited capacity.

The second sketch has fewer functions, such as manned storage, long-distance travel. Adopts the seat form of small car and the modelling is concise. The red body gives a warm feeling of happiness. It is also inconvenient in pass the public field or go out shopping. Large storage compartment for more items.

Sketch 3 has less functions, like manned and placing items, up and down stairs by electric. Orange seats with blue lattice design have more fashion sense. Small size access to public field, go out shopping is more convenient.

Sketch 4 has fewer functions, storage, electric up and down stairs, handrail assistance. Using traditional Chinese patterns, there is both a sense of style and nostalgia.

According to the study, some key words of the elderly companying smart car were extracted, and the user survey and statistical analysis were conducted to obtain the results, as shown in Table 3. Final sketch 1 was selected as the final option (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2. Four design sketches selected and deepened from creative ideas.

3 Results

3.1 Modeling and Color Analysis

Considering that the elderly lack long-lasting endurance, standing up requires the upper limbs and leg strength. Therefore, it is necessary to reduce the physical exhaustion during use. It is also essential to meet the aesthetic needs of the elderly, and to keep the shape beautiful and concise.

The final scheme design renderings show that the final scheme has three modeling elements: "fashion", "simple" and "smooth". On the whole, its basic modeling semantics is a circular support structure. This styling concept is derived from the tumbler. Characteristics of the tumbler swinging around bring about the left and right rotation in the design, so that the elderly can ride or stand on the accompanying smart car, and become the supporting structure in the scheme.

The body line has a simple curved structure, and the lines at the track pass through the smooth curve and the tough line, which makes the whole look sporty. At the same time, the orange decorative line runs through the whole body, which is a more harmonious and stable model (Fig. 4).

3.2 Function Analysis

According to the investigation and analysis, under the premise of satisfying the basic functions of manned storage and electric climbing, physiological monitoring, voice

Function	Figure	Function analysis
Manned and placed		As the basic function of accompanying by smart car of the elderly, manned storage not only meets the needs of the elderly to assist in rest, but also meets the needs of the elderly to carry goods with them. The main placement position is shown in the figure, the space formed on the left side and the backrest armrest; the drawer under the seat; the footrest.
Electric climber		The crawler type is safer and gentler, saving the physical strength of the elderly to carry objects and climbing stairs.
Cloud transmis- sion service		Through the association of app, the physiological monitoring data of the elderly can be transmitted to the electronic device to understand the long- term changes of the body; besides, with the rele- vant equipment, the function of alarm help and voice reminder can be achieved.
Travel assistance		To raise the seat to a suitable angle so that the upper limbs and legs are less stressed to assist standing. The elderly is also allowed to walk through the design of the side armrests.

 Table 3. Function analysis of the accompanying smart car of the elderly.

timing reminder, alarm help and other functions are added according to the design positioning. Specific function analysis is shown in Table 3.

3.3 Detail Analysis

The control handle is a square mouse shape, which fits the curve of the hand of the elderly, so that the upper limbs of the elderly naturally fall on the handrail. Simple swing operation makes the elderly operate more comfortable. It is decorated with orange lines and is consistent with the overall shape.

The seat is dominated by orange vertical stripes, contrasting with the blue, adding a sense of stability to the bright. The seat surface can be lifted upwards to provide the necessary assistance for the elderly to stand up. When the maximum angle is reached, a space is formed with the backrest and the armrest for storage. There is a drawer at the seat that can also be used to place items.

The compartment and the seat surface are designed as a whole, the shape of the arc is coordinated with the whole, and the edge of the drawer panel is decorated with decorative lines to enhance the recognition.



Fig. 3. Extract some keywords of the elderly accompanied by smart cars, conduct user surveys in a certain community and analyze the statistical results (point value is 0-5, a plus sign indicates a point).



Fig. 4. Final scheme's design rendering.

The arc-shaped support structure can be rotated left and right to balance it when going up and down the stairs, and to provide a more comfortable seat and standing angle for the elderly. The side of the arc is decorated with decorative lines to make the sides have a layered feel, and different materials also make the shape more abundant.

The side light strip is a transparent engineering plastic shell with LED lightemitting material embedded in it. The red light is bright and conspicuous, and there are two kinds of light display states. The red light is slightly bright - driving, red light flashing - warning.

The U-shaped handrail on the side stretches the side curve to make the overall shape harmonious. The rounded armrest on the back can be fully turned up to provide support. Signs and decorative lines are printed on the back of the chair.

The taillights are sturdy and eye-catching, and are divided into red and yellow lights to provide warnings during parking and foggy weather.

3.4 Ergonomics Analysis

According to the human body size parameters, the front seat width of the seat is determined to be more than 390 mm, and the sitting depth is 380 mm-440 mm.

The back length is larger than 280 mm, the anticline angle is between $90^{\circ}-97^{\circ}$, and the seat angle is between $0^{\circ}-2^{\circ}$. In addition, according to the elderly body size parameters and corrections. Calculating the height of the seat, it should be between 429 mm-450 mm.

In order to maintain the stability and safety of the accompanying smart car, the angle of rotation of the arc is from -32° to 55° . Generally, the slope of the stairs ranges from 23° to 45° , and the suitable slope is about 30° . The rotation angle of 32° increases the stability when climbing stairs. In general, the height of the step is 15-17 cm, and the pedal height is inconvenient in the elderly, so the pedal height should not be greater than 15 cm.

3.5 Environment Analysis

When you are outdoors, there are two main driving conditions. One is that user sits on the smart car and carry out one-handed driving. The armrests on both sides provide walking assistance for senior partners and increase communication between the elderly. The second is that the elderly stand on the accompanying smart car. By manual operation, the speed of accompanying the smart car is faster, which can help the elderly reach the destination more quickly (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Two main driving conditions. One is standing on the smart car with faster speed, other is sit on the smart car and perhaps with senior panters.

4 Discussion

The accompanying smart cars of the elderly as a means of transportation for the elderly and one of the bridges to increase communication between the elderly. It is helpful for the elderly to maintain their physical and mental health. The characteristics and research results of this topic are summarized as follows:

Based on the humanized design, this paper proposes the design of the accompanying smart car to meet the actual needs and psychological needs of the elderly to the greatest extent, based on the requirements of user needs, sensibility engineering, ease of use, safety and health, to achieve human emotional care to the aged.

Through the analysis of travel demand for the elderly and market research of related products, the existing products are optimized and designed to produce a safe, environmentally friendly, fashionable, convenient and multi-functional elderly car.

This thesis is an exploration based on the trend of aging and humanized design. This paper still has many shortcomings. First of all, the design works of this proposal do not in-deep understand the needs of the elderly, the characteristics of materials and the processing technology, and the structure of the products. Secondly, the ease of use and safety of this work are not perfect. In addition, the elderly population in different regions and the use of products in different environments are not well understood.

In the future research, we can design a more reasonable product by deepening the understanding of the attributes of the elderly and elderly products, deepening the understanding of the product material and structure processing technology, the elderly groups in different regions, and the use environment.

Acknowledgements. The research is supported by National Social Science Fund (Grant No. 18BRK009).

References

- 1. Jianzhong, H., Meng, W.U.: An investigation and analysis of travel characteristics and related factors of the elderly population in megacities—the case of the central area in Shanghai. J. Urban Planning Forum (2015)
- 2. Chunyan, L.: Epidemiological characteristics of the injuries and impact factors among the elderly people in Chenzhou. Central South University (2014)
- Shufei, Y.: Cognitive training in elderly with subjective memory complaints and the effect of emotion: plasticity of behavior and brain. Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Sciences (2015)
- 4. Yimin, L.: The role of life aids (continued). J. Chin. Soc. Work 8, 52-55 (2014)
- Xinran, L.: Self-tracking intelligent car controller design based on MC9S12DG128. Harbin University of Science and Technology (2012)
- Bourhis, G., Pino, P.: Mobile robotics and mobility assistance for people with motor impairments: rational justification for the VAHM project. IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng. 4(1), 7– 12 (1996)
- Yanco, H.A.: Wheelesley: a robotic wheelchair system: indoor navigation and user interface. In: Assistive technology and Artificial Intelligence, pp. 256–268. Springer, Heidelberg (1998)

- Mazo, M.: An integral system for assisted mobility [automated wheelchair]. IEEE Robot. Autom. Mag. 8(1), 46–56 (2001)
- 9. SCEWO: Meet the Team (2007). http://www.scewo.ch/
- 10. Matsumoto, O., Komoriya, K., Hatase, T., et al.: Intelligent wheelchair robot "TAO Aicle". In: Service robot applications. InTech (2008)
- 11. Satoshi Sugi: Whill (2016). http://www.whill.us
- 12. Yu, W.: Research of intelligent wheelchair for the old. Suzhou University (2015)
- 13. Siwei, X., Xinqi, J.: Application of ergonomics in walking aids for the elderly. J. Des. (2018)



Design and Strategy of Senior Tourism Under the Background of Population Aging

Hongjun Qiu and Linong Dai^(⊠)

School of Design, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China piandtiger@163.com, Lndai@126.com

Abstract. The world is facing a serious problem of population aging. The research of senior tourism not only can effectively alleviate the urban population expansion, but also can promote the development of the economy in small and medium-sized cities. The main problem of current senior tourism is that single function cannot meet the cultural, medical, life and production needs of old people. A new strategy of senior tourism is proposed with actual design case. The new strategy of senior tourism would put tourism, culture, entertainment, medical, and other functions together. It will extend the elderly industrial chain and integrate different resources.

Keywords: Population aging · Senior tourism · Strategy design

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

With the development of medical technology, people can live a healthy and long life. But the world is facing population aging. According to the latest demographic statistics, China is in the process of population aging with the largest scale in the world. The number of people over 60 years old exceeded 212 million in China in 2015, accounting for more than 15% of the total population.

According to the Market and Population Analysis of Peking University, by 2025, the potential market purchasing power of the aging population will reach 1.4 trillion respectively due to the rapid economic development and continuous expansion of the aging population. However, as the elderly demands change, and the tourism market develops further, new problems gradually emerge. For example, one of the new trends in senior tourism is that old people start to try slow-moving. But the current senior tourism industry does not design products and travel routes according to the physical needs and characteristics of the elderly.

1.2 Research Objective

Based on the analysis of the development situation of the existing senior tourism bases, this paper puts forward the development ideas of senior tourism strategy. The construction of senior tourism strategy can avoid the problems in the existing senior tourism bases and promote the development of the elderly-care industry and tourism industry.

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 314–323, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_31

1.3 Research Significance

The significance of senior tourism can be divided into social and economic aspects. From the perspective of society, the aging population makes the elderly care in cities increasingly serious, especially the safety of some empty-nest elderly. In particular, for the normal elderly, due to the implementation of birth control, a couple generally must take care of and support four parents, but many children do not have much time to accompany the elderly because of their jobs. Therefore, the elderly need to walk out of the house and adopt a new lifestyle to make up for the lack of family companionship.

From the perspective of economy, changes in the elderly-care concept make senior tourism develop faster, which makes the elderly economic industry in cities occupy a huge market space, and the elderly economic industry will play an important value and gain huge economic benefits [1]. The senior tourism mode is also an important opportunity for the development of tourism industry.

1.4 Research Scope

Some conditions shall be met for the elderly to choose senior tourism as their way of elderly care. First, the main target group is the elderly who are young and healthy. Secondly, people who choose senior tourism are mostly the elderly with relatively rich material conditions and high requirements for retirement life. Finally, the elderly will live in the area for at least half a month. Having time and no burden of taking care of grandchildren are also the important conditions for choosing senior tourism. In general, our main target population shall have good health, a certain amount of savings, enough time and a little travel experience.

In terms of selecting the residence for senior tourism, the place with characteristic conditions and customs shall be selected. This paper takes Lijiang, Yunnan with the Naxi nationality characteristics as a research example.

2 Literature Review

In the studies on senior tourism, the mainly-used theories include Continuity Theory, Intergeneration Theory, Life Cycle Theory, Motivation Theory, Theory of Planned Behavior and Leisure Constraint Theory. Continuity Theory is mainly used to explain that senior tourists' tourism characteristics and behavior patterns change less after growing older and tend to maintain consistency. However, according to the Life Cycle Theory, although the behaviors of the elderly tend to maintain consistency, their psychology and behaviors. Leisure Constraint Theory is mainly used to explain the influence factors which restrict the travel of senior tourists, but the Motivation Theory is mainly used to explain why the senior tourists travel, which is the most widely-used theory by researchers. At present, there are few applications of Life Cycle Theory and Intergeneration Theory.

2.1 Perspective of Age

After applying the Continuity Theory to the senior tourism, Nimrod pointed out that the tourism characteristics and behavior patterns of senior sojourners in the same intergeneration tend to maintain consistent with the previous ones as they grow older [2]. According to the Intergeneration Theory, Chen and Shoemaker analyzed that the elderly who are at the same life stage but belong to different generations will have different tourism behaviors and characteristics because their psychological and behavioral characteristics formed by the unique social and historical environment of each generation are different [3]. After applying the Life Cycle Theory, Chen and Shoemaker also point out that aging will change a person's physical condition and hinder the elderly from engaging in some travel activities that they used to like when they were young, such as high-risk activities, which will lead to psychological and behavioral changes.

2.2 Perspective of Motivation

Alen et al. applied the theory of motivation, which usually includes push and pull motivation. Push factors mainly refer to the internal tourism demand of individuals, while pull factors mainly explain the attraction of destination [4]. Gardine et al. applied the Theory of Planned Behavior to explore the behavioral intentions of senior tourists [5]. After analyzing the factors influencing the motivations of older people's senior tourism in Taiwan, SooCheong (Shawn) Jang, Chi-Mei Emily Wu and other scholars believed that knowledge acquisition, safety and health are the most important [6]. After comparing the user portraits of the needs of elderly sojourners in Taiwan and the mainland, Wang and other scholars concluded that the elderly in Taiwan pay more attention to the contents of tour guide, accommodation, meals, transportation and scenic spots while the elderly in the mainland pay more attention to introduction materials, catering and tourism programs [7].

2.3 Perspective of Senior Tourism in China

China's theoretical research is still in the initial stage, the concept and division are still in the discussion stage. Li pointed out that in the process of population aging with the largest scale in the world, China's elderly-care mode is developing toward the diversified direction of mainstream elderly care, institution elderly care, senior tourism and so on, and believed that the lifestyle of the elderly in China will definitely become more diversified [8]. Li pointed out that the social background for the development of senior tourism in China is the demographic structure, family structure and class structure at the current stage [9]. Under this circumstance, the elderly are provided with feasible plan for the senior tourism in different places. Through the field investigation on the elderly in two communities in Beijing, Jiang Xiangqun et al. analyzed the differences in the needs of the elderly with different age structures, cultural structures and economic conditions for the senior tourist. Zhou argued that the main lifestyles of the elderly include migratory birds, ecological health, elderly living groups, elder-care tribes, rural elderly care, and chain replacement of different places [10]. Therefore, a new senior tourism mode is an important way for the transformation and upgrading of senior tourism. The new senior tourism mode integrates tourism, elderly care, culture, leisure and entertainment, medical treatment and other functions. Senior tourism enterprises gather horizontally, integrate vertically and extend the elderly industry chain with multiple subjects.

3 Method

First, searching the theoretical and basis of senior tourism. Second, comparing the cases and finding out deficiencies. Then, the hypothesis of the new mode of residence is proposed. And the interview method is used to verify the hypothesis. Finally, applying the new model of senior tourism through a practice.

3.1 Research Tools

Literature Research. Theoretical research mainly summarizes the literature and books to clarify the progress of relevant research on senior tourism and also provides theoretical support for the research.

Interview. The in-depth interviews are used to further understand the user needs and verify the hypothesis of new mode.

Practical Application. Taking the transformation of the senior tourism base in Yunan as an example, the empirical study analyzes the specific ideas for the construction of new senior tourism mode.

3.2 Hypotheses

Combine Residence with Tourism. Different from ordinary tourists, the elderly who choose senior tourism usually live here for more than 20 days. Therefore, the long-term living needs of the elderly shall be taken into account in the planning.

Social Contact and Love. According to the activity theory in Psychology, people's self-consciousness comes from social activities, and they can achieve self-satisfaction through the roles in these activities. However, after retirement, most of the elderly suddenly lose their important working roles in the society, which makes their social scope reduce rapidly. In order to make up for the loss of these activities, the elderly definitely will try some recovery activities, so as to create some new roles to supplement themselves and improve the satisfaction of elderly life. Therefore, senior tourism can create an effective way for the elderly to actively participate in social activities, establish new roles and improve their life satisfaction.

Personalized Development. The personalized needs of the elderly have become the characteristics and commercial power of senior tourism. Therefore, the place for senior tourism shall be designed for meeting the hobbies of the elderly and promoting social activities.

3.3 Interview Verification

Interview Design. This paper selects four elderly people in Shanghai loving tourism for interview, and the questions are mainly divided into the user's basic information (age, gender, degree of education, marital status, living status, occupation before retirement), family members and the relationship (number of children, whether do they live together, how often do they contact their children, occupation and income of their children), physical condition, pattern of consumption, traveling preference, (tourism frequency, selection of tourist destination) and so on (Table 1).

Age	Gender	Educational level	Economic status	Physical condition	Child status
82	Male	Bachelor	Medium	Well	Independent
75	Female	High school	Medium	Well	Independent
64	Male	Bachelor	Medium	Well	Independent
58	Female	Bachelor	Medium	Well	Independent

 Table 1. Basic information of interviewee

Needs Summary. From the interview, the key factors which the elderly pay attention to when choosing senior tourism are summarized. It reflects their demand for the residential area, such as basic eating and sleeping needs, water and electricity security needs, etc. According to Maslow's Needs Pyramid, it can be analyzed that residence for senior tourism shall meet the following needs: 1. Basic physiological needs of users such as meals, toilet, shower and bed. 2. Security needs such as water and electrical safety and anti-skid floor in the guest room, medical examination for the elderly, first aid and so on. 3. Social needs of elderly users such as companionship and a sense of belonging. 4. Self-esteem needs such as personalized service for users; 5. Self-actualization needs such as cultivation and development of their hobbies. These requirements from the interview can be used as a basis for later practical application.

Needs Classification. At the present stage, some elderly people who like traveling have a relatively low demand for residence because the sojourn residence especially for middle-aged and elderly users has not been popularized in China. At this stage, the ordinary senior tourism mode mainly meets the physiological needs and security needs of the elderly users. The new senior tourism strategy shall meet their social needs, self-esteem needs and self-actualization needs, help users adapt to the elderly life, establish new social roles and improve life satisfaction, which works in connect with the hypothesis put forward in the beginning of preamble.

The needs of the elderly can be divided into two categories. One category is basic needs: including physiological needs and security needs. The other category is highlevel needs, including social, self-esteem and self-actualization. The basic needs are reflected in the residential area and must be met as the most basic norm. The satisfaction of high-level needs has become the source of the service characteristics of each residential area.

4 Construction and Exploration of New Strategy

4.1 Living Mode of Courtyard Style

The living space is planned reasonably according to the needs of the elderly, and the concepts of inner courtyard and outer courtyard are put forward. Inner courtyard is mainly for two pairs of elderly people who know each other, or the elderly people who live with their families. Outer courtyard is mainly for old tourists who do not know each other.

Inner Courtyard. The suites of inner courtyard are mainly designed for two pairs of elderly people whose relationship is the relatives by marriage or the colleagues before retirement. This type of travelers wants to live together under the same roof but have their own private space.

The inner courtyard is divided into two separate bedrooms, bathrooms and a public living room and kitchen. Therefore, the inner courtyard is suitable for a long-term residence (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Schematic diagram of suites in inner courtyard

Outer Courtyard. Due to the reduction of social scope caused by retirement, the elderly need to increase the opportunities to interact with people in daily life. In the planning and design of the residence, it is necessary to create many opportunities to contact and communicate with others for the elderly, so that they can meet new friends.

The suites in the outer courtyard are mainly designed for 3 or 4 pairs of elderly people who do not know each other. The spatial structure like the quadrangle courtyard in Beijing is more conducive to the communication among people, and the four families can live here like a big family. In Lijiang, the architectural form of the Naxi nationality is also very similar to that of the quadrangle courtyard, which mainly includes three rooms and a screen wall. The revolution is made according to these two forms, so, the form of outer courtyard is proposed.
The suites in outer courtyard integrate the concept of neighbors and patios in the traditional residence into the design. A living space which can provide elderly tourists with opportunities to make friends and socialize is designed. The elderly can enter public patio from a corridor corner, and 3 or 4 guest rooms enclosure the patio (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Schematic diagram of suites in outer courtyard

Accessorial Function of the Residence. When some elderly people go out for travel, children will often come to visit and accompany them, so beds for children are set in some rooms. Besides, some old people hope to set a living room for inviting friends, so a few guest rooms are equipped with a separate living room.

The elderly all love being close to nature. Some space is reserved for indoor green plants, so that there are green plants at every corner, ends of every aisle and every public space. Tourists can feel natural greenery at any time during the process of walking indoors.

4.2 Interactive Development of Interests and Hobbies

In the literature review, it was found that the elderly pay attention to the exploration of their spiritual world after retirement and usually stick to their own interests and hobbies, which shall be considered in the new senior tourism mode. Therefore, a multi-functional activity room, leisure tearoom and other public space are set in the residence.

In the multifunctional activity room, calligraphy, Beijing Opera, movies and other activities are held regularly. Besides, the multifunctional room can be used as the activity room for Tai Chi, square dance and so on after moving the chair into the storage room according to the needs of elderly tourists.

The leisure tearoom is equipped with a skylight on the top, and two indoor green plants are planted at the corner. The leisure area mainly provides a natural and comfortable place for the elderly tourists to read books and newspapers, chat and drink tea, which is a semi-enclosed space and separates the relatively noisy reception area from the dining area.

4.3 Self-service Safety and Health System

Full Safety Precautions for the Residence. Safety is the most basic requirement for the living environment of the elderly. Therefore, Full safety precautions for the residence can minimize the occurrence of safety accidents. For example, gas stoves and other kitchen wares with an open fire are replaced by induction cookers in the kitchen. Emergency call box system is installed in every guest room, so that the elderly can get help through emergency call in case of danger. In terms of easing the burden on the actions of the elderly, horizontal armrests are set in the corridor and at the corner, and the skid-proof materials are used for floor tiles or floors of the toilet to meet the requirements of skid resistance. The armrests are set beside the toilet for the elderly to save a lot of strength while standing up.

Simple Instructions. The elderly who are not familiar with the environment also can understand how to escape quickly by seeing simple instructions. The clouding patterns are put on the armrests of the residence, and the elderly can find the safety exit and entrance by following the direction of clouding pattern in case of danger (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Signs for the elderly

Health Care Center. The Health Care Center is emphasized in the design because several bases for the elderly in China cannot retain users due to the lack of medical facilities. Compared with the young people, with the original intention to cultivate body and spirit, the elderly pay more attention to their own physical health. Therefore, the Health Care Center is an important guarantee for the health and safety of the elderly.

4.4 Regional Culture Edification

Three Levels of Decorative Style. The decorative style of the residence is divided into three levels. The first level emphasizes standardization for the old people with weak adaptability. The second level introduces local materials and decorations for the elderly who like characteristic styles. The third level is to make the elderly fully experience the local lifestyle of the Naxi nationality (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Effect figure of residences at the first level, second level and third level

Local Entertainment. Local folk custom experience activities are held regularly. Teachers of handicraft, gardening, tea ceremony and so on are invited to conduct onsite teaching, so that tourists can experience local culture and the regional economic development can be revitalized.

4.5 Operation Concept of 'Independent Self-esteem, Cultural Sunset'

Because senior tourism is a complicated systematic project involving tourism, accommodation, life and a large number of people and institutions, so the operation management shall be emphasized specially. The operations management system is the guarantee for the normal operation of the senior tourism complex. The report of the 19th National Congress of CPC directly pointed out that "the aging population shall be dealt with actively, and the policy system for elderly care and the social environment shall be created" and put forward the theory of 'active population ageing'. In addition to the investment, the investor shall also be responsible for the training of staffs, brand publicity, market development and so on. At present, there are few professional staffs for elderly care, which requires investors to specially train the staffs in the senior tourism complex. At the same time, the senior tourism is not accepted widely, so the investment group needs to change the elderly-care concepts of people through various publicity activities, make more elderly people choose senior tourism, explore the market for senior tourism, increase brand awareness, advocate the concept of 'independent self-esteem, culture sunset' and promote the prosperity of elderly industry.

5 Conclusion

There are many problems in the existing senior tourism which must be transformed and upgraded. The existing problems mainly include single function, failure to meet the needs of culture, medical care and leisure, disunity of resources and high construction cost.

A new senior tourism strategy is an important way for the transformation and upgrading of senior tourism. It integrates tourism, elderly care, culture, leisure and entertainment, medical treatment and other functions. Senior tourism enterprises gather horizontally, integrate vertically and extend the elderly industry chain with multiple subjects. The integration of tourism resources and elderly-care resources require the cooperation among many parties. The new senior tourism strategy shall be planned and constructed from sightseeing, health care, residence, culture, operation management and security guarantee.

Although a series of progress has been made in the study of residential care for the past ten years, compared with other groups, the academic community has not paid enough attention to the study of senior tourism, especially in China.

References

- Cao, Y.W.: Developing silver industry and solving the problem of pension in China. J. Guizhou Coll. Finan. Econ., 84–86 (2004). (in Chinese)
- Nimrod, G.: Retirement and tourism: themes in retirees' narratives. Ann. Tour. Res. 35, 859– 878 (2008)
- Chen, S.C., Shoemaker, S.: Age and cohort effects: the American senior tourism market. Ann. Tour. Res. 48, 58–75 (2014)
- Alen, E., Nicolau, J.L., Losada, N., et al.: Determinant factors of senior tourists' length of stay. Ann. Tour. Res. 49, 19–32 (2014)
- Gardine, S., Grace, D., King, C.: Is the Australian domestic holiday a thing of the past? Understanding baby boomer, generation X and generation Y perceptions and attitude to domestic and international holidays. J. Vacat. Mark. 21, 336–350 (2015)
- Jang, S., Wu, E.: Seniors' travel motivation and the influential factors: an examination of Taiwanese seniors. Tour. Manage. 27(2), 306–316 (2006)
- Wang, K., et al.: Seniors' perceptions of service features on outbound group package tours. J. Bus. Res. 66, 1021–1027 (2012)
- Li, S.M.: The multiplex development of endowment pattern in China. Popul. J., 40–43 (2007). (in Chinese)
- 9. Li, F.: Analysis of the background of social structure in the rise of retirement in different places. Popul. J. Hubei Soc. Sci., 45–47 (2012). (in Chinese)
- 10. Zhou, G.: Feasibility study on senior tourism and its development. Commer. Econ. Rev., 64–66 (2006). (in Chinese)



Design of Waist Wear Products for Warm-Up Training for the Elderly

Qian $\operatorname{Ji}^{(\boxtimes)}$, Xin Ye^(\boxtimes), and Yiming Zhao^(\boxtimes)

School of Mechanical Science and Engineering, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan 430074, Hubei Province, China {jiqian,u201510894,m201870772}@hust.edu.cn

Abstract. With the increase of the elderly population, the health status of the elderly is widely concerned. This paper takes the safety of the elderly during the exercise as the main research content. Through field interviews, the demand during exercise and living conditions of the elderly were investigated, and the effect of point massage on prevention and treatment of exercise fatigue was studied by studying a large amount of literature. Finally considering the physiological characteristics of the elderly, the sports needs and the potential safety hazards during the exercise process, the corresponding product design and interface design are proposed.

Keywords: Elderly population · Sports injury · Acupoint stimulation · Product design

1 Research Background

As early as 1999, China has entered the ranks of an aging country. The advent of an aging society puts forward higher requirements for the universal design of various products [1]. However, product design and interface design related to the elderly population are still relatively rare in China [2]. How to maximize the satisfaction of the needs of the entire public and enable the elderly to use the products equally as ordinary people is a question worthy of our serious consideration. For the elderly, if they exercise in an inappropriate way, it is prone to sports injuries such as joints, ligaments, muscle strains and even fractures [3], On the one hand, we should pay attention to the sports needs of the elderly, encourage them to actively participate in physical exercise, and also try to prevent possible safety hazards during the exercise.

2 Research Content

2.1 Field Research

In order to understand the causes of sports injuries in the elderly, field observations and interviews were conducted. The survey location is in Shun feng Mountain Park, Foshan

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 324–334, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_32

The paper is supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No: 51708236) and supported by Seed Foundation of Huazhong University of Science and Technology (Grant No: 2016YXMS273).

City, Guangdong Province. The main research object is the middle-aged and elderly people involved in exercise. Their age range is between 45 and 75 years old. And the survey line is the north entrance to the west entrance of Shun feng Mountain Park. The research methods used are observation, recording and interviewing. The investigation took a total of five weeks, during which three days were not investigated due to weather. We divide the research work into three phases, as shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Field research arrangements and progress

The first phase took four days. We mainly did the following work, familiarized with the park environment, observed and recorded the main locations, narrowed the scope of investigation, and finally determined the China's first archway and Qing long Pavilion. West Entrance Station and Taiping Mountain are the follow-up observation interview sites, as shown in Fig. 2.

The second phase is the core part of field research and takes 25 days. We conduct observations and interviews at identified research sites. The most important task at this stage is to record the interview process by video and audio recording. Get valid data related to sports injuries in the elderly. In order to get more effective and real information from the respondents we sorted out the interview questions before the survey, as shown in Table 1.

The summary of the second stage observations is shown in Table 2. From this, we found that there are the following eight types of fitness methods for the elderly in the park.

Then, relevant interviews on the research of this topic were started, and the results are summarized in Table 3.

The third stage team members spent two days to integrate the data obtained from the previous research, analyze the needs of the elderly during the exercise, in order to provide direction for the subsequent product design. And the main exercise parts as shown in Table 4. It can be found that the most involved part of the exercise is the lumbar vertebrae, knees and ankles.



Fig. 2. Location of the investigation in Shunfeng Mountain Park

Table 1. Summary of interview questions

_	
	Early problem preparation
1.	Basic conditions such as age, occupation, physical condition, and living condi-
	tions
2.	What are the difficulties in the movement?
3.	Whether the sports location is a fixed sports venue?
4.	What are the daily ways of participating in sports?
5.	Which type of exercise is preferred?

- 5. Which type of exercise is preferred ?
- 6. What measures have been taken to prevent sports injuries?
- 7. Are you taking measures to relieve muscles after exercise?

In further interviews, the following five points were found to cause sports injuries. (1) Lack of adequate or correct preparation activities. (2) The wrong way of exercising. (3) Poor physical condition. (4) High-intensity exercise. (5) Other reasons, including sports venues, weather conditions, sports equipment and so on. The corresponding preventive measures are proposed. (1) Pay attention to warm-up preparation before exercise. (2) Arrange training intensity reasonably. (3) Perform muscle stretching after exercise.



Table 2. Average number of participants in various sports modes

Content	Question	Interview situation			
Physical	Physical condition, living	High blood pressure, overall health			
conditions Sports	condition	Suffering from rheumatic joints, slow movements, unfavorable legs and legs			
condition		Weak and sometimes feel dizzy			
	Difficulties encountered during exercise	It's hard to stick to it when I start learning square dance			
		My family is a little worried when I go out alone			
		I can't keep exercising for a long time			
	Have there been any sports injuries?	I am a retired athlete, and I have lots of physical problems			
		I have fallen because of the slippery ground, it is quite serious, I lived in the hospital for a few days			
		There are dizziness and heat stroke in			
Psychological	What kind of experience do	Improve the safety of sports			
needs	you hope to have during the	Let family don't worry too much			
	exercise?	Guided instruction in sports			

 Table 3. In-depth interview results

Based on the results of field observations and interviews, three types of representative elderly groups were integrated. The character card was created as shown in Table 5.

List of functional requirements (as shown in Table 6)

Fitness method	Sports characteristics	Main exercise site
Walking	The action is simple, it will not cause serious damage to the bones.	Back muscles, buttocks mus- cles, lower limb muscles, slow muscle fibers, arm muscles
Square dance	It can be carried out in parks, squares and other open spaces at any time. And the rhythm is strong.	Waist, leg, arms, wrist Knee joint, ankle joint
Outdoor fitness path	Use the low threshold to exercise to all parts of the body, effective- ly strengthen the muscles	Leg muscles, arm muscles, waist muscles, back muscles
Riding	Need to prepare for riding equipment, there are certain requirements for physical strength and endurance.	Arms, shoulders, buttocks, waist and abdomen, leg mus- cles

Table 4.	Analysis o	of the	most	engaged	fitness	methods
----------	------------	--------	------	---------	---------	---------

Table 5. Analysis of Persona Cards

User role	Characteristic	User behavior	User goal
living alone	The physical condition and safety of the elderly living alone are the most important issues to be concerned	After breakfast, go for a walk in the park. Go fishing in the farm when you are free	Passing time and maintain good health through exer- cise,
living with family	Cheerful, like to go to the elderly activity room usually need to pick up and drop off children to go to school	take granddaughter k to fly kites. go to the orchard to pick fresh fruit.	Exercise body and enrich life while caring for the family's daily life.
physical incon- venience	Life can't be completely self- care, and it needs help from going out.	Go to the park after din- ner	Restore physical function

	Elderly living alone	Elderly living with family	Elderly with poor health
Safety requirements	 Weather reminder Health tips One-click help 		 Care needs Accompanying needs
Other demands	 Social needs Contact with neighbors and juniors 	 Time schedule Matter management 	 Physical function recovery Rehabilitation training

 Table 6. List of different user role requirements

Table 7. High frequency topics in interviews



According to the preliminary research data, the high-frequency words and topics in the interview process are shown in Table 7.

3 Product Concept (As Shown in Fig. **3**)

3.1 Function Definition

It has been found from the previous research that lumbar muscle strain is the most common type of body injury at present, It is preliminarily supposed that the hardware products are smart wear products for the waist, the waist wear product needs to meet the following four functions. (1) Prepare for exercise. (2) Display the user's physical condition during exercise. (3) Emergency help. (4) Point massage.



Fig. 3. Product composition and function concept

A larger proportion of older people's expectations for smart wearable products are not limited to security features, so further analysis of user needs is listed below. (1) Weather forecast (2) Social function (3) Time planning, (4) Sports health assessment.

4 Design Points

Older people prefer "lightweight, minimalist, soft" wearable products [10], so the products need to bring more intimacy to the users in terms of shape and material. At the same time, the control and feedback methods should be as simple as possible to minimize the learning cost of the elderly.

In the design process, it is necessary to take the elderly as the center of research and follow the principle of easy learning. Elderly have difficulty in identifying small fonts and buttons. Word No. 8-12 is more suitable for older users' font size [4].

5 Design Presentation

Product three view is drawn as shown in Fig. 4. The two sides of the product used highly flexible silicone material, It can be adjusted within a certain range according to the size of the elderly's waist.



Fig. 4. Hardware product three views

The product is connected to a magnetic material, as shown in Fig. 5. The principle of heterosexual attraction can be used to fix the product to the user's waist. The user usage scenario is shown in Fig. 6.



Fig. 5. Hardware product wearing principle



Fig. 6. Hardware product usage scenarios

The side of the product that comes into contact with the skin is a soft, grainy material, as shown in Fig. 7. In addition, the product is equipped with a massage ball and an electric induction plate. As shown in Fig. 8, when the electric heating module

detects the position of the acupuncture point, the massage ball at the corresponding position will be massaged. Design the switch of the product into a red button that is easy to find as shown in Fig. 9.



Fig. 7. Application of product materials



Fig. 8. Product internal structure



Fig. 9. Product control method

The white part of the back of the product is a certain hardness ABS material, as shown in Fig. 10. It can give the spine a certain support to avoid the amplitude of the overload of the lumbar spine during exercise. And the gap left in the middle ensures the flexibility of the user when using the product.

The product displays the detected body parameters on the electronic screen. As shown in Fig. 11, the user can look at the motion data when he looks down, which can better ensure the safety of the exercise.

According to the concept of products and services and the needs of the elderly, the content map of the mobile APP is drawn, as shown in Fig. 12. The visual effect of the interface is shown in Fig. 13.



Fig. 10. Product details display



Fig. 11. Product details display



Fig. 12. Mobile APP content architecture



Fig. 13. Mobile APP visual display

6 Conclusions and Recommendations

The elderly is still very weak in the prevention of sports injuries, which is one of the important reasons for the frequent sports injuries of the elderly. In the process of product design, we comprehensively consider the safety hazards that may occur before, during and after sports. We hope that the combination of hardware and software can provide better services for the elderly's fitness and entertainment.

References

- Bingchen, Z., Yanqun, W.: Research on general design of products in aging society. J. Packag. Eng. 29(8), 195–197 (2008)
- 2. Deng, X.: Study on the ease of use of health products for the elderly. Hubei University of Technology (2014)
- Ziping, Z., Jiahe, Y., Chengqiu, C., et al.: Investigation and study of sports injuries in the elderly. Zhejiang Sports Sci. 25(1), 13–15 (2003)
- 4. Zhang, C.: Research on Mobile Medical APP Interface Design Based on User Experience. Southwest Jiaotong University, Chengdu (2017)



Measuring Ways Research on Public Facilities of the Elderly's Physical Flexibility

Xing-Rong $\operatorname{Wen}^{(\boxtimes)}$ and Ding-Bang Luh

Department of Industrial Design, Guangdong University of Technology, Guangzhou, People's Republic of China hengy_man@hotmail.com, dingbangluh@gmail.com

Abstract. This research took the old people aged over 60 in southern China as the example, first discussed the physical conditions of the elderly and the problem raising in fitness test, Then make an overview according to the research status and the classification and the problems of the measurement ways for elders' physical flexibility. The physical conditions of the elderly were learned by tracking their living behaviors. By analyzing the corresponding conditions of outdoor living behaviors and body conditions, the needs of the elderly for measurement of physical flexibility were extracted, which were qualitatively analyzed by combining with Kano model. Finally, the design direction of the public facilities of physical flexibility of the elderly is obtained.

Keywords: The elderly \cdot Physical flexibility \cdot Kano model \cdot Behavioral analysis \cdot Measurement way

1 Introduction

According to statistics, at the end of 2017, there were 240.9 million people aged 60 and over in mainland China, representing 17.3% of the total population. China's aging population has a large elderly population base, China's economic development, social stability has brought great challenges.

The maintenance of the body softness of the elderly to the elderly exercise and daily life ability to bring some benefits, good soft quality can enable the elderly to maintain good muscle elasticity, to prevent muscle stiffness and muscle strain, reduce sports injury has a good role. However, there are very few studies on the body softness of the elderly over 60 years old in China. Since the tools for measurement have not been improved, the improved method based on the flexibility measurement of adolescents is not particularly suitable for the elderly. According to the characteristics of the activities of the elderly, older people will have more spare time to outdoor activities after retirement, while socializing, which can bring positive psychological mood and improvement of physical conditions to the elderly at the same time.

According to the outdoor activities and physical condition of the elderly, this study hopes to provide some soft measurement of the body to meet the physical and psychological needs of the elderly design direction of public facilities.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Health-Related Physical Fitness and Physical Flexibility

The concept of Health-related Physical Fitness derives from Physical Fitness. The WHO (World Health Organization) defines physical fitness as an individual who, in addition to coping with daily work, does not feel overly tired and has the ability to enjoy leisure and emergency response. In the 1970s, the ACSM (American College of sports Medicine) suggested that fitness includes 'Health-related Physical Fitness' and 'Sport-Related Physical Fitness' [1].

Health-related physical fitness is an essential physical health quality in daily life work for the general public, healthy physical fitness refers to the quality that has a special effect on improving health and preventing certain diseases, including human composition, muscle strength endurance, cardiopulmonary endurance, flexibility; maintaining a good level of health-related physical fitness, and prevent accidental falls, etc., in reducing the incidence of disease in the elderly, improve the quality of life of the elderly, and reduce the cost of health care to bring effective help. Therefore, we should pay more attention to the health fitness project for the elderly [2].

Among them, physical flexibility refers to the range of human joint activity and the elasticity and stretching of joint ligaments, tendons, muscles, skin and other tissues, that is, the area of activity of joint and joint systems.

2.2 Influencing Factors of Physical Flexibility

Liu [3] from the anatomical point of view, the physiological factors that affect the flexibility of the body include: the microstructure of the joint surface, the size of the activity depends on the structure of the joint itself [3]. On the one hand, affected by innate genetic factors, on the other hand, also affected by acquired training factors, such as muscle size, fat accumulation and other factors will affect the development of physical flexibility.

Yu [4] and other scholars believe that muscle work during exercise produces a lot of calories, which can reduce the rubbing force and viscosity of muscle and ligament tissue in exercise, and strengthen the ductility and improve the flexibility of the body [4].

According to the above research, physical flexibility can be cultivated through physical exercise and gradually raised to a certain level.

2.3 Measurement of Physical Flexibility

According to the NHC (National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China) issued, <2017 China Health and Health cause Development Statistics Bulletin>, life expectancy per capita in mainland China reached 76.7 years in 2017. At the same time, China has only begun to pay attention to the study of the physique of the elderly for more than 1998 years, and has now carried out 3 large-scale physical fitness testing

work, but the implementation of the test is mainly 60–69 of the elderly [5]. Because of the lack of indicators and evaluation criteria for physical fitness testing over 70 years of age, there is little research on the physical fitness of this group and even the measurement of physical flexibility, and it focuses on the flexibility of the lower extremities.

The measurement of physical flexibility shows more of the ability of the human joints to exercise in different directions, as well as the ability of muscles and ligaments to stretch. Up to now, the measurement methods of physical flexibility are: sit-andreach and its improvements, back hook of both hands, shoulder-raising test, prone back extension.

The measurement and evaluation of physical flexibility applicable to the elderly in China is a single-legged sitting front flexor, which is proposed by Cailliet (1988) [6].

However, this test method still characterizes the angle index by length index, and the data obtained represents the overall physical flexibility, but it does not completely overcome the influence of body shape factors such as upper limb length, sitting leg length, sitting shoulder peak and so on to measure the effectiveness of physical flexibility.

Wang (2017) believes that the physical flexibility of the elderly over 70 years of age should be collected in front of the seat of the physical flexor muscle, hand hook two measurement data [2]. Two data can indirectly reflect the range of activity of the whole physical muscles, ligaments, torso and lower extremity joints, as well as evaluate the flexibility of the shoulder joint, indirectly reflecting the elasticity of the entire physical muscle, ligaments and the range of activity of the upper limb joints.

The flexibility of the waist, domestic and foreign scholars often use the posterior flexor bridge method, prostrate tilt method, the position of the anterior flexor method, the above several methods have the participation of waist movement, can be used to measure the flexibility of the waist. But the range of action is too large for the average elderly, and there is a risk of falling, so generally will not appear in the elderly physical flexibility test.

ADL (Activities of Daily Living) is an important complement to the study of physical flexibility in the elderly, and the results of this evaluation system are particularly important for older or frail elderly people [7]. In the ADL-centric interview questionnaire, the SF-36 scale (the Medical Outcomes Study 36-Item Short Form Health Survey) is currently a healthy survey tool for multi-country translation and application. The survey covered daily activities that require physical fitness, lower limb muscle strength, endurance, flexibility and so on in daily life, including even the investigation of heavy physical activity. In China, SF-36 is mainly used in the field of clinical medicine to evaluate the health status and quality of life of patients, but also for the health status of specific groups of social surveys. Liu (2001) have shown that the SF-36 scale is basically applicable to the evaluation of the health status of the elderly population in our community [8].

3 Investigation of Physical Condition and Behavioral Activity of the Elderly

This paper selects the Huanghuagang People's Park in Guangzhou Yuexiu District as the research site of the behavior activities of the elderly. Huanghuagang People's Park belongs to the large memorial Park, the surrounding residential quarters, near the configuration of a number of large general hospitals, family structure is mostly trunk families, resident elderly more, and the surrounding no other large public leisure areas, so the nearby residents are mostly concentrated in Huanghuagang Park for leisure activities and physical exercise.

Video statistics were conducted to track the behavior of older persons and to conduct indiscriminate random interviews with people aged 60 who were willing to be surveyed. The observed subjects themselves have independent self-care ability, good health status, with the ability to engage in general physical activity, good quality of life. The selection of location is itself a place for social leisure activities, so most of the elderly have strong social interest, good social skills and good mental health.

The physiological function is the main reason that affects the quality of life, such as the elderly relatively slow response to the elderly, more need to assist travel tools, and the aging of the age caused by the decline of the physical function related. The above situation is similar to that of Zhou [7] using SF-36 Scale to investigate the quality of life of the elderly in Guangzhou area [9].

Video is set up at the main entrances, trunk roads and activity gathering points of Huanghuagang Park to observe the types, intensity and characteristics of outdoor activities in the elderly. A total of 902 elderly people, including 489 men and 413 women, were observed, and the overall gender distribution of the elderly in the park was balanced. Specific categories are shown in Table 1.

Walking is the most basic and highest frequency activity for the elderly. Most of them need to go to the market to buy food, and the use of small trailers and other tools to reduce the weight of women is the majority, which is related to women's physical strength is lower than that of men.

Walking stops at any time standing and chatting is more of a woman's favorite thing to do, but there is some stretching during walking, regardless of male or female sex.

To carry out high intensity of jogging activities and strength training, to the younger age of the elderly mainly, and the majority of men. Participation in ballroom dancing, square dance crowd is mostly middle and low age elderly, for the aggregation of group activities, basically women, the action is mostly gentle tilt, swing, reflexive and rotational action, moderate activity intensity. The elderly involved in Tai Chi sports are old age, mainly by acting alone, this slow and uniform circle movement with a waist-centered speed is low, and can exercise the ability to coordinate the whole body well.

Men are more found of individual activities, women are more involved in gathering activities, but they all like desktop chess games.

		0 0	0
Activity type	Men	Women	Total
Walking with its classification			
Normal walking	297	223	520
Pestle crutches	4	12	16
Load (buy food)	63	55	118
Load (back the baby)	3	1	4
Load (backpack)	14	13	27
Push wheelchair	2	1	3
Push the pram.	27	22	49
Drag Shopping Cart	2	9	11
Stretch while walking	11	13	24
Jogging	21	5	26
Watering the flower	1	0	1
Weeding	1	0	1
Driving an automatic wheelchair	1	0	1
Standing and chatting	0	8	8
Sitting and chatting	4	3	7
Half-body push-ups	1	0	1
Tai chi	2	6	8
Square dancing	0	17	17
Ballroom dancing	2	6	8
Sketch	0	1	1
Desktop chess games	19	14	33
Stand and watch the board game	10	4	14
Bird watching	4	0	4

Table 1. Activities of the elderly in Huanghuagang Park

4 Analysis of the Needs of the Elderly in the Measurement of Physical Flexibility

4.1 The Requirements for Measurement

The user's needs are determined by the user's behavior [10]. Combining Dai (2007), description of motivation and action in life: the user's internal motivation is hidden in the external behavior [11], if the user's internal needs are satisfied, then they show a positive evaluation of the surrounding products, services, etc., and vice versa to obtain a negative evaluation.

The elderly character is conservative and introverted, the expression of their own invisible needs is not clear enough, so from the elderly explicit life behavior and physical condition as the starting point, with the researcher's experience, sensitivity and relevant technology, from the user behavior to excavate, can be the elderly on the physical flexibility measurement of the demand factors to subdivide (Table 2).

NO.	Requirement	NO.	Meaning
1	Ease of Use	7	Record and Compare Results
2	Timely Feedback	8	Accurate Results
3	Multi-Person Testing	9	Easy to Identify Results
4	Safety	10	Encourage
5	Clean	11	Easy to Share
6	Close to Residential Area	12	Privacy

Table 2. Requirements form for measurement for the elderly

4.2 Demand Analysis in Combination with Kano Model

Kano model is a classification method based on user demand, and it is also a useful tool for the classification and prioritization of user needs, based on the analysis of the influence of user demand on user satisfaction, which embodies the nonlinear relationship between product performance and user satisfaction [12].

According to the relationship between different types of quality characteristics and customer satisfaction, Noriaki Kano divides the quality characteristics of product services into five categories: Attractive Requirement, One-Dimensional Requirement, Must-Be Requirement, Indifference Requirement, and Reverse Requirement.

Attractive requirement, when it is satisfied, will make the user's satisfaction with the product increased, but if not, it will not affect the user's satisfaction with the product. One-dimensional requirement, when such needs are met, the user's satisfaction with the product increases, and conversely, the level of dissatisfaction increases, so care should be taken about such needs. Must-be requirement, to meet such needs can make the user's dissatisfaction with the product to a certain extent reduced, but to increase satisfaction does not have much impact, so the design of such needs do not consider. Indifference requirement, whether provided in the product or not, have no impact on the user's operational experience, so such requirements will be eliminated. Reverse requirement refers to the need to provide in the product instead will reduce user satisfaction.

For the study of the measurement of physical flexibility in the elderly, this layered method of demand also applies. The purpose of this model is to distinguish the different needs of users, so as to propose an entry point that can improve user satisfaction, can help designers understand different levels of user needs, is a typical qualitative analysis model.

The Kano model questionnaire is mainly analyzed from three parts: Kano questionnaire, Kano evaluation form and Kano survey results table. According to the problem template provided by Kano theory, a problem is set for each requirement item of the physical flexibility measurement of the elderly, and the problem is divided into two parts: forward and reverse, each with five options, which is 'not like, can be endured, does not matter, rightly, like', the score is 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, the design of the Kano questionnaire.

A sample of the topic of the Kano questionnaire is shown in Table 3.

NO.	Requirement	Not Like	Can Be Endured	Does Not Matter	Rightly	Like
1	If It Is Clean	1	2	3	4	5
	If It Is Not Clean	1	2	3	4	5

Table 3. Kano model questionnaire sample

For the elderly, the understanding of the questionnaire options is different, some elderly people read and fill out the questionnaire is difficult, so it will be completed by the unified training of investigators. The data obtained from the questionnaire are collated, and the results of the Kano evaluation table shown in Table 4 are counted, and the Kano categories belonging to each customer demand item in the questionnaire can be obtained.

Positive Issues	Reverse p	Reverse problem						
	Not Like	Can Be Endured	Does Not Matter	Rightly	Like			
Not Like	Q	R	R	R	R			
Can Be Endured	М	Ι	Ι	Ι	R			
Does Not Matter	М	Ι	Ι	Ι	R			
Rightly	М	Ι	Ι	Ι	R			
Like	0	А	A	A	Q			

Table 4. Kano evaluation form

Corresponds to: A - Attractive Requirement, O - One-Dimensional Requirement, M - Must-Be Requirement, I - Indifference Requirement, R - Reverse Requirement, Q - contradictory, that is, respondents in the positive and negative two questions in the answer to the contradiction.

The survey collected a total of 19 questionnaires and screened 17 valid questionnaires. By summing up the recycled Kano questionnaire and analyzing each user's requirements, you can get the Kano category to which the requirements belong, as the Table 5 shows.

In order to make the results obtained by the Kano model refined in the design practice, Berger and other researchers suggested that the ratio of increasing the satisfaction coefficient to the elimination of the dissatisfaction coefficient, that is, Customer Satisfaction Coefficient (CS, Coefficient), should be used to deal with the category more finely. Customer satisfaction factor consists of two aspects, that is, the extent to which a requirement increases customer satisfaction (Better), or increases the level of dissatisfaction (Worse), which is calculated as follows:

$$Better = (A+O) / (A+O+M+I)$$
(1)

Worse =
$$(O + M)/(A + O + M + I) * (-1)$$
 (2)

NO.	Requirement	Α	0	Μ	Ι	R	Q	Type
1	Ease of Use	11	1	2	1	1	1	А
2	Timely Feedback	2	4	3	6	2	0	Ι
3	Multi-Person Testing	2	0	1	7	5	2	Ι
4	Safety	6	7	0	1	3	0	0
5	Clean	6	7	0	4	0	0	0
6	Close to Residential Area	8	3	0	4	1	1	А
7	Record and Compare Results	6	0	0	8	2	1	Ι
8	Accurate Results	6	0	0	7	3	1	Ι
9	Easy to Identify Results	14	2	0	1	0	0	А
10	Encourage	7	0	0	9	0	1	Ι
11	Easy to Share	8	0	0	7	1	1	А
12	Privacy	2	1	0	6	7	1	R

Table 5. Kano survey results form

Better, can be interpreted as an increased satisfaction coefficient, generally a positive number, representing if the requirements are provided in the design of the measurement tool, will increase the user's satisfaction, the larger the number of positive numbers and the closer to 1, indicating the greater effect on improving user satisfaction, can improve the design quality faster. Worse, can be called the lack of supply requirements when the user's dissatisfaction coefficient, expressed as a negative number, the closer the value-1, indicating that the impact of lower satisfaction effect is stronger, the faster the design quality drops. Therefore, according to the "Better-Worse" coefficient, the requirement item with high absolute score of coefficient should be given priority. The demand is recalculated, the "Attractive" attribute ">1.1", the "One-Dimensional" attribute "0.9–1.1", the "Must-Be" attribute "<0.9". According to the concept of "Better-Worse" satisfaction coefficient and the calculation formula, the data are analyzed and processed, and the results shown in Table 6 are obtained.

NO.	Requirement	Better	Worse	Better-Worse
1	Ease of Use	0.80	-0.23	1.03
2	Timely Feedback	0.40	-0.58	0.98
3	Multi-Person Testing	0.20	-0.11	0.31
4	Safety	0.93	-0.50	1.43
5	Clean	0.76	-0.41	1.18
6	Close to Residential Area	0.73	-0.20	0.93
7	Record and Compare Results	0.43	0.00	0.43
8	Accurate Results	0.46	0.00	0.46
9	Easy to Identify Results	0.94	-0.12	1.06
10	Encourage	0.44	0.00	0.44
11	Easy to Share	0.53	0.00	0.53
12	Privacy	0.33	-0.11	0.44

Table 6. Customer satisfaction coefficient form

5 Conclusion and Future Studies

According to the screening principle of Kano demand, it is more necessary to pay attention to attributes as "Attractive" and "One-Dimensional" demand in the design of the measurement of physical flexibility in the elderly. Based on the above calculation results, the following conclusions are drawn:

1. Safety

Safety is the basic requirement of product design, but also is the physical decline, easy to hurt the elderly most value the design quality. Older people want flexibility measurement tools in line with device safety specifications, there are obvious use of prompt information and safety warning information, and hope that in the event of danger can produce a stop, rescue role supporting the design.

2. Clean

Most old people can accept that in public places, measuring tools inevitably carry a trace of wipes that can be erased with a bit of wet paper towels. Older people want the physical flexibility measurement tool to be easy to keep clean, using a material design that is not easy to dirty, in case of bacterial infection accidentally damaged skin.

3. Easy to Identify Results

Older people care more about whether the results can be easily read than the results of precise physical flexibility tests. A simple numeric value or rank to indicate that the result is their appeal. The process of reading at the same time is simple and quick, such as being able to hear directly, or being able to see your test results between head-up and bow.

4. Ease of Use

The learning speed of the elderly is generally lower than that of young adults, the use of machines requires low learning costs, less operating procedures, low operational difficulties.

5. Timely Feedback

When measuring equipment is designed, it is necessary to match the speed and intensity of the action response of the elderly, and the reaction is too fast and may frighten them.

6. Close to Residential Area

Because the elderly show that their physical strength is low, tool placement close to the residential area, convenient daily shuttle in the process of different places of life can be measured at any time flexibility. At the same time increase their motivation to test, so as to pay more attention to exercise.

In the process of qualitative study of the physical condition and life behavior of the elderly, it is often only the behavior that is observed and interviewed, and the need of depth can be dug up after a certain model analysis. Although the study of some elderly people's physical flexibility measurement needs, but China's vast territory, the living conditions of the elderly are very different, so the actual interview survey has a certain impact.

In the next study, there is a need to overcome geographical and site constraints, expand the number of participants in the survey, and find better needs for the measurement of physical flexibility in older adults. This study extracts the design factors of physical flexibility measurement entity tools suitable for the elderly according to the behavior demand, and also needs ergonomics, user psychology and so on as the starting point to carry out more comprehensive research. It is hoped that physical tools suitable for older people to measure physical flexibility will be designed in the future.

References

- 1. Jia, H., Liu, A.: Analysis of physical aptitude. J. Hebei Inst. Phys. Educ., 73–74 (2008). (in Chinese)
- Wang, H., Zhang, L.: A study of health fitness characteristics and their changes with the age for the elderly people over 70 years. China Sport Sci. Technol. 51(1), 121–126 (2015). (in Chinese)
- 3. Liu, J.: Summarization of human flexibility quality. J. Jiangxi Fin. Workers Univ. 03, 106–108 (2006). (in Chinese)
- 4. Yu, L.: Analysis of the influence of body temperature and central nervous excitation on flexibility quality. Yunyang Teach. Coll. Newspaper **21**(3), 79–80 (2001). (in Chinese)
- 5. Xu, Y.: Research on validity of relatively flexible measurement. Sport Sci. **24**(4), 48–50 (2004). (in Chinese)
- Hou, M., Hou, J., Wang, H.: Test research on the lower limbs' flexibility of old people aged 60–89. J. Beijing Sport Univ. 27(1), 57–59 (2004). (in Chinese)
- 7. Zhou, L.: Study on the relationship between mental health index and quality of life of the elderly in Guangzhou. Chinese J. Gerontol. 2463–2465 (2008). (in Chinese)
- 8. Liu, H.: Evaluation of reliability and validity of SF-36 health survey in old people in community. Health Prev. 12 (2000). (in Chinese)
- Zhang, J.: Application of ADL in physical fitness evaluation in the elderly people. China Sport Sci. Technol. 46(5), 1292133 (2010). (in Chinese)
- 10. Zhao, J.: Research on Product Design Based on Human's Natural Behavior Tendency. Nanchang University (2008). (in Chinese)
- Dai, L.: Design Research, pp. 32–36. Publishing House of Electronics Industry, Beijing (2014). (in Chinese)
- 12. Kano model, 12 December 2018. http://www.cnblogs.com/yqr9/p/5871363.html. (in Chinese)
- 13. Morris, D.: Manwatching, 156. Shanghai Literature and Art Publishing House (2002)



Correction to: Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices

Nancy J. Lightner and Jay Kalra

Correction to: N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): Advances in Human Factors and Ergonomics in Healthcare and Medical Devices, AISC 957, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8

In the original version of the book, the following corrections have been made:

Chapter 1:

Double quotes have been inserted over some of the terms; commas have been inserted after some of the terms in Sections 2.1 and 3.1; "s" has been deleted in one of the term in Fig. 2 caption; some of the words have been deleted in Sections 2.1 and 3.2; reference has been inserted in the reference list; and reference citation has been renumbered in the text.

Chapter 14:

Author name has been changed from "M. S. Lanners" to "M. Squillaci Lanners" in the page header. In section 5, "46 studies" has been changed to 45 "studies".

Chapter 20:

The author name has been changed from "Helen Fuller" to "Helen J.A. Fuller"; "University of Michigan, College of Pharmacy, Ann Arbor, MI, USA" has been added to the affiliation of the second author "Timothy Arnold"; Vertical space has been added between the paragraphs in Section 1.1. In Section 3.1, one of the words "Cooccurrence" has been changed to "Co-occurrence".

The updated version of these chapters can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_1 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_14 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_20 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, p. C1, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8_34

Author Index

A

Aceves-Gonzalez, Carlos, 175, 227 Al-Kasasbeh, Riad Taha, 156 Altyn, Aikeyeva, 156 Arnold, Timothy, 3, 209 Avera, Angie, 89

B

Barton, Laura, 77 Berti, Zavier, 77 Bian, Ze, 291 Birrer, Edith, 270 Bolliger, Daniel, 270 Brandl, Christopher, 77 Bröhl, Christina, 77

С

Campos-Baniak, Maria Gabriela, 26 Cao, Mengyi, 302 Caporusso, Nicholas, 16 Chakraborty, Joyram, 65 Chauvet, Robert, 77 Chen, Chien-Hsu, 280 Clarke, Martina A., 97 Cortes-Chavez, Fabiola, 227 Crosser, Andrea, 89

D

Dai, Linong, 314 de Almeida, Isabel Duarte, 107 De Boeck, Muriel, 219 De Bruyne, Guido, 219 de Jong, Michiel, 270 de-Leon Zuloaga, Carlos D., 175 Delgado, Maria João Lima, 107 Duke, Tyler, 89

Е

Ene, Alexandra, 254

F

Falco, Silvio, 55 Felici, Elisa, 270 Fuller, Helen J. A., 3, 209

G

Giovanna-Trotta, Maria, 227 Gong, Hebo, 291 Gonzalez-Muñoz, Elvia Luz, 227

H

Hamada, Hiroyuki, 197 Han, Ting, 302 Harper, Christy, 89 Heerink, Marcel, 270 Hignett, Sue, 175 Hirano, Yoshinori, 197 Hunt, Sevgin, 65

I

Ilyash, Maksim, 156

J

Jefferies, Spencer, 89 Jekins-Penha, Quaneisha, 134 Ji, Qian, 324 Jiang, Steven, 134

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 N. J. Lightner and J. Kalra (Eds.): AHFE 2019, AISC 957, pp. 345–346, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20451-8

K

Kalra, Jawahar (Jay), 26, 45, 261 Karls, Kelly C., 97 Kida, Noriyuki, 197 Kim, Byungjoon B. J., 35 Kim, Jungyoon, 191 Korenevskiy, Nikolay, 156

L

La Valle, Giovanni, 55 Lang, Alexandra, 175 Lu, Xiaodan, 197 Luh, Ding-Bang, 335 Luo, Shijian, 291

M

Manzano-Hernandez, Paulina, 227 Markewich, Daniel, 45 Matsuura, Fuminori, 197 Mendoza Franco, Gloria A., 245 Mertens, Alexander, 77 Mihai, Carmen, 254 Murphey, Christina, 191

Ν

Nitsch, Verena, 77

0

Osada, Yumie, 197 Ota, Tomoko, 197

Р

Park, Jaehyun, 191 Park, Jangwoon, 191 Pavanelli, Pier Luigi, 55 Peeters, Marc, 219

Q

Qiu, Hongjun, 314

R

Rafid-Hamed, Zoher, 26, 261 Rasche, Peter, 77 Reyes, Ilse I., 245 Ricciardi, Giulia, 55 Rodríguez Morales, Ángel L., 245 Rosales-Cinco, Rosa, 175 Roscio, Cristiano, 55 Rossa-Sierra, Alberto, 227 Rossi, Lorena, 270

S

Saxena, Avani, 26 Schäfer, Katharina, 77 Seitzinger, Patrick, 45, 261 Shan, Ping, 291 Shen, Jie, 120 Sheta, Alaa, 191 Sopajareeya, Chuliporn, 167 Squillaci Lanners, Myriam, 147 Stara, Vera, 270

Т

Theis, Sabine, 77

U

Um, Dugan, 191

V

Vallejos, Elvira Perez, 175 Vleugels, Jochen, 219 von Döllen, Viviane, 270

W

Wan, Changyuan, 235 Wang, Huabing, 235 Wen, Xing-Rong, 335 Weng, Zhenhuan, 120 Wille, Matthias, 77 Wu, Ching-Ta, 280

Y

Ye, Xin, 324

Z

Zhang, Yufei, 291 Zhao, Shifeng, 120 Zhao, Yiming, 324 Zhong, Xingyi, 302